# Analysis of 'Spirituality' in the Japanese-Speaking Mediation Context: Its Contributions and Controversies

## Masako Ueda

BA in Psychology & Women's Studies, LLB(Hon), LLM in Dispute and Conflict Resolution

A thesis submitted in fulfilment to the University of Gloucestershire in accordance with the requirements of the degree of

## **Doctor of Philosophy**

in the School of Education and Humanities

January 2020

Word Count: 84,108



#### **Abstract**

The present thesis analysed the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations of the English terms 'spiritual' and 'spirituality' used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit in the mediation context. While two Japanese terms, transliterated spirituality and *seishin*, are applied in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, the use and meaning of those English terms in the context of mediation remain somewhat ill-defined. The suitability of *seishin* as a translation of spirituality has been questioned, and the meaning of transliterated spirituality, a relatively new word to replace *reisei* and *seishin*, remains ambiguous due to its context-bound nature. The revitalisation of *reisei* is now evident since the beginning of the 2010s in Japan.

This study addresses the following three questions. First, the thesis identifies, through a literature review, what the Japanese transliterated term of English spirituality means despite its context-bound nature. Secondly, the study establishes what Gold and Umbreit mean in the context of mediation by textual analysis on their usages of the term spiritual and spirituality. Thirdly, the thesis explores whether mediation in Japan has spiritual dimensions. Depending on the answers to these questions, the research then investigates whether any academic recommendations can be made, for instance, regarding whether *reisei* is a more suitable Japanese translation for those English terms. The latter two questions involve reviewing relevant literatures, conducting a case study and arguing the notion expressed by those English terms in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

As for the research conclusion, *reisei* among those three terms appears to be better suited to translate the English term spirituality used by Gold and Umbreit in the context of mediation.

This thesis has two main contributions. First, the generated meaning of those English terms should help in understanding Japan's recent mediation development. Secondly, the findings identify both contributions to and controversies in the Japanese-speaking mediation context resulting from introducing the notion expressed by those English terms.

#### **Author's Declaration**

I declare that the work in the present thesis was carried out in accordance with the regulations of the University of Gloucestershire and is original except where indicated by specific reference in the text. No part of the thesis has been submitted as part of any other academic award. The thesis has not been presented to any other education institution in the United Kingdom or overseas.

Any views expressed in the thesis are those of the author and in no way represent those of the University.

Signed:

Date:

doi: 10.46289/ATXT4955

#### **Acknowledgements**

I wish to express my gratitude to the seven doctors among many with their doctorates who helped me in developing this research:

To Dr Robin Griffith, the Postgraduate Research Lead for the School of Education and Humanities. I was unable to continue my research without his enormous support and understanding.

To Drs Roy Jackson, who accepted me as his research student, and Maria-Federica Moscati, an editor of *Mediation Theory and Practice*, who was my LLM supervisor at the University of London and kindly continued her supervision on this thesis. I could not embark upon this research without them.

To Drs Radha D'Souza and David Webster for their significant academic inputs. Without their views as experienced academics, this research would not yet have found its form of presentation.

To Dr Rachel M. Goldberg, the editor of *Faith & Practice in Conflict Resolution*, for sharing her valuable opinions on this research with me.

Lastly but certainly not least, to Dr Maruyama Hiroshi, for advising me on cultures of Japan.

I would also thank my parents and Kaz for understanding, accepting and supporting my needs and desire as a mediator to undertake this research.

My big thank you also goes to Debs, a great librarian who assisted my endless interlibrary loan requests, as well as to all my friends, especially Nori and Gerry for their supports.

# **Table of Contents**

	0 <i>H</i>	Auth Ackn	ractor's declarationor's declaration by the second of the s	- ii - iii
1	In	trod	uction	1
			earch aim, background and context	
			Aim	
		1.2	Research background	
		1.3	Research context	
	1.2	Res	earch questions and objectives	
	1.3		ciplinary location of this research	
	1.4		thodological approaches and applied methodology	
	1.	4.1	Multiple disciplinary approach	
	1.	4.2	Hermeneutic phenomenology as a research approach	29
	1.	4.3	Textual analysis as a research method	31
	1.5	Lim	itations of this research	34
	1.	5.1	Objectivity and subjectivity	34
	1.	5.2	Limited resources	36
	1.	5.3	Findings and discussions in a limited milieu	37
	1.6	Stru	ucture of the thesis	39
2	Tr	ransl	iterated spirituality in Japan	<b>4</b> 3
	2.1	Intr	oduction	43
	2.2	Lite	rature reviews: research into spirituality and transliterated spirituality	45
	2.	2.1	Academic opinions on research into spirituality published in Japanese	45
	2.	2.2	Lessons from previous research: Nakatani, Shimada and Ohigashi (2013), Jor (2009), Mayer and Boness (2011), Nun (2011) and Horie (2019)	
	2.3		les arising from the introduction of transliterated spirituality to Japan's diation context	53
	2.	3.1	About transliterated spirituality	53
	2.	3.2	Peacebuilding: one of precedential fields of using the transliterated spiritual	-
	2.	3.3	The issues with 'translated' spirituality	70
	2.4	Cor	nclusion	71
3			al analysis of the meanings of 'spirituality' used by Lois Gold and Mar	
			oduction	
	3.2	In c	onducting textual analysis	73

3.3 Tex	ctual analysis of writings by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit	.76
3.3.1	The eight core precepts found in Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit	.76
3.3.2	Lois Gold (1993 and 2003)	.78
3.3.3	Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001)	.82
	cussing the generated eight core precepts in the context of English-speaking diation	.86
3.4.1	Spirituality in the context of mediation is not limited to any particular cultur such as indigenous or non-indigenous mediation	
3.4.2	Spirituality can include religion, be a part of religion, be independent from religion or be interchangeable with religion	.90
3.4.3	Who mediates matters due to spirituality	.92
3.4.4	Spirituality influences both semantically and non-semantically through mediator's presence	.96
3.4.5	Spirituality leads disputants to settlements at a higher level through connect with others	
3.4.6	Such influences tend to occur in a safe or sacred space created by the media	
3.4.7	A sense of sacredness in the mediation session is not necessarily an indication that any specific religious doctrine or faith is being applied	
3.4.8	When the terms spiritual or spirituality are used by mediators, they do not a particular mediation model	
3.5 Rer	marks and issues arising in the findings of textual analyses	113
3.5.1	Identified remarks	113
3.5.2	Discovered issues	120
3.6 Cor	nclusion1	123
4 Some	clarifications for the findings of the textual analysis	. 126
4.1 Intr	roduction1	126
	ediation described with the terms spiritual or spirituality and transformative odel	127
4.3 Spii	rituality in the context of mediation and mysticism	133
4.4 Cor	nclusion1	140
5 Has Ja	apan's mediation ever been 'spiritual'?	. 143
5.1 Intr	roduction1	143
5.2 Dev	velopment of mediation in Japan up to the ADR Act 2004	144
5.2.1	From 604 AD up to and including the <i>Edo</i> period	145
5.2.2	From <i>Meiji</i> up to the Enactment of the ADR Act in 2004	146
5.2.3	Enactment of the ADR Act 2004	149
5.2.4	Current situation of mediation available in Japan	152
5.3 Wh	nat is expected in Japan's mediation?	158

	!	5.3.1	Traditional view: to keep a harmonious relationship	159		
	į	5.3.2	Contemporary view: avoiding unfair decisions	164		
	ļ	5.3.3	Case study to illustrate those two views	166		
	5.4	1 Wo	uld the notion of using spirituality in mediation be understood in Japan?	170		
	5.5	5 Cor	nclusion	174		
6	9	Suitak	oility of the currently applied translations in the Japanese-speaking med	liation		
	(	conte	xt	177		
	6.1	L Inti	oduction	177		
	6.2	2 Rev	visiting the currently applied translations with the eight precepts	178		
	(	6.2.1	Does the term seishin convey the eight precepts?	178		
	(	6.2.2	Transliterated spirituality shared with peacebuilding	181		
	(	6.2.3	Persisting issues about being religious or non-religious	.186		
	6.3	B Exa	mining the suitability of <i>reisei</i>	195		
	(	6.3.1	Daisetz Suzuki and <i>reisei</i>	197		
	(	6.3.2	What is reisei?	.200		
	(	6.3.3	Reisei considered in light of the eight core precepts	203		
	6.4		eisei a better translation of 'spirituality' in the context of Japanese-speaking	-		
			diation?			
	6.5	5 Cor	nclusion	210		
7		-	nath of introducing the notion to the Japanese-speaking mediation cor			
	7.1		oduction			
	7.2		ntroversies			
			Distorted boundaries between mediation and other fields			
		7.2.2	Misleading as if offering commodified spirituality in mediation			
		7.2.3	The binary classification deters from freedom of expression			
			ntributions			
		7.3.1	Reinstallation of the distorted boundaries			
		7.3.2	Mother hen pecks the eggs in contemporary Japan			
			nclusion			
8	-		remarks and future recommendations			
	8.1		coveries through this research			
	8.2	2 Fut	ure recommendations			
	8	8.2.1	How to preserve the mother hen	228		
			Field studies			
Bibliography						

# 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Research aim, background and context

#### 1.1.1 Aim

The purpose of the present thesis is to analyse the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations of the English terms spiritual and spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit in Japan's mediation context and, if not found suitable, proposes a more appropriate translation based on the findings.

In order to pose the research questions for the present thesis to achieve this aim, the next two subsections first articulate the background of this research as well as research context.

#### 1.1.2 Research background

Fuller (1971: 325-326) described mediation as offering, "to reorient the [disputant] parties toward each other, not by imposing rules on them, but by helping them to achieve a new and shared perception of their relationship, a perception that will redirect their attitudes and dispositions toward one another[...]. This quality of mediation becomes most visible when the proper function of the mediator turns out to be[...]of helping them to free themselves from the encumbrance of rules and of accepting, instead, a relationship of mutual respect, trust and understanding that will enable them to meet shared contingencies without the aid of formal prescriptions".

Private mediatory procedures in Japan are now regulated under the Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution 2004 (the 'ADR Act 2004'). Article 1 of the ADR Act 2004 defines mediation as a "procedure for resolution of a civil dispute between parties who seek, with the involvement of a fair third party, a resolution without using litigation". This 'fair third party' is a mediator who "constantly emerges in all groups of more than two elements" and "completely changes" disputants by the triad attending a negotiation process (Simmel, 1950: 148 and 138). In the present thesis, the term 'mediator' is defined as "someone who self-consciously assumes this relation toward others, deliberately putting its elements to use, whether in everyday life or in forwarding the business of rule" (Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 157).

In Japan, *chōtei* has been translated as 'mediation' in English for the readers' convenience (Bryant, 1995: 5). <sup>1</sup> Even though translating *chōtei* as mediation is now considered as inaccurate because personnel or committee members available to *chōtei* are selected and assigned by courts (Kakiuchi, 2015: 375-376; RITEI, 2003: 1), *chōtei* in the broad sense includes both mediation and conciliation (Kakiuchi, 2015: 376). Japanese legal scholars are now well aware that *chōtei* and mediation are not the same; in fact, mediation is now often called 'mediation' by transliterating in *katakana* letters or *funsou chūsai* in *kanji* letters while *chōtei* remains separate and independent from what is categorised as mediation.<sup>2</sup>

In addition, discussing *naisai* which is the former system of *chōtei*, Tanaka (2006: 66-73) also warned that this legal culture should not be confused with the contemporary ADR movement 'imported' from foreign countries such as Germany and the United States of America (the 'USA'); this includes mediation in the formal justice system. Tanaka (2000) considered mediation as an imported ADR system because, in the Pound Conference in 1976, Japan's *chōtei* was introduced as one of successful dispute resolution methods (Miyatake, 2017).<sup>3</sup>

This clearly supports the arguments of Kakiuchi's (2015) argument that 'mediation' in English and *chōtei* in Japanese are not the same. However, in the present thesis, *chōtei* and its former schemes available in Japan are considered because of the mediatory roles undertaken in those schemes by either the third-party decision makers or those who attended *chōtei*. Hence, although mediation and *chōtei* are now different services in Japan, the present thesis looks at the third-party alternative dispute resolution practice in Japan, which are currently available *chōtei* and private mediation, as mediation for its research purposes by taking the broad view suggested in Kakiuchi (2015). In fact, the contributing authors in Ronald and Alexy (2011) still refer *chōtei* as mediation.

Since the enactment of the ADR Act 2004 which certifies private organisations to undertake mediation and also disqualifies some categories of people from such a certification scheme, the Japan ADR Association has been established and has made recommendations to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Japanese translation of *chōtei* is 調停.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Japanese translation of *katakana, funsou chūsai* and *kanji* are respectively カタカナ, 紛争仲裁 and 漢字.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The third-party alternative dispute resolution in Japan has long been used since the *Muromachi* (室町) and *Azuchimomoyama* (安土桃山) periods, which were between 1336 to 1603 (Callister and Wall, 1997: 313). The development of mediation in Japan is reviewed and discussed in chapter 5.

Ministry of Justice in relation to the expected amendments to the Act respectively in 2012 and 2018. The recommendation included to build some cooperation systems both nationally and internationally to coordinate mediation access for the disputants who are at a significant distance from one another (Japan ADR Association, 2018: 15). The Japan ADR Association (2018) listed such examples as disputes in international divorce matters, negotiation between the government and the victims of catastrophic natural disaster such as earthquakes.

Although it remains unclear as to whether their recommendation is being reflected in the amendments to the ADR Act 2004, what this conveys is not insignificant. Cross-border divorce matters, one of the examples listed by the Japan ADR Association (2018) in the recommendation, certainly consider mediation as an option for their discussions due to the costs, time, and distance involved. Such mediation can be conducted by co-working or remotely online (Roberts, 2014: 161-162 and 243-244). Japanese speaking mediators and prospective users are intersecting 'foreign' mediation cultures.

Mediation conducted in Japan, "applies many mediation models which are applied in mediation held in foreign countries" in North America and Europe (Wada, Ando and Tanaka, 2015: ii-iii; Wada and Otsuka, 2014). The word 'spirituality' was first used in mediation to describe the practice in an article published by Shook and Kwan in 1987. Between 1987 and 2019, there have been more than 32 publications on the topic published in the English language yet in various countries including Australia, China, Ethiopia, India, New Zealand, Northern Ireland, Sierra Leone, Taiwan, Tanzania, Turkey, and the USA.

In Japan, Lois Gold and Mark S Umbreit's notion of using 'spirituality' in mediation was introduced by way of translation (Fujioka, 2007). This is coincidentally the same year as the

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Practice 'models', a mediation terminology used in Japan, include, but are not limited to, Transformative, Narrative, Evaluative, or Facilitative models. The models can be called by different names such as 'approaches' (Folger and Jones, 1994: 149-154; Parkinson, 2014: 34-42), 'orientations' (Bush and Folger, 1994; Riskin, 1994 and 1996: 25), 'schools' (Moore, 2014: 46-59), 'stories' (Pinzon: 1996), or 'styles' (Tracy and Spradlin, 1994:122-123) depending on literature and country where it is written. For example, in England, the term 'model' is used to refer to structural variations such as shuttle mediation, co-mediation, single or plural meetings, to name a few (Roberts, 2014: 157-162), while what is referred as the 'model' in the present thesis is called an 'approach' or 'style' (Parkinson, 2014: 34). There is no scientific or empirical data in deciding which mediation model is the most effective for resolving conflict and sometimes combinations of different models may work as effective (Parkinson, 2014: 34-42). The present thesis sets its terminology as 'models' to refer to those different 'approaches' of mediation because it is professionally applied and used by mediators working in Japan (Wada, Ando, and Tanaka, 2015; Wada and Nakanishi, 2016; Wada and Otsuka, 2014; Science Council of Japan, 2008; Yoshida, 2009) and a number of those who use 'approaches' instead of 'models' in Japan is relatively small and limited to those who are more familiar with mediation taken place in foreign countries (see for instance, Miyatake, 2017).

ADR Act 2004 came into force in Japan. However, the use and meanings of the English terms, spiritual or spirituality, in the context of mediation remain somewhat ill-defined (for example, see Jones, 2009). As a result, some mediators consider their practice as spiritual in nature yet hesitate to use that term to describe their mediation because of a belief that such terms undermine their professional credibility (Jones, 2009). The above-mentioned recommendations by the Japan ADR Association (2018) submitted to the Minister of Justice in 2018 included the fact that there has been no evident increase in the numbers of people using ADR, including the certified private mediation under the said Act, since its enforcement (Japan ADR Association, 2018: 3). There may be some impacts from introducing the notion on the Japanese-speaking mediation context, although this is only speculative at this point.

In fact, in 2001, Mark S. Umbreit came to Japan to hold his first mediation trainings (Ishihara, 2017a); in or around the same year, Japan's earliest founders of restorative justice also went to the USA to take part in his mediation training sessions (Ishihara, 2017a). Following the training, Fujioka (2007) as mentioned above, translated Umbreit's book, which contains a chapter that refers to Lois Gold's spirituality (1993), into the Japanese language. This translation is the earliest record of using the term 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' to describe 'mediation' in Japan.

In addition, issue 20, 2012, of *Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun*, a local newspaper in the Kumamoto prefecture, reported that Ishihara, a dispute resolution scholar of Kumamoto University in Japan, who later translated Umbreit's online lecture as well as hosting his training in Kumamoto, Japan in 2017 (Ishihara, 2017a and 2017b), mentioned the importance of 'spirituality' in mediation during her public lecture titled "the Future of Dispute Resolution Studies – what can it bring to our society in cooperation with other studies?" held on 18 July 2012. In that lecture, Ishihara (Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun: 2012) also used the transliterated term in a parallel of the word 'love' in her lecture. Both Ishihara and Fujioka are scholars in the field of conflict resolution, publishing numbers of articles and books in the field while participating in conflict resolution programmes overseas.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The exact wordings of the newspaper article read as "the importance of spirituality・love was also lectured" (the Japanese translation is "スピリチュアリティ・愛の重要性も説いた").

What is unusual is that the translation of the English term 'spirituality' or 'spiritual' as used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, was done using the transliteration in *katakana* letters and *seishin*,<sup>6</sup> in a form of 'seishinsei' or 'seishinteki'.<sup>7</sup> Both seishinsei and seishinteki are formed by adding suffix to the term seishin. The former means a quality of seishin while the latter is an adjectival noun of seishin. The term seishin means either mind, spirit, motive or will.

In relation to the transliterated spirituality, some words which have their origins in foreign languages are transliterated and written in *katakana* and remain phonetically the same as the original word in the Japanese language (Horie, 2009).<sup>8</sup> The term 'spiritual' in Gaitanidis's (2012) example is one of these and is pronounced as 'supirichuaru' in Japanese.<sup>9</sup> However, some words have been translated without transliteration into Japanese words such as 'spiritual education', which is translated as 'reisei kyōiku'.<sup>10</sup> The transliterated spirituality expressed in *katakana* "came to define a field of studies related to the "spiritual boom" in Japan" (Gaitanidis, 2012: 367; Sakurai, 2012).<sup>11</sup>

Some examples may further highlight the gap between English spirituality and the word seishin. In the Japanese language, the 'psychiatric ward' of a hospital is seishin-ka; 'psychiatric illness' as a category of mental diseases is seishin-byo in Japanese. At this point, those who only understand English may wonder whether seishin is at all suitable as a translation of the English term spirituality. According to Ando (2012) and Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane (2001), seishin is unsuitable as a translation of the English term spiritual because the way seishin is used in the Japanese language frequently means something closer to 'mentality', 'will' or 'mind' in the English language.

However, Kashio (2012: i) argues that the English term spiritual includes something which is both *seishinteki* and the transliterated spiritual. In the Japanese language, the transliterated spirituality is considered as a new word that replaces *reisei* (Horie, 2019) as well as *seishin* (Ando, 2012; Kashio, 2012). *Reisei* has traditionally been the translation of 'spirituality' in the first of transpersonal psychology, psychotherapy and psychiatry (Matsumoto, 2016), not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Japanese translation of *seishin* is 精神.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Japanese translations of *seishintei* and *seishinteki* are 精神性 and 精神的.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Japanese translation of *katakana* is  $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{P}\mathcal{D}$ .

 $<sup>^9</sup>$  The Japanese translation of *supirichuaru* is Z U J + 2 D N.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Japanese translation of *reisei kyōiku* is 霊性教育.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This point will be further explored in Chapter 2.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  The Japanese translations of seishin-ka and seishinbyo are respectively 精神科 and 精神病.

seishin as used in the context of mediation by Fujioka (2007). Between 1990s and the 2010s, however, the transliterated spirituality has been used more often than *reisei* although both mean the same in these fields (Matsumoto, 2016).

Some scholars pointed out that the English term 'spirituality' was first used in Transformative Psychology by people who had visited non-English speaking countries that were located to their East where they were introduced to the notion as part of their encounter with 'spiritual' practices such as Buddhism, Hinduism, yoga, meditation and mysticism (Ishikawa, 2019; Ito, 2004). As a result of counter-culture movements such as seen in the East coast of the USA, many publications in transpersonal psychology were read not only in English but also in Japanese (Ishikawa, 2019). Both the term *reisei* and transliterated spirituality are used interchangeably in the field. Similarly, in Religious Studies, *reisei* is used as a synonym of transliterated spirituality (Horie, 2018). While Religious Studies, Education and Transpersonal Psychology as distinct fields of enquiry share the same term *reisei*, how each field uses and discusses the term, is very distinct.

These views raise the questions about the suitability of transliterated spirituality or *seishin* for the English term 'spirituality' as used by Lois Gold, who is both a mediator and therapist, and Mark S. Umbreit, in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. Both authors make a clear distinction between their mediation practice and psychotherapy or other psychology-related practices (Gold, 1993 and 2003; Umbreit, 1997 and 2001). <sup>13</sup> The overlapping applications of those terms in the context of mediation and other fields do not integrate Japan's mediation into one of those fields. So why did Fujioka (2007) not simply use the term *reisei* in her translation?

Another example illustrates the difficulties surrounding the translation of the English term spirituality into the Japanese language. In order to translate Robert Cole's (1999) *The Spiritual Life of Children*, Sakurauchi (1997: 369), the Japanese translator, stated in the translator's note section that, "I could not think of any suited Japanese words for the English word 'Spiritual' used in the original title, *The Spiritual Life of Children*." The word she did select for the Japanese title is *shinpi*, <sup>14</sup> which means 'mystery' in English. This translated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The danger of ignoring the author's own opinions is further illustrated in Chapter 2 which discusses how spiritualities used in Peacebuilding and Religious Studies overlap each other.

<sup>14</sup> The Japanese translation is 神秘. Cole's *The Spiritual Life of Children* is published as '子供の神秘生活'.

book was published in Japan in 1997, hence Sakurauchi would have begun her translation well before then. So why did Sakurauchi, a professional translator, not consider either transliterated spirituality, the term *reisei*, or even the term *seishin*? In addition, the two letters of 'shinpi' (神秘) are also used in a term 'shinpi-shugi' (神秘主義) which means 'mysticism'. Sakurauchi's translation implies the English term 'spiritual' can connote Japanese speaking audience some links to 'mysticism'. However, Jespers (2011: 104) claims that contemporary spirituality or spiritualities are different from the mysticism of the world religions; in other words, they used to be in the same spectrum. This point needs to be clarified in the Japanese speaking context.

Shimazono (2012), who is a foremost Japanese scholar of religious studies and spirituality (Horie, 2018), described *reisei* as the closest word to 'spirituality' in English which was used in the context of religions or religious studies. However, Shimazono (2012b) translated the Japanese word 'seishin sekai' (精神世界) as 'spiritual world' in his own English article. These variances seen in the translations are enough to illustrate the complexities of the surrounding issue regarding transliterated spirituality, *reisei* and *seishin*. Suzuki's *reisei* was said to be founded on Buddhism (Kasai, 2003 by citing Sharf, 1995), <sup>15</sup> and the term itself has not been used widely by the general public of Japan (Horie, 2018; Ito, 2003; Kasai, 2003; Kashio, 2002; Suzuki, 1972).

Regarding transliterated spirituality which seems to confuse its audiences, Horie (2009) has argued that there are a number of benefits to be gained by using the transliterated spirituality rather than *reisei* as a translation for the English term spirituality. Namely, the transliteration itself shows that the concept has its origin in a foreign concept and therefore avoids the negative connotations of the word *reisei* due to the letter *rei* (霊), and its association with the supernatural or other-worldliness (Horie, 2009).

In Horie's (2009) view, the general public of Japan recognise foreign concepts, which are often written in transliteration, as something fashionable and advanced, hence the use of transliterated spirituality projects a positive message and disassociates from notions of the supernatural. However, such multiple meanings depending on whether it is in the context

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Sharf (2005) analysed Daisetz Suzuki in the same group of *Kyoto Gakuha* including Shin'ichi Hisamatsu and Keiji Nishitani.

of a public lecture based on academic research or pop-culture as mediated by mass media, along with the commercialisation of products and services, still create confusion and misunderstanding in Japanese society (Sakurai, 2012). In fact, as mentioned earlier, there are many disciplines which use both the term *reisei*, *seishin* and transliterated spirituality interchangeably.

In order to further highlight the complex nature of translating the English term spirituality, it would be helpful to refer to ordinary online English-Japanese and Japanese-English dictionaries to which any member of the general public can access by using the internet. If There are various Japanese words such as *chōzokusei*, *sūkō*, or *reisei* available in addition to transliterated spirituality and *seishin* to translate the English term spirituality. However, the difficulty with the Japanese words is that none of them are necessarily always translated into the English term. For instance, the online Japanese-English dictionary translations for *seishin* include 'mentality'. *Chōzokusei* can mean 'otherworldliness' and *sūkōsa* is translated as 'nobility' or 'sublime' as well as 'spiritual'. Although *reisei* includes meanings such as divinity and incorporeal, a book written by Suzuki (1944/1972) has a translated title, *Japanese Spirituality*, in which the original source word used for 'spirituality' was *reisei*. In more recent arguments, Kashio (2012) analysed the term *reisei* and concluded that it was employed in various ways by various authors, but with a common meaning as 'something invisible and beyond one's being'.

These possible Japanese translations of the English terms 'spirituality' or 'spiritual' are a reminder that the term is context-bound (la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt, 2012). The consequences of using both transliterated and translated Japanese equivalents of the English term spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation need to be discussed. At this point, it is unknown whether in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, the meaning of the English term spirituality is conveyed by the word *seishin* and transliterated spirituality. In the Japanese language, *seishin* and *reisei* have been clearly distinguished by Suzuki (1944/1972) and, if this argument is applied in the mediation context, *seishin* would not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The website is available at <a href="https://ejje.weblio.jp/">https://ejje.weblio.jp/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The Japanese translations for *chōzokusei, sūkō* and *reisei* are respectively 超俗性, 崇高 and 霊性.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The word *reisei* (霊性) is also used as an adjective and means 'spiritual', too. For example, as mentioned earlier, *reisei kyōiku* (霊性教育) means 'spiritual education'.

mean the same as *reisei*, even though both Japanese terms *can* mean 'spirituality' as discussed above.

Thus, Fujioka (2007) might not have come across the term *reisei* and was not entirely certain what Gold (1993) and Umbreit (2001) meant by the terms spiritual and spirituality in the same way as Sakurauchi (1997) could not think of any other words but *shinpi* to translate the English term spiritual in the original title. While Fujioka (2007) is a prominent scholar of Osaka University with occupational backgrounds in both dispute resolution and psychology, she does not have a background in spirituality. Although the term *reisei* was first described by Daisetz Suzuki (1944/1972) in a detailed manner and his definition of the term is still supported and cited (Kirita, 2007; Shimazono, 2012; Takahashi, 2003), this point must also be addressed in order to consider the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations for the English terms spiritual and spirituality as used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit.

Examining the original meaning of 'spirituality' in English as used in the context of mediation can help to clarify this. By following academic analyses by Horie (2003 and 2018), Kashio (2012) and Matsumoto (2016) regarding the relationship between the transliterated spirituality, *seishin*, and *reisei* together with the argument put forward by la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt (2012) and Suzuki (1944/1972), the present thesis narrowed down the candidate words into those three words to discuss their suitability as a translation of the English terms spiritual or spirituality as used in the mediation context.

Before considering the suitability of the translations currently used in Japan's mediation context, however, the notion expressed by those terms in English language in the mediation context also needs unfolding to see whether the notion itself exists in Japan's mediation context. In other words, was mediation in Japan already 'spiritual' prior to the introduction of the notion in 2007 by Fujioka or did it become part of the discourse as a result of being introduced in that year? If the latter is the case, then the present thesis must also consider whether the introduction of the English terms spiritual or spirituality through Japanese translations of work by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit are an indication of a 'spiritual boom'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The whole point of Fujioka's translation of Umbreit (2001) was not to introduce the term spiritual or spirituality used by Umbreit (2001) for less than 10 times in his publication. Her purpose was to introduce his book as a whole to the field of Japanese-speaking mediation.

or spiritual trend in Japan, as reported by Gaitanidis (2012) and Sakurai (2012). However, Horie (2018; 2019) points out that the trend of transliterated spirituality has now tailed off. Instead, the revitalisation of *reisei* is gradually occurring (Horie, 2018). Should the Japanese-speaking mediation context not follow the movement? This would also be the consequence.

Even if this study finds transliterated spirituality should be a better suited translation in the context of mediation, there are further issues with those transliterated terms of the English terms, spiritual and spirituality. Those transliterations are also used in other disciplinary contexts including peacebuilding in Japan (Inagaki, 2007; Kobayashi, 2007; Matsumoto, 2016; Sakurai, 2009; Shimazono, 2007). Indeed, both 'peacebuilding' and 'peacemaking' are often, and perhaps carelessly, used as interchangeable; for example, compare the contents of Gopin (2000), LeReche (1993), Turay (2000), and Zelizer and Chiochetti (2017). Gopin (2000) uses 'peacemaking' whereas the latter three authors use 'peacebuilding' when comparing with or discussing mediation. Louise Diamond (2000 and 20002) clearly distinguishes between the two and in the Japanese translation of her work, for 'peacemaking' is *chōtei*.<sup>20</sup>

Although peacebuilding can be seen as overlapping with mediation, the two fields are not interchangeable (Lederarch, 1997; LeResche, 1993; Zelizer and Chiochetti, 2017). Peacebuilding practices encompass dispute resolution at an international level, with structural and relational changes often included in a view of reconciliation (Lederarch, 1997; Zelizer, 2013). Mediation is a narrower tool for solving disputes in more domestic arenas such as between individuals in a family, workplace, school or healthcare setting (Lederarch, 1997; Zelizer and Chiochetti, 2017). However, this does not mean that there are not mediators who are involved in dispute resolution at an international level (see William Ury, for example); nor do peacebuilders ignore the importance of dispute resolution at an individual level (see for example Louise Diamond).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> In her Japanese translated book (Diamond, 2002), the translation for the English term 'mediation' was *chōtei*, too. Although this is completely out of scope of the present thesis, such variances in the Japanese translations may attract legal scholars' attentions. For the present thesis, the focus is on the suitability of the currently applied translations for the English terms spiritual and spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit. The accuracy of the translations of the relevant terminologies are not concerned, albeit important, since the discussions consider solely the Japanese-speaking mediation context. The terminology of 'mediation' in the present thesis was already discussed earlier in this subsection.

One difference is that while in mediation, the settlement of the dispute is the main goal,<sup>21</sup> mediation undertaken by peacebuilders aims to restore 'peaceful relations' and the definition of 'peace' depends on various factors in each dispute. Bercovitch and Kadayifci-Orellana (2009: 178) argue that in invariably complex situations, defining the roles of mediation and mediator will depend on each scholar as well as the religious-cultural context. Japanese scholars of mediation have echoed this view (Wada, Ando, and Tanaka, 2015: 40-41).

While Lehti and Lepomäki (2017) have proposed that connecting the two professions at a private level is important, this is now an argument that has been put forward yet in Japan. This is perhaps not surprising given that private mediation only gained its legal recognition in 2007 by the ADR Act 2004.<sup>22</sup> However, the fact that the same transliterated term 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' are now used in those two different occupational contexts may be an indication that the two fields will find increasing common ground depending on the discovered meanings of those terms used in the mediation context. Alternatively, using the same transliterated spirituality in these fields despite their differences could lead to confusion in both fields.

Furthermore, transliterated spirituality in the Japanese language cannot be distanced from religions. Japan's mediation context may be another case where the term 'spirituality' is used to convey the somewhat complicated yet underthought opinion whereby 'religion is not spirituality'. The transliterated spirituality started to be commonly used in the 1990s as it replaced *seishin* or *reisei* when people in Japan frequently began to refer to being *spiritual but not religious* (Ando, 2012; Horie, 2003; Kashio, 2012). The phrase is considered to convey a position being disconnected from institutionalised religions while embracing "deinstitutionalised religiosity" (Miyajima, 2006: 136 by citing Yumiyama, 2006: 91).

However, transliterated spirituality is understood by Japanese religious study scholars to mean, "something 'sensual' toward something religious" (Miyajima, 2006: 135 by citing Ito,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In the present thesis, the term 'settlement' means the same as described by Roberts and Palmer (2005: 3) who used it to mean "in the general sense of the search for negotiated, consensual agreement as opposed to resort to a third-party decision".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Please refer to Bercovitch and Kadayifci-Orellana (2009) for further differences. This relatively new development will be discussed in Chapter 5 once the meanings of the terms spiritual or spirituality generated in the English-speaking mediation context.

2003: ii, Kashio, 2004: 273, and Kasai, 2002: 85). Hence, being spiritual in its transliterated form in Japan does not always mean to be non-religious. It can be a different way of expressing their religiosity (Horie, 2019; Webster, 2012). The consequences of using transliterated spirituality in the context of mediation also needs some explanation for the purposes of the present thesis because of faith-based mediation model.

When articulating the variances of those Japanese words that can yet may not all be back translated as the English term 'spirituality', the fact that Japan is a country with both syncretistic and polytheistic traditions has to be considered (Sasaki, 1996: 267-268; Tanaka, 2000: 121). People in Japan tend not to decide which religion is more dominant than others (Tanaka, 2000: 106; Yaguchi, 1993). Tanaka (2000: 107), one of leading legal scholars in Japan, argues that the Japanese people have multiple ways of deciding what stands for 'justice' of their choice because of their underlying religious syncretism. In Tanaka's analysis, the Japanese view judges and courts still the same as the old-day's traditional decisionmaking institutions which once respected and required societal harmony the most, rather than based solely on what is right. At the same time, they retain their syncretic views due to their attitudes to different religions. Tanaka (2000) explains that this attitude toward multiple justices is based on the importance of preserving harmony; due to people's embedded syncretic view, there is no need to decide which God is the 'only right' God. As a result, they do not seek to decide what stands only for 'justice'; instead, they prefer seeking out what is more harmonious, as their notion of 'justice' and can embrace multiple possibilities of 'rightness'.

This embedded syncretic attitude may have influenced the development of the multiple Japanese translation words for English 'spirituality'.<sup>23</sup> Without looking into the views and attitudes of Japanese people toward religions as well as justice in modern Japan, the development of multiple 'spirituality' in the Japanese language cannot be understood and therefore a comprehensive account of spirituality used in the context of mediation can only be given by addressing these matters fully. However, in order to undertake such academic discussions, one needs to ascertain whether the English terms spiritual or spirituality as used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit in their mediation literature are grounded in any religions or religious doctrines or faiths in the first place. Therefore, what the two authors mean by

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> This point will further be articulated more in Chapter 2 below.

the English term spirituality in the context of mediation must be analysed as a starting point of the present thesis for it to achieve its research aim.

In addition, mediation involving Japanese people is not limited to the country of Japan because of cross-border mediation. As the notion of using 'spirituality' in mediation has already been established in Japan, any Japanese speaking person as well as Japanese speaking mediators, may seek to integrate 'spirituality' in their prospective mediation if they so desire. Transliterated spirituality is sometimes considered as transcendental and separated from culture (Inagaki, 2007). It is thus referred to as 'glocal' (Kobayashi, 2007). <sup>24</sup> By considering the suitability of the translation currently used in the Japanese language, the present thesis contributes to such cross-border, international mediation by articulating whether the notion expressed by transliterated spirituality in the context of mediation is 'glocal'. However, at this point, it is already questionable for the transliterated spirituality to have such a 'glocal' effect in the context of mediation because of the term spirituality's context-bound nature identified in the precedential research such as la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt (2012) and Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane (2001), albeit not conducted in mediation.

Lastly, in relation to the above-mentioned attitudes toward religions in Japan, Lewis (2018) raises another controversial point: in modern Japan, the majority of people only have a vague awareness of religions and something related to religions including their own religion or religious faith. Of course, they will have a basic knowledge of religions learned during their compulsory education.<sup>25</sup> However, religious practices, which are deeply embedded in the customs and every day activities, are no longer recognised as religious because of people's lack of clear recognition and understanding of what religion is (Lewis, 2018). Although the Japanese people may have reached the point of an understanding that is "deeper than distinction between 'religious' and 'secular', or 'the sacred' and 'the profane'" (Lewis, 2018: 304), their binary classification as being either religious or non-religious still exists (Lewis, 2018).

In such a society, when the notion of using spiritual or spirituality introduced in the context of mediation without clarifying the meanings, their pre-existing binary classification as either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> These academic arguments are outside of the scope of the present thesis which only concerns with issues arising from the transliterated spirituality or other translations used or available in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Chapter 6 discusses this in more detail.

being religious or non-religious will be woven into its acquired meaning (Lewis, 2018: 304). Similarly, Ama (1996/2005) points out that the Japanese do not mean to be atheist when they refer themselves as *mushūkyo*, <sup>26</sup> which means 'non-religious' or 'lack of religious beliefs'. In such a country, the impact, both negative and positive of using transliterated spirituality to describe mediation experiences cannot be underestimated, especially when it comes to mediation. Japanese speaking mediators and clients who only have such a binary classification yet do not have clear understanding of what religion is thus may be 'naïve' about spirituality used in the mediation context.

This discussion about the complex place of religion in Japanese is intended to highlight the issues that Japanese speaking clients as well as mediators face as a result of using transliterated spirituality, *seishin* and *reisei* in and outside of the context of mediation. Because this research involves transliterated spirituality as well as the English term spirituality, both of which have been described as context-bound in nature by previous research, the next subsection establishes the research context before formulating the research questions and objectives.

#### 1.1.3 Research context

Ando (2006 and 2012) categorised researches about transliterated spirituality into two groups: one focuses on the context in which transliterated spirituality is used and the other approaches the same term through a kind of meta-analysis, without fixing the context, and seek to grasp people's expectations or intensions of using the term. The former group can be further subdivided into three categories of researchers (Ando, 2006 and 2012): those who work in fields of care such as health care, social work and welfare, and education and aim to convey the importance of transliterated spirituality in caring for others; religious study scholars who carry out more logical analyses on the meanings of transliterated spirituality in the context of religious studies; and activists who use transliterated spirituality as their theme or slogan to agitate society.<sup>27</sup> Although there is a degree of overlap between the three, this research focuses on mediators who are seen as belonging to the first sub category and also their clients including prospective ones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> The Japanese translation of *mushūkyo* is 無宗教.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Kashio (2012) echoed and subdivided the activist group, Ando's third category, into further two; researchers in ecology and pop- or sub-culture.

The context for this research, therefore, concerns mediation that involves Japanese speaking clients as well as mediators. Before detailed objectives are outlined, the question of how to examine the suitability of the translations currently applied for the English term spirituality in the mediation context, should be addressed. Cultural comparison can be used, and indeed, spiritual experiences are said to be perceptible by studying one's own cultural framework (Van den Hoogen, 2011: 95). However, the difficulty arises when mediation practices are fixed in a particular 'cultural' context.

The categorisation of mediation practice is based on written or oral language traditions and places countries such as Japan, China and the USA into the same group of written language tradition (Wall and Callister, 1995) and disregards cultural traditions. So, for example, discussions about mediation as an Alternative Dispute Resolution ('ADR') method (Wall and Callister, 1995; Miyatake, 2017: 4) may not take into account the specific expectations of prospective users of mediation in Japan that are shaped by their cultural traditions. At the same time, countries cannot be simply categorised based on their language.

For example, in the context of the USA, LeResche (1993:321) stated that, "[t]here are at least 517 ways that the Native American form of mediation, peacemaking, occurs in the USA today. The U.S. government has "recognized" 517 tribes with a total of approximately 1.8 million members; they speak 252 languages in addition to English. (There are 573 bands across Canada, with an average membership of 525 individuals per band.) Tribes, bands, and villages have diverse social and governmental structures." Similarly, Meyer (1995: 30) states that, the American Government recognises "about 500 tribes as "Native American" [...and] together, they speak more than 250 languages and have found at least that many ways to resolve conflicts peacefully".

The native Hawaiian people in the USA use their own traditional mediation process called ho'oponopono (Wall and Callister, 1995: 46). Ho'oponopono was not considered as a part of written language tradition because of its cultural origin (Wall and Callister, 1995) and has been described as not sharing the "strong commonality" among mediation practices of the other American and Japanese people (Wall and Callister, 1995: 46) as it is seen as belonging to a society based on oral tradition (Wall and Callister, 1995).

However, this does not mean that non-native Hawaiian people do not use ho'oponopono or that native Hawaiian people do not use litigation to pursue their claims (Shook, 1985). Although culturally embedded differences such as written or oral traditions are still significant in terms of dividing mediation processes into different categories (Wall and Callister, 1995), mediation using ho'oponopono is now available and used as a tool of mediation to those who understand the nature and wish to use it for solving their disputes (Shook, 1985).

For instance, Huber (1993: 358) proposes integrating spirituality originating in the Aboriginal culture into the non-indigenous mediation process by using the Medicine Wheel mediation model which consists of four elements, physical, emotional, intellectual and spiritual. In other words, the application of this culturally specific model is no longer limited to mediation targeting disputes occurred among the Aboriginal. When only focusing on written or oral language tradition and observing these cross-cultural applications of mediation tools in the USA alone, the native Hawaiian's tradition used in the contemporary USA now becomes a part of written language tradition, which is not accurate.

Likewise, in Japan, there are minorities whose parents or ancestors migrated from other countries such as Korea (Lee, 2018) and Brazil (Hoshino, 2018) and more recent communities that are religion based such as Muslims (Numajiri and Miki, 2018) as well as indigenous peoples such as the Ainu, who are recognised as the first nation of Japan under the Ainu New Law which was passed by the Diet in April, 2019 (Nikkei, 2019). While minority groups living in Japan may speak the same language, Japanese, their dispute resolution attitudes in terms of 'cultural' preferences do not mean they should be restricted to traditional dispute resolution methods. In other words, mediation methods can be adopted to different cultural groups by sharing the same language.

Thus, indigenous peoples certainly can also choose litigation over their traditional dispute resolution method, if so desired, in the same way as 'other, non-indigenous' people in the same society can choose to use one of the traditional dispute resolution methods. While indigenous peoples, such as native Hawaiian and Ainu people, have the right to self-

determination under the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (A/RES/61/295), basing methods of dispute resolution on the cultural origins of populations who now use the same language and reside in the same country, creates unnecessary divisions and can lead to unintentional discrimination.

Although Japan can improve its mediation practice by learning and using mediation techniques and strategies developed and used in other countries with the same written language tradition including the USA (Miyatake: 2017; Wall and Callister, 1995: 46), emphasising a division between written and oral language traditions will result in ignoring those minorities who live in the county by losing their long preserved traditions to learning the same language (for instance, see Murayama, 2014a). In addition, this kind of distinction places Japan, China and the USA into one category, thus overlooking important differences between these three countries. This is especially the case where Japan has developed its own mediation schemes rather than following other countries. During discussions about the ADR Act 2004, Yamamoto (HoC, 2004b) pointed out that Japan and the USA's mediation development and social circumstances are significantly different. The legislature did not consider foreign countries' situation and drafted the bill of the Act entirely to fulfil Japan's needs for ADR methods regulated under its own legislation (HoR, 2004b: 3, 7, and 30).

By focusing on the common language used in Japan, the approach of the present thesis would meet the approval of Van den Hoogen (2011: 95) who argues that spiritual experiences are perceptible by studying their linguistic forms and also "by way of 'surprise', looking for ruptures in the patterns of meaning" and "in the way these patterns refer to our reality". Such a focus would allow this study not to overlook any differences and commonalities in their meanings of the same English terms spiritual and spirituality, even though both indigenous and non-indigenous mediation are used in and by different cultural groups (Shook and Kwan, 1987). At the same time, the focus enables the division between indigenous and non-indigenous mediation to remain equivocal.

In order to discover the spiritual experiences reflected in "linguistic, historical, economic, cultural phenomena" such as "attitudes, rites, texts and material culture" (Van den Hoogen,

2011: 95),<sup>28</sup> this study refers to the official language, Japanese, to examine spirituality in the Japan's mediation context, rather than dividing the country based on the multiple cultures that co-exist in the country. This approach is also used in the research by Horie (2019) whose research aim was to generate the meaning of transliterated spirituality, a Japanese term, by researching how the English term spirituality is used. In his research which narrowed its research contexts to Psychology and Sociology of Religions, Horie (2019) selected the target articles and defined what the term spirituality means in English publications. By doing so, transliterated spirituality in those contexts was defined for people of Japan.<sup>29</sup>

By adopting the similar approach to the present thesis, the focus is not intended to be one specific country nor is it intended to restrict the notion to one particular culture when the English language is referred to in this thesis. This is important given that English language resources on spirituality and mediation are published in different countries. Acquiring an official language as a second language and using it to communicate does not mean one abandons own traditional culture; rather, it allows cultural values to be communicated using a common language (Lee, 2003).

Concerning more contemporary, non-secular spirituality, scholars have noted a lack of academic discourse in this regard (see for instance, Singleton, 2016; Watson, 2016). Japanese scholars studying modern spirituality have also pointed to the difficulties of making comparative studies on the topic at this point of academic progress (Ama, 1996; Nishimura, 2018). Yet such studies would make a significant contribution to the study of religious sociology despite, or rather because of, those difficulties (Shimazono, 2012). For example, as of 2012, there were no Japanese academic studies that had collected data attributable to people who are 'spiritual but not religious' while a few though not many had been conducted in the USA (Koike, 2012).

In discussing this gap in available resources to conduct comparative studies between Japan and other countries, Ito (2003) refers to Tomlinson (1999: 57) who argued that culture tends to be tied to a particular geographic area and its meaning construction is therefore also connected to the area. His conclusion was that, although access to information has become

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Similarly, Waaijman's (2002: 845-860) research which is comparative in nature was carried out by focusing on the different languages such as English, French, and Italian and not comparing cultures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Horie's (2019) study is analysed in further detail in Chapter 2 below.

much more globalised and understanding how different spiritualities intersect with one's own culture must be an important task, the starting point has to be to address the lack of a comprehensive picture of spirituality in Japan itself (Ito, 2003:162-169). Indeed, Nakamura (2012) doubts the need for such comparative studies. In his view, spirituality is made up of various factors and elements which cannot be standardised, even across one country, let alone across multiple countries and cultures (Nakamura, 2012). As mentioned earlier, even within Japan itself, there are many terms used for the English word 'spirituality', and those terms do not always back translate as equivalences of the English notion of spirituality.

The complex nature of spirituality in Japan has been explored in qualitative studies conducted by Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane (2001 and 2002). According to their findings, the English term 'spirituality' used in one context cannot be transplanted to the same context in Japan by simply using available Japanese translations (Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane, 2001 and 2002; see also Ando, 2012). They argue that the complexities surrounding the translated term being used has to be taken into account, and in particular, greater consideration needs to be given to the often-overlooked influence of the religiosity of Japanese people that is habitually embedded in their daily lives (Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane, 2001 and 2002). Hence, understanding spirituality in Japan needs a flexible approach to illustrate the meaning of it as used in each context in which the studies are conducted (Nakamura, 2012; Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane, 2001 and 2002).

Finally, among the various mediation models, the most frequently used in Japan are the narrative, facilitative and transformative models (Wada, Ando, and Tanaka, 2015; Wada and Nakanishi, 2016; Wada and Otsuka, 2014; Science Council of Japan, 2008; Yoshida, 2009). These models are not specially tailored for, or to be adapted to, the Japanese speaking mediation from what have been used by English-speaking mediators.<sup>30</sup> In the early period of development of mediation which was in the 2000s of Japan, Japanese mediators flew to the USA to learn mediation skills and brought those back to the country (Ishihara, 2017a). Thus, mediation practice in Japan has been greatly influenced by other countries, especially the USA.

•

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See for example, Fujioka (2005), Wada, Ando, and Tanaka (2015), and Wada and Nakanishi (2016).

As for another example, Doshisha University in Japan offers lawyers in Japan mediation training courses in cooperation with Pepperdine University Law School in the USA (Doshisha Law School, 2018). Zumeta (2003 and 2017), a mediator working in the USA, who has discussed the notion of spirituality in the context of mediation, is now an Adjunct Professor at Pepperdine University School of Law's Straus Institute for Dispute Resolution (Georgakopoulos, 2017: xxx). Naturally, the introduction of the book written by Mark S. Umbreit (2001) by translation in 2007 as mentioned in the previous subsection was not an exceptional movement in the profession.

Taking into consideration these academic arguments and professional movements regarding Japanese-speaking mediation practice as highlighted thus far, the present thesis focuses on the consequences of introducing transliterated spirituality or *seishin* to the Japanese-speaking mediation context through the translation of Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit's work, in which these terms came to be chosen as Japanese equivalents of spirituality as used in their texts.

#### 1.2 Research questions and objectives

By achieving its research aim as stated in 1.1.1 above, the present thesis will not only contribute to improving the service quality of mediators who work with Japanese speaking clients but also contribute to the study of spirituality in Japan with new academic perspectives. By understanding the research background and establishing its context, the present thesis now poses three key research questions.

The first question is to identify what the Japanese transliterated term of English spirituality means despite its context-bound nature. Secondly, the study seeks to establish what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit mean by the English terms spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation. Thirdly, the study explores whether mediation in Japan has spiritual dimensions. Depending on the answers to these three questions, the further question may be addressed as to whether any academic recommendations can be made for instance, regarding whether *reisei* is a more suitable Japanese translation for the English terms 'spiritual' and 'spirituality' to be used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

By considering those questions, together with the points discussed so far in this chapter, the thesis has the below objectives.

The first objective is to define and clarify what transliterated spirituality means in Japan. So far as known, the term used in the context of mediation was transliterated, but such transliteration does not necessarily mean that the notion originally expressed by the English terms spiritual and spirituality is being fully conveyed. The investigation should extend to how transliterated spirituality has emerged.

As transliterated spirituality is being used in various contexts in Japan, including in peacebuilding, the next objective is to understand what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit mean by the English terms spiritual or spirituality when used in the context of mediation. Since 1987 when the first article was published using spirituality in the context of mediation in the English language, many mediators have used the terms 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' to describe their mediation experiences. These voices from mediators and scholars whose practice are based in various countries such as Australia, China, Ethiopia, India, New Zealand, Northern Ireland, Sierra Leone, Taiwan, Tanzania, Turkey, and the USA, have been published in English. Those two authors' views expressed by those terms are thus cross-referenced to other English language publications on the topic.

Once the meaning of spirituality was established as used by these two authors in the mediation context, the third objective of the thesis is to establish whether describing mediation practice as spiritual in nature is specific to a group of mediators who work in a proximity and as such whether it is possible to speak of a new model of mediation. The claim of who mediates matters is put forward by some mediators, including Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit who have described their mediation practice using the terms spiritual or spirituality. This claim also deserves close attention because Article 7 of Japan's ADR Act 2004 makes reference to the idea that who mediates matters.

This investigation will enable the present thesis to establish the extent to which a clear line can be drawn between mediation experiences that are viewed as spiritual in nature and those that are explicitly faith-based, in other words, mediation being conducted based on a choice of institutionalised religious faiths or by sharing the common faiths among the

mediator and attending clients. Mediation as an academic field has thus far not made reference to such terms so it is assumed that it is still relatively uncommon and therefore, under-researched. At the same time, Roberts (2014) has still pointed out the general gap between practice and theory in the field of Mediation which was pointed out by Rifkin (1994). Seemingly, the task seems time-consuming and this research should contribute to accelerating such an integration. Unfamiliarity with spirituality as a concept in the field may result in professional mediators being reluctant to engage when they come across the term (Jones, 2009). The present thesis aims to address this reluctance by clarifying any issues and hindrances that emerge as a result of achieving the third objective albeit limited to the Japanese-speaking context which only translated Louis Gold and Mark S. Umbreit thus far.

In order to understand the position of the generated notion in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, the fourth objective is to investigate the development of mediation practice in Japan to date as well as the expectations of Japanese speaking mediation users. More specifically, the present thesis investigates whether the generated notion of 'spirituality' has intersected with the development of mediation in Japan prior to 2007 when the notion was introduced by the translation into Japanese of the English articles. Depending on the outcome, the present thesis will continue to argue one of the followings. If there is evidence of the notion prior to 2007, differences and similarities in the application of the term will be analysed. If it only appears to be used after the publication of Gold's (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit's (1997 and 2001) work, the question will be posed as to the extent to which the notion fulfils any of the Japanese speaking mediation users' expectations.

The fifth objective is to discover whether the currently applied translation of those terms, namely *seishin* or the transliterated spirituality, convey the generated meaning of 'spirituality' or 'spiritual' in the context of mediation for Japanese speakers. Under this objective, the thesis will ask whether currently applied translations of those terms are better suited to the Japanese-speaking mediation context and if not, why not. If these translations are found to be unsuitable or create more hindrances than benefits, the present argument will be made for the term *reisei* to be used instead, as it may convey the meaning more effectively in the specific context of mediation. This objective also allows the present thesis to analyse the contributions made or controversies generated by those translations when used in Japan's mediation context.

## 1.3 Disciplinary location of this research

To achieve the above discussed aims and objectives, the present thesis sets its disciplinary location in the study of spirituality (Principe, 1983; Schneiders, 1986 and 1989; Sheldrake, 1999; Wolfteich, 2012). Among these scholars, Schneiders (1989) seems to provide the most detailed discussion on spirituality as an independent discipline. At this point, a reference to an example raised by Frohlich (2001), who distinguished what she defines Spiritual Discipline and Discipline of Spirituality, clarifies this thesis's disciplinary location. A research on a cult, for example, may require discussions which are "rhetorical structure, psychological and sociological characteristics, or cultural heritage" (Frohlich, 2001: 71). When these discussions became the central to the research, the research is shifting away from Discipline of Spirituality and its disciplinary location, which can be Psychology, Sociology or Cultural Studies, becomes Spiritual Discipline. These two, Discipline of Spirituality and Spiritual Discipline are not the same.

Spirituality now became an academic topic and the increasing quests over what spirituality means and how the study of spirituality relates to lived experience of the faiths can be discussed in the discipline (Schneiders, 1989: 676).<sup>31</sup> Since no 'generic spirituality' exists because of its nature as lived experience, her suggestion is determining what 'spirituality' means can be possibly done by learning the actual life project of the individual (Schneiders, 1989).

In studying spirituality, to obtain detailed descriptions, understanding the phenomenon on its own terms is essential rather than prescribing and evaluating the experience (Schneiders, 1986). Such an attempt can thus be multi-disciplinary and cross-cultural because it requires an inclusive and holistic approach to the subject (Schneiders, 1986). In addition, the study of spirituality requires the researcher's reflexivity to understand the subject as it involves concrete individuals rather than classes (Schneiders, 1986). Hence, the objective relies on the researcher's interpretation and the validity of it depends on his or her ways of understanding the subject rather than on statistics. In order to study the development of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The readers of the present thesis must recognise the rapid developments of academics. Back in 1993, the opening paragraph of one of innovative mediation journals had to begin stating that some may doubt Mediation was an independent, academic discipline (see Saposnek, 1993a: 1). Nearly 30 years on since, no one would wonder if Mediation is an academic field (see for instance, Georgakopoulos, 2017; Moore, 2014; Roberts and Palmer, 2005).

spirituality in Japan with a focus on its usage in the context of mediation, the author's personal background will contribute to maximising such reflexivity.

Although the study of spirituality is now an independent discipline and no longer the subject of theological research (Hense and Maas, 2011: 1), the relationship between spirituality and theology is still strong (for instance, see discussions by Plattig, 2011; Waaijman, 2011). In fact, Sheldrake (1999: 166) observes the relationship of the two as "[t]heology disconnected from spirituality becomes abstract and disengaged. Spirituality cut adrift from theology loses touch with the 'Great Tradition' of faith". Spirituality also maintains the boundary for the argument about who God is, although it does not answer the question (Lough, 1978: 4). When the study of spirituality reserves its independent status as an academic discipline (Schneiders, 1986: 272), the best described relationship of spirituality with theology seems to be "a disciplinary partner – not as a "subdiscipline"" of it (Wolfteich, 2012: 332-333).

For Principe (1983: 137) who considered spirituality as a common arena for both Christians and non-Christians, there are three levels of spirituality. The first is "a level of the lived quality of a person" and "the way some person understood and lived, within his or her historical context, a chosen religious ideal in sensitivity to the realm of the spirit or the transcendent" (Principe, 1983: 135). At this level, there are various fields of human expressions and social behaviours and one of them is justice and peace (Van den Hoogen, 2014: 5), from which mediation has never been distanced and on the contrary is very much interconnected (Lopez, 2017: 389). The second is, "the foundation of a teaching about the lived reality" including doctrine formulation (Principe, 1983: 136 emphasis in the original), and the third is, "the study of various doctrines or traditions (second level) or as the analysis of different practices and examples (first level)" (Principe, 1985: 137). At this third level, there are various opinions about what spirituality means, depending on how scholars understand the term (Principe, 1985: 137). By applying Principe's three levels of spirituality, the present thesis explores the notion of spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context at the third level, while mediators' voices may well be at the first and perhaps second levels.

Principe (1983:138, citing Bouyer, 1963) further articulated that, to study spirituality at the third level, the whole context, including the person's, group's or "tradition's theological and

religious attitudes" as well as "psychological, historical, anthropological, sociological, philosophical, linguistic and other influences", which exist as a branch of religious studies, should be applied to the area of spirituality. However, he then contested this broad perspective in the analysis of spirituality because such an approach would turn the analysis of spirituality into the analysis of religious sensibility, religion, religious consciousness or mentalities. In his view, spirituality indicates one's "living a faith or commitment that concern his or her striving to attain the highest ideal or goal" (Principe, 1983: 139) and such a spiritual ideal and striving are not necessarily always influenced by, or may sometimes even be opposed to, religion, religious life or religious practice.

There has been an academic attempt to generate a common definition across some of academic disciplines by cross-referencing their established definitions of spirituality (for example, de Souza, 2016). Such cross-referencing is possible only when each and many fields have formed their own definition. There are many publications on 'spirituality' defining what 'spirituality' means in various academic disciplines. This fact seemingly confirms Principe's view. The academic interests go beyond just defining what 'spirituality' means. Scholars and researchers of those disciplines have thus far carried out empirical research on their concepts of spirituality and some have even made attempts to apply their findings in practice. For example, in psychology, William James (1902) initially contributed towards detaching the term 'spirituality' from institutionalised religions. Nearly a hundred years on, the discipline of psychology has steadily been developing its own definition of 'spirituality' without relying on other disciplines and the definition is now often used in the context of 'spiritual, but not religious' (for example, see Elkins, 1998) based on accumulating observational evidence.

However, academic researchers in psychology still complain about a lack of consensus in its disciplinary discourse when discussing the practical applications of 'spirituality' in that field's research (Vieten, et al. 2013). Despite such a status quo, the present thesis still observes the practicality of the term as developed in psychology, regardless of whether it from one

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Although listing all of those disciplines is not possible as the numbers are too large, those include Education (Speck, 2005; Watson, 2003), Health Care including Nursing and Psychiatry (Aten and Leach, 2009; Egan et al., 2011; Mayers and Johnston, 2008; McBrien, 2005; Powell, 2002 and 2007; Reinert and Koenig, 2013; Tanyi, 2002; Young and Koopsen, 2011), Social Work (Coholic, 2003 and 2005; Groen, Coholic, and Graham, 2012; Senreich, 2013), Psychology (Benefiel, Fry, and Geigle, 2014; Ellison and Smith, 1991; James, W. 1902; Ledbetter et al., 1991; Miller, 2004), or Psychotherapy (Maher and Hunt, 1993; Sperry, 2011; West, 2000 and 2009).

research to another is stable because such development can be traced to the sheer accumulation of debates on what is meant by the term since James (1902). In a similar manner, Nursing and Health Care have been trying to generate their own definition of the term 'spirituality' (for example, Egan et al., 2011; Tanyi, 2002). As mentioned earlier, in Japanese research, Horie (2019) conducted a research establishing meanings of transliterated spirituality in Psychology and Religious Studies.

In the field of Mediation, its common definition seems not yet to have been established. The present thesis analyses what the term spiritual or spirituality conveys in the mediation context, with a focus on the Japanese-speaking mediation context. Accordingly, the main sources for this analysis is work by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit. Their publications are, at the time of this research being conducted, the only resources on the topic being translated into the Japanese language. These two authors' views are then considered by referring to other authors on the topic, to develop a pragmatic understanding of the notion.

In conducting its analysis on definitions of the term spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation, the present thesis aims to position itself in the "space for an approach which understands the culture [of mediation] as mutualist, inter-subjective and mutable, and spirituality as the capacity of [mediators] to create or perhaps discover value and meaning" of their mediation practice (King, 1996: 350). That is because, "one way of understanding spirituality is within the changing mutualist interactions of persons who create and recreate transformation visions of life in the very flow and untidiness of our experience" (King, 1996: 350). Once such a definition is formed, the present thesis then articulates whether the transliterations of the terms or the translation *seishin* conveys the accurate meaning originally intended.

Waaijman (2002) described spirituality as, "the divine-human relational process as transformation". Similarly, the present thesis which is concerned with spirituality in the context of Japanese mediation, views 'spirituality' arising in the context of mediation as people's lived experiences of the real world. Within this view, the last yet not least important query left here is to establish the nature of the relationship between 'spirituality' as used in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation and religion or religiosity. This is especially so given the complex relationship between the two as highlighted by Allport's (1950) two

concepts of intrinsic and extrinsic religion and Selvam's (2015: 136 emphasis original) additional two matrices which are "spirituality of quest" and a "secular worldview". Various translations of the terms 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' exist in the Japanese language and the syncretistic and polytheistic attitudes of people of Japan, which may be vague and implicit in terms of their general awareness, 33 will impact on this relationship. The findings of the present thesis hopefully contribute to clarifying the relationship by conducting its research in the study of spirituality.

The following section discusses the methodological approaches and chosen methodology of this research.

#### 1.4 Methodological approaches and applied methodology

The nature of the study of spirituality makes it difficult to limit its methodology solely to, for example, theology (Van den Hoogen, 2014). This difficulty is the reason why the study of spirituality is now an independent discipline which should be described its approach as 'multiple-disciplinary' rather than 'interdisciplinary' or 'multidisciplinary', although it is referred to in different disciplines such as religious studies, sociology, or theology for instance (Principe, 1983; Schneiders, 1986 and 1989; Sheldrake, 1999; Shimazono, 2012; Van den Hoogen, 2014; Waaijman, 2002; Wolfteich, 2012). In such a disciplinary field, the present thesis uses textual analysis by taking a hermeneutic phenomenological approach to consider the phenomenon of the word 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' as used in the context of mediation, albeit in a secular way, which can be recognised as religiously and non-religiously (Van den Hoogen, 2011 and 2014).<sup>34</sup>

#### 1.4.1 Multiple disciplinary approach

In relation to predetermined research outcomes, Hirano (2015) illustrated her own difficulties with setting an unbiased research purpose in an academic discipline. In religious studies, for example, descriptive research extracts religiosity from various study subjects which have their own respective characteristics and contexts; this can lead to biased

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> As mentioned in the section 1.1 above by referring to scholars such as Ama (1996/2005) and Lewis (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Although hermeneutics were traditionally applied to historical texts including the Bible and classic texts, since 15<sup>th</sup> century on, it has been applied widely in the fields such as history, law, philosophy, and, as a result, extended its study materials to human behaviour, history, nature, and "all existents insofar as people see meaning in them and want to appropriate that meaning" (Waaijman, 2011: 137).

research results if the researcher only views the research purpose from their own predetermined religious point of view (Hirano, 2015). Such an approach can be etic yet cannot avoid researchers' biases toward their own data analysis and arguments based on the findings. In other words, the study's results may be predetermined by the research purpose. This approach also cannot avoid referring to issues addressed in a variety of disciplines due to the cross-disciplinary nature of the phenomenon (Inagaki, 2007; Hense, 2011; Ito, 2003: 158-159; Kobayashi, 2007; Matsumoto, 2016; Principe, 1983; Sakurai, 2009; Shimazono, 2007 and 2012: 46).

The academic approach in studies conducted in Discipline of Spirituality can thus be described as multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary (Schneiders, 1986; Sheldrake, 1999). This is illustrated well by, for example, a research by Ohkado (2011). For the present thesis to understand Japanese people's religiosity, which may or may not include transliterated spirituality (Miyajima, 2006: 136 by citing Yumiyama, 2006: 91), scholars strongly emphasise the importance of cross-sectional, multiple disciplinary approaches to the topic by closely researching different areas such as politics, peacebuilding, education, law, economy and medicine (Inagaki, 2007; Ito, 2003: 158-159; Kobayashi, 2007; Matsumoto, 2016; Sakurai, 2009; Shimazono, 2007 and 2012: 46).

Those scholars view transliterated spirituality as an indication of the globalised, multidimensional nature of religiosity.<sup>36</sup> The present thesis adds a new area of inquiry, mediation, to the pool of those disciplines, yet must also discuss whether spirituality used in the context of mediation is the same as religiosity, since this is a central issue for a profession in which there are already faith-based mediation models, mediation applied within the framework of religious doctrines.

As an independent academic discipline, thus, spirituality requires references to other disciplines because 'spirituality' is a multidimensional phenomenon which exists within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Ohkado (2011) described his research as interdisciplinary by citing the definition of 'spirituality' from Elkins, et al. (1988) on humanistic phenomenological spirituality and being published in the *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, as well as the World Health Organisation. Elkins et al. (1988) conducted empirical research in psychology by collecting data from teaching staff and students of the Graduate School of Education and Psychology of Pepperdine University in the USA and presented a humanistic definition of spirituality in accordance with psychologists, including Abraham Maslow and William James. However, Ohkado's (2011) research pertains to reincarnation, hypnosis and xenoglossy rather than Humanistic Psychology or Health Care.

 $<sup>^{36}</sup>$  As mentioned in 1.1 above.

different fields (Selvam, 2013; Shimazono, 2012). When discussing multidisciplinary or interdisciplinary approaches, Choi and Pak (2006: 355) defined the former as drawing knowledge from other disciplines for the purpose of contrasts yet staying in the same set disciplinary boundaries; the latter is described as integrating two or more areas of knowledge to form a new discipline. It is wise not to use terminologies such as multi- or interdisciplinary, which describe the "varying degree of the same continuum" of multi disciplines in the research approach, when the *nature* of the research applying multiple disciplines is not clear (Choi and Pak, 2006). Instead, a multiple disciplinary approach, which is effective when addressing complex, real world problems, is recommended as better suited to indicate the particular nature of such research (Choi and Pak, 2006).

Hense (2011: 14), who has carried out careful examinations of multiple research on spiritualities, has concluded that at present minor components and forms of spirituality are embedded in the social aspect of language. Taking this into consideration, the present thesis analyses what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit as mediators mean when they use the terms spiritual or spirituality in the English language, as a way to understand the background and consequences of the Japanese transliteration of those terms already introduced to the Japanese-speaking mediation context. Although the need to consider spirituality cross-sectionally by referring to multiple disciplines is recognised as important (Inagaki, 2007; Ito, 2003: 158-159; Kobayashi, 2007; Matsumoto, 2016; Sakurai, 2009; Shimazono, 2007 and 2012: 46), admittedly, the *nature* of such a research is often not looked into and thus remains unclear. By following Choi and Pak's suggestion (2006), therefore, this research, which is conducted in the field of spirituality, takes a 'multiple disciplinary' approach to understanding and articulating 'spirituality' in Japan's mediation context. By adopting a multiple disciplinary approach, this research positions itself alongside these Japanese scholars whose research concerning spirituality.

### 1.4.2 Hermeneutic phenomenology as a research approach

Due to the fluid, flexible yet distinct nature of the discipline, a suitable presupposition for the study of spirituality is hermeneutical (Schneiders, 1986: 273). In Waaijman's (2011: 136) words, "[w]hen important texts from the past have become unintelligible, people appeal to hermeneutics". Furthermore, as the study of spirituality concerns phenomena arising from people's lived experience and attitudes (Van den Hoogen, 2014; Sheldrake, 1999: 168), phenomenology which enhances the study of spirituality significantly (see for example,

Mommaers and Van Bragt, 1995), needs to be used combined with hermeneutics, which comprises historical perspectives and thus will allow interests promoted in the past to be identified as distinct from those of the present (Szocik, 2005).

When being combined with hermeneutics, phenomenology sets a necessary framework or common background, which may be summarised as an approach to the research subjects, for such research (Szocik, 2005; Van den Hoogen, 2014). Phenomenology makes following three fundamental contributions to hermeneutics; it clarifies the process of reading; it provides new insights in the interpretation of reading; and it explores the sense-making process beyond the written language (Waaijman, 2011: 137). Phenomenological concepts with which the present thesis deals are expressed through writings by mediators published in the English language. These publications are based on lived experience, which can fall into the category of 'lived spirituality' (Van den Hoogen, 2014). The present thesis is unique in using heuristic phenomenology to textually analyse publications by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, <sup>37</sup> taking their written words on spirituality as texts in order to observe actual moments of their 'lived spirituality'. In approaching their 'spiritual' experiences in the context of mediation in a more naturalistic manner, the present thesis aims to minimise the negative research impacts caused by potential research bias on those authors.

The combination of hermeneutics and phenomenology allows this research to conduct its analysis by using the logic of question and answer which observes the whole, focuses on the part and returns to the whole view, to generate understanding (Byrne, 2001; Gadamer, 1975; Weinsheimer, 1985). Thus, the findings of the analysis are organised in terms of themes or categories (Byrne, 2001), which are outlined in Chapter 3. In fact, this combination was applied in a study by Jones (2009), who conducted interviews with mediators to generate a lived definition of spirituality among her participants. Similarly, Mayer and Boness (2011) applied the same combination to conduct their qualitative, empirical research to understand cross-cultural conflicts and their management through mediation in ecclesiastical organisations in Tanzania.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> This research method, textual analysis, is discussed in the next subsection.

 $<sup>^{38}</sup>$  The detailed reviews of Jones (2009) in addition to Mayer and Boness (2011) are in Chapter 2.

By taking hermeneutical phenomenology, the present thesis understands and brings various ways of experiencing the target phenomenon, which is to use spirituality in the context of mediation, and establishes a consensus, albeit limited to a specific milieu (Annells,1996). Such research requires fixing the research context as a rigid framework. This naturally overlaps with what Van den Hoogen (2014) outlined as three important lines of analyses in the theological interpretation of spirituality. They are context, configuration, and dynamism of a phenomenon, in order to emphasise how such a multiple disciplinary approach is conducted. The solid research context, which was set up as a study of spirituality arising in the English-speaking mediation in the previous and current sections, is important because spirituality as a lived experience of individuals takes place within a framework (Sheldrake, 1999: 168). According to la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt (2012), who researched how the term spirituality is understood and used in relation to health issues, the term should be viewed as something which is a context-bound experience of relatedness to a vertical transcendent reality.

### 1.4.3 Textual analysis as a research method

The present thesis bases its observations on a textual analysis of publications about mediation written by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit and the use of spiritual or spirituality in these texts. The study of spirituality has long used textual analysis, focusing on the linguistic articulation of spirituality because such a focus can reveal a variety of human experiences in which spirituality is contained (Van den Hoogen, 2011 and 2014). This research method should not be confused with contents analysis, which the present thesis avoids using by reviewing research conducted in Japan on discovering the meaning of 'awakening the transliterated spirituality' (Nakatani, Shimada and Ohigashi, 2013).<sup>39</sup>

In other words, spirituality is something embedded in human experiences so deeply that it does not have its own distinct form yet underlies one's process of realising one's own perceived values (Van den Hoogen, 2014). This explains the background of the latest study by Horie (2019) who examined each definition used in the publication in Japanese and English in the fields of psychology and religious studies in order to form a meaning of transliterated spirituality to be used in the Japanese-speaking context.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> This study by Nakatani, Shimada and Ohigashi (2013) is included in the literature review section in Chapter 2.

When considering the term spirituality as a symbolic metaphor of expressing our world's transformation and metamorphosis, the meaning of the term spirituality changes depending on who uses the term. As King (1996: 345) points out, its flexibility or ambiguity allows its users to both reflect on and challenge institutionalised thoughts such as religions. For instance, in an article on Ethiopian traditional mediation used by Ethiopian immigrants in Israel, Bobrowski, Timor and Ronel (2017, cited Walker, 2001b) emphasise the spiritual element of mediation. In this instance, the authors use the terms 'religious' and 'spiritual' interchangeably even though the cited article of Walker (2001b) does not do so. This illustrates, at this point in the development of spirituality in the context of mediation as an academic discipline, how the terms spiritual or spirituality are used rather liberally to express opinions and views, drawing on earlier publications that use the same terms, without acknowledging that the contextual meaning may be different.

Textual analysis allows this research to closely investigate such variances in the usage of those terms by focusing on two main authors, Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit. In Van den Hoogen's (2014) outline, this is expressed as the configuration of a phenomenon. Using the term spirituality should be done with caution, paying close attention to the creativity of humans in time and history because, "a definition of spirituality will always be influenced by the purpose behind the usage" (King, 1996: 349). Terms such as "secularisation, materialism, scientism and even religion itself can become blunt tools for catching the complex innersubjective and creative ways in which humans weave, construct and challenge meaning and value" (King, 1996: 350), and the same applies to the term spirituality.

The present thesis argues, however, that it may be fallacious to consider that the term does not acquire a commonality in its meaning across individuals. Our inner lives are shaped through communication using common languages and indeed, as King (1996: 350) acknowledges, in and through interpersonal relationships which give our inner lives shared, common meanings. Again, in Van den Hoogen's (2014) interpretation, this illustrates and explains the dynamism of the phenomena. Hence, defining spirituality based on what a group of people mean by the term or how they use the term, should be feasible within a narrow and limited milieu. In order to stay focused on its aim, the present thesis focuses on those two authors to establish what they mean when they use the terms spiritual or spirituality in the mediation context. This does not, however, ignore the voices of other

mediators who use these terms in their publications. On the contrary, these other voices are used to develop a fuller, more comprehensive understanding of those two authors to help in the task of analysing the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations for those English terms.

There are additional reasons why this research applies textual analysis as a research method. Textual analysis allows researchers to, "interpret texts (...) in order to try and obtain a sense of the ways in which, in particular cultures at particular times, people make sense of the world around them" (McKee, 2003: 1) because "the ways of making sense of the world employed" can be culturally dependent and specific (McKee, 2003: 4 and 67). Textual analysis also enables a focus on connotative meanings by following an abductive research strategy (Bauer, Bicquelet, and Suerdem, 2014: xxviii; Blaikie, 2007: 88). McKee (2003: 1) explains textual analysis as the researcher making, "an educated guess at some of the most likely interpretations that might be made of that text". 40 Any means of communication that produces an interpretation of meanings can be a text (Fairclough, 2004: 3; McKee, 2003: 4). Any instance of language in any medium used, in a meaning-making process and functioning in a particular context is categorised as a text (Halliday and Matthiessen, 2014: 3).

This kind of interpretivism applied to textual analysis, "looks for culturally derived and historically situated interpretations of the social life-world" (Bryman, 2012: 399; Crotty, 1988: 67). In the present thesis, the texts to be analysed are academic publications in English, predominantly written by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit and pertaining to the field of mediation. However, there are many articles that use the terms spiritual or spirituality published by other authors whose mediation practice is based in countries such as the Australia, China, Ethiopia, India, New Zealand, Northern Ireland, Sierra Leone, Taiwan, Tanzania, Turkey, and the USA. Karcic (2006: 192) proposes that textual analysis is conducted by:

breaking down of something into its component parts. Consequently, to analyse a text means to break it down into its component parts, to examine them, and to offer an interpretation of the component parts as well as of the whole. By means of interpretation we are able to go beyond the obvious meaning of the text and to read the implied meaning or sub-text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> This 'educated guess' suggested by McKee (2003) was interpreted and understood by the author of the present thesis as perhaps something similar to an 'academic common sense'. In other words, the interpretation used and applied in textual analysis of one researcher would likely be supported and agreed by the audiences whose academic backgrounds, hence education, are similar to the researcher.

Once those two authors' publications are broken down into precepts in terms of each component of their meaning of spirituality, other authors' publications are thus used to examine, discuss and argue those precepts. By using a hermeneutic phenomenological approach, the present thesis expects to "grasp the unknown whole from the known parts" (Blaikie, 2007: 107).

Through such interpretation, the hermeneutic approach enables the present thesis to examine whether the transliterated spirituality or *seishin* conveys what these two authors mean by the English term spirituality in the mediation context. Such analysis aims to generate explicit meanings and interpretations of those authors' own understandings which may not be clear to the authors themselves. As Crotty (1988: 91) has argued, "determination of meaning is a matter of practical judgment and common sense, not just abstract theorising" and, consequently, the hermeneutic mode of understanding must be situated culturally as well as historically.

Textual analysis aids in the understanding of "different cultures' sense-making practices" when "the physical surroundings may look similar, but the way in which the culture makes sense of them is very different" because the outcomes of the interpretation will differ depending on the researcher's approach to the practices (McKee, 2003: 12). This means that the researcher's reflexivity, again, will benefit the generation of data through textual analysis as well as to analyse the suitability and consequences of the currently used translations for the English word 'spirituality' in the context of mediation.

The following section discusses the limitations of the present thesis.

### 1.5 Limitations of this research

### 1.5.1 Objectivity and subjectivity

Some of the limitations of the present thesis depend on whether objectivity is considered to be a necessary factor in the validity and reliability of its findings. Similarly, validity and reliability are measured in different ways depending on the applied theoretical perspectives and principles (Mason, 1996: 21).

Objectivism considers "meaning, and therefore meaningful reality, exists as such apart from the operation of any consciousness" (Crotty, 1988: 8). In positivist research which applies objectivism, the research findings are expected to retain a certain degree of validity, which is, "the capacity of research techniques to encapsulate the characteristics of the concepts being studied" (Payne and Payne, 2004: 233), and reliability, which is the consistency of the research findings (Bryman, 2012: 167), so to gauge a concept really measures that concept (Bryman, 2012: 171). If 'objectivity' exists and can be achieved free from the interpreter's reflexivity, lack of objectivity should be counted as a limitation of the present thesis because textual analysis cannot be conducted without the author interpreting the contents of texts. Indeed, there is "no such thing as an 'objective' analysis of text, if by that we mean an analysis which simply describes what is 'there' in the text without being 'biased' by the 'subjectivity' of the analyst" (Fairclough, 2004: 14-15).

On this basis, a qualitative approach that conducts textual analysis within a hermeneutic perspective cannot be objective, in the positivist sense, "the principle drawn from positivism that [...] researchers should remain distanced from what they study so findings depend on the nature of what was studied rather than on the personality, beliefs and values of the researcher" (Payne and Payne, 2004: 152). Findings that arise from qualitative research can also be criticised for being too impressionistic and therefore subjective (Bryman, 2012: 405-406). Furthermore, the results or findings that are generated by qualitative research are difficult to replicate and therefore cannot be generalised. Another limitation is that such research can be seen to lack transparency regarding, "what the researcher actually did and how he or she arrived at the study's conclusions" (Bryman, 2012: 406). However, this thesis is not situated within a positivist framework but within a constructivist one.

This study positions itself within constructionism and as a piece of qualitative research, is embedded in an interpretivist paradigm (Crotty, 1988: 9), although it would be unwise to posit a simple division between qualitative and quantitative research based on their epistemological presumptions (Crotty, 1988: 15). Although constructionism as an epistemological foundation of interpretivism does not necessarily mean to be subjective, in interpretivism, "subjectivity is valued; there is acknowledgement that humans are incapable of total objectivity because they are situated in a reality constructed by subjective experiences" (Ajjawi and Higgs, 2007: 614). Because it aims to identify the 'collective

generation' of meaning (Crotty, 1988: 52 and 58), what is discovered through interpretivist research methods such as textual analysis, is subject to challenge with regards to whether the authors are telling the truth, whether this 'truth' would be true for others, and whether, therefore, the research results can be thought of as universal (Seidman, 1998: 17). In order to provide as objective an analysis as possible, the present thesis analyses the findings of the textual analysis by referring to other articles written on spirituality and mediation in the English language.

Researcher reflexivity, another characteristic of this research, introduces an inherent element of bias into analysis of the data (Blaikie, 2007: 188). Firstly, the interpreted text will to some extent be influenced by the researcher's reflexivity. Furthermore, the findings based on the interpretation may not be accepted by some readers if the one's backgrounds are different from what the research discussed. On the other hand, reflexivity can enable a 'collective generation' of meaning and the interpretivist research findings can become a shared interest within a certain group of people, such as practitioners in a certain field, without acquiring 'objectivity' in a universal sense. In this case, the findings of the present thesis should benefit mediators working with Japanese speaking clients and the clients themselves by clarifying the meanings of the English terms spiritual and spirituality as currently translated by transliterate spirituality and *seishin* in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

In using textual analysis to discover the meanings of the terms spiritual or spirituality used by the selected mediators, namely Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, the data analysis may be viewed as subjective. However, at the same time as this type of analysis cannot be carried out without involving the subjectivity, the researcher's subjectivity becomes central to achieving the aims of the research.

#### 1.5.2 Limited resources

Mediators and academic researchers on mediation have not collaborated closely enough to have produced thus far many practical implications of academic studies (Rifkin, 1994; Roberts, 2014; Susskind and Susskind, 2008: 201). This has long been identified as one of the major challenges of the profession (Nudler, 1993: 3; Currie, 1998: 70). Legislatures of Japan also admit that there is a shortage of academic data on mediation practice (HoR, 2004b: 3). In addition, there is limited information available on transliterated spirituality from previous

studies (Ama, 1996; Nishimura, 2018). The second limitation is thus the significant dearth of opportunities to integrate the practical and academic opinions about spirituality, which makes it "impossible to use a comprehensive format and study all [...] at the same time" (Hense, 2011: 12), and mediation practice.

One of the aims of the present thesis is to clarify whether current Japanese translations for the English terms spiritual or spirituality accurately reflect their meaning in the Japanese-speaking mediation context as intended by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit's work on mediation. The findings of the present thesis will therefore help future research by providing the meaning of those terms so that enable them, for example, to reach out to thus far unpublished voices of mediators who may or may not use such terms. This study could also be used as a basis for future research to investigate whether the notion of spirituality used in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation is important and supported by or irrelevant and rejected by its users, including mediators and prospective clients, and if so, why. Overall, the present thesis contributes to the growing body of work and available data regarding spirituality and mediation.

### 1.5.3 Findings and discussions in a limited milieu

The present thesis does not intend to deny opinions put forward by scholars such as Fiss (1984; 1985) who has argued against the effectiveness of mediation and believes litigation to be the most suitable method to pursue justice. Litigation should function as it is and be available to any citizens within its formal justice system. Considering the aims of this research, the voices, that have contended that legal practice such as lawyering and making decisions in courts can also be said to contain a 'spiritual' dimension (for instance, see Hall, 2010 and 2005), have therefore been excluded from the present study.

The resources used in the textual analysis presented in this thesis are the writings of Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit that make reference to the terms spiritual or spirituality in the English language, writings that are publicly available to those who understand the language. While their views do not represent the opinions of all English-speaking mediators,<sup>41</sup> their publications provide data that can be analysed as part of investigating the meanings of the English terms spiritual and spirituality as used by those two authors. Although their views

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Especially, those of whom have devoted their time to providing mediation services and to solving disputes instead of spending it on academic developments of mediation.

and meanings may be categorised as a minority given the fact not many mediators refer to the terms spiritual and spirituality in their academic publications, the voices of such minority mediators are still significant and important in the present thesis concerning the potential impact of the Japanese translations of those terms on the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

The present thesis does not claim that its findings are applicable to all settings in which mediation takes place (see for instance, Hense, 2011). Studies such as Schwartz (1992), which sought to identify cross-cultural values that are important to human behaviour in investigating spirituality, appear to be weak as they only focus on certain aspects of spirituality and ignore others (Hense, 2011). Articles about mediation that make reference to the terms spiritual or spirituality are published in English all over the world. For example, hard copies of Umbreit's work have been published in multiple countries including Northern Ireland, the UK and the USA. On the other hand, by referring to Japanese, in some senses the present thesis is predominantly limited to Japanese society as there is no other country that uses the language as its official one. However, such Japanese-speaking communities do exist in other countries. Although by referring to the published resources of Lois Gold and Mark S Umbreit, the arguments presented in this thesis are not restricted to one English speaking country. It should be noted that the research investigates issues that will be relevant to relatively small interest groups.

Despite these limitations, the present thesis examines whether transliterated spirituality and *seishin* are best suited to convey the meanings of those English terms as used in a mediation context in Japan. Because of the nature of the term spirituality, that has been described as having, "a certain fluidity, not to say vagueness, in the use of the term" (Principe, 1985; 129), one of the aims of the research is to generate "a description of different spiritualities, a presentation that would be derived from the sources, widely conceived that have been studied [...and then make] comparison of different spiritualities" (Principe, 1983: 140). In the present thesis, such a comparison is made within the Japanese-speaking mediation context by focusing on *seishin*, *reisei* and their succeeding word, transliterated spirituality (Horie, 2009). Such a comparison is achieved by generating the meanings of the English term spiritual or spirituality in the work of two practicing mediators.

To conclude this chapter, the next section gives an overview of what is discussed in the subsequent chapters.

### 1.6 Structure of the thesis

The present thesis develops its arguments discussing the objectives as highlighted in the section 1.2 above in each chapter.

To define and clarify what transliterated spirituality means in Japan, the first section of Chapter 2 reviews Japanese academic opinions on spirituality to establish the directions for the present thesis to develop its arguments in relation to spirituality used in the context of mediation. This section subsequently raises some concerns and outlines how this research overcomes those concerns through a review on previous research conducted in Japan in relation to spirituality or on spirituality used in the English-speaking mediation context, albeit briefly due to the shortage of resources. Next, in the section of 2.3, the meanings of transliterated spirituality are defined and clarified. The following subsection more specifically discusses the meanings of transliterated spirituality used in peacebuilding, a field that is a close neighbour of mediation. By achieving objective one, this chapter highlights that translating from English to Japanese is a complex process, particularly with regards to the use of transliterated spirituality as an equivalent of the English term spirituality.

In Chapter 3, the textual analysis reveals what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit mean by spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation. This meets the second objective. The texts chosen to generate the core precepts were translated into Japanese and published in Japan. In order to understand their arguments pragmatically, this chapter then refers to other publications under each of those core precepts and articulates the meanings in the English mediation context. For the purpose of cross-referencing, more than 32 additional articles were identified that have been published on the topic in the English language written by various researchers and scholars of mediation in different countries such as Australia, China, Ethiopia, India, New Zealand, Sierra Leone, Taiwan, Tanzania, Turkey in addition to Northern Ireland, the UK, and the USA. This chapter articulates any important remarks and issues arising from the publications by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, so that the subsequent

chapters, once any issues being clarified in Chapter 4, can use the precepts to develop its arguments in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

First to discuss in Chapter 4 are as following; how mediation practice as described using the terms spiritual or spirituality might differ from the transformative model of mediation and whether and how the usage of those terms differs from the transformation that is referred to in that model. The second point is whether the application of those terms in the context of mediation is an indication of mysticism, which is described against the background of spirituality but conflicts with rationality if spirituality is understood as mysticism (Waaijman, 2002). Establishing whether spirituality as used by Gold and Umbreit is the same as mysticism is important as it has implications for mediation in the Japanese context in which mediators are assumed to work with clients rationally. In addition, such an argument enables this research to identify whether the term spirituality used by Gold and Umbreit is contemporary or traditional one. If the latter, their references might be influenced by, or as a result of, the world's religions (Jespers, 2011). Overall, Chapters 3 and 4 offer a deeper understanding of what the two mediators wish to convey in using those terms, thereby meeting the research's third objective.

The notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation was introduced to Japan in 2007 through the use of transliterated spirituality and *seishin*. While transliterated spirituality appeared only in the late 1970s and has been used more frequently since the 1990s (Horie, 2003, 2015 and 2018; Shimazono, 2007a, 2007b and 2012), mediation practice in Japan was established long before then. By understanding the two authors' notion of spirituality in the context of mediation, Chapter 5 thus examines the generated *meanings* of spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. This is to meet the fourth objective. Such discussions take place by analysing whether any of the precepts intersect with Japan's mediation context. The analysis is conducted by discussing the development of mediation up to and including the recent enactment of legislation in 2007, the ADR Act 2004 which both certifies or disqualifies certain groups of 'mediators.

In order to understand the status quo of mediation in contemporary Japan, a case study in the section 5.3 articulates the expectations of people in Japan who experience disputes. This enables the present thesis to investigate whether any of the users' expectations in the Japanese-speaking mediation context have been fulfilled by introducing the notion of spirituality to the context in 2007. This chapter seeks to identify whether the notion of spirituality introduced to the context of Japanese-speaking mediation has made a useful contribution or has simply created controversy.

Once the meaning of the notion has been thoroughly examined in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, Chapter 6 fulfils the fifth objective by examining the suitability of current translations. The reasons why the currently applied translations were selected despite existing issues as highlighted in Chapter 2, are discussed. This chapter then contemplates whether the currently applied Japanese transliterations of those terms convey the generated meaning of 'spirituality' or 'spiritual' in the context of mediation. Such discussions embrace arguments about whether the audience in Japan, including mediators themselves, understand the usage of those English terms through the translations currently used in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

The final section in Chapter 6, depending on the earlier discussion, considers whether to use *reisei* as a translation of 'spirituality' in the mediation context instead of the currently applied transliterated spirituality or *seishin*. As discussed earlier in this chapter, transliterated spirituality has been used instead of the words *seishin* or *reisei* although *seishin* and *reisei* do not mean the same in the Japanese language (Horie, 2003; Suzuki, 1944/1972).

To conclude the discussion developed in this thesis, Chapter 7 summarises whether it has provoked any controversies and the overall contributions that the terms spiritual or spirituality have made in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

Chapter 8 concludes the thesis by making recommendations for further research. It suggests that the notion of using spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context as well as a more generic academic investigation of spirituality in Japan, need further exploration. The research findings of the present thesis contribute to deepening the understanding and observation of Japanese transliterated spirituality and surrounding issues. As a result, the present thesis enriches the practice of mediation for Japanese speaking mediators and also contributes to their clients making informed decisions regarding their mediation. The

conclusions of the present thesis improve the quality of Japanese-speaking mediation, which is currently exposing both the mediators and clients to the ill-defined terms spiritual or spirituality albeit in translated forms, by providing the meanings of those terms and also suggesting which term of three, transliterated spirituality, *seishin* or *reisei* is better suited to use in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

### 2 Transliterated spirituality in Japan

### 2.1 Introduction

Chapter 1 gave an overview of the research conducted for the purposes of this thesis, including its context, disciplinary underpinning, and methodological approach. The notion of using transliterated spirituality in Japan's mediation context has a relatively short history, and in other academic fields, these terms have only been researched since the 1990s in Japan (Haga, 2007; Horie, 2003, 2015 and 2018; Shimazono, 2007a, 2007b and 2012). Therefore, it is no surprise that there is no empirical research available pertaining to mediation in Japan that could provide a starting point for the research.

The suitability of *seishin* as a Japanese translation for the English term spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit has already been questioned in Chapter 1 by referring to Ando (2012) and Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane (2001 and 2002). Although Kashio (2012: i) states *seishinteki* and transliterated spiritual can be used as translations for the English term spiritual, thus far, he has not conducted any empirical studies to support his view. Therefore, arguments regarding the suitability of the term *seishin* as a translation of the English term spirituality in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation needs to be left for the later chapter where the meanings of the English terms spiritual or spirituality in the mediation context will be generated through textual analysis.

Based on the body of work by Japanese scholars in the fields of mediation and spirituality, the first section of this chapter reviews the academic arguments raised in the past 15 years by these scholars in relation to the methodological approaches adopted in spirituality research conducted in Japan. Research into spirituality is evolving rapidly and academic views of spirituality articulated in the early 2000s are already being challenged as outdated (see for instance, Haga, 2007; Horie, 2018; Shimazono, 2007a). Horie (2019) describes this fast expansion and popularity of transliterated spiritual or spirituality among people in Japan, known as a 'spiritual boom' meaning a 'rapid trend of spirituality' (Gaitanidis: 2012), now tailed off.

By using the findings together with the research methods and methodology of the present thesis discussed in Chapter 1, this first section then examines five empirical studies on spirituality. The studies conducted in the context of mediation in the English language are Jones (2009), Mayer and Boness (2011), and Nun (2011). The remaining two, Nakatani, Shimada and Ohigashi (2013) and Horie (2019), are Japanese research, which analysed transliterated spirituality and the English term spirituality albeit in different contexts.

In doing so, the present thesis tries to learn from past studies. The analyses of these studies are also expected to produce a pathway to follow based on academic opinions in the field of spirituality research. By following the path, the present thesis discusses, in the subsequent chapters, the suitability of current Japanese translations for the English term spiritual or spirituality as applied in the context of mediation to discover its contributions to practice and any controversies that have emerged.

The second section discusses two further topics to identify issues arising from introducing transliterated spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context: the usages of transliterated spirituality in Japan and the current status of peacebuilding, one of the professions in which 'spiritual' and 'spirituality' intersect. In Japan, peacebuilding, which is an academic field overlapping mediation although as a profession it is categorised entirely differently (Lederarch, 1997; LeResche, 1993; Zelizer and Chiochetti, 2017), has been using the notion of transliterated spirituality well before its introduction to the mediation context. The discussions in this second section aid the present thesis in overviewing any potential issues, risks and benefits that the Japanese-speaking mediation faces as a result of introducing the notion presented by English-speaking mediators to the context by using transliterated spirituality.<sup>42</sup>

As for the conclusion, the present thesis emphasises the importance of this research concerning transliterated spirituality in Japan's mediation service.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> In Chapter 1, the importance of cross-sectional approach to the topic of spirituality has already highlighted (Inagaki, 2007; Ito, 2003: 158-159; Kobayashi, 2007; Matsumoto, 2016; Sakurai, 2009; Shimazono, 2007a and 2012: 46).

## 2.2 Literature reviews: research into spirituality and transliterated spirituality

### 2.2.1 Academic opinions on research into spirituality published in Japanese

The present thesis has deliberately avoided to position its research in religious studies because the fundamental question, whether transliterated spirituality has anything to do with religion or religiosity in Japan, has not yet been answered definitively (see for instance, Horie, 2018: 141-143; Ito, Kashio, and Yumiyama, 2004; Kasai, 2003; Kashio, 2004 and 2015; Matsuura, 2009; Shimazono, 2007a, 2007b, and 2012). Nonetheless, some religious studies scholars consider that a wide definition of religion includes spirituality (Shimazono, 2012). By contrast, Horie (2009; 2018) argues that transliterated spirituality is systematised by being embedded in institutionalised religion and re-visualised as a result. All In his latest research, Horie (2019: 15) concludes that transliterated spirituality includes something essential to religions, yet it is also possible to experience it privately and without belonging to institutionalised religions. Thus, the relationship between transliterated spirituality and religion or religiosity cannot yet be conclusive at this point of academic progress, especially pertaining the context of mediation.

In addition, Japanese academic research in relation to transliterated spirituality has been conducted in many fields other than in religious studies (for example, see Kashio, 2002; 2012; Shimazono, 2007a; and Yuasa, 2003). Researchers choose their research context flexibly because transliterated spirituality has yet to gain sufficient recognition by the general public that would enable it to be identified as a discipline and be defined accordingly (Ito, 2012; Nakagawa, 2012). What is clear at this point is that when mediation is conducted based on specific religious faiths, it can be categorised as faith-based mediation. Faith-based mediation has been defined as mediation in which, "religious creed, objects (i.e. symbols, texts, images, principles etc.) and institutions play an important role" to both the mediators and their clients (Bercovitch and Kadayifci-Orellana, 2009: 185).

Faith-based mediators are those who, "are motivated and inspired by their spiritual and religious traditions, principles, and values to undertake peace work" (Bercovitch and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> This point will be further expanded in section 2.3 below.

Kadayifci-Orellana, 2009: 185), and their faith needs to be shared by their clients. However, mediation offered outside of these faith-based contexts, is one of many fields in which the notion of transliterated spirituality has been introduced through publications since 2007 and shared with the public, yet without a debate about the meaning of the term and a clear definition of what it contributes to this context.

Because of this lack of definition of what is meant by transliterated spirituality, the relationship between spirituality and religion in the Japanese-speaking mediation context is unclear. Ando (2006), a religious studies scholar in Japan, suggests four different descriptions of the relationship between transliterated spirituality and religion: transliterated spirituality includes religion; the two overlap while being partially different; religion contains spirituality; both are entirely different (for similar arguments in Kasai, 2003: 124).

Ando's (2006) fourth category, often encapsulated by the phrase 'spiritual but not religious', would be provocative in the context of mediation because of the faith-based mediation model. This would mean that religious people are not spiritual if applied in the context of mediation, without knowing the meaning of the term. How would mediators who use a faith-based mediation model understand the phrase, 'mediation is spiritual in nature' (Jones, 2009), in the light of the fourth category? Alternatively, had spirituality used in the mediation context been religion, the arguments put forward by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit can become a part of faith-based mediation.

It is important, therefore, to first understand the original text's meaning to translate the English term spirituality into Japanese language to convey its meaning accurately. Similarly, Hirano (2015: 150) lists sociology as another example which faces different relationships between transliterated spirituality and religions. By citing Bourdieu and Wacquant (1992), Hirano (2015) proposes that the social and historical contexts of transliterated spirituality at stake are necessary if and when transliterated spirituality as a research subject may overlap but cannot be fully included in the concept of religiosity. Once establishing such an inclusive, wider research context, the term can be defined and the definition allows studies to draw comparisons between different eras, social contexts or academic disciplines (Hirano, 2015).

Nonetheless, Hirano's approach is valid only when the field of study has developed enough for studies to predict and determine that transliterated spirituality overlaps with religiosity. In other words, Hirano's (2015) approach is possible when and if transliterated spirituality has already acquired its definition in the field. As discussed in Chapter 1, in mediation, the definition or meaning of the English terms spiritual and spirituality has not yet been clearly defined; as a result, transliterated spirituality in this context remains vague in its meaning. Also, as discussed previously, both transliterated spirituality and the English term spirituality, appear cross-sectionally and bear different meanings in each context. One threat to the profession, therefore, is that prospective mediation clients or mediators themselves, will be misled by a translation that intersects with other fields while meaning something different.

Horie (2015) proposed that an alternative way of approaching transliterated spirituality as a research material is to describe the phenomenon from the point of view of the study subject at stake, so that to generate the meaning of transliterated spirituality. Hence, this research is conducted by letting the study subject to define what the term means. In order to do so, social and historical contexts need to be included in the research.<sup>44</sup> In this way, a precise definition of transliterated spirituality at the start of the research is not necessary. Instead, a definition can be generated within the parameters and context of the study itself and this can be used in future studies to compare and contrast with other similar phenomena in different disciplines and other historical or social contexts.<sup>45</sup>

This approach is especially useful to clarify the situation in which the practitioners of a particular field are often not concerned with the whole picture of transliterated spirituality. For instance, some practitioners do not consider the risks of using transliterated spirituality such as the other meanings of the term in different contexts, when they use it because other potential definitions of the same term are often considered irrelevant to their professional practice (Ando, 2006: 75; Horie, 2015).

Furthermore, this research must pay attention to the fact that this relatively new term, transliterated spirituality, has only been used since the 1970s and been the subject of academic research since the 1990s (Horie, 2003 and 2018; Shimazono, 2007a, 2007b and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Ito (2012) followed this approach in conducting his research.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> As Hirano (2015) listed.

2012). Given the proposal put forward by Horie (2003) that the appearance of transliterated spirituality has succeeded the Japanese terms *seishin* and *reisei* (see also, Kashio, 2012), it is vital to review whether *seishin* or *reisei* have intersected with the development of mediation in Japan. Such a historical overview of how transliterated spirituality has intersected with the development of Japanese-speaking mediation is also important in order to fully elaborate the issues and to discuss the suitability of the currently applied translations of the English terms spiritual and spirituality in Japan's mediation context.

In order to determine how to approach the terms spiritual and spirituality used in the mediation context, the next subsection reviews a few studies that are relevant to the focus of the present thesis.

# 2.2.2 Lessons from previous research: Nakatani, Shimada and Ohigashi (2013), Jones (2009), Mayer and Boness (2011), Nun (2011) and Horie (2019)<sup>46</sup>

As discussed extensively in Chapter 1, the chosen research method of the present thesis is textual analysis. The selection was made based on Van den Hoogen (2011 and 2014) in addition to reviewing studies that are similar to this study. For example, by using concept analysis (as used in Walker and Avant, 2005), Nakatani, Shimada and Ohigashi (2013) generated concepts related to 'awakening spirituality' used in Japanese academic texts and came up with the following key words: 'spirituality', 'spiritual', 'awakening', 'crisis', 'the transliteration crisis', 'concepts', 'grief', 'sadness', and 'Japanese'. In their study also, spirituality was transliterated.

The difference with this study was that their definition of spirituality was sought without limiting the search to one academic field whereas the present study's investigation is limited to the context of mediation. Their applied research method, conceptual analysis, requires the researcher to set the definition of the subject term based on previous studies in the field. The concept needs to be already in the literature, have already been defined and clarified and the task is then to conduct further analysis in order to develop the definition to the next

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> The research by Horie (2019) was published on 19 November 2019 which, unfortunately, did not allow enough time for the present thesis to analyse his research in detail to the extent of examining his as a precedent research method of this research. However, the fact that Dr Norichika Horie of the University of Tokyo, one of a few leading Spirituality researchers of Japan, conducted his research in the same approach as this present thesis employs is encouraging, although the contexts differ.

level. In their case, defining transliterated spirituality was possible by drawing on previous research in the field of health care.

In the context of mediation, there are three empirical studies that have investigated the definition of the English term spirituality: Jones (2009), Mayer and Boness (2011) and Nun (2011).

Jones (2009: 146) as a researcher chose to explore the concept of spirituality through the voice of participants by conducting interviews with mediators. Taking a hermeneutic phenomenological approach, she defined spirituality based on her interview data as follows: "[s]pirituality in practice is not about having the answers or applying specific models, but letting go of ego and control, allowing oneself to be open to awareness and intuition that will permit the path to open to resolution" (Jones, 2009: 163). Her study also involved observers who watched the mediation sessions held by mediators who described their mediation as having a spiritual dimension; these observers stated that they could see something spiritual happening in the session.

However, her research article does not state what interview questions were asked to generate the definition nor how Jones herself as a researcher explained to those observers what to record during the mediation sessions for her research. It also omitted to provide information on how the invitation to participate was worded nor how study participants, including mediators, their observers as well as their mediation clients, were selected. Jones followed the approach suggested by Horie (2015) which is to study a subject without having a predetermined definition, yet she fails to disclose how participants were informed of the target phenomenon. As a qualitative research, her findings therefore may be biased by the selection process. Indeed, without having some working definition of the term, it is questionable whether bias can be avoided, regardless of whether the research is qualitative or quantitative.

When embarking upon an investigation of spirituality and mediation, a working definition of what spirituality means can be helpful. Mayer and Boness (2011), for example, in their exploration of issues related to cross-cultural conflict and its management in ecclesiastical organizations in Tanzania, defined spirituality in accordance with their religious doctrines. In

this research context, where the aim was to discover the role of their shared spirituality and the role of the organizations to manage cross-cultural conflicts, the study findings, generated through interviews, were not affected because the participants as well as the researchers had a shared consensus in relation to what spirituality meant.

The difficulties of establishing a shared consensus regarding the meaning of spirituality is illustrated by the research of Nun (2011). This qualitative research investigated the role of spirituality as a motivator for conflict resolution and involved practitioners including mediators. In this study, Nun (2011) also used interviews with the aim of investigating how spirituality influences practitioners offering conflict resolution. Nun (2011: 23-28 and 51-56) used academic resources to define spirituality. The study participants whom Nun, as a researcher, "identified as spiritual" were then selected (Nun, 2011: 43). However, she did not make explicit how she judged them as being spiritual and there was no evidence that she shared her definition of spirituality with the study participants, who were asked to define what spirituality meant to them (Nun, 2011: 112). The fact that participants were selected based on her own definition of spirituality would have restricted the variety of definitions offered in the interviews. As a result, the outcomes of this research were to some extent predetermined. In this regard, Bourdieu and Wacquant (1992) warn of the dangers of selecting study participants based on a definition generated by the researcher yet without sharing this definition with the participants.

In formulating their definition, neither Jones (2009) nor Nun (2011) make cross-references to many of the previous publications that use the English term spirituality in describing mediation practice. This lack of extensive cross-referencing causes confusion in terms of establishing a working definition for the term spirituality in the context of mediation when there is no influence from religion unlike Mayer and Boness (2011). As a result, subsequent research such as the present study, are left with multiple definitions. As stated previously, when translating the term from English to Japanese in the mediation context, two different Japanese words have been used for the English term spirituality,<sup>47</sup> and the present thesis argues that this is a result of the gap in current studies on spirituality and mediation practice.

•

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> As discussed in Chapter 1.

Despite the limitations and difficulties that have been identified in the study of spirituality in the context of mediation, these previous studies are nonetheless significant and useful for understanding the current situation of the English-speaking mediation context, which appears to be multi-cultural, international and cross-cultural. As reflections of those researchers' opinions, views and values, these publications, whilst not providing evidence-based, empirically tested or scientifically proven definitions, convey the ineffable, elusive nature of the terms spiritual and spirituality when used in the mediation context.

In addition, as also briefly mentioned in Chapter 1, Horie (2019) conducted a similar research as the present thesis. His approach was to focus on both English and Japanese publications in order to generate the meaning of transliterated spirituality to use in psychology and sociology of religion. However, his research context was so broad that the generated meaning risks being overgeneralised to the extent overlooking individual meanings contained in the term. In the present thesis, it is hoped that minority voices are noticed by focusing on the narrow context of mediation and using the selected source articles which were only translated and published in the Japanese mediation context.<sup>48</sup>

Furthermore, because transliterated spirituality is a relatively new term in Japanese language (Horie, 2003, 2015 and 2018; Shimazono, 2007a, 2007b and 2012), Horie (2019) conducted his research on the basis that the English term spirituality and transliterated spirituality should mean the same in those disciplines of both Japanese and English languages. In other words, Horie (2019) tried to bridge the gap between meanings of spirituality in two languages used in those disciplines. For the purpose of the present thesis, this is the difference from Horie's research. In order to generate the meaning in such a manner in the context of mediation, the question whether transliterated spirituality is the translation for the English term spirituality must first be answered.

In the Japanese-speaking mediation context, Ishihara (as cited in Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012) is currently the only one published who voluntarily used the term transliterated spirituality, and her reference to the term was in a parallel of the term 'love'. <sup>49</sup> However, the English term 'love' is not 'spirituality'. Considering the status quo of English- and Japanese-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> The detailed methodological approaches and methods are discussed Chapter 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> As mentioned in Chapter 1 and further discussed in 2.3 below.

speaking mediation contexts, Horie's (2019) research methods cannot yet be followed by the research in the present thesis. However, his research is helpful and inspiring for the present research which seeks the meaning of transliterated spirituality or *seishin* used in the context of mediation in resource written in English.

This research carries out textual analysis on two authors, Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, whose work on meditation has been translated into Japanese. Because of limited research on this subject, the present thesis overcomes the difficulties in defining what spirituality means in the context of English-speaking mediation. By evaluating the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations based on the analyses of the meanings generated in the English-speaking mediation context, the present thesis develops a fuller, more comprehensive description of the phenomenon in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

Based on such analyses, the present thesis also contributes to developing resources which allow an integrated concept of transliterated spirituality to be established, something that has not been possible thus far due to the shortage of research (Uchimoto, 2009).<sup>50</sup> The contribution of the present thesis is also important because transliterated spirituality appears and is used cross-sectionally, despite having a variety of context-bound meanings.

As Horie (2019: 304) points out, there is almost no precedent research which investigated into transliterated spirituality in Japan. In November 2019 when he published his research to become such a role model for fellow researchers, this present thesis was already reaching its end. Regrettably, this research could only reflect his research findings and arguments onto its nearly completed analyses instead of following his research as its signpost. However, the analyses and findings of the present thesis allow future research to explore further based on Horie's (2019) academic arguments in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

In order to further illustrate and understand the contributions, controversies and consequences of using transliterated spirituality as well as *seishin* in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, the next section reviews the social context in which transliterated spirituality has been used since the late 1970s.

-

 $<sup>^{50}</sup>$  This point was mentioned in Chapter 1 and is further elaborated in the next section.

# 2.3 Issues arising from the introduction of transliterated spirituality to Japan's mediation context

This section identifies the difficulties, that have arisen due to the application of transliterations and thus point to the existing issues in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation. The first subsection articulates the development of transliterated spirituality, the second examines peacebuilding and transliterated spirituality followed by the third subsection which is to briefly summarise the issues with transliterated spirituality concerning the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

### 2.3.1 About transliterated spirituality

Shimazono (2012), a religious studies scholar, attempts to reduce the confusion over transliterated spirituality as highlighted in this section thus far by categorising the applications of transliterated spirituality since the late 1970s into two categories. One is the privatised healing and enlightenment sector while the other the public, more systematised sector which is more secular such as the medical, political and caring professions (see also, Horie, 2019). By following these categorisations, the first to articulate is the development of transliterated spiritual or spirituality in such a systematised sector which is often illustrated by academic research followed by the second discussion which examines so-called 'popularised' transliterated spirituality in the general public (Horie, 2019).

### 2.3.1.1 In the systematised sectors

English academic research using the term spirituality is well advanced compared to Japanese research. According to research by Ribaudo and Takahashi (2009), 1758 English articles were found that used the term spirituality while only 74 Japanese articles used transliterated spirituality (Takahashi, 2012). Compared to those who use both Japanese and English languages in their research into spirituality, the work of scholars who only use Japanese in their research may be unknown outside of Japan and vice versa, and, as a result, such scholars may not be aware of academic interpretations and discussions of the English term in the wider academic community.

This search result seems to suggest that the concept of 'spirituality' is still not popular or considered important among Japanese scholars. However, this is not necessarily the case. English articles that refer to spirituality include publications by Japanese scholars who only publish their research in English. One such scholar is Masayuki Ohkado whose research

interests are rooted in spirituality, near death experiences, previous lives, and life-between-life memories.<sup>51</sup> Alternatively, academic scholars who only use Japanese language may be using different but equivalent Japanese words in their publications and this may explain why their work does not come up when the term transliterated spiritual is used in the search.

Takahashi (2011: 221) associates the notion of transliterated spirituality in Japanese with concepts like "psychic" or "aura", thereby referring to the transcendental abilities of a person (Ide and Takahashi, 2002). In Japanese religious studies, it is taken to mean "something 'sensual' toward something religious" (Miyajima, 2006: 135 by citing Ito, 2003: ii; Kasai, 2002: 85; Kashio, 2004: 273) and has increasingly been used among these scholars more frequently while the term 'shukyo' started losing transparency in its definition in the country. Those scholars use the transliteration to indicate something distanced from institutionalised religions yet existing as, "deinstitutionalised religiosity" (Miyajima, 2006: 136 by citing Yumiyama, 2006: 91).

On the one hand, some state that transliterated spirituality is not the same as *reisei*, which contains the letter *rei* (霊) meaning 'ghost' or 'supernatural being', and by losing this letter, conveys a notion that is more of this world rather than 'otherworldly' (Ando, 2012; Horie, 2009 and 2019; Kasai, 2003). By using transliterated spirituality, scholars can emphasise the concept as being used in other countries (Horie, 2009). On the other hand, some scholars argue that transliterated spirituality only replaced *reisei* because of that letter *rei*, without changing its meaning (Ito, Kashio, and Yumiyama, 2004). From their perspective there is no difference in the meaning of transliterated spirituality, *reisei*, and English spirituality.

What is evident about transliterated spirituality used in the context of psychology and sociology of religion in Japan is that it already has established its independent meanings in the specific context from the other contexts in which the same term spirituality is used (see for example, Horie, 2019). Translating the English term spiritual by using transliterated spirituality only confuses its audience if the context has not yet established its meanings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Some of Ohkado's research titles are A Study of a Case Supporting the 'Reincarnation Hypothesis' with Special Reference to Xenoglossy (Ohkado, et al., 2009), Spirituality and the Level of Happiness (Ohkado, 2012), A Case of a Japanese Child with Past-Life Memories (Ohkado, 2013), A Comparative Analysis of Japanese and Western NDEs (Ohkado and Greyson, 2014), and Children with Life-Between-Life Memories (Ohkado and Ikegawa, 2014). Those are published only in English.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> The Japanese word for *shukyo* is 宗教, which means 'religion'.

This explains and supports why Shimazono (2012) articulates transliterated spirituality by distinguishing between one used in the public systematised sector and in privatised sector to illustrate the surrounding environment of the term in Japan.

Even though the discussions are taken place in the limited sectors, there are conflicting views on what transliterated spirituality is. Horie (2009) claimed, based on his analysis of three academic fields, transpersonal psychology, spiritual care such as in nursing and sociology of religion, the meaning of transliterated spirituality has become something different from being described as religious or supernatural. In the words of Carrette and King (2005) who wrote on commodified spirituality in the English language, this process can be described as 'psychologization'. Shimazono (2012: 26 and 99) counterargues that, by widening the definition of 'religion', the category of 'spiritual but not religious' still falls well within the category of religion in a broader sense. From this perspective, the use of transliterated spirituality implies not detachment from religion, but an attempt to disassociate from the negative elements with which religions are associated in Japan (Shimazono, 2012: 41).

To be more specific, the negative elements include those images displayed by so called new religious groups in Japan who in the 1990s came to be associated with certain criminal acts including homicide and murder (Horie, 2018 and 2019; Shimazono 2012). SA such new religious groups or any large organisations come to be seen as problematic, the role of religion, which provided advices, reliefs and guidance to those struggling in their lives, has been largely replaced by psychology or psychotherapy. Both has gained in popularity particularly in the last quarter of the 20<sup>th</sup> century in Japan because their focus is on an individual rather than to act as a group (Shimazono, 2012). Around the same time, transliterated spirituality started to be used in academic publications more frequently alongside the term healing in the late 1990s to early 2000s (Horie, 2007), Although the frequent application of transliterated spirituality in the fields of psychology and psychotherapy should not be taken as an indication that religion has been entirely replaced and diminished in the country.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> A couple of those groups are discussed in more detail in the next section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Transliterated spirituality used as a part of counselling or therapy is discussed in the below section of 'In the general public'.

In fact, Shimazono's (2012) understanding is that transliterated spirituality means more or less the same as 'religion' but that the former emphasises its separation or independence from institutions, organisations or groups in which certain practices or views are shared with other individuals. Transliterated spirituality cannot be categorised as a traditional religion which requires its believer or follower to belong to one group, to be a believer of one godly figure such as Christ or Buddha, to value exclusively own group's faith as the only and best, and to have a strong view of religious dichotomy in which the transcendental existence such as God only saves the believers and punishes non-believers (Shimazono, 2012: 99; see similar arguments by Carrette and King, 2005, although not about Japan).

Ama (1996), however, argues that it is impossible for an individual's faith to remain within the person alone. In fact, the notion then seems to become a religious principle of a kind from the moment it is communicated and shared with others (Aston, 1905: 5). Once communicated, what one means by transliterated spirituality influences people's foundation of sense making, fundamental values, the way of thinking or viewing, or how they perceive things in their lives; this is in a broader sense a religion in Japan (Ito, 2008: 158-159 by citing Shimazono, 2012). Fy Et, it is also true that transliterated spirituality does not fix its meanings (Ando, 2006; Horie, 2018; Haga, 2007; Kashio, 2012; Uchimoto, 2009), and that the term used in different academic contexts contains various degrees of religiosity depending on the context (Uchimoto, 2009). In 2019, Horie (2019) further claims that transliterated spirituality in the areas of psychology and sociology of religions is used by people who use the Japanese language to mean something core or essential to religions.

By combining those scholars' views which may appear as though inconsistent over the period of time or vary depending on the contexts, academics in Japan felt the need to distance the notion of transliterated spirituality from religion or the supernatural at a time, yet the attitudes of the users of the term are indeed rapidly changing over a short period of time. Alternatively, these academic arguments which may appear inconsistent to some extent, should blame such ineffable thus context dependent nature of transliterated spirituality.

\_

 $<sup>^{55}</sup>$  This is a similar argument as Parsons (1963) or Bellah (1967).

Nonetheless, a discussion about the suitability of currently applied Japanese translations of the English term spirituality in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation does need to be separated from religious studies. <sup>56</sup> If the analysis being carried out simply aimed to establish whether transliterated spirituality used in the context of mediation had a religious element or not, the division would only be between whether it is a faith-based mediation or not. However, neither Lois Gold nor Mark S. Umbreit publish their views on faith-based mediation, where mediation is offered by particular religious doctrines or on an assumption of a shared faith between mediator and clients attending the mediation sessions.

Thus, one must conclude that the use of the term spirituality by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) is not associated with specific religious doctrines or their intention to form a certain faith to conduct faith-based mediation. As discussed earlier, it is important to start from what these two authors mean by the English terms spiritual and spirituality to understand their notion in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

#### 2.3.1.2 In the general public

Japanese people involved in mediation are not necessarily academics whose research interests are in religious studies, spirituality or mediation. For example, participants at Umbreit's trainings held in Kumamoto in 2017, included many practitioners who have strong faiths in institutionalised religions but are not religious studies scholars (Ishihara, 2017a). As seen in Chapter 1, both mediators and their prospective clients have already exposed to transliterated spirituality outside of the mediation context in Japan. The application of the terms spiritual or spirituality is not restricted to the above discussed academic field. At the same time as being used by academics, the same transliterated terms of spiritual and spirituality are used in other sectors or fields of Japanese society, irrespective of faith or interest, including its mediation context.

When Ishihara discussed the importance of spirituality in mediation in a public lecture, the lecture was open to members of the general public in Japan (Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012). Any member of the public can also purchase the book translated by Fujioka (2007) to learn what mediators mean by transliterate spirituality. An open lecture held at Keio

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> In Religious Studies, the transliterated spirituality means privatisation of what religions teach; religion contains the system or organisation as well as the privatised matter (Shimazono, 2012: 97). This view of Shimazono (2012), however, is only significant when the applied context is not mediation. The detailed discussions are in Chapter 3, 4 and 5.

University in Tokyo in 2012, entitled 'the Present and Past of Spirituality' was attended by members of the general public as well as students and other academics. Licences for 'spiritual carer' are also issued by the Japanese Society of Spiritual Care, the majority being obtained by nurses working in hospitals and hospices in Japan to offer grief support and care.

The notion of spirituality is also being embedded and incorporated in what is normally categorised as 'pop-culture' or 'sub-culture' in Japan (Hirano, 2006), where it has become a media trend since the late 1970s or early 1980s (Gaitanidis, 2012; Horie, 2009; Ito, 208: 4; Shimazono, 2012: 20-26). Spirituality in this context is categorised as 'popular spirituality' in Japan (Horie, 2019), but not limited to Japan. For example, Jespers (2011) extensively explored the topic in the USA and UK; Hume and McPhillips (2006), who are both Australia based, published a book on popular spirituality. Japanese scholars, however, do not appear to actively investigate this phenomenon until the end of November 2019 when Horie (2019) published his extensive research on the topic.

While academics have not yet thoroughly investigated the phenomena, people of Japan have been exposed to such pop-spirituality (Horie, 2019). Since the 1970s, in bookstores a new section called 'Seishin Sekai' has appeared next to 'Religion' under which can be found books and magazines on topics such as healing, self-transformation, reincarnation, near-death experiences, yoga, meditation, shamanism, animism, progression of consciousness, mystical experiences, transpersonal psychology, holistic medicine and new science (Ito, 2008; Shimazono, 1996; 2012).<sup>57</sup> This shelf section was first created by one of the largest bookstores in Japan which held a bookfair to introduce books from India and Nepal on spirituality (Shimazono, 1996: 221). This section, Seishin Sekai, is the equivalent to the section often called 'Esoterisch' in bookshops in Germany, 'Body, Mind, Spirit' in the UK, and 'New Age' or 'Self-Help' in the USA; despite these different labels, the books sold in these sections are similar if not the same (Ito, 2004). Seishin Sekai was intended to mean 'Spiritual World' as has already been discussed in Chapter 1, but seishin has now been argued to be inadequate as a translation for the English term spirituality (Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane, 2001 and 2002).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> The Japanese translation for *Seishin Sekai* is 精神世界.

Between the appearance of *Seishin Sekai* book corners in the bookshops and the aforementioned transliterated spirituality trends since the late 1990s or early 2000s,<sup>58</sup> there has been the emergence of so-called cult groups as briefly touched above. For example, Aum Shinrikyo, a religious group once categorised as a new religion in Japan which was later categorised as a cult group (Lewis, 2013: 242; 2015: 36), committed, among other crimes, the 1995 sarin gas attack in the Kasumigaseki underground station, Tokyo, on 20<sup>th</sup> March 1995. Its guru, Asahara Shōkō, together with twelve 'believers' were convicted and given death sentences. The death penalties of seven of them, including Asahara, were executed on 6<sup>th</sup> July 2018. This incident turned public opinion against religion in general and has resulted in organised or institutionalised religions being "increasingly viewed with a critical eye" (Nelson, 2008: 305; see also, Fujita, 2002; Sakurai, 2012). In later reports, Aum Shinrikyo used mind control techniques such as brainwashing over its followers to commit other crimes (Japan Times, 2018).

Aum Shinrikyo initially targeted acupuncture practices and yoga studios to recruit members, offering individual participants 'spiritual' development. In the beginning, Asahara claimed he used Shaktipat. <sup>59</sup> Eventually, it was officially registered as a religious group yet continued to offer ascetic practices to achieve consciousness transformation and attain a higher *satori* stage (Horie, 2007). Around the same time, 'spiritual' development was also stressed by psychotherapists as part of guiding their clients through a healing process (Horie, 2007). In the eyes of the general public, the applications of the same transliterated spirituality in different fields confused its audiences to judge what was and was not religious or religion when they only had the binary classification based on their vague awareness of what religion is (Lewis, 2018).

Two years after the Aum Shinrikyo incident, in 1999, Takahashi Koji, the leader of another called Life Space, which offered psychological exercises using large group awareness trainings, was arrested and charged with the homicide of one of his followers.<sup>60</sup>

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> This trend is further discussed below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> "The Shaktipat initiation was one of Aum's rituals that were aimed at helping the followers achieve the higher spiritual state. Through this rite, spiritual energy was directly transferred from Asahara in order to awake the kundalini of the receiver." (Maekawa, 2004: 156).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> The details of this incident are out of scope of this research but available at <a href="https://www.cesnur.org/testi/lifespace\_updates.htm">https://www.cesnur.org/testi/lifespace\_updates.htm</a>.

The incident began when one of the followers became unconscious due to a cerebral haemorrhage. Takahashi kept insisting that the follower could be 'cured' by using Shaktipat, and the other followers, including the son of the victim, obeyed Takahashi's order to keep the victim in bed at a hotel. Following the stroke, the victim passed away, but Takahashi still insisted that the victim now deceased was still alive and left the body in the bed. The corpse was left until it became mummified. The police were called when Takahashi published the photo-book which showed the process of the body being mummified and sent the book to a lawyer who reported it to the police.<sup>61</sup> Following the discovery of the now mummified corpse and before being arrested, Takahashi and other followers held a news conference that was broadcast on TV programmes as well as reported nationally by newspapers. Takahashi, now deceased, spent 7 years in prison.

According to Koike (2004), the Life Space cult still exists and that the members still believe that Takahashi's Shaktipat was effective and that the victim was still alive then but was subsequently killed by the police. As of 2002, Takahashi's wife has been hosting yoga lessons as part of the group's activities, while publishing books claiming that Takahashi was wrongfully convicted (Koike, 2004). Although groups such as Aum Shinrikyo or Life Space are now categorised as cults, they are also different in that Aum Shinrikyo was registered as a religious organisation while Life Space is a private company. However, they are both close knit systematic organisations that are against secularisation and obey one guru (Koike, 2004). In fact, both Asahara and Takahashi referred to themselves as Shaktipat gurus although their practice does not align with what Shaktipat should be and there is no evidence that either of them studied and trained in the practice of Shaktipat.<sup>62</sup>

Following these incidents in the late 1990s, references to transliterated spiritual or spirituality increased rapidly, together with the need for healing (Horie, 2007 and 2019). As a result, transliterated spiritual has since "become a buzzword in the popular culture of Japan. A look at television programmes or on the shelves of any bookstores reveals that now in Japan anything can be 'spiritual': 'spiritual spot'63, 'spiritual money', 'spiritual education',

<sup>61</sup> They were defending the lawsuit which the leader sued for defamation. The defendants included mass media, lawyers, academic scholars, and other individuals who published their views on Life Space by categorising this group as one of cults. 62 There were many other smaller, less serious incidents and social problems caused by other new religious or 'spiritual' groups during this period in Japan.

<sup>63</sup> This means places where visitors "will feel regenerated and empowered by their natural and supernatural beauty" (Gaitanidis, 2010a: 244). Ueda (2014: 68) described the power spots as "sacred religious places to practice nature worship".

'spiritual motherhood', 'spiritual cuisine' and so on. [...] During [the] fieldwork [...there were] more than 150 names of such spiritual therapies: past-life therapy, rose healing, DNA activation, *kotodama* counselling, <sup>64</sup> to cite a few" (Gaitanidis, 2011: 186).

In addition to what Gaitanidis (2011) reported, other scholars have cited the influence of Masayuki Ehara, who describes his occupation as 'spiritual counsellor' using transliteration and hosting programmes on TV as well as radio (Hirano, 2006; Horie, 2919; Gaitanidis, 2012). According to Gaitanidis (2011), 'spiritual counsellors' in Japan provide 'spiritual business.' In fact, Theta Training, one of the biggest spiritual therapist training companies in Japan, focuses on the mind, body and spirit approach in its healing methods (Theta Healing, 2018), and by 2012, had certified up to 1000 'spiritual therapists' in the country(Miyazaki, 2012).

Gaitanidis (2011: 188) states that these 'spiritual businesses' for his research purposes are "the activities of those who are part of the spirituality boom in the post-Aum [period...] characterized by 'a higher level of distrust toward religious organizations combined with widespread beliefs about the workings of *kami*,<sup>65</sup> spirits, deities and ancestors'." He (2011: 196 and 202 respectively) argues that "a 'spiritual counselling' session [...] may be understood as a first sub-category that includes all techniques reminiscent of the Western channelling sessions" and "as a vernacular attempt to move away from [religions], the *supirichuaru* has become much closer to the idea of therapy and its expected outcome, healing (*iyashi*)."<sup>66</sup>

In this sense, spirituality, which has become popularised through being a part of Japanese pop-culture, indeed may have become a "symptom and cause of people unplugging from the world of local, regional and national shared sense of togetherness" because it allows you to "build a paradise in your home, your support networks, your practice, and let the rest of the world find its own way" (Webster, 2012: 48). This view concurs with Hirano (2006) and Shimazono (2010), who argue that transliterated spirituality is used as a label to cover what the New Age Movement intended to achieve: to create a utopian world for the peaceful era, yet only in the privatised space.

Kashio (2012) explains that it also includes places where nature has been left untouched and those places used to be called 'spiritual places'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> The Japanese translation is 言霊.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> The Japanese translation is 神.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> The Japanese translation of *iyashi* is

In modern Japan, transliterated spirituality thus often implies privatised healing when it is used in its pop-culture (Sakurai, 2012; Ueda, 2014). The service and product industries that use transliterated spirituality and spiritual as their label have extensively expanded their boundaries as if the terms can invade any commercial industry (Sakurai, 2012). The consumers' needs behind such provision are not only the desire for healing, happiness or miraculous results but also proactive realisations within themselves by using those products and services or visiting such places (Ueda, 2014). Transliterated spiritual and spirituality have been widely recognised and commodified in Japan over the last decades (Shimazono, 2007c).<sup>67</sup>

Arimoto (2011) analysed and estimated the size of the 'spiritual' market in Japan as 1 trillion yen as of 2011. This calculation is admittedly a rough estimation due to the blurred market categorisations that are a consequence of the ambiguous meanings of transliterated spirituality. In calculating its market value, Arimoto (2011) included any businesses engaged in selling spiritual goods and services such as therapies, charms, tours to spiritual locations, lectures, fortune telling, power stones, music in CD or DVD, and so on. Such an 'epidemic' increase in 'spiritual businesses' has been linked by Gaitanidis, (2012: 367) to the New Age Movement in Japan. Hirano (2006: 75) questions whether such businesses, which she labels "popularised spirituality", may be privatising the new age.

However, there are various views on such a connection. For instance, Shimazono (2012) sees this rapid growth of public interest in or need for products and services relating to transliterated spiritual or spirituality as only functioning as an entrance to what he calls 'New Spirituality', which Shimazono (2010) defines as something detached and independent from institutionalised religion.

Furthermore, the connections are also equivocal to other caring professions where the same transliterated spirituality is used to describe a part of their work, such as the aforementioned nurses who are also seen as spiritual carers undertaking grief support and care. The trend described as a 'spiritual boom' (Gaitanidis, 2011; Sakurai, 2012; Ueda, 2014) has also been confused either intentionally or unintentionally with what researchers of spirituality

<sup>67</sup> Haga (2007) and Horie (2018) wonder the appearance of Shimazono's (2012) 'New Spirituality' might have been temporal. However, those spiritual businesses reported by Gaitanidis still exist and are available in Japan as of 2019.

conceptualise as 'spiritual culture' or 'reisei culture' in Japan (Kashio, 2012; Sakurai, 2012). Horie (2019: 302) clarifies that transliterated spirituality used mainly in media needs to be distinguished from the same term discussed in academia or other public or systematised "areas such as politics, psychology, education, environment or politics". Nonetheless, the same term is used in those different areas.

Kashio (2012: 2) posits that, the reason why people in Japan desire spirituality is because of the unstable era in which they live; people look to the spiritual as a way of gaining some control over this perceived lack of stability. In this context, Kashio (2012) used the transliterated spirituality to mean something invisible and beyond one's being. It is noticeable that his meaning of transliterated spirituality also appears to be incongruent to the reason why academics replaced the term *reisei* with transliterated spirituality. The breadth and scope of these desires is such that one wonders whether there is any commonality in the meaning of spiritual or spirituality as used in and across these various contexts (Kashio, 2012).

The discussion so far in this section has focused on the privatised healing and enlightenment sector, which is largely commercialised and commodified. When the same transliterated spirituality is used to introduce the notion of spirituality in the mediation context, members of general public, including mediators themselves, may well take this as a sign that mediation as a practice is being subjected to commercialisation and commodification. For this reason, it is important to establish what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit intended when using those terms in their publications. Without investigating the meanings of the English word of 'spirituality' or 'spiritual' used in the context of mediation, transliterated spirituality as used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context only becomes a small part of this complex web of a multi-dimensional concept.

While the commercialisation and commodification of spirituality are not confined to Japan (see for example, Carrette and King, 2005), what is unique in Japan is that its degree of emerging transliterated spirituality in the private sphere as well as the fact that it has been widely used to license a group of people in a range of public or systematised spheres such as education, health care, social services, therapy and counselling, ecology (Ito, 2003: 166-169; Kashio, 2012), peacebuilding (Kaneda, 2007; Matsumoto, 2016) and politics (Horie,

2019; Shimazono, 2007c). Moreover, it has come to be intertwined in the nationalism of Japan (Furusawa, 2009; Horie, 2019; Shimazono, 2007b; Takahashi, 2001).

This is because, despite its context-bound definitions, transliterated spirituality in these public domains is considered to be deeply connected to the concept of peace through the notion of 'universal spirituality' overcoming differences in conflicts (Kashio and Motoyama, 2015; Kobayashi, 2007 and 2015; Shimazono, 2012; Yamawaki, 2004). In Japan's public philosophy, scholars point out that there is a desire to generate a degree of universalism in its meaning (for instance, Kobayashi, 2007) and to transfer this universality to the field of peacebuilding.

Japan's public philosophy is defined by Yamawaki (2004) as an academic discipline that considers social phenomena such as politics and economics from a public policy point of view. The role of spirituality in the field is to bridge the differences across the field, for instance politics, to create, preserve or maintain peace (Kobayashi, 2007). Nonetheless, Kobayashi (2007) extends its coverage to religious conflicts and identifies the importance of global spirituality in order to solve such conflicts from a public philosophical point of view. However, mediation practice, which, unlike peacebuilding, is not primarily concerned with reconciliation, thus does not employ such a philosophical point of view. <sup>68</sup>

Because the present thesis focuses on the Japanese-speaking mediation context alone, which does not relate to public philosophy, the next subsection only analyses the role of transliterated spirituality in the context of peacebuilding in Japan.

### 2.3.2 Peacebuilding: one of precedential fields of using the transliterated spirituality

Although there is a degree of overlap between peacebuilding and mediation, they are entirely different professions in practice (Lederarch, 1997; LeResche, 1993; Zelizer and Chiochetti, 2017). Peacebuilders act as mediators to address issues with the strong intention to reconcile the disputing parties and to restore, reconstruct or restructure a non-conflictual relationship (Diamond, 2000: 130), often by signing a peace agreement (Eriksson and Kostic, 2013: 5). Their main aim is thus to create a new relationship, which *they* define as 'peaceful',

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 68}$  The nature of mediation practice in Japan is discussed in Chapter 5 below.

by using conflict resolution tools, including mediation but also negotiation, conciliation and arbitration (Eriksson and Kostic, 2013 emphasis added).

In a clearer example, a violent relationship can be mediated so that the victim of the violence will not be attacked again by distancing themselves from the offender, while the offender and victim can restore their non-violent relationship as a result of the peacebuilding activity. The intention is not only to stop the dispute but also to build a further reconciled relationship and this is the vital difference between peacebuilding and mediation. The former is now often referred to when discussing conflict resolution between countries, governments, or other larger social organisations as well as between individuals (Zelizer, 2013). The latter only settles disputes and does not reconcile the disputing parties. However, this does not mean that mediators do not work in international disputes or when larger organisations are in dispute with the government (for instance, see Ury, 2019).

As a result of introducing the translated spirituality of Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit to the Japanese-speaking mediation context, the two distinct fields of peacebuilding and mediation seemed to overlap, particularly in that they both used the same term, transliterated spirituality. By using the same terminology as is used in peacebuilding, the Japanese-speaking mediation context risked losing the distinction between the two professions. As a result, it may be assumed that the role of mediators is to bring together the two disputants to reconcile, in other words to peacebuild, rather than simply to settle disputes.<sup>69</sup>

Because the notion of transliterated spirituality has been used longer in peacebuilding in Japan than in mediation and also, due to the commonalities between the process of peacebuilding and mediation, analysing the role of transliterated spirituality in this context can shed light on understanding the meaning of spirituality in Japan's mediation context.

In 2007,<sup>70</sup> the Peace Studies Association of Japan published a journal bringing together a number of articles by scholars in religious studies as well as philosophers arguing for the importance of spirituality, nonetheless transliterated. A decade later, Matsumoto (2016) pointed out the difficulties of understanding the meaning of transliterated spirituality in the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> For more detail, see Chapter 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Coincidentally, this was the year when Fujioka (2007) first introduced the notion of using 'spirituality' in the context of mediation.

context of peacebuilding. He argues that the definition of spirituality put forward by Galtung (for instance, Galtung and MacQueen, 2008) and Smoker and Groff (1996) is vague and suggests instead going to the work of Diamond (2000), who is both a peacebuilder and mediator, for a clearer sense of its meaning. Diamond herself refers to her work as both peacebuilding (see for instance, a telephone interview with Goldberg in Goldberg and Blancke, 2012) and mediation (Diamond, 2000: 207) and her conception of peace influences peacebuilders in Japan as well as internationally (for instance, Kaneda, 2004). Diamond (2000) does not merge the two but rather, emphasises the importance of undertaking peacebuilding work rather than simply mediating.

Diamond's peacebuilding work is built on the underlying principle of spirituality as introduced to Japan in 2002 through transliterated spirituality. Diamond (2000: 243 and 76) conceives of conflict as spiritual growth and posits four spiritual principles in peacebuilding work, which are unity, interrelatedness, love and co-creativity. Using those principles, she describes the moment of reconciliation as a shift, whereby "the heart opens, and whatever we have been holding moves ever so slightly aside to make room for a new understanding" (Diamond, 2000: 180).

In order to cause such a shift, there is a need for inner peace, which is fundamentally a spiritual connection (Diamond, 2000: 45). This inner peace, according to Diamond, is achieved by following three 'paths': to make peace with ourselves, to make peace within ourselves which forms the foundation of building a relationship with other people, and to find our own experience of Peace, with a capital P (Diamond, 2000: 39). In her view, this is about "letting go and letting love", rather than God (Diamond, 2000: 181), although she believes that we are "[a]rising from the same Source" and "[c]arrying the same sacred essence" (Diamond, 2000: 67). By the capital P, she means our private relationship with God or Spirit, which is the Source of the energy of peace that we can plug into directly (Diamond, 2000: 44-45). Diamond's conception of spirituality involves surrender and love, rather than God.

Diamond describes how the connection is established between other people and peacebuilders, including herself, who possess inner peace founded on the metaphysical triad of order, harmony and unity (Diamond, 2000: 26-27). She goes on to explain that in the

realisation of "the Spirit of Peace reminds us that the three work together" (Diamond, 2000: 26), our awareness of the essential, universal wholeness creates our inner peace and requires others because we need to make the inner peace a concrete form and action as outer peace. This unity of tangible, material peace with others as a result of one's inner peace is described as "the highest order of peace" (Diamond, 2000: 26).

Using Diamond's definition as a starting point, Matsumoto (2016: 37) further divides spirituality into four categories: every day and extraordinary spiritual experiences on two ends of a horizontal axis and harmony and conflicts on a vertical one. Harmony at the top of the vertical axis is accompanied by 'positive spirituality' and conflict at the bottom is coupled with 'negative spirituality'. In a similar vein, Kobayashi (2007) also distinguishes between positive and negative spirituality and categorises cult groups like Aum Shinrikyo as a manifestation of negative spirituality. Peacebuilding in Japan uses the vertical axis of positive and negative spirituality in line with Galtung (1969), and this overlaps the reference of positive and negative peace made by Diamond (2000: 25).

Furthermore, her reference of peace also overlaps with Matsumoto's vertical axis, which places positive spirituality at the top and negative spirituality at the bottom.<sup>71</sup> In other words, the introduced concept of spirituality by Diamond (2000: 20), who also states that "the critical issue was about [her] relationship with God, to Spirit, to [her] own divine and sacred Self" by reflecting on her own transformation as a peacebuilder, has integrated into Japanese scholars' spirituality in peacebuilding.

When transliterated spirituality was introduced to peacebuilding in Japan, the origin of the concept, which was introduced from overseas, has been used to reflect on social issues and its meaning was adapted to the perceived needs of society at that time. So, although there are several possible definitions of transliterated spirituality, scholars have selected the meaning that appears to be clearest and better suited to the context. Matsumoto's vertical and horizontal axes are one example. This understanding also underpins the work of a religious studies scholar, Kasai (2003), when summarising how those who work in client care professions reflect their views by using transliterated spirituality. In his view, the horizontal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> In Mathematics, normally both left half of the horizontal axis beyond 0 and upper half of the vertical axis beyond 0 are marked as negative. There is no reasonable explanation as to why the positive spirituality comes at the top and the negative one at the bottom of the vertical axis.

axis in the professions reflects their religious or faith values and the vertical one indicates 'heaven' in the higher position and one's inner self in the lower position. However, this overlap between Kasai's axes and Diamond's may be something to do with her underlying view of relationship with God as stated above.

Unsurprisingly, the notion of vertical and horizontal axes shared among scholars is also used by Huston Smith, an authoritative figure in the field of religious studies (see Smith, 1991/1958, 1989, 2009, and 2010) in a discussion about the common principles or practices across the world's religions. In an interview in 2010, he stated that, "they all affirm the existence of God by whatsoever name, that is the vertical direction...horizontal is commanding us to love one another. The formula for that is to do unto others what you want that they would do unto you" (Smith, 2010: from 0:30 to 1:10). Smith describes common existence as being vertical, drawing a line in an upwards direction and holding his hand at the high end of the vertical line when discussing "god by whatsoever name". When asked about the commonality of understanding regarding where 'god' is across institutionalised religions, Smith (2010: 0:42-1:30) positions his hand somewhere higher than his head to show the way to "god by whatsoever name".

Kasai (2003) considers these axes as a fundamental structure of transliterated spirituality. When compared against Kasai's view which is that people come with the assumption that spirituality is a religious phenomenon, Diamond's spirituality in peacebuilding suddenly becomes a reflection of her own religion or religious values, despite stating that each individual finds their own experience of Peace (Diamond, 2000: 39) and her clear avoidance of religion in her statement 'letting love, rather than God' (Diamond, 2000: 181). While Kasai's (2003) understanding of those two axes may be valid in the discipline of religious studies, placing religions along one of those axes may lead to misunderstanding transliterated spirituality as contextualised in and by peacebuilding (see also Hirano, 2015, for a similar argument on spirituality and Alternative Medicine).<sup>72</sup> In a similar vein, Ishihara, one of the organisers for Mark S. Umbreit's lectures in Japan, seemed to wish to distance the notion of transliterated spirituality in the context of mediation from any religious connotations (Ishihara, 2017a).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> As Hirano (2006) warns, the researcher's reflexivity works in both positive and negative ways at the same time and it is important to fix the research's disciplinary location. This point has been discussed in 2.2 above.

However, the further issue exists with Ishihara's reference to spirituality in a parallel of the word love in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation (cited in Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012). Her use of transliterated spirituality appears to be very similar, if not an identical, to transliterated spirituality described by Diamond which has been widely used in peacebuilding in Japan as discussed above. Considering the term spirituality is context bound, it is important to pay particular attention to the influences from such a cross-sectional application of the same terminology. In other words, there is a possibility of transliterated spirituality causing confusions within and outside of the mediation profession and distorting the professional boundaries between mediation and others which use the same transliterated spirituality.

Finally, since transliterated spirituality appeared and gradually started being used in Japan in the late 1970s, Shimazono (2007b and 2012) proposed the two categories consist of what he called *New Spiritual Movements and Culture*. The first category includes sectors where transliterated spirituality is used to achieve more privatised healing and enlightenment in commercialised forms or commodities; the second is in more secular sectors where caring professionals actively use it to achieve pacifism in people's internal self (Shimazono, 2012; see also, Shimazono, 2007a). As above, spirituality used in peacebuilding in Japan falls in the second category as it proposes to use spirituality to achieve peace and reconciliation. It remains unknown at this point as to whether spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit does the same or falls at all in either of those two categories proposed by Shimazono.

As this discussion about the meaning of transliterated spirituality in Japan suggests, there is no cross-sectionally agreed definition of the term; rather, its meaning varies depending on the fields of study, disciplinary precepts, practices and even individual scholars with their own values and world views. In other words, the term is intrinsically context-bound.<sup>73</sup> The users of and audience for the term thus may not share a common meaning of the term when used in communication.<sup>74</sup> Those who look to sources in other languages such as English decided to transliterate 'spirituality' in their context to stress that the notion is 'foreign'

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Although Public Philosophy seems eager to generate 'universal' spirituality as Kobayashi (2007) argued, such an idea would not be supported by the researchers of Spirituality (for example, Ando, 2006; Horie, 2015 and 2018; Shimazono, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> This matches to and supports the observation and recommendation put forward by the researchers of Spirituality in the section 2.2 above.

(Horie, 2009). However, in English too, the notion of spirituality can mean different things depending on the context (la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt, 2012).

Before concluding this chapter, the next subsection sums up the issues with transliterated spirituality based on the arguments thus far in this section.

#### 2.3.3 The issues with 'translated' spirituality

The issues with introducing the notion of spirituality, which is originally developed in English, to the Japanese-speaking mediation context can be summarised as follows. Firstly, the meaning of the English terms spiritual and spirituality, as used by Lois Gold (1993 and 2003) and Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001) in the mediation context, are unclear. As a result, the currently applied Japanese translation used in this context may not accurately convey the original meanings.

This leads to the following issue, which is whether the current translation is therefore appropriate for the Japanese-speaking mediation context. The third issue arises from the relationship between religion and the notion of using spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, due to transliterated spirituality, the currently applied translation of the English terms spiritual or spirituality, having no fixed meaning but being dependent on context.

According to Horie (2018), the rapid trend of using the transliterated spirituality which started sometime around the millennium year rapidly began ceasing. As discussed in Chapter 1 as well as this chapter, the appearance of the transliterated spirituality was a part of the 'spiritual boom' in Japan (Gaitanidis, 2012; Sakurai, 2012), and the transliterated spirituality were commercialised and commodified in some areas (Arimoto, 2011; Shimazono, 2007b and 2012). In recent years, transliterated spirituality has acquired the impression of being a business tool; as a result of this, a wide range of the Japanese population expressed, through questionnaires, their negative feelings toward the transliterated spirituality which now appears to be products and business tools to gain profits (Horie, 2013). This decline in using the transliterated spirituality has also been encouraged by the criminal activities of cult groups such as Aum Shinrikyo. The usage of the transliterated spirituality in the Japanese mediation context risks wrongly displaying such attitudes to the public.

As if corresponding to such societal attitudes toward the transliterated spirituality, Horie (2018) reported that, in the 2010s, more books with titles using the term *reisei* were published in Japan by various scholars for the general public. According to his research, the contents and areas of those publications are not the same, yet those authors use the term *reisei* in the places where the transliterated spirituality would have been used. Horie (2018) interpreted this tendency by analysing in light of his other research conducted in August 2018, that those authors tried to convey their sincerity toward the importance of spirituality because the transliterated spirituality tends to be perceived as something false, fraudulent and incredulous. Horie (2018: 132) called this a revitalisation to *kanji* letters. Should the Japanese-speaking mediation not follow this revitalisation to translate the English term spirituality?

In the next chapter, textual analysis of publications by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit is carried out to tease out the meaning of spirituality as they use it in the context of mediation.

#### 2.4 Conclusion

Based on the review of this chapter, it is argued that the meanings of the English terms spiritual or spirituality as used in mediation publications may not be accurately conveyed to Japanese-speaking audiences due to the existing issues with currently applied translations. Empirical studies seem to face difficulties and potential research errors in data collections and individual studies freely use their own definitions of the terms. As a result, there has been no attempt to find a universal definition in the field of mediation. The three empirical studies conducted in the field of spirituality and mediation discussed in this chapter, illustrate this. Horie's (2019) latest research raises the concern as to whether such a universal meaning is indeed necessary. So long as transliterated spirituality means the same as the English term spirituality in the context at stake, no issue seems to arise.

At this point of the professional progress of the Japanese-speaking mediation, in which mediation practitioners and scholars have not yet frequently referred transliterated spirituality, the resulting ambiguity as to its meaning in English language has led to confusion when applied in the Japanese mediation context albeit in the form of translation. Mediation involves both practitioners and clients who are not necessarily academics specialised in

spirituality and so are exposed to so many different interpretations of what 'spirituality' might mean for the practice and process of mediation. The various translations used even in the same book about mediation exacerbates further the confusion. As a result, transliterating spirituality may change, distort or fail to convey the whole dynamism of using spirituality in its mediation context.

As has been discussed, in the field of peacebuilding in Japan, which can be seen as overlapping with mediation, the notion of spirituality was introduced by using transliteration from English sources yet the understandings and applications of the notion have been 'localised' by applying the concept to Japanese society in terms of the issues that exist in that society, and by using horizontal and vertical axes to define it. In addition, the use of the two axes can be seen in religious studies and this overlap links peacebuilding to religion and vice versa. The same might have occurred in the mediation context. In Japan, this religious association is particularly unhelpful as faith-based mediation does exist separately from other mediation. Thus, the notion of spirituality has been merged with religious connotations, limiting it to faith-based mediation and depriving non faith-based mediation of the particular insights and applications that the notion of spirituality discussed by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit may offer.

Lastly, clearer use of the terminology in the two overlapping yet distinct contexts of peacebuilders and mediators in Japan would benefit both professions in terms of what they do and what they offer. What is proposed in the next chapter is to clarify these terms through a careful investigation into what Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) mean when they use 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' in the context of mediation. The analysis is limited to these two authors and that confusion over what transliterated spirituality means may still persist. However, close textual analysis will at least generate meanings that are more evidence based and therefore will contribute to the ongoing endeavour of seeking a clear definition to be used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

# 3 Textual analysis of the meanings of 'spirituality' used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit

#### 3.1 Introduction

In the English-speaking mediation context, the terms spiritual and spirituality are somewhat ill-defined (see for instance, Jones, 2009). The present thesis argues, because of the lack of meaning, Fujioka (2007) translated the same term by using two different Japanese terms which are *seishin* and transliterated spirituality. Although Goldberg and Blancke (2011: 386 and 2012) have suggested that there are needs to establish whether there is a market demand for mediation described using the terms spiritual or spirituality and to research on whether mediators are willing to have a frank and open conversation with their prospective clients in this regard. However, without first establishing the meaning of those terms, such a study cannot be conducted.

In order to examine whether the notion of spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit is accurately conveyed by the currently applied translations in the Japanese language, this chapter conducts textual analysis so that to establish how the English terms spiritual or spirituality have been used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) in the mediation context and what those authors are trying to convey by those terms. One of the central questions in this chapter is whether their use of the terms spiritual or spirituality creates a new category of professional mediators who would not fall in any existing models or whether they are simply expressing their own beliefs or views which, as a result, resonate with their mediation practice as a faith-based mediation once shared with their clients. Either way, the primary focus of this chapter remains to generate the meanings of those terms used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit.

#### 3.2 In conducting textual analysis

Before moving onto the analyses, this section signposts how the analyses are conducted. At foremost, it is important to refer Ishikawa (2010) who discussed extensively about transliterated spirituality as a translation for the English term spirituality used in psychotherapy in Japan. According to his analyses, the term transliterated spirituality, albeit

limiting to the Japanese-speaking psychotherapy context, appears to be ineffable and as a result loses its meaning once it became subject to linguistic analyses (Ishikawa, 2010: 237). Likewise, in the context of mediation, transliterated spirituality may not bear one universal definition due to such a nature. However, the reason transliterated spirituality does not lose its place in the psychotherapy context at the time of writing in 2010 is in the passion of the users who *experienced* the phenomenon (Ishikawa, 2010: 239 emphasis added). Accordingly, in order to understand the meaning of transliterated spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, seeing through the experience itself as closely as possible to the experiencer is important. The textual analysis in this chapter takes this academic opinion in presenting its findings.

In pursuing how individuals understand spirituality, the term comprises the possibility of another, contextual reality, contextual and personal experiences of a unique kind of connectedness. It has been suggested that, "a coherent use of the term spirituality in future research might therefore comprise spirituality understood as a *context-bound experience of relatedness to a vertical transcendent reality*" (la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt, 2012: 80 emphasis in the original). In other words, "the term spirituality is not used without an indication, notions or keywords of what is meant by the term in a specific context" (la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt, 2012: 63; see also King, 1996: 345). However, the exact meanings of those terms remain vague despite its frequent uses in mediation publications in the English language and this is perhaps why when translating into Japanese, scholars have used different terminologies (for example, Fujioka, 2007).

There are three main difficulties with defining spirituality. First, it only has a limited meaning as the definition depends on the context in which the term is analysed. Secondly, its usage in different contexts nonetheless shares some commonalities. Finally, there is no generalised definition because it is subjective, although as Egan et al. (2011:309) point out, this subjectivity can be researched. For the purposes of this thesis, such definitional difficulties are not a significant hindrance as long as the analyses can identify some of the shared conceptual understandings of the term (Egan et al., 2011: 309 by citing Harris, et al., 2008: 39).

The notion of using spirituality is already in Japanese-speaking mediation context and can be defined by analysing the original texts that introduced it to this context. Umbreit himself came to Japan in 2001 and 2017 to train mediators, and Japanese mediators went to overseas to receive his trainings (Ishihara, 2017a). His book has been used both in various dispute resolution scenes including school mediation, community mediation or mediation with administrative bodies and as a part of preventive measure such as abuse and bullying (Yasukawa and Ishihara, 2014). His publications have had a significant impact on some of the Japanese-speaking mediation practice. Although the analysis primarily focuses on publications by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, their use of the terms spiritual or spirituality should display some commonality to their use in other publications. However, while the purpose of this chapter is to discover 'shared conceptual understandings' in Gold and Umbreit, at the same time, its intention is not to generate a universal definition of those English terms used in the mediation context.

When analysing the publications by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, these authors' nationalities, first language, cultural, religious and educational backgrounds and family circumstances remain unknown. However, such personal information should not colour what they express in their publications. To put it simply, and at the risk of oversimplification, the biographical details of these authors should not be significant factors in terms of understanding and analysing what they are trying to convey in their publication as professional.

The textual analysis presented in this chapter follows the view of Principe (1983: 129) who argues that there is a certain fluidity in the use of the term spiritual or spirituality and presents three levels of investigating spirituality. Before this thesis addressing its analyses at his third level which is the study by scholars of the first two levels of spirituality (Principe, 1983: 135-136), 75 "what should be included in such study" must be addressed (Principe, 1983: 137). The answer to that question is, "depending on how each scholar understands 'spirituality'" because such a study is based on an ideology in which the spirituality at stake is linked to certain belief-systems or theologies (Principe, 1983: 137). As the context for the analysis in this chapter is mediation, it is the mediators' views that are of relevance. While it is acknowledged that the meaning of spirituality as conveyed in the text will to some extent

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Principe's three levels were already discussed in Chapter 1.

be very personal, at the same time the authors' views are not being sought directly such as through interviews.

Principe (1983: 138) defended this kind of research approach by arguing that the spirituality of an individual or group, including its dynamics and the origins of that spirituality, can be studied without an understanding of the total context. While theologians may analyse the concept in terms of theological principles, religious studies scholars would seek to present a hypothetical description of studied spiritualities within the respective disciplines by "using principles of interpretation and judgment derived from human reason alone" (Principe, 1983: 139-140). In this investigation into how Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit use the terms spiritual and spirituality and what they mean by those terms, an analysis of their writing is considered to be sufficient unto itself, without direct communication with them. The analysis is able to understand the intended meaning without intervening the original intentions of the target authors at the time of their writing.

By analysing the publications of these two authors, this chapter generates the core precepts of those terms which then allow the suitability of the currently applied translations to be evaluated in the following chapter. The purpose of this textual analysis does not include testing those two authors' claims empirically. In fact, Umbreit (2001) himself declared the underlying principles of his practice model, humanistic mediation, are not subject to any empirical testing as they originate from the values and beliefs of the mediator who uses the model.

## 3.3 Textual analysis of writings by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit

#### 3.3.1 The eight core precepts found in Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit

This analysis focuses on four publications on mediation and spirituality, two written by Lois Gold (1993 and 2003) and two written by Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001). The target readers of these texts can be fellow mediators, academics, researchers and anyone with an interest in the profession. The purpose of these publications was to express and circulate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> This is the approach de Souza (2016) adopts in seeking to generate common themes of spirituality across different academic disciplines.

their personal, professional and academic perspectives regarding their experiences as professional mediators. When formulating his humanistic mediation model, Umbreit (1997) acknowledges drawing heavily on Gold (1993) so not surprisingly there is a high degree of commonality both in terms of themes and arguments. The core precepts are as follows.

First, spirituality in their context of mediation is not limited to any particular culture and thus is not restricted to indigenous or non-indigenous mediation.

Secondly, spirituality can include religion, be part of religion, be independent from religion or be interchangeable with religion. Mediators who use those terms to describe their views on mediation are either different from or the same as faith-based mediators at a time.

Thirdly, who mediates matters because how a mediator faces their inner self influences their external relationship with others, which then has an impact on the internal and external relationships of their clients through communication. This deep internal relationship with one's own inner self extends to one's soul or spirit.

Fourthly, such influences, whether communicated semantically and non-semantically, through mediators' presence, can shape or change a client's views.

Fifthly, spirituality recognises such influences have levels and that clients' consciousness can be shifted to a higher level through settling their disputes; such a shift or transformation of consciousness can happen as a result of connectedness with a mediator who attends the mediation with their whole self.

Sixthly, this kind of shift tends to be facilitated best when the mediator creates a safe or sacred space.

Seventh, the sense of the sacred in the mediation session, which is expressed by using the terms spiritual and spirituality, is not necessarily associated with any specific religious doctrine or faith.

And finally, when the terms spiritual or spirituality are used by mediators, this does not imply adherence to any specific mediation model.

Although there are similarities between them, the two authors' contributions are also distinct. Therefore, they are analysed separately, with a particular focus on the second precept, which is central to this research as, according to Ito (2004), if there is no common religious doctrine underlying their references to transliterated spirituality, the focus has to be on the meanings. In other words, the authors' printed words are the only keys to understand their meanings, since no conceptualisation based on religion or religiosity is possible (Ito, 2004).

Thus, the next two subsections highlight each publication and its respective arguments in relation to these precepts.

#### 3.3.2 Lois Gold (1993 and 2003)

The article published by Lois Gold, a founding board member and past president of the Academy of Family Mediators and also a therapist, in 1993 was then edited and re-published as a chapter in Bowling and Hoffman (2003). Although the two versions are not identical, the main points in both publications are the same and so are generally analysed as being one and the same.<sup>77</sup>

Gold states that the reason for writing the article was because she saw the definition of the role of mediator at that time was preventing mediation from being a healing process albeit different from psychotherapy (Gold, 1993). She acknowledges that some readers may view her suggestions as inappropriate to their mediation practice (Gold, 2003). Central to Gold's conceptualisation of mediation is that she considers it to be a healing process in which love is the unifying principle. In her view, underlying the disputes that mediation users bring to mediation sessions are wounds caused by living in a "soulless state" (Gold, 1993: 59).

In fact, in the revised chapter, Gold (2003: 191) extends her argument about the mediator's presence to the qualities that mediators can bring to their practice. In other words, those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Reference to significant revisions is flagged up in this thesis if any such revisions were evident.

mediators who do not agree with her view may not accept her references of spirituality in her mediation context and thus do not use her spirituality in their practice.

Based on her mediation experience, Gold (1993: 56-59) identifies four factors that increase effectiveness in mediation: firstly, mediators need to focus on the present case by leaving behind any judgement; secondly, they need to be aware of governing values, beliefs and their higher purpose as a mediator by connecting to their inner self; thirdly, they need to be able to wholly accept their mediation clients, which translates into a sense of connection or rapport in the sessions; and finally, they need to be authentic and fearless as mediators, which means the willingness and ability to reveal who they really are. A mediator's own highest spiritual centre or consciousness influence those factors (Gold, 1993: abstract and 55). Constructing a sense of connection between participating parties is important for the dispute to be settled because the disputing clients can then make their own decision based on their highest intentions (Gold, 1993: 61). In her understanding, the mediator's highest consciousness creates such a connected relationship by maintaining hope and belief in the success of mediation (Gold, 1993: 55).

#### Gold (2003: 200) further expresses that:

In very contentious, seemingly unresolvable situations, when I set the intention "May the parties find a path to peace or healing," something in the session shifts. It moves in a more positive, productive direction. I do not understand this, but it does occur. Perhaps it is coincidence or readiness. Perhaps the energy I am projecting changes when I go inside and center on the higher.

Gold (2003: 210) suggests changing the use or selection of words in mediation practice to convey spirituality or healing. In her view, "[w]hen the mediator projects a sense of reverence for what is sacred in this work, is willing to view the clients from the heart, and can speak to the clients' soul, this work will be healing" (Gold, 1993: 57). Umbreit (2001: 8) describes this as the language of the soul while Gold (2003: 210) herself refers to it as language associated with the spiritual to reach the deeper part of the psyche.

In reframing the reason for the disputing parties' suffering, Gold (2003: 210) suggests that the compromising decision for both parties could be described as, "a healing gesture or as a gift for the "higher good of the group"." By using the medical metaphor of 'wound' and

assimilating her mediation situation to a physician's quote, 78 the procedure is, for her, embedded in the culture of healing, recognising disputes as wounds and the clients as potential physicians. Gold (2003) goes on to explain that her disputing clients have their own mediator within themselves and that her role is simply to direct their consciousness towards their own internal 'mediator' to make a decision.

It would seem therefore that Gold, who is also a therapist, does not intend to heal her mediation clients as a mediator in the way that she would do in her therapy sessions. She states explicitly that the goal of mediation is not to heal the clients (Gold, 1993: 58). Instead, Gold tries to change the clients' perception from harming or attacking the other party, thereby deepening the wound, redirecting the focus to healing or being gentle with the other party, to settle whatever issues brought them to meditation. In such a transition, Gold (1993) argues that incorporating the notion of healing into mediation is an effective tool. What Gold also makes clear in her suggestions of selective language is that the effects of bringing spirituality into one's mediation practice is healing. However, this healing does not occur without a mediator's highest intentions to connect to the disputing clients (Gold, 2003: 210).

Gold (1993 and 2003) sees one's spiritual centre as being at a higher level of consciousness. Coming from one's spiritual centre allows disputing parties to be connected and it is this connectivity that results in healing. In such a state, they see how to settle their issues themselves, yet it is the mediator who can help the disputants to connect at this higher level. According to Gold (1993 and 2003), therefore, to bring about harmony, mediators also have to be aware of their own spiritual centres, to focus and state their intentions in the actual session in a similar manner to making prayers. Her key insight is the need for the sacred in the session and this requires the ability to go inside and be centred in the 'higher' level of consciousness (Gold, 1993: 57 and 62). By citing the well-known quote of Albert Einstein, Gold (2003: 201) stressed that to solve the issue, the disputing parties need to be at a different level from the level at which the issue was created.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> "[p]atients carry their own doctor inside. They come to us not knowing that truth. We are at our best when we give the physician who resides in each patient a chance to work" (Gold, 2003: 213).

So far, Gold (1993 and 2003) does not make any reference to any religious or spiritual doctrines or practices. Instead, these mediation strategies are referred to as "holistic mediation" (Gold, 1993: 55). However, in her suggestions about how to conduct holistic mediation, she does suggest that when it seems an impasse has been reaching, the mediator need "to ask participants who are stuck to go home and pray or ask for guidance". Through communion with "whatever is a spiritual sourcing", by prayer or calling for the guidance (Gold, 2003: 202), both the mediator and the clients can change their perceptions. Gold (2003) sees such holistic mediation as applicable to any cultural group and indeed, she draws on various sources, cultures and traditions: Buddhism, German poets, Mennonite tradition, Native Americans, Quakers, shamanism and healing traditions from Brazil to Bali.

By not limiting her use of spirituality to any particular culture but embedding it as a part of her holistic mediation, what Gold (1993 and 2003) emphasises is the importance of healing; and such healing, which leads to the settling of disputes, is possible by using the spiritual centre. Thus, her holistic mediation is not culture specific and nor does it form a unified model of mediation (Gold, 1993: 65). What is clear from her writing is her willingness to draw mediators, regardless of their practice models or their cultural or religious backgrounds, to adopting a holistic approach to dispute resolution through using what she refers to as their higher-self or spiritual centre (Gold, 1993: 65). Doing so allows participants, including the mediator, to look within and to shift to the different level to find their own solutions.<sup>79</sup>

The theories of mediation do not normally extend to the role of whom mediates (Bowling and Hoffman, 2003; Roberts and Palmer, 2005; Simmel, 1950). Lois Gold (2003: 212) clarified her view on this point by stating that not all readers accept her proposals because they can be "inappropriate to a goal-oriented, structured, strategy-driven mediation". In this regard, Umbreit categorised his suggestions as an independent mediation model, the Humanistic Mediation Model (1997: 211 and 2002: 7), in which beliefs and values are not subjected to any empirical testing and mediators *can* choose this approach should they wish to. This categorisation allows Umbreit to express his opinions freely at the same time as perhaps

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Gold (2003: 185) distinguished her healing paradigm in mediation from the transformative model by Bush and Folger (1994), which recognised the importance of acknowledgment and empowerment in the mediation process, because the transformative model only emphasises the relational field among the participating parties. This point is discussed further in Chapter 4.

restricting his receptive audience to a limited group of mediators who support and agree with his view and use the model. Gold on the other hand, makes no reference to Umbreit's Humanistic Mediation model, grounding her practice in the importance of healing. This fact together with her disclaimer of not intending to create any particular mediation model based on her healing paradigm, already suggests that spirituality as used by these two authors is not intended to form one specific mediation model.

#### 3.3.3 Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001)

Umbreit's career as a mediator spans 40 years and during this time, he has published books and articles that refer to 'spirituality'; his most recent was published in Northern Ireland in 2012. As with Gold, his main arguments regarding spirituality display no significant change since his first publication in 1997, the contents of which were edited and published as a chapter of his book published in 2001 still remain the same. This book was then translated and published in Japan in 2007 (Fujioka, 2007), which was 6 years after his first training sessions in the country being held in 2001 (Yasukawa and Ishihara, 2014). Then in 2017, Umbreit re-visited to Japan to train Japanese-speaking participants; training sessions were hosted by Ishihara and others at Kumamoto University as well as other in Kyoto (Ishihara, 2017a: 43-45). Therefore, in order to grasp what he means when referring to spirituality, both his 1997 and 2001 publications are analysed as well as Ishihara's Japanese translation (2017b) of Umbreit's video lecture published in 2014.<sup>80</sup>

Like Gold, Umbreit distinguishes deep listening skills from the kind of listening a therapist will offer their clients. For Umbreit (2001), mediation work should be aiming for a form of settlement that is beyond dispute resolution. Umbreit sees his role as underpinned by a spiritual dimension, which he describes as, "the search for a deeper meaning and purpose in life and the circumstances that we now face, an honoring of the sacred gift of life, and a yearning for a greater connectedness with other beings and, for some, a higher being and all of creation" (Umbreit, 2001: 258). This does not mean that his role as a mediator is any different from other mediators, however.

Combining insights from his own mediation experiences with Carl Roger's humanistic approach in psychotherapy (Umbreit, 1997), Umbreit has been advocating his humanistic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> The lecture is available at <a href="https://vimeo.com/111253366">https://vimeo.com/111253366</a>. In this chapter, Ishihara's (2017b) translation of this lecture is used only as supplemental to what Umbreit claims in his publications of 2001 which is an edited version of his 1997 article.

model since the 1990s. Whilst acknowledging the influence of the psychotherapeutic approach, however, Umbreit's approach to mediation has become established independently and distinguished from psychotherapy (Umbreit, 2001: 7).

Developed also in parallel to Bush and Folger's (1994) transformative model (Lewis and Umbreit, 2015; Umbreit, 2001), his model is not entirely dissimilar to the transformative model. In his 2017 lectures in Japan, he introduced his model as a humanistic 'approach' to mediation and dialogue (Ishihara, 2017b).<sup>81</sup> Umbreit now emphasises generic approaches which any mediator can take in their mediation sessions. In formulating his Humanistic Mediation Model, Umbreit (1997 and 2001) draws from indigenous conflict resolution which uses grounded spirituality through forms of healing and peacebuilding techniques that are shared across a variety of cultures. He lists native Hawaiian people who practice ho'oponopono, Maori people of New Zealand, First Nation people in Canada and Native American people in the USA, as the traditions that are particularly attuned to what his humanistic mediation model promotes (Umbreit, 2001: 5). However, he admits that such an application of spirituality in mediation models used in non-indigenous mediation "clearly not capturing the full spiritual richness of many traditional practices of indigenous people" (Umbreit, 2001: 9).

Also drawing on Gold's Paradigm of Healing (1993), Umbreit emphasises the importance of creating a safe and sacred space for humanistic mediation so that disputants feel safe to disclose and reveal their true feelings (Umbreit, 2001: 8). In other publications, Umbreit (1997 and 2012) explains how a safe and sacred space enables dialogue to 'flow out' (1997 and 2012). In other words, dialogues can occur naturally instead of being initiated or instructed by the mediator (Umbreit, 1997: 206).

Drawing on spirituality in mediation requires him as a mediator to work with the clients' storytelling process by being fully present, refraining from controlling or judging those stories (Ishihara, 2017b: 34). It involves working with his own and his clients' energy of conflict, which is influenced by the mediator's presence (Ishihara, 2017b: 34). The use of non-verbal language, the being of the mediator in other words (Ishihara, 2017b: 32), can

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> For his most recent account on this model, please refer to Lewis and Umbreit (2015). This article was not published at the time Fujioka (2007) translating the book by Umbreit (2001).

allow the energy of healing and forgiveness to flow between the disputants and lead them to the settlement of the dispute (Ishihara, 2017b).

The notion of centring is important in Umbreit's account of the mediator's role. He believes that to undertake this work, mediators themselves need to stay centred by reflecting on the meanings of their own mediation work (Umbreit, 1997: 206). The 1997 article recommends creating moments of silence by using self-reflection, meditation or prayer; the 2001 publication omits the detail, simply recommending "a few moments of silence" (Umbreit, 2001: 10).

Umbreit also identifies the importance of non-verbal communication both external and internal to the mediator's body, being sensitive to the clients' needs by creating a safe space, and some sort of 'level' of human values. Non-verbal language consists of deeper listening through which unspoken dialogues can take place that all the participants in the mediation session feel with their hearts as well as understand with their heads (Ishihara, 2017b).<sup>82</sup>

Speaking about spirituality as being one dimension of mediation, Umbreit (2001: 239) refuses to generalise its application to all his clients as there are some who find no meaning in religion and spirituality. Nonetheless, he posits that religions can provide a bridge to the spiritual but at the same time, the spiritual exists beyond each doctrine (Umbreit, 2001: 258, citing Remen, 1998). Because of individual differences in understanding, anchoring and the need to respect spirituality or religion as well as the spiritual, mediators must never enforce their own views in terms of the spiritual dimension (Umbreit, 2001: 239). Based on his writing, it is clear that in his view religions can include spirituality and that the two can be used interchangeably, depending on the clients rather than on the mediator's views or opinions.

As has been explained, the work of Gold and Umbreit was chosen for analysis because their references to the terms spiritual or spirituality have been translated into Japanese. Umbreit's humanistic model, which is now also described by Umbreit himself as a humanistic approach to mediation (Ishihara, 2017b), inspired by the paradigm of healing proposed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> The similar point was already suggested by Simmel (1950: 149) as; "[s]uch mediations do not even have to be performed by means of words. A gesture, a way of listening, the mood that radiates from a particular [mediator], are enough to change the difference between two [disputants]".

Gold (1993). <sup>83</sup> Although the two share a number of commonalities and Umbreit (2001) praises the paradigm as helping to understand his humanistic model of mediation better, their differences should not be ignored. Although both refer to the importance of spirituality in their arguments, Gold stresses the importance of healing while Umbreit emphasises the significance of the mediator's presence in the mediation sessions.

The differences in their arguments suggest that the terms spiritual or spirituality indicate something similar between their mediation strategies, rather than forming one mediation model or creating a category of mediators. Consequently, describing the mediation process with those terms is not limited to mediators, but their clients, prospective ones or anyone who recognises "the precious gift of human existence, relationships, community, and the deeper spiritual connectedness among all of us in our collective journey through this life, regardless of religious, cultural, political, and lifestyle differences" (Umbreit, 2001: 8). Based on this recognition, Umbreit appraises Gold's healing paradigm, which he saw as containing "enormous implications for humanistic mediation practice in any context in which the nature of the conflict relates to broken relationships" (Umbreit, 2001: 7).

Despite their differences in each argument, Gold and Umbreit share the terms spiritual or spirituality which were summarised as the eight precepts in 3.3.1 above. The analysis of these texts supports the suggestion by Hense (2011) that minor components and forms of spirituality are embedded in the social aspect of language. Both Gold and Umbreit used those terms to express the components in their language by sharing those precepts, but such shared core precepts do not mean that their arguments are the same. The terms spiritual and spirituality are used as tools to convey one element of their professional views as mediators. This discovery of the component parts is the purpose of textual analysis (Karcic, 2006).

When each reference to the terms spiritual or spirituality is considered in a pragmatic manner, such as by cross-referencing to other mediation articles in English that also refer to those terms, their meaning can be understood much more profoundly and critically. Such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> In his exact wordings, "[U]nderstanding and practicing humanistic mediation in the context of the paradigm of healing offered by Gold is ultimately grounded in a profound recognition of the precious gift of human existence, relationships, community, and the deeper spiritual connectedness among all of us in our collective journey through this life, regardless of religious, cultural, political, and lifestyle differences" (Umbreit, 2001: 8).

analysis runs the risk of making the exact meaning in the context of mediation even more elusive. Moreover, as has already been illustrated in this section, the terminology is intrinsically context bound. It is nonetheless hoped that the analysis can contribute to understanding these terms as used in the context of mediation, thereby bringing some clarity and dispelling some of the ambiguity. On the other hand, if the meaning is indeed fluid and the ineffability cannot be eliminated, the terms used as equivalences in Japanese language need to reflect this quality.

Therefore, the next section examines and interprets the component parts as well as the whole arguments by discussing those eight precepts in the context of English-speaking mediation.

# 3.4 Discussing the generated eight core precepts in the context of English-speaking mediation

During the literature search conducted for the purposes of this thesis, more than 32 articles were found aside from Gold and Umbreit's work, that discuss spirituality in the context of mediation. Published in the English language between 1987 and 2017, these articles were written in Australia, China, Ethiopia, India, New Zealand, Northern Ireland, Sierra Leone, Taiwan, Tanzania, Turkey and the USA. In order to understand Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) more thoroughly, the generated eight core precepts are considered below in a wider context by referring to the other English language publications. Each subsection focuses on one of the precepts identified in 3.3.1 to understand the implications of the precepts in the context of mediation.

# 3.4.1 Spirituality in the context of mediation is not limited to any particular culture such as indigenous or non-indigenous mediation

As discovered in the previous section, Gold and Umbreit do not limit what they describe as spirituality to non-indigenous mediation. However, as clear from what Umbreit (2001: 9) acknowledged, spirituality used in indigenous and non-indigenous mediation are not the same but on the same spectrum.

Comparing non-indigenous and indigenous mediation in terms of spirituality, Walker (1999: 17-18) argued that while spirituality in non-indigenous mediation was considered as optional or viewed with scepticism, indigenous mediation, which she saw as being closer to peacebuilding in nature, fully integrated their spirituality into the process. In 2007 when the notion of using the terms spiritual or spirituality was introduced to the Japanese-speaking mediation context, Walker (2007: 27) still declared that in non-indigenous mediation, spirituality was only mentioned by a "minority of practitioners and scholars (notably Gold, 1993, and Umbreit, 1997)". Even though she acknowledged that these two authors belonged to the minority of mediators who did mention the importance of spirituality in their practice, she did not change her original argument regarding the contrast between spirituality in indigenous and non-indigenous mediation.

Walker's declaration made in 2007, albeit limited to the English-speaking context, does not reflect the development of mediation as an academic field or a professional practice. Although not in great numbers, there has been a steady stream of articles being published (Bowling and Hoffman, 2003: 43).<sup>84</sup> As of 2019, there are more than 34 publications on the topic available in the English language. As a result, the gap between spirituality in indigenous and non-indigenous mediation has narrowed and at the same time, the finer differences between the two have emerged (Barnes, 1994; Huber, 1993; Matthews-Giba, 2000; Umbreit, 1997). This is not to deny the validity of Walker's viewpoint. Rather, by discussing these different perspectives, this subsection deepens understanding about the first precept generated from the textual analysis.

In the same year that Gold (1993) published her article, five other articles were published in the field of non-indigenous mediation that used the terms spiritual or spirituality.<sup>85</sup> Like Shook and Kwan (1987), Huber (1993) wrote about spirituality in the context of indigenous mediation while the other four are in non-indigenous mediation. Despite the different mediation contexts, these five articles display strong similarities, in that they all emphasise the importance of feeling connected.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> However, over the period of this research, no criticisms have been published against any of those publications. Thus, republishing the edited versions of earlier articles is done without receiving the published counter opinions. This may indicate the topic itself do not attract academic debates in Mediation.

<sup>85</sup> Those are Lapin (1993), Chupp (1993), Huber (1993), Zumeta (1993), and Saposnek (1993) in a descending order.

There are of course, differences. For example, in indigenous mediation, spirituality includes reference to the spirit of the ancestors and the power and wisdom of the elders, who are seen as highly spiritual and therefore are conferred the role of mediator. On the other hand, spirituality in non-indigenous mediation stresses the significance of the internal self of all participants in the mediation process and no reference is made to accessing the spirits of the ancestors or conferring special spiritual power on elders to mediate. In non-indigenous mediation, spirituality is associated with a shift to a higher level of consciousness or to a sense of height as a result of connecting to one another in a mediation session; no such references were made when describing indigenous mediation.<sup>86</sup>

Walker (1999) effectively observed two spiritualities in the respective mediation contexts as different, yet the differences are, in fact, in what each author tried to convey by using the terms spiritual and spirituality. For example, up to 1993, the spiritualities used in non-indigenous and indigenous mediation remained separated (Shook and Kwan, 1987; Huber, 1993; Walker, 1999). Huber (1993) proposed the partial application of the Medicine Wheel, which was originally used by First Nation people in Canada and now by non-aboriginal people as well to solve disputes, in non-indigenous mediation provided that the attendees of mediation understand and respect the notion reflected on the Wheel. Barnes (1994) also stresses that the pacific model is used in cross-cultural mediation by integrating indigenous spirituality into non-indigenous mediation practice. In a similar manner, ho'oponopono has been used in non-indigenous mediation practice (Goldberg and Blancke, 2012).

This division once existed between spiritualities of indigenous and non-indigenous mediation certainly does not mean that indigenous communities, which share the same 'spirituality' in Walker's (1999 and 2007) definition, do not have disputes with other different indigenous communities. In fact, they do not share the same mediation practice; each has developed own mediation which uses spirituality. Fisher (2000) claims that in many indigenous communities, symbols are used in mediation to bridge the differences which

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> This point is discussed in the fifth precept below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Huber (1993: 364) cautioned that the model being used in the mediation involving non-Aboriginal parties may result in "a disrespectful appropriation of cultural heritage". In addition, an application of this model requires a cautious approach in the context of mediating Aboriginal people who have exposed to urban culture which contain many different 'cultures' of non-Aboriginal people (Huber, 1993: 364). For using the model in the non-Aboriginal disputes, Huber (1993: 364-365) suggested to extract some components as its concepts alone and not to refer the entire wheel.

have caused the dispute. The symbols allow mediators to approach the spiritual dimension of the disputants, which is equated by Fisher with the soul (see also, Wolf, 2017).

Since 2000, there has been an increase in the mention of spirituality in relation to mediation, and there seems to be a growing consensus about the importance of approaching the disputants as human beings with souls, regardless of their personal backgrounds (see for instance, Cloke, 2005; Gold, 2003; Goldberg and Blancke, 2012; Hoffman, 2006; Jurevic, 2000; Nan, 2011; Umbreit, 2001; and Wolf, 2017). As Umbreit (2001) has stated, perhaps the issue with spirituality in the mediation context is not about how to define it but whether people recognise it.

What is missing from these articles is any reference to previous publications that refer to spirituality to seek or form a definition. This suggests that the authors' primary intention is not to create or formulate the integrated meaning of spirituality in the English-speaking mediation context; they simply use the term in the arguments so that to emphasise the important points they make in their publications. In other words, in these other English language publications on mediation as well, spirituality is embedded in their main arguments rather than being the main subject of the discussion itself (Hense, 2011).

In the context of mediation concerning English language resources, the meanings of the terms spiritual or spirituality are indeed context dependent, or, more accurately, user dependent. The distinction Walker (1999) draws between spirituality in indigenous cultures and non-indigenous cultures remains persuasive. At the same time, Barnes' (1994) proposed integration of spirituality into non-indigenous mediation is also persuasive considering its effectiveness as expressed by Shook and Kwan (1987). In addition, the risks of resulting in "a disrespectful appropriation of cultural heritage" cautioned by Huber (1993: 364) can only be avoided by understanding the nature of mediation practice. Mediators then need to explain what spirituality means in their context of their mediation. The first precept found in Gold (1993) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) seemingly illustrates the current position between indigenous and non-indigenous mediation over spirituality, by emphasising the similarities instead of the differences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> This point further becomes evident in the next subsection.

## 3.4.2 Spirituality can include religion, be a part of religion, be independent from religion or be interchangeable with religion

The second precept generated from Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) seems to reflect the diverse academic views of mediators. The context of mediation allows four types of spirituality to coexist: spirituality includes or overlaps with religious faiths or non-religious faiths; religions can include spirituality; spirituality is different from religious faiths; and spirituality is the same as religion. Some mediators also have confirmed that what is spiritual about mediation can be religious at the same time (Menkel-Meadow, 2003; Bowling and Hoffman, 2003; Cloke, 2005; Lichtenstein, 2005; Hoffman, 2006; Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009; Jones, 2009; Nun, 2011; Goldberg and Blancke, 2012; and Hoffman and Wolman, 2013). Spirituality is a part of religious belief (Tauscher, 2003), but could be at the same time independent of religious belief (Gold, 2003; Umbreit, 2001 and 2005; Mayer and Boness, 2011), or interchangeable with religious belief (Matthews-Giba, 2000; Turay, 2000; Umbreit, 2001; Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009; Goldberg and Blancke, 2011; Ollapally, 2011; Bobrowski, Timor, and Ronel, 2017).

Nonetheless, these different views about the relationship between spirituality and religion do not necessarily reflect the authors' personal religious beliefs (for instance, Lapin, 1993; Menkel-Meadow, 2001). Even in the same publication, spirituality is used to mean either different from or interchangeable with religions at the time (see Umbreit, 2001 and 2005; and also, Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009). The divisions described between spirituality and religion depend on what the author wants to convey. While the expression is a matter for each mediator, choosing the terms spiritual or spirituality to describe their practice may be considered as emphasising that spirituality in mediation means something different from spirituality in faith-based mediation. If the mediation practice is specifically driven by a religious faith or faith expressed by the term spirituality, such mediation is categorised as faith-based mediation (Goldberg, 2016). Tauscher (2003) considers spirituality as a part of religious beliefs so in this instance, spirituality appears to be a part of faith-based mediation. Tauscher's spirituality is categorised differently when comparing to the spirituality used in indigenous mediation.

In an article about indigenous mediation in Hawaii, the terms spiritual or spirituality are used, and the authors explain that there was not a specific word for religion before the Westerner came (Shook and Kwan, 1987: 5). Shook and Kwan (1987), who consider the spiritual Page | 90

influences are central to the native Hawaiian mediation method, ho'oponopono, use the term spirituality to describe something inseparable from one's life, accessible through ancestors' spirits, beyond the physical world and perceived in every part of the social order in the community in which ho'oponopono is used. Similarly, Huber (1993) and Walker (2001) describe how the notion of spirituality is embedded in specific cultures and emphasise the importance of the relationship with religion, whether in the context of non-indigenous or indigenous mediation. In these instances, spirituality used by these authors do not form part of religious faith.

It is also important to emphasise that when referring to spirituality, mediators are not necessarily aligning themselves with any particular faith. Umbreit (2001: 258) suggests that mediators should never initiate any issues in relation to spirituality based on their own perceptions. Mediators interviewed in Jones's research (2009) also reported that they would not share their views on spirituality with their prospective clients. If a particular faith is being used as a guiding force in the mediation session, all parties, including the mediator, need to know. Indeed, faith-based mediation would not work without such a common, shared recognition of the framework that is being used in the mediation sessions. However, these mediators who intentionally use the terms spiritual or spirituality are not necessarily willing to make their mediation faith based. In other words, their personal views which are expressed by the term spirituality do not become their practice base.

When Gold refers to spirituality in the context of mediation, it can "encompass the values of compassion, right action, forgiveness, an inclusiveness that are the basis of all spiritual practices" (Gold, 2003: 186). However, there is no need "to adopt any type of religious orientation" (Gold, 2003: 186; see also Ollapally, 2011). Once a religious orientation is adopted and shared with attending parties, it becomes faith-based mediation. By not specifying the source or origin of the spiritual practices, Gold's (2003) spirituality has made it possible for mediators to work with clients from any religious background, without discrimination (see also, Menkel-Meadow, 2001).

Similarly, Umbreit's (2001: 258) spirituality is inclusive of those who believe in a higher being and all of creation as well as those who do not. By not limiting their spirituality to a particular faith, both authors tried to engage in settling disputes based on "the precious gift of human

existence, relationships, community, and the deeper spiritual connectedness among all of us in our collective journey through this life, regardless of religious, cultural, political, and lifestyle differences" (Umbreit, 2001: 8). This approach avoids the risk in dispute resolution that religion can and will lead to "division and intolerance" (Goldberg and Blancke, 2011: 377; see also Bercovitch and Kadayifci-Orellana, 2009).

Smith (2010) defined the major difference between religion and spirituality as the former being institutionalised and the latter free-floating (see also, Webster, 2012). A notion seems to become a religious principle of a kind when it is communicated and shared among people (Aston, 1905: 5). By also taking these religious scholars' views into consideration, treating religion and spirituality as one or separately in the context of mediation only becomes problematic when it is the cause of the dispute. When there is no such a risk, the approach to spirituality in the session can be inclusive of individuals' religious allegiance to Christianity, Islam or Buddhism or any religious or faith practice that has been mutually agreed, shared or respected by the mediator and clients to achieve the purpose, which is to settle the dispute.

#### 3.4.3 Who mediates matters due to spirituality

As mentioned in the previous section, the theories of mediation do not normally extend to the role of whom mediates (Bowling and Hoffman, 2003; Roberts and Palmer, 2005; Simmel, 1950). Even then, some mediators have asked; "don't we need to look at 'being a mediator' rather than just 'doing mediation'?" (Bowling and Hoffman, 2003; Fox, 2004 as cited in Goldberg and Blancke, 2011: 377; see also Jones, 2009).

Who mediates matters because how a mediator faces their inner self will influence their external relationship with others, which then has an impact on the client's internal and external relationships through the communication that takes place in the mediation sessions. This precept has also been expressed using the terms spiritual or spirituality by Lapin (1993), Chupp (1993), Saposnek (1993b), Gold (1993 and 2003), Bowling and Hoffman (2003), Umbreit (1997; 2001; 2005), Cloke (2005), Jones (2009), Nan (2011), Nun (2011), Ollapally (2011), and Roche (2017). A similar idea to using spirituality in mediation, which is to use intention in mediation, appears in an article written by Davis (1989: 21) who proposes that successful mediation outcomes occur due to the hopes of the mediators. In addition, Phillips (2001), Sidy (1996 as cited in Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009) and Moore (2014) also refer

to the importance of a mediator's energies focused on bringing about a shift in consciousness, which then leads to settlement.

The deep internal relationship with one's own inner self, in some authors' accounts, extends to one's soul (Lapin, 1993 and Nan, 2011) or spirit (Umbreit, 2005; Cloke, 2005; and Goldberg and Blancke, 2012). Thus, Wolf (2017) equates spirituality with harmony when used in the mediation context. Jones (2009) phrased this notion as who mediates matters because mediation is spiritual in nature.

Although Wolf (2017: 25) emphasises that his view of spirituality in the context of mediation is to separate the spirituality of the mediator from the mediation process, in a latter chapter, he then proposed how important it is for mediators to reflect on themselves. He suggests that mediators should reflect on whether they have any internal conflict and ask if the outcomes or discussions of the mediation that they are conducting accommodate the mediator's spiritual life (Wolf, 2017: 76-68). By explaining mindfulness as "the practice of bringing one's attention to whatever is unfolding in the present moment" (Wolf, 2017: 77), Wolf's view is that spiritual approaches in mediation include mindfulness of the mediation participants, including the mediator (Wolf, 2017: 76-78).

Paying attention and listening to the internal voices of clients is also emphasised by Cloke (2005), and the importance of being fully present as a mediator is also discussed by Lapin (1993), Zumeta (1993 and 2017), Nan (2011) and Nun (2011). Wolf's attempt, although failed, to separate the notion of who mediates matters from mediation being spiritual in nature, led to illustrating how important the mediator's spirituality is in providing mediation. In other words, Wolf (2017) argues that spirituality improves mediation.

The contradiction between who mediates and how to mediate is further illustrated by Hoffman (2006). When a bill was passed to certify mediators, who had worked for a minimum of five years in Massachusetts, USA, the ADR community of the state successfully vetoed the legislation. Although there was a recognised need for such a certification scheme, Hoffman (2006: 470) draws attention to the limitations of a certification system that is only based on one criterium, in the case of Massachusetts, five years of mediation experience. Given the complexity and nature of mediation, certifying mediators by simply focusing on

the length of mediation practice could reduce the quality of mediation provision, although at the same time, it could ensure uniformity and establish mediation as a profession (Hoffman, 2006). This same point was also made by a participant mediator in the study conducted by Jones (2009).

A better certification scheme would be one that values training. For example, in England and Wales, family mediation trainings are regulated and the accreditation to conduct Mediation Information and Assessment Meetings ('MIAM') can only be granted to those who have attended and completed certain trainings. Mediators who undertake MIAMs have worked toward their accreditation by completing a foundation training, fulfilling the accreditation requirements, including the submission of a portfolio, and satisfied post-accreditation conditions (Family Mediation Council, 2019). In this case, the accreditation is conferred based on the mediator's training and practice evidence instead of simply the length of time they have been mediating. The vital issue, in Hoffman's view (2006), is the lack of consensus of what mediation is, due to the emphasis on the breadth of service.

Nonetheless, Hoffman (2006) viewed a certification scheme is as important, particularly if it is underpinned by an awareness and deep understanding of mediation practice. Based on the same awareness and understanding, practitioners experience how influential their beings are on their clients during their mediation sessions, which they describe as 'spiritual'. This leads to the question stated at the beginning of this subsection: "don't we need to look at 'being a mediator' rather than just 'doing mediation'?" (Bowling and Hoffman, 2003; Fox, 2004 as cited in Goldberg and Blancke, 2011: 377; see also Jones, 2009).

Taking these academic and professional opinions into consideration with regards to the relationship between who mediates and how to mediate, raised in the context of mediation, the claim 'who mediates matters due to spirituality' may already appear to be contradictory, if not controversial, relative to mediation practice. It suggests that the question about who mediates matter based on the notion of using spirituality in the context has not originated in the study of mediation but pertains to the study of spirituality. This disciplinary misplacement, which locates the argument about the use of spirituality in mediation rather

than in spirituality itself, <sup>89</sup> makes the most important point in their argument rather ambiguous since they do not explain what they mean when referring to spirituality, which is only a component of whole.

The argument of who mediates matters connotes that a mediator can influence their clients in reaching resolution by maintaining a deep internal relationship with their own inner self, referred to as soul or spirit. The reference to soul or spirit has spiritual implications and, thus, this argument relates to a discipline of spirituality rather than mediation. By changing the nature of argument from mediation theories and practices to what each mediator tries to convey by the term spiritual or spirituality, the illustration further clarifies that the way of being a mediator influences mediation practice. How the mediator's way of being influences their practice is summarised as the fourth precept, which discussed in the next section.

Before moving onto the next precept, it is important to summarise what has become apparent through the analysis so far. As Umbreit (2001) has claimed, what mediators feel, believe or value does not need to become subject to empirical testing, as when they express their personal and professional values and beliefs in their publications. Umbreit posits that spiritual experiences lose certain qualities as soon as they are analysed, quantified, distinguished, measured or enumerated. This is echoed by Cloke (2005) when he associates the nature of spirituality to the feeling of love.

Therefore, regarding the research aim, which is to analyse the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations of the writings of Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001), the notion of using spirituality in the mediation context needs also to be discussed in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation. The empirical testing of personal or professional views about mediation regarding effectiveness does not help this research to achieve its aim. What is required is to discuss the notion of spirituality that was introduced to the Japanese-speaking mediation context through the translations of work by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001). This will highlight the extent to which the introduction of the term has contributed to the development of mediation in Japan and the extent to which it has exacerbated existing issues. In doing so, the already identified issues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Both Jones (2009) and Nun (2011), the two studies discussed in Chapter 2, were in the field of conflict resolution which includes mediation.

arising from the currently applied translations, transliteration as well as *seishin*, can be analysed and discussed in a more pragmatic manner.

### 3.4.4 Spirituality influences both semantically and non-semantically through mediator's presence

Several mediators, in addition to Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (2005), claim that they influence their clients during mediation sessions through both non-semantic and semantic means (see for example Lapin, 1993; Chupp, 1993; Cloke, 2005; Goldberg and Blancke, 2011 and 2012; and Wolf, 2017). Among those, Chupp's definition of non-verbal communication may well illustrate what Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (2005) mean when they refer to the need for mediators to feel with their hearts as well as understand with their heads. Chupp (1993) claims, by emphasising the importance of spirituality in mediation, that conflict transformation, which leads clients to a settlement, only occurs when there is an internal shift in one's perceptions and when each person's spiritual energy is awakened.

According to Chupp, this internal shift and transformation are not material but something that occurs inside clients and happens as a result of a mediator centring themselves. Centring is defined by Umbreit (2001) as a deeper sense of spirituality, a recognition of one's interconnectedness with others and the sacred gift of their existence. The overlap in perspective between Chupp and Umbreit does not mean that Chupp uses the humanistic model. Indeed, Chupp (1993) does not refer to the humanistic model when describing his practice.

When communication occurs either unilaterally or bilaterally without "the aid of normal communication" (Jackson, 2011: 162) such as by sensing, "what is on someone else's mind and engage with them in mind-to-mind dialogue" (Chamberlain, 2013: 71-72), it is referred to as telepathy. There is much anecdotal evidence of telepathy in human beings, namely adults (Radin, 2009; Sheldrake, 2013; Stevenson, 1970; Palmer, 1979; and Wolman, 1977), foetuses, babies and children (Broughton and Alexander, 1997; Chamberlain, 2013: 71-72; Silverman, 2002; Sullivan, 1953; Recordon, Stratton, and Peters, 1968) and animals (Lesniak, 2006).

As cited in 3.2 above, the term spirituality in the context of mediation may as well be an indication of the mediators' passion as a profession to explain their important experiences

as a mediator in the same manner as psychotherapists do in the context of Japanesespeaking psychotherapy (Ishikawa, 2010). In this regard, it may be useful to refer to the research conducted outside of the mediation context to aid understanding their claims.

Three experiments, which highlight the power of language (Takao et al., 2006 and Radin, 2006 and 2008), should be cited to reiterate what the mediators mean by influencing through semantic communication can also be accepted in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. Those experiments were undertaken after being inspired by the series of publications by Masaru Emoto, a Japanese medical doctor, on 'messages from water' (see mainly, Emoto, 2001/1999). Emoto (2004: 20) reported that "water in harmony with nature produces beautiful crystals and water that are polluted or exposed to certain discordant vibrations do not produce beautiful crystals", and that distilled water exposed to Japanese, "words "Love & Thanks" produced beautiful crystals and the word "Devil" or "You Fool" produced no crystals at all" (Emoto, 2004: 20). In Emoto's view, these differences in crystal formations are something to do with hado, 90 which is a Japanese word for, "both energy and vibration at the level of consciousness" (Emoto, 2004: 22).

Emoto's publications have been greatly criticised by the public and fellow academics for their experimental methods and results (Kikuchi, 2016; Yasui, 2006: 963). As Yasui (2006) pointed out, such criticisms have to prove that there is no replication chance by conducting the same experiments as Emoto's, but this thesis has identified no such research article published by counter parties so far. Instead, the following three research, which were conducted respectively by Takao et al. and Radin in 2006 and 2008, are available to confirm Emoto's experiments.

Regarding an experiment conducted by Takao, et al. (2006), which Emoto was one of the research members, the research result was released at a meeting of the Psychical Society of Japan on 8th August 2006. Four labels on which had 'Thank you' and 'You Fool' typed and printed in Japanese and English respectively, were taped on four 100ml bottles of distilled water with Sellotape. The two bottles on which had 'Thank you' labels in both languages slightly increased Ca rates, which was not contained originally in their water, in the first week and kept the increased rate the next week, while those had 'You Fool' on significantly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> The Japanese translation is 波動.

increased the *Ca* rate by the first week past but it had disappeared completely in the following week. They reported that the same results were recorded by repeating the same experiments four times. The similar power of language has also been observed even at a distance as seen in two experiments conducted by Radin (2006 and 2008).

As for the non-semantic communication, there have been numerous studies testing the effectiveness of intercessory prayers on human beings. <sup>91</sup> While our, "[i]ntention can be expressed in both positive and negative ways" (Schwartz and Dossey, 2010: 302; see also Benson, et al. 2006), the effectiveness of intercessory prayer may depend upon the belief or willingness of those who *receive* such treatments (Palmer, Katerndahl, and Morgan-Kidd, 2004; Reid et al., 2017). The same may be seen to apply to mediation, which can only be effective with the willingness of its disputing users.

Sicher et al. (1998) who carried out an experiment to test the effect of distance healing on a group of HIV patients concluded that, "[t]he findings of decreased medical utilization, fewer and less severe new illnesses, and improved mood for the treated group compared with the controls supports a positive therapeutic effect of [distant healing], [and continued t]his outcome is difficult to explain, particularly in this double-blind study where subjects, physicians, and study personnel did not know who was in the treatment group" (Sicher, et al., 1998: 361).

To be convinced that such telepathic effects of mediators on their clients contribute towards resolution, the present thesis must look for future experiments that could measure the statistical probabilities of resolution through mediation using silence. Although the importance of thoughts is emphasised based on resources available on telepathy and distance healing, these sources only suggest the possibility of mediators communicating their thoughts to their clients. On the first page of the above-mentioned article by Sicher, et al. (1998: 361), an unusual foreword is inserted by the editor, who is also a medical doctor:

"Does the paper prove that prayer works? No. The authors call for more research, as do we and the reviewers, for a number of reasons. We note that the study was relatively short and analysed rather few patients. No treatment-related mechanisms for the effects were posited. The statistical methods can be criticized. We have chosen to publish this provocative paper to stimulate other studies of distant healing and

Page | 98

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Such as Byrd (1988), Wirth and Cram (1994), Sicher et al. (1998), Harris et al. (1999), Cha, Wirth, and Lobo (2001), Seskevich, et al (2004), Jegindo et al. (2013), Rock, Permezel, and Storm (2012)

other complementary practices and agents. It is time for more light, less dark, less heat". (Sicher, et al. 1998: 361)

The same goes for those mediators who emphasise the influence of a mediator's being on their clients. <sup>92</sup> While telepathic communication cannot be conclusive in its occurrence and nor can non-semantic communication between mediators and their clients, this does not prevent the present thesis from highlighting the importance of this point, especially considering that this precept was based on the actual experiences of professional mediators. The findings of the experiments by Sicher et al (1998) support the presumption of non-semantic communication through telepathy or the strong intention of mediators.

This also explains why Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001), who refer to spirituality in describing their mediation experience, emphasise the importance of being fully present during the sessions. By totally focusing on the mediation sessions, they further underline the importance of the non-semantic influence. Taking together with Sicher et al. (1998), the good intention of the mediator can be seen as a strong 'heartfelt' wish for their clients to find resolution. Hence, good intentions for settlements lead to consciousness shifts in their clients that then lead to settlements.

The non-semantic influence of a mediator on their client during a mediation sessions are the ideas primarily based on their views, values and beliefs and rooted in their mediation experiences; they cannot be seen as empirical results.<sup>93</sup> As seen in Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001 and as highlighted by Ishihara, 2017b), their arguments have not changed over a lengthy period of time, despite not being tested empirically. This is because such claims are practice values that have developed based on what they have experienced as mediators with their clients. Their claims could be tried and tested scientifically; such research is possible as there are significant numbers of studies that have tested the effects of unvoiced intentions.

However, considering the research aim of the present thesis, it is debatable whether such scientific, empirical data is required to support what the mediators say about their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> For instance, Bowling and Hoffman (2003), Chupp (1993), Gold (1993), Jones (2009), Nan (2011, Umbreit (2001)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Apart from Jones (2009). However, as discussed in Chapter 2, her research lacks necessary details to be considered as an empirical study.

experience. Even though such study results have been offered together with their personal views, its main argument, the suitability of the currently applied translation for the terms spiritual or spirituality, remains the same. Instead, what those existing researches imply is that both English and Japanese researchers as scholars recognised the importance of conducting their researches. In other words, people speaking either or both languages have potential to understand this fourth precept as an important factor.<sup>94</sup>

In this section so far, the focus has been on the claims put forward by non-indigenous mediators. In indigenous mediation, which Umbreit (1997 and 2001) does not distinguish from spirituality of non-indigenous mediation in his arguments, spirituality includes accessing the spirits of the ancestors through the spiritual power of the elders and their role in undertaking mediation by using such a power (Shook and Kwan, 1987: 47; Walker, 1999, 2001 and 2001b). On the one hand, those who prefer phenomena to be analysed, quantified, distinguished, measured or enumerated will find even less answers when seeking to scientifically prove spirituality as expressed in mediation regardless of indigenous or non-indigenous mediation. On the other, the lack of empirical data cannot deny what people try to convey what they experience in a mediation session. As Cloke (2005) rightly points out, spirituality loses certain qualities when to quantify people's spiritual experiences. As seen in the next discussion, the fifth precept also is simply a metaphorical description of how mediators have felt during past mediation sessions.

As Ishikawa (2010) argues, using the term spirituality to explain the phenomenon which the experiencers experienced can be due to their passion to convey the experience. In understanding what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit try to say by the terms spiritual or spirituality, it is important not to restrict the understandings to scientific evidence. Instead, their voices should be taken as an experienced mediator's opinion and advice which leave much freedom to its audience how he or she then deals with the information shared in their published articles.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Although Chapter 6 will further discuss in detail, some parts from a book of Emoto (2001/1999), *The Message from Water*, was used as a material for moral education textbooks for the compulsory school education in Japan.

## 3.4.5 Spirituality leads disputants to settlements at a higher level through connection with others

This precept, similar to the previous one, should be seen as a rather metaphorical expression of what mediators as authors have felt during their mediation sessions since material shifts during the sessions cannot occur. The connection referred to does not assume any tangible connection between the attending parties such as holding hands. Taking conflict as a state of disconnectedness due to the differences among the disputing parties and spirituality as an implication of a connected state based on unity, Zumeta (1993: 26) states that:

[w]hen mediation encompasses both the unity and diversity, it is almost holy. It is after all, the best that we on earth can hope for: to respect and appreciate our differences and our similarities and the connectedness between us. That is why the moment of deep agreement is so profound.

By describing her mediation experiences as spiritual, Zumeta (1993) emphasises how mediators themselves need to feel connected, in other words to be united, or in harmonious relationship, with other people around them if they are to provide spirituality in their mediation sessions (see also, Saposnek, 1993). In their view, spirituality does not simply occur instantly during a mediation session by paying attention to changes in the consciousness of the participating clients. Instead, the mediators themselves must be role models for their clients to show how to be in such harmonious relationships with the people around them. The mediator's relationship of peace and harmony for justice for their clients is, "all presumably to achieve a higher purpose and a better relationship for the parties" (Menkel-Meadow, 2001: 1081).

One mediator described the state of being in dispute as "[i]n conflicts, we may not only be "in over Our Heads" but also emotionally exhausted, spiritually shuttered, and physically frozen" (Nan, 2011: 247 emphasis in the original). By connecting the other parties attending mediation, the disputants become spiritually open. The sense of interconnectedness between people allows the disputants to relate to the world as well as to the transcendent (Nun, 2011: 55).

Through a higher consciousness (Gold, 1993: 55), some mediators connect to others including the transcendent. The highest consciousness of the mediator influences the clients in mediation and allows the discussions to shift in a more positive, productive direction (Gold, 2003: 200). This conflict transformation only occurs when there is an internal shift in one's

perceptions and when, "the creative spiritual energy within each person comes to life" (Chupp, 1993: 6; also, Cloke, 2005). This internal shift and transformation occurring inside clients, however, can be felt (Umbreit, 2005). With the sense of connectedness in place (Umbreit, 2005: 4), spirituality requires a mediator to work with the clients' storytelling process by being fully present yet not controlling or being judgemental about those stories, and to work with both their own and the clients' energy of conflict which is, "the powerful non-verbal language of their bodies and spirit" (Umbreit, 2005: 1). The use of such non-verbal language can communicate authenticity, adjust thought differences between mediation participants and the mediator, which includes the higher values they adhere to, convey each other's intentions, and create openness and a non-judgemental atmosphere (Umbreit, 2005: 4).

Along with this shift in perspective, participants can become more sensitive to others and develop a new way of communication (Jones, 2009: 151, 159-160). In Jones's study (2009: 160), participant mediators described the 'shift' as:

Something shifts, all of a sudden they see beyond their own little piece of the universe, they begin to understand the connections...they get very comfortable, you can almost hear the sigh. [...] You can feel the shift in their energy.... If you don't get the shift and you move to ways to solve it, that is when things totally break down. They start coming up with methods that are not about resolution.

Based on the voices of her research participants, Jones (2009) discusses how mediators must work on and improve themselves so that to improve their mediation practice quality because, "the *art* of their [mediation] practice is more a matter of *being* than doing" (Jones, 2009: 150-151).

This precept is also referred to by Mayer and Boness (2011), academics who were based respectively in the department of organisation at Rhode University, South Africa, and the department of intercultural practice and conflict management at the University of Göttingen, Germany but conducted their study in Tanzania. The purpose of their research was "to provide insights into cross-cultural conflicts and their management in ecclesiastical organizations in Tanzania" (Mayer and Bones, 2011: 175). Their study found that mediators offering faith-based mediation considered that they were working between the disputants as well as between the disputant and God (Mayer and Boness, 2011: 179), thus allowing the disputing parties to link their issues to "a higher spiritual level and a higher consciousness"

by using Christian symbols instead of using a structured, rational mediation process (Mayer and Boness, 2011: 184 and 185). In order to conduct mediation in this manner, faith-based mediators in this study used a "special connection to God and with their spirituality" (Mayer and Boness, 2011: 185). The conclusion stresses that mediation as a Christian spiritual process creates harmony, peace and spiritual fulfilment by using religious symbols, concepts, metaphors and analogies which are based on their Bible (Mayer and Boness, 2011: 185).

The core practice of mediation is described as "a process of shifting consciousness" because, "parties develop increasing awareness of their own needs, the needs of others, and ways of meeting everyone's needs" (Nan, 2011: 242). When disputants open to an external world and seek solutions through negotiation which is facilitated by their mediator, their attitudes will lead to a settlement because they already have begun making such a shift by attending the mediation session in the first place. Goldberg and Blancke (2012: 463) add that those, "practitioners believe that the core of their effectiveness is their spirit, and that is what allows them to create space for extraordinary shifts". Here, the deep relationship between the mediator's mind, intention, or thought and different 'levels' and 'shifts', that resolve the issue at stake, is also explicitly highlighted. By writing this article, they try to convey to their readers that mediation can be "profound, integrated work [...]that deeply engages the spirituality [...]in such a way, that, if anything, is more profoundly respectful of party self-determination than classical mediation" (Goldberg and Blancke, 2012: 464-465).

These authors appear to suggest that mediators who are not spiritually intelligent or who cannot engage deeply with their clients, may violate or damage their clients' self-determination, whether either intentionally or not, by imposing their values onto their clients' situations. By contrast, what spiritually intelligent mediators do, regardless of their faith, is to provide a space for their clients to change the ways of thinking or perceptions that caused the dispute (Hoffman and Wolman, 2013). In such a space, having a higher spiritual intelligence allows mediators to know when to reinforce their personal values and when not to, so that to maximise their clients' self-determination. As has been outlined in previous chapters, mediation is about the clients themselves settling their issues with the attendance of a mediator of their choice; it is not about mediators making a settlement happen. Goldberg and Blancke (2012) use the term spiritual to inform about and encourage fellow mediators to use spiritual intelligence in their sessions to achieve a settlement.

Despite the metaphorical expressions used, this precept has been shared by mediators who work in different countries. It may be that this is as a result of reading one another's articles, but the significant point is that numbers of mediators have expressed their professional experience by using similar, if not the same, expressions in their publications. As mentioned in the first precept above, however, this precept is only partially similar to the spirituality referred to indigenous mediation, where references to a shift to a higher level are not made. <sup>95</sup> In other words, it is only non-indigenous mediators who refer to the notion of height when discussing spirituality in the mediation context, although this does not mean that those who offer indigenous mediation do not understand the metaphor.

As discussed with regards to the first precept, what bridges the differences between indigenous and non-indigenous mediation is a willingness to try to understand each other (Huber, 1993) and a degree of integration has already taken place (Barnes, 1994; Wolf, 2017). Even though this precept was generated by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) to share with the readers, they do not claim that this is something universal for all dispute resolutions. What should be stressed is that Umbreit (1997 and 2001) clearly states that the spiritual dimension in the mediation session should not be initiated by the mediator. By focusing on the similarities between different notions of spirituality in the mediation sessions, Umbreit (1997 and 2001) acknowledges the differences exhibited among his various clients.

### 3.4.6 Such influences tend to occur in a safe or sacred space created by the mediator

Quite naturally, this sixth precept summarises the untested claims of mediators that were described by the third, fourth and fifth precepts, in a tangible manner: positive influences that lead to a settlement occur in a safe or sacred space which is created by the mediator.

In mediation sessions where disputing clients discuss their issues with their mediator, there is an inevitable power imbalance. Roberts and Palmer (2005) suggest that the ultimate question for the mediator is to what extent this imbalance can or should be rectified. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Although this point beyond the scope of the present thesis, this difference between spiritualities referred to in indigenous and non-indigenous mediation may have something to do with religious influences. For example, according to Kuramochi (2016), a professor at the Department of Cultural Anthropologist of Waseda University in Japan who analysed the art drawings of Heavens and Hells in various religions, many religious drawings and artworks place Heaven somewhere up and Hell somewhere down in their compositions regardless of religion, geographic location or historical time period. However, to make any conclusive claims, a series of field studies is required.

question, however, is posed only when such imbalances can or should be redressed (see for instance, Chornenki, 1997). The mediator has to judge the degree to which their mediation in a specific context crosses lines of stratification or involves gross power imbalances (Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 132). As Robert (1992) points out, mediation can be ceased where necessary.

Roberts (1992: 7) argues that mediation, unlike psychotherapy, is grounded in "liberal, humanist values that justify its use both for" the clients and the mediator (also see Haynes, 1992, for further arguments). In this context, the decision-making as well as the authority over the decision-making process need to be with the clients as independent, competent adults. Mediators must respect the self-autonomy of their clients which allows them to act as reasonable adults based on their competence and capacity (Roberts, 1992). In such circumstances, the disputants should not feel unsafe. As a general rule, safeguarding all parties' interests, including the mediator's, needs to be considered in each mediation session. The idea that spirituality involves the creation of a safe, if not sacred, space to allow the positive influences in the session to bring about a settlement, requires careful analysis.

According to Chupp (1993), conflict transformation only occurs when there is an internal shift in one's perceptions, which is inside of the clients. <sup>96</sup> This shift can occur in "a safe place to work at differences", and, once occurring in one party, this shift influences the other party (Chupp, 1993: 7). For mediators to provide a 'safe' space, they themselves must open up to and feel comfortable with their pain, inner struggles, values and learnings. This transformation requires the mediator's inner centeredness (Chupp, 1993; also, Gold, 1993; Umbreit, 2001) and this inner centeredness then influences how the mediator creates a safe space for the clients:

I seek that trusting place with God where I can become vulnerable and share my deepened and darkest side. When God listens, I am re-created. The foundation within me flows and I offer back to God the best of who I am. Restoration comes as God responds with acceptance: "I know who you are and I love you." In that acceptance I am transformed and enter a new, more trusting relationship with the Creator. (Chupp, 1993:11)

For Chupp (1993:11), this "relationship with God is no longer based on fear of punishment" because he knows that he would be accepted and understood by his mediator in revealing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> This was already discussed earlier in this section and Chupp (1993) declared this occurred when, "the creative spiritual energy within each person comes to life" (Chupp, 1993: 6).

himself if he were the client, just as he accepts and understands his clients. Chupp seems to draw a parallel between his occupational relationship and experiences with his mediation clients to the relationship between himself and God. What is safe about mediation held by Chupp is expressed in his own words. These transformations that occur in disputing clients as well as in mediators are the key to changing the conflict structure, which Chupp calls 'shifts'. What distinguishes his mediation from faith-based mediation, or more specifically pastoral mediation, is, however, the fact that he does not align his practice to Christianity despite explicit references to Christ, God and the Creator (Chupp, 1993).

Although religious influences may be detected in Chupp's expressions regarding spirituality in the context of mediation, the denial of the religious impulse in their mediation practice only widens the gap between mediation expressed by the terms spiritual or spirituality and faith-based mediation. In his 2012 publication, Umbreit describes how the so-called shifts occur in a safe, if not sacred, place. For Umbreit (2012: 1 and 4), mediators need to know how to walk their own path of life and know the "still point of power within us" through some form of spiritual practice, that can include meditation, prayer, yoga, Tai Chi and so on. In a similar vein to Chupp (1993), Umbreit goes on to describe power as something that, "recognizes that it is in the energy of our communication, particularly through the nonverbal language of our spirit, that we can offer a sacred space for bearing witness to the healing power of story" (Umbreit, 2012: 4). His notion of power can also be seen in indigenous mediation as the spiritual power that is often conferred on the elderly members of the community who take on a mediator's role (Shook and Kwan, 1987: 47; Walker, 1999, 2001 and 2001b).

Jones (2009: 151 and 152) also supports the importance of safe, nonlinear mediation sessions. Mediation in which the mediator creates a holistic, nonlinear and safe space allows the clients to open up and experience the shifts as a result. The safe mediation space can be created and held by mediators who engages in practices to reflect own positive energy onto the mediation practice.

Those voices that emphasise the importance of making an already safe mediation session even safer are explicitly highlighted by the question posed in the third precept: the issue is with the being of the mediator rather than with the doing of the mediation. As mentioned

at the beginning of this precept, references to creating safe spaces in the context of mediation are not necessarily made in association with notions of spirituality. What differentiates those who speak of the necessity of the safe space in mediation in relation to spirituality and others who do not depends on the meaning given to the sacred and whether it is seen as a common human need. For example, Clark (1993: 47) describes common human needs as including social bonding and sacred meaning which are to be satisfied only in a social context and emphasises the importance to consider both needs when mediating disputes.

When referred to in the context of mediation, the terms spiritual or spirituality are proposed by its advocates to fulfil the basic principle or needs sought in mediation, yet accentuating the sacred as a need to be fulfilled more than other common human needs increases the already broad nature of mediation practice which was identified as lacking consensus of what spirituality is (Hoffman, 2006). However, even though there is no consensus over the meaning of the term spirituality or spiritual in the context of mediation, the discussion thus far made in this section gradually poses a question whether such consensus is any use in the status quo of mediation context. These terms seem to aid mediators to express an important component, yet at the same time need not to be used explicitly in order for the mediator to make a whole of his or her own argument. This analysis is further expanded in the next precept.

# 3.4.7 A sense of sacredness in the mediation session is not necessarily an indication that any specific religious doctrine or faith is being applied

As this is the seventh precept and religion, faith and spirituality have already been articulated at length thus far, this precept is only discussed briefly. Some mediators feel that there is an element of sacredness or something holy in their mediation sessions and express such feelings by using the terms spiritual and spirituality. However, such a reference is not necessarily an indication of their religious belief or faiths applied in their mediation practice (Zumeta, 1993).

Mediators described the experience as hard to explain, yet stated that something 'sacred' and 'holy' occurred at the time of solving disputes; in fact, one mediator described it as bringing "God into the room" (Jones, 2009: 156). While their descriptions did not make

reference to religious influences, others did openly acknowledge its influence where it was considered explicit, vital and significant for their practice (Mayer and Boness, 2011). The notion of sacredness is referred to in indigenous mediation where no explicit influence of religion is acknowledged (Walker, 2001b). As discussed in the second precept, mediators who use those terms to describe their views on mediation are, at a time, different from or the same as faith-based mediators.

The realisation of sacredness reflects these mediators' sacred meaning which is their non-discriminatory attitude towards any individual spiritual beliefs (Menkel-Meadow, 2001) that bring the clients' consciousness to somewhere higher (Gold, 1997 and 2002; Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009: 14; Umbreit, 2012), including but not limited to religious faiths including gods, divines, deity, goddess and "whatsoever name" in world's religions (Smith, 2010; see also Gold, 2003: 202). For a matter of convenience, the present thesis tentatively categorises all of these as 'Something Great'. Good intentions for settlements bring about a consciousness shift to a higher level, where mediators feel something sacred and holy. This then offers an explanation about why 'god' should be spelled with two 'o's in conflict resolution practice acknowledging spirituality (Menkel-Meadow, 2001: 1087). The successful induction of their clients' sense of Something Great in their mediation sessions was described as causing this shift to a higher level where Something Great and harmony exist.

To avoid misunderstanding, the sense of harmony is not limited to mediation which is described with reference to the terms spiritual or spirituality (Roberts and Palmer, 2005; Roberts, 1992). The difference is the sense of holiness or sacredness that mediators describe feeling at the time of the settlement, as a result of the described 'shift' occurring. This is what distinguishes their practice from other mediation, including the transformative model, although any mediators can 'nudge' their clients towards a settlement of the dispute (Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 67 and 157). However, due to the heavy references to transformation by those mediators who use spiritual or spirituality to describe what takes place in the mediation sessions, the next chapter will discuss in more detail the differences between their mediation practice and the transformative model (Bush and Folger, 1994).

In order to illustrate mediation described by mediators who refer to the spiritual or spirituality, the two axes that are used in peacebuilding and religious studies, are helpful. As discussed in Chapter 2, these two axes do not explain the same phenomena. In this discussion, of course, only the illustration has been assimilated but not the meanings. To 'nudge' clients to settlements in the mediation described by those terms, the relationship between the mediator and their disputing clients is on a horizontal axis and the relationship with Something Great is on a vertical one. The higher levels of the vertical line are expressed as the disputing clients settling the issue at stake; the mediator can feel the upward shift in their clients and feel a degree of connectedness with their clients who have made this shift to a higher level. Unlike in faith-based mediation, their sense of Something Great does not need to be suggested and recognised by the clients at all or to rest upon the same single faith or belief in the same mediation session.

Thus, each participant can bring their sense of Something Great within themselves, including the mediator, to the mediation session; the mediator's role is to help the client to recognise the difference between what they consider closer to their Something Great, if any, and the state of conflict in which they are in. However, it is entirely up to their clients to make any decisions in relation to their conflicting situation including a settlement of the dispute. This freedom to bring whatever they associate with Something Great, gives the clients a greater sense of self-determination in settling issues with their opponents with diverse backgrounds. In such a mediation session where a sense of sacredness together with safety exist, it is within the clients themselves to redress the power imbalances discussed in the previous subsection.

In a state of sacred consciousness which people can reach by using activities such as poetry, prayer and meditation, "our souls are open and we are sensitive to spiritual things. Sacred consciousness allows us to feel, experience, and know things we cannot access in the secular mode of consciousness" (Elkins, 1998: 88 by citing Tart, 1972; 1975; James, 1902: 388). The activities which Elkins (1998) describes using to reach sacred consciousness are matched to what those mediators recommend should be used to maintain their internal relationship with their true selves and also to sense their own Something Great (Bowling and Hoffman, 2003; Gold, 1993: 2003; Cloke, 2005; Umbreit, 2005). When the mediator approaches the spiritual dimension of mediation by using symbols, there are no cultural or faith barriers

because the communication becomes non-verbal (Fisher, 2000). Whereas Walker (1999, 2001 and 2007) maintains a distinction between the non-indigenous and indigenous peoples' spiritualities, the analysis so far reveals that there are many commonalities among *human beings* when considering spirituality in the context of mediation.

However, in order to feel or experience spirituality in this context, all people involved need to communicate with one another by using a common language. This commonality in their spoken language may hinder the commonality of spirituality in the context where each party does not speak the common language fluently or understand it at all. Fisher's (2000) experience with using symbols in mediation highlights how such tools can overcome communication barriers but also the fact that a settlement happens as a result of reaching the spiritual dimension, which is expressed as one's soul.

In a realisation of the importance of constantly accessing what they cannot normally know in the secular mode of human consciousness through those activities, non-verbal communication or communication through symbols allow Fisher (2000) to identify the clients' souls (see also, Wolf, 2017). Mediators need to maintain sacred consciousness through self-reflective activities such as moment of silences, prayer, yoga, Tai-chi or meditation in their daily lives because the mediator needs to be able to feel and recognise shifts in their clients' consciousness during the mediation sessions (Gold, 2003; Hoffman and Wolman, 2013; Jones, 2009; Roche, 2013; Umbreit, 1997; 2012).

The illustration of how the secular state of our consciousness can shift to a sacred state, describing the process is as follows: "under certain circumstances our consciousness shifts along a continuum to a point at which it becomes receptive to the "inflow" of supernatural energies [...t]he mind curists effectively demonstrated that mystical states of consciousness enable us to become continuous with higher metaphysical worlds" (Fuller, 2001: 56-57 citing James, 1902). In mediation sessions, those who are going through such tragic experiences are clients, not the mediators. This description by Fuller (2001) of how consciousness shifts to a sacred state provides supports for what other mediators have stated as happening with their clients in the mediation sessions (see also, Gold, 2003). However, there is no account from their clients to support the same. In this sense, the present thesis argues that the experiences of those mediators whose practice is spiritual and who are attuned to the sacred

during their mediation sessions should not be equated with mystical experiences. This discussion, that the states of sacred consciousness in mystical senses are unlikely happening during any mediation sessions, takes place in the following chapter.

Although Jones (2009) reported that her research observers had been able to judge when such spiritual moments began during the mediation, the significance of the notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation would not question whether it is possible to study empirically or prove that the spiritual dimension increases the probability of successful outcomes. As in the discussion about the transformative model, the desired outcomes of mediation, which mostly means settling the dispute, are secondary to any models and approaches to mediation (Umbreit, 2001). What matters to mediators is the expected effectiveness of the models applied in leading clients to the desired outcomes. The precepts discussed thus far raise the question whether mediators who refer to spirituality in the context of mediation and describe their mediation experiences by using these terms, can be said to share a model of mediation. Yet according to their own discussions, no mediation model has been formed to categorise these mediators. This is further discussed in the next subsection.

## 3.4.8 When the terms spiritual or spirituality are used by mediators, they do not form a particular mediation model

What has become apparent so far in the discussion of this section is that when mediators refer to the terms spiritual or spirituality, this is an indication and a description of one component in their practice. This is why, as each article shows, even when using the same terms, mediators can and will be conveying something different. Nonetheless, given that they share those terms as a commonality, this discussion considers whether the practices described by these mediators can be categorised into one mediation model.

As shown in 3.3 above, Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit do not share the same practice model, even though Umbreit (1997 and 2001) has highly praised Gold's (1993) healing paradigm. Furthermore, as shown in his video lecture which was translated in Japanese by Ishihara (2017b), the terms spiritual or spirituality are not required to explain what he calls the humanistic model (Umbreit, 1997 and 2001; Lewis and Umbreit, 2015) or humanistic approach to mediation (Ishihara, 2017b). Similarly, Gold (2003) only uses these terms to describe the four components of her healing paradigm, not the paradigm itself. Her focus is

primarily and predominantly on leading her clients to settlements in the mediation sessions through healing.

Other authors who use those terms do not share a practice model or practice principles. To name a few, in indigenous mediation, which has been described in terms of spirituality, the communities mentioned are including, but not limited to, Aboriginal, Canadian First Nation, Native-American, Native-Hawaiian and Maui. Among those, at least two wheels of mediation models, which have been explicitly introduced by Huber (1993) and Barnes (1994), and ho'oponopono, which has been traditionally used in Native-Hawaiian communities (Goldberg and Blancke, 2012), are now known as an established mediation method. In the non-indigenous mediation context, these terms are used to explain mediation techniques (Cloke, 2005; Matthews-Giba, 2000; Saposnek, 1993), tools (Tauscher, 2003 and Nun, 2011) and approaches (Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009; Jurevic, 2000; Nan, 2011; Roche, 2012; Umbreit, 1997 and 2012; and Wolf, 2017). These terms are also described as something which can be a part of any mediation models (Roche, 2017).

Despite the differences observed between indigenous and non-indigenous mediation, authors in both mediation contexts use spirituality to describe the nature of mediation as something beyond mediation techniques, methods or strategies which use rituals, symbols, or language (Chupp, 1993; Gold, 1993 and 2002; Jones, 2009; Umbreit, 2012). In the context of mediation where mediation theories are not extended to who mediator is, a shared sense of the importance or influence of the mediator's spirituality on the client does not mean a shared practice model. In other words, the terms spiritual or spirituality refer to a component that is embedded in being a mediator.

Aside from whether use of those terms equates with a shared model, each author does not repeat other authors' accounts to express their independent views and opinions in their publications. Even on the rare occasion where the authors use the same terms and share some commonalities, thereby enabling the generation of the precepts discussed in this chapter (Gold, 1993 and 2002; Umbreit, 1997 and 2001), these publications and the authors who use those terms, discuss a wide range of topics. The diversity in the overall arguments in which the terms of spiritual or spirituality appear, is problematic, especially with regards to the second precept; for some authors, spirituality included religion, for others it did not;

for some, they overlapped while others used the two terms interchangeably. As a result, when those terms are used in the context of mediation, the relationship between the two needs to be clarified.

In summary, when the terms spiritual or spirituality are used frequently in English language publications on mediation, authors use those terms to put forward very different arguments. Based on the way that these terms are used, it is not possible to identify a common spiritual model of mediation. Instead, in the context of mediation, the terms spiritual or spirituality describe just one component which is a part of a whole. This component is described in different ways, thereby influencing the specific meaning spirituality has as a component in each mediator's practice.

# 3.5 Remarks and issues arising in the findings of textual analyses

Considering the term spirituality as a symbolic metaphor that expresses our world's capacity for transformation and metamorphosis, King (1996) argues that the meaning of the term spirituality changes depending on who uses the term and points out that its flexibility or ambiguity allows its users to both reflect on and challenge institutionalised thoughts such as religions. By analysing articles by mediators in the English language, the present thesis has explored the spiritual or spirituality as an embedded minor component in describing mediation practice. Based on the discussions thus far, the subsections that follow summarise the main points that emerge from the textual analysis.

#### 3.5.1 Identified remarks

#### 3.5.1.1 Spirituality as something to overcome the differences in disputes

Not only Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) but also other mediators who use the terms spiritual or spirituality to describe mediation, seem to view that their inner self or consciousness contributes to the settling of disputes, by drawing out something sacred in their mediation clients during the sessions in which a safe space is created. Settlements of disputes occur when they feel a sense of connectedness, which some describe as something 'sacred' or 'holy' happening at the time. Although in indigenous mediation there is no reference to a shift in consciousness to a higher level and in non-

indigenous mediation, the ancestors are not called upon in solving disputes, nor the spiritual power is used by the elders who conduct mediation, the spiritualities of both indigenous and non-indigenous mediations have become much alike in their definitions. When using those words to describe mediation practice, however, there are also differences in the meanings of those words depending on the authors, who each use those through their perspectives that are based on their mediation and personal experiences.

One commonality among the writers who speak of mediation in relation to spirituality is that their views are based on their past experiences. Their professional input is based solely on their retrospective views and are not proactive. While their suggestions contribute to the development of mediation practices, their accounts do not guarantee that spirituality is effective in achieving settlements and should be taken only as a way of describing their mediation practice and mediation experiences albeit their professional inputs are significant since based on their actual mediation experiences. While all the other articles and commentaries referred to in this chapter contain the authors' or participating mediators' voices regarding their mediation experiences, Roche (2017) is the only author who does not include either experiences. However, Roche (2017) referred the other articles such as Cloke (2005), Jones (2009) and Nun (2011) which were written based on the authors' mediation experiences. Even in such academic arguments, spirituality is acknowledged to become a part of any mediation models.

The term spirituality as used by non-indigenous mediators seems to express mediators' motivation to settle their clients' issues by shifting the clients' perceptions or ways of thinking to a higher level. Such shifts in client perception happen, according to the mediators, via an inner connectedness between the conflicting parties and their mediator during the mediation sessions. The quality of the mediator's relationship with their inner self influences how the mediator forms interpersonal relationships with other people, including their clients. However, it is hard to ignore that such an observation on their clients described by the terms spiritual or spirituality was only from the mediators' point of views, and not of their clients who settled their disputes in such a mediation. This point is important to emphasise as will be discussed further in the following chapter.

Both Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit focus on the similarities rather than the differences between the indigenous and non-indigenous peoples. It is also noticeable that indigenous spirituality has been introduced to non-indigenous mediation and that mediators in non-indigenous mediation draw on the practices and belief systems of indigenous spirituality in their mediation practice. The access to non-indigenous mediation by indigenous peoples without restricting their cultures has already been discussed in Chapter 1. In such an intersected era of multiple spiritualities, the precepts that have been generated based on Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) highlight that focusing more on commonalities than on differences leads to settlements and that one component of such commonalities is expressed by using the term spirituality. When symbols helped to settle the issues in both non-indigenous and indigenous mediation (Fisher, 2000), such symbols allow to bridge the differences by focusing on the same, which is spirituality.

#### 3.5.1.2 Spirituality as one component of the whole argument

Spirituality is a component, not the whole of their arguments. Each author had their own purpose for publishing their articles. In order to share their past mediation experiences with others, they used the term rather symbolically to emphasise its importance in their practice. Where such symbolisation is not necessary, as it is not a significant component to the argument, similar claims are made but without using the term. Mark S. Umbreit himself does not always refer to spirituality when explaining his Humanistic Mediation Model (see for instance, Ishihara, 2017b).

Because there is a strong nexus between theology and the study of spirituality, <sup>97</sup> the following definition of spirituality proposed by Wolfteich (2012: 335) encapsulates what these mediators try to express by using the terms spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation: "[s]pirituality is a life animated by the Spirit of God, practiced with love, holiness, and justice. It is a life both received through grace and built up over time through the cultivation of practices in a sustaining community". Spirituality in both indigenous and non-indigenous mediation practice seem to share common traits with spirituality identified by de Souza (2016) making an extensive cross-reference to many disciplines but not including mediation.<sup>98</sup>

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 97}$  As discussed in Chapter 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup>de Souza (2016: 346) identified the key traits of contemporary spirituality across multi-disciplines as, "connectedness of self to other people, to the natural world and environment, and to the universe". She described this spirituality as a part of being human regardless of their religious or non-religious beliefs and not necessarily limited to preserved religiosity.

However, the present thesis proposes that such attempts to generalise spirituality across different disciplines merely scrape the surface in terms of how spirituality is actually applied in each academic discipline. For instance, mediators' ways of applying their spirituality may not work in Nursing where 'spiritual' care has been practised and developed since ancient times (Tanyi, 2002: 500). <sup>99</sup> In order to understand the meanings of spirituality as it is applied in one context, the analysis should focus on the particular context rather than attempting to cross-reference with sources from other academic disciplines.

The cross-references conducted by de Souza (2016) are, however, productive when there is an already established consensus existing with regards to the meanings of spirituality used in one context. This was what Horie's (2019) latest research did to generate the meaning of transliterated spirituality by cross-referencing both Japanese and English resources published in psychology and sociology of religions. By analysing Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) whose references of spirituality were translated into the Japanese language, this research has focused on the commonalities in the two authors' publications to generate the core precepts. Simultaneously, the differences in their arguments have also been highlighted. Reference to other publications which also use the terms spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation has contributed to deeper and more comprehensive discussion. There were as many similarities as differences among those mediators' publications. When citing those terms spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation in which such an already established consensus does not exist yet, the users of those terms need to describe what they mean by those terms.

When settlements occur, the mediators referred to in this chapter state that they feel a connectedness is created between themselves and their clients and a change or shift in their clients' perception or consciousness. Their publications appear to be professional dialogues, sharing such experiences so that their fellow mediators can expand the approach, technique

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> In the field of Nursing, 'spirituality' is defined as "a personal search for meaning and purpose in life, which may or may not be related to religion. It entails connection to self-chosen and or religious beliefs, values, and practices that give meaning to life, thereby inspiring and motivating individuals to achieve their optimal being. This connection brings faith, hope, peace, and empowerment. The results are joy, forgiveness of oneself and others, awareness and acceptance of hardship and mortality, a heightened sense of physical and emotional well-being, and the ability to transcend beyond the infirmities of existence" (Tanyi, 2002: 506). This lengthy definition is necessary in Nursing because of the caring relationship between health care practitioners, including nurses and their patients. Surprisingly, de Souza (2016) does not include Nursing or other Health Professions such as hospice or mental health institutions in her analysis. As a result, articles such as Egan et al. (2011) and Tanyi (2002) remain outside her "constructions of spirituality" (de Souza, 2016: vii) although her attempts are important and progressive.

and quality of mediation that they describe as having a spiritual dimension. Some incorporate spirituality into their mediation practice models (Barnes, 1994; Huber, 1993; Umbreit, 1997 and 2012) while others see it as a part of a mediator's professional quality (to name a few, Chupp, 1993; Gold, 1993 and 2003; Jones, 2009; Zumeta, 1993 and 2017). Spirituality in the context of mediation can therefore also be viewed as a part of cultural practice or embedded in religious faiths (Mayer and Boness, 2011; Matthews-Giba, 2000; Walker, 2001, 2001b and 2007) or as spiritual 'intelligence' (Goldberg and Blancke, 2012), in other words as part of the mediator's being.

Taking those points, spirituality is forming a component of each whole argument.

#### 3.5.1.3 Spirituality does not combine mediation with psychotherapy

With regards to respecting their clients' decision-making processes, mediation and psychotherapy have been described by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2002) as different professions, even though both professions which speak in either English or Japanese, are now using the same terms spiritual and spirituality (for example, see Walsh, 2009; Ishikawa, 2010; Horie, 2019). The present thesis has discovered through its textual analysis that, in the context of mediation in which spirituality is referred to, mediator and client are in equal positions and do not receive each other's care. Clients retain their self-autonomy in making their own decisions and mediators respect their clients' decision-making processes, while recognising the importance of positively influencing them through their presence, which was expressed as 'being'.

To be more specific, Umbreit's (2001) humanistic mediation, which is grounded in the paradigm of healing, benefits clients emotionally but the process "is not psychotherapy, nor does it require a mediator to have training in psychotherapy. Acknowledgment of brokenness or hurt is intrinsic [...but w]orking on that brokenness and dealing with past emotional issues contributing to these feelings [... are] the domain of therapists, not mediators" (Umbreit, 2001: 7). Goldberg (2016) also explicitly differentiates mediation from psychology, without denying the influence of the latter on the former. Mediation clients do not require psychological treatment for their independent decision-making processes (Umbreit, 2001). The issues discussed in mediation "are not regarded as symptoms of psychopathology, nor are the parties regarded as suffering from incapacities that render therapeutic intervention necessary" (Roberts, 2014: 25). Mediators do not undertake or

assume a leadership role in mediation sessions either, because, "the supremacy of the parties' meanings and decision-making authority" are not and should not be invaded by the mediator undertaking the session (Roberts, 2014: 25 to 26).

Psychotherapists can deal with people who are emotionally and psychologically unstable as individuals by having lost control over themselves due to various factors which include conflict with other people. In therapy, the therapist will expect to not only be involved with their client's worldview, but also support and guide them to stand alone in their own worldview to enable them to face their external world, by taking a leadership role in the sessions (Roberts, 2014: 26). On some occasions, therapists may need to lead their clients to a new worldview by defining what their issues are during the session (Roberts, 2014: 25). In West's view (2004: 55), such a task is necessary to hold "much good" psychotherapists' work "in an altered state of consciousness for both client and therapist".

By contrast, mediators give disputing clients a 'nudge' to make the transition to the different level of worldview which the clients have not yet reached (Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 67). Although some influences from psychotherapy toward spirituality referred to in the context of mediation have become apparent in the analysis presented in this thesis (for example, Gold, 1993 and 2003; Goldberg, 2016; Umbreit, 2001), this should be described as only an intersection between those two professions and not an overlap. The mediation profession is somewhere in, "a space bounded by the path of law, psychology, and the various wisdom traditions" (Hoffman, 2006: 472).

Based on above arguments, mediation analysed in the present thesis is different from psychotherapy. This point is important to argue the suitability of transliterated spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.<sup>100</sup>

#### 3.5.1.4 Spirituality used in mediation is not commodified

Lastly, the applications of spirituality in the context of mediation do not form any particular model of mediation practice or categorise mediators who draw on spirituality in their practice into one group. The use of spirituality described in the context of mediation does not imply any commercialisation or commodification to offer mediation service. This can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> As discussed in Chapter 1 and 2, the same term has been widely used to describe therapists' practice in Japan.

seen as due to the inherently context bound nature of spirituality. As evident in the second and third precepts, there is no shared description or professional consensus as to what exactly the spirituality of mediation is and how it influences on who or how to mediate. This is a clear indication of the nature of spirituality concerning the context. It does not form the whole of any argument regarding mediation practice.

A mediator's spirituality does not suggest building a connection intentionally between the mediator and the client to achieve a settlement. Hence, references to the terms spiritual or spirituality do not form a practice model or a category of mediators. Views range from those who consider this component as a part of the mediator or human being, to those who incorporate it into their mediation practice as a part of a mediation model (for example, Umbreit, 1997; Roche, 2017), motivation to practice (Nun, 2011), nature of mediation (Jones, 2009), paradigm (Gold, 1993 and 2003), technique (Cloke, 2005), tool (Fisher, 2000) and so on. Because it is a noncommodified component or aspect, there is a degree of flexibility in how each mediator acknowledges, recognises or applies the terms spiritual and spirituality in their argument.

Umbreit (2001: 6) rightly argues, whether the clients settle their issues is secondary to the process, not just in mediation that refers to spirituality but in any mediation model. The term is used to describe what happens in the mediation session although viewed as playing an important part in achieving a settlement. While Umbreit (1997 and 2001) admitted Carl Rogers's client centred therapy established in Humanistic Psychology offers significant connotations to Humanistic Mediation Model, he does not acknowledge other Humanistic psychologists such as Gordon Allport, Abraham Maslow, or Analytical psychologists including Carl J. Jung whose spirituality were discussed as a part of an argument on how privatised religion being commodified by psychologising spirituality in Carrette and King (2005). The main difference is now identified by this research as that spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit only forms a part of their main arguments which were described as paradigm or model of mediation, while the privatised religion expressed by psychologising spirituality became a commodity (Carrette and King, 2005). Again, to emphasise, Umbreit (1997 and 2001) clearly denied his mediation model to be confused with Psychotherapy.

Nonetheless, analysis of mediators' written debates concerning spirituality has made it possible to generate some core precepts of the terms used by the two authors, Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, whose references to spirituality share more commonalities than differences. The purpose of generating the eight precepts was in order to consider the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations in the subsequent chapter. However, the discussion in this chapter has clarified that such precepts do not represent a shared description of mediation service or mediator's practice model but only reflect what Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2002) expressed based on their mediation experiences.

#### 3.5.2 Discovered issues

Based on what has been discovered through textual analyses, there seem to be two points which require further clarification before discussing the precepts in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

#### 3.5.2.1 How exactly is this different from the transformative mediation?

The first issue is the difference between what Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) describe when using the terms spiritual and spirituality and Bush and Folger's (1994) transformative mediation model. Careful attention must be paid especially to Umbreit's (1997 and 2001) accounts of introducing this model as a foundation of his humanistic mediation model as well as a humanistic approach in Japanese language (Fujioka, 2007; Ishihara, 2017b).<sup>101</sup>

The transformative mediation model is widely recognised and used in the Japanese context (Wada, Ando, and Tanaka, 2015; Wada and Nakanishi, 2016; Wada and Otsuka, 2014; Science Council of Japan, 2008; Yoshida, 2009). Meanwhile, Umbreit's (1997) humanistic model, which was influenced by and in developed parallel to the transformative model (Lewis and Umbreit, 2015), also described as a humanistic approach (Ishihara, 2017b), was introduced to Japan by using transliterated spirituality. If those two different models share the recognition of a transformative aspect, an important element in mediation, the introduction itself seems to be unnecessary and confusing. Where mediators describe their mediation using the framework of transformative mediation, the introduction of transliterated spirituality in the Japanese mediation context is likely to confuse and mislead

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Please also see Lewis and Umbreit (2015) for their arguments on the differences between these two models.

Japanese speaking mediators as well as their clients because transformative model does not apply the terms spiritual or spirituality in its description yet recognises the importance of transformation during a mediation session to settle the dispute.

Nonetheless, identifying the models that are being applied helps prospective mediation users to choose a suitable mediator, although specifying the applied mediation model does not necessarily guarantee that the mediator will adhere to that specific model. Spirituality as a phenomenon in the mediation context can be described without relying on any models of mediation and indeed, some mediators describe similar experiences without using the terms spiritual or spirituality. They prefer not to describe their practice by the terms even when they recognise as such in their practice (Jones, 2009).

Again, a reasonable approach to avoid the confusion would be to inform prospective users about the nature of their own mediation practice. Mediators who consider their mediation practice as spiritual are thus expected to apply the terms as a part of the description (Jurevic, 2000). For example, although in the indigenous mediation such as used by Australian Aboriginal, the First Nation in Canada, Native American, and Native Hawaiian, their spiritualities are expressed as a part of their mediation processes. The users of each mediation regardless used in the indigenous or non-indigenous context will be made aware of the specific approach in which such spirituality is applied.

The same applies to Japanese speaking mediators because of the term's context-bound nature and thus, the ambiguous meanings of the Japanese equivalences used by the translators of Gold and Umbreit's work. Because the transformative model has already been used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, should the mediator wish to share the notion of using spirituality in the Japanese mediation context, they need to be able to explain the differences in the shifts described by the term spiritual and spirituality and in the transformative model. Once shared with the clients, such mediation referring to these terms will then become a faith-based mediation. Even then, the differences between the transformation described in the faith-based mediation and the transformative model need

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> For example, Honeyman, Goh and Kelly (2004: 491) reported an instance in Minnesota, USA, in which mediators who had originally been trained by the same organisation in the use of the 'elicitive' model, gradually shifted their practice to the 'evaluative' model as discussing monetary terms. Whether such a transition was consciously made by the trained mediators or whether their practice preferences changed over time rather unintentionally, is said to be unknown (Honeyman, Goh and Kelly, 2004).

to be clarified because faith-based mediation can apply transformative model if necessary. In addition, as Umbreit (2001) claims, issues regarding spirituality need not to be initiated by a mediator. If this is the case, the notion published as a part of Umbreit's mediation book by using transliteration and *seishin* remains unexplained. The reader can mistake what Umbreit claims by the terms spiritual or spirituality for a variant of transformative model.

The differences between what mediators describe with those terms and the transformative model require further analysis by cross-referencing their precepts of their mediation to the transformative model. Without distinguishing those two, prospective Japanese-speaking users cannot make an informed choice about whether they want to integrate spirituality into their mediation, and if so, how (Goldberg and Blancke, 2011: 386; Goldberg and Blancke, 2012: 464). Conversely, Japanese mediators remain uncertain of the meanings of the notion of spirituality as introduced by way of translation in their own profession and cannot judge whether their practice can be described in those terms. Such confusion interferes with client self-determination in mediation (Goldberg and Blancke, 2012: 464), and undermines the trust that is a vital element in creating safe spaces in mediation (Poitras, 2009).

Therefore, the next chapter discusses the similarities and differences between mediation described by the terms spiritual and spirituality by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) and the transformative model.

#### 3.5.2.2 Is this an indication of mysticism in the mediation context?

The second is the relationship between the spirituality identified in the context of mediation and mysticism. <sup>104</sup> Mediators whose publications have been analysed in this chapter do not use terms such as 'mystical', 'mysticism', or 'mystic' to describe their mediation practice. Nun (2011) explicitly distinguishes between the two. However, Gold (1993: 64; 2003: 204 emphasis added) describes the client's state as "almost trancelike" and due to this receptivity, a suggestive relationship exists between the mediator and clients. This is her illustration of her clients in the mediation session in which uses language associated with the spiritual, what Umbreit (2001) describes as the language of soul. In this regard, Umbreit (2001) strongly emphasises the importance of non-verbal communication.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Cf. Jurevic (2000) and Walker (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Please refer Waaijman (2002: 355-357 and 674-687) for the detailed discussions regarding mysticism.

So, although mystical experiences may be distinct from what is referred to as spiritual in the context of mediation, 105 there are seemingly certain links or resemblances that can be seen in the language of mediators in their publications. Mysticism, which portrays itself against the background of spiritual exercises (Waaijman, 2002: 675), is a relational process between God and human being and, if spirituality is viewed as mysticism, the notion conflicts with rationality (Waaijman, 2002: 357). If any of the mediators discussed in this chapter were to experience or exhibit mystic phenomena during a mediation session at all, it would not be hard to imagine how their clients might have responded. If the mediators only use the terms spiritual and spirituality in a more contemporary sense, an overlap between spirituality and mysticism should not be identified. It is therefore important to clarify the distinction between the two.

#### 3.6 Conclusion

The textual analysis presented in this chapter shows that mediators describe the effectiveness of settling disputes by using the term spirituality as a part of their whole arguments. What the mediators try to express by these terms largely something to do with their past experiences. In order to discuss this with their prospective clients, both mediators and their clients need to understand what those terms mean in the context of mediation. However, the analysis shows that, because spirituality is only a component of their mediation experiences or practices as expressed in the English language, it is embedded in the language of mediation to describe their professional arguments instead of bearing a shared meaning (Hense, 2011). This discovery indicates that its meaning is very individual and hard to consolidate as one definite definition applicable to the profession.

By generating core precepts based on the publications by Lois Gold (1993 and 2003) and Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001), the analysis discovered commonalities as well as differences across the meanings of the terms spiritual or spirituality which can be supported by other authors in the context of mediation. This research's findings in the context of mediation also appear in line with the view put forward by la Cour, Ausker, and Hvidt (2012). In the context of mediation, because the meaning of spirituality is user-dependent, it thus may contain, support or deny institutionalised religions (King, 1996). While generating a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> This point by Jesper (2011) was raised in Chapter 1.

commonality of the term spiritual or spirituality across different disciplines is possible (see, for instance, de Souza, 2016), more disciplines are involved in such attempts, the shallower the common meaning of the term 'spirituality' may become. This point has been shared by King (1996: 344) who warned that the term spirituality will bear more difficulties as it gets wider clarification because of its flexibilities or ambiguities in its meaning. This chapter discovered that the same concerns exist even within the same context, English-speaking mediation due to the variety of cultures being involved in the context.

Furthermore, by using the terms spiritual and spirituality as one component, they try to convey their arguments as whole rather than to create something commodified such as a category of mediation service. What generated as the precepts in this chapter can be shared with their prospective clients to conduct faith-based mediation; however, Umbreit (2001) stressed mediators should not initiate the spiritual aspect. Mediators who have written accounts of what happened during their mediation sessions, simply felt and shared with others in writing that settlements were achieved in part though the mediator's own will power obtained or deepened by awareness of their own inner self.

The notion of using spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation seems to be shared with, understood by, emerge and be developed by fellow mediators. Indeed, as Ishikawa (2010) indicates for the use of transliterate spirituality in psychotherapy, the users of spirituality in the context of mediation as well seem to do so because they are so passionate to describe their ineffable, hard to word experiences. When some or all the core precepts are available in a mediation session, such mediation seems to be described with reference to the terms spiritual or spirituality. In the subsequent chapters of the present thesis, these precepts are used to examine whether the notion of spirituality used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) is accurately perceived, understood and discussed in the Japanese language. Although commonalities have been found, it is important not to overlook differences in their published opinions or views on mediation despite using the same terms. Overall, the use of the terms spiritual and spirituality is an indication of something important yet hard to describe existing in the user's experiences.

Finally, some important points need to be reiterated in the arguments that are developed in the next chapter. The next chapter addresses two issues. Firstly, it describes the differences between the transformative model of mediation and what the mediators describe when using the terms spiritual or spirituality. Secondly, it discusses whether the mediation described by those terms are any indication of mysticism.

# 4 Some clarifications for the findings of the textual analysis

#### 4.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to clarify some of the findings of Chapter 3. The transformative model and perceptions of spirituality in contrast to mysticism are discussed drawing on the eight precepts generated from references made to the terms spiritual or spirituality in the work by Lois Gold (1993 and 2003) and Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001). Thus, this discussion does not claim to offer any generalisation regarding the references of those terms in the context of mediation but focuses on the two authors' claims, although other authors' publications are used to support their arguments.

Bush and Folger's (1994) transformative model is widely used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. There are strong similarities between the way the two authors describe their mediation and the transformative model. When the two authors used the terms spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation, references were made to shifting clients' consciousness to the higher level when settling disputes (Gold, 1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (2005) claimed his model of mediation had developed in parallel to the transformative mediation. It is therefore unclear in what ways what they are describing is distinctively different from transformative mediation. This chapter first discusses the similarities and differences between mediation described by the terms spiritual or spirituality and transformative mediation.

Secondly, according to Jones (2016), the modern philosopher of mysticism, the state of mysticism is something directly experienced by the subject him or herself through the visions, auditions and any other sensory systems. Gold describes her client's state during mediation sessions as "almost trancelike" (Gold, 1993: 64 and 2003: 204). What Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit referred in their publication were the state of settlements happened in their mediation sessions as a result of shifting their consciousness to a higher level.

This description of a moment of settlement, which brings about a long-lasting transformed state, is very similar to a description of mystical experiences found in Jones (2016), drawing

on William James (1902). However, Jones (2016) further denied calling the experiences as trances. In addition, Waaijman (2002) argued that the overlap between mysticism and spirituality means an indication of being in contradiction of rationality. If the overlap occurs in mediation, it will undermine the rational basis of the practice. As referred in Chapter 1, the modern usage of the term spirituality does not always and necessarily mean to be mysticism of the world's religions (Jespers, 2011).

Hence, the second discussion is about whether those mediators' applications of those terms in the context of mediation is an indication of mysticism. Should it differ, then their usages of the terms spiritual and spirituality in the context of mediation are categorised as something modern and contemporary and distinguished from the traditional use of the terms. This second discussion is particularly important for this research concerning the Japanese language. <sup>106</sup>

By clarifying these two points, this chapter aims to further enhance the understanding of what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit try to convey in their publications by using the terms spiritual or spirituality.

## 4.2 Mediation described with the terms spiritual or spirituality and transformative model

For mediators who use the transformative model, disputes have the negative power to cause self-absorption and self-centredness, which have been described as weaknesses (Bush and Pope, 2002: 74 and 80). Transformative mediators therefore help their clients move from weakness to strength by making a shift to responsiveness towards the opposite party in the dispute, eventually reaching a settlement. Transformative mediation describes such transformation of their clients occurs as a result of, "the empowerment and recognition shifts that the parties themselves make" (Bush and Pope, 2002: 82-83). However, while settlement can be achieved without any intervention from the third party (Bush and Folger, 1994: 106-107; Bush and Pope, 2002: 80), transformation has also been identified as hard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> As mentioned in Chapter 1, Sakurauchi (1997) translated the English term spiritual as *shinpi* (神秘). These two Japanese *kanji* letters are used as *shinpi-shugi* (神秘主義) meaning 'mysticism'.

for clients to make on their own, thus the need for transformative mediators (Bush and Pope, 2002: 82-83; Bush and Folger, 1994: 99-104, 275-276).

In mediation where applies transformative model, mediators support their clients to come to their own conclusions and settlements if they wish and do not evaluate their dispute nor their circumstances in the way that a lawyer or judge does (Bingham, 2012: 358). Transformative mediators believe that their clients using their mediation service might find "a better alternative" to negotiation between themselves or submission before a judge in court (Bush and Pope, 2002: 68-69). The transformative model also respects communication between the disputing clients, values mediator empowerment of clients, and encourages clients to recognise their counter parties' perspectives (Bingham, 2012: 358). <sup>107</sup> Clients expect their mediator to help reverse "the downward spiral and restoring a more humane quality to their interactions" that was present before coming into conflict with the other party at least for the period of attending the mediation sessions (Bush and Pope, 2002: 75).

When Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) expressed their views about mediation, their precepts seem to contain similar elements that are characteristics of the transformative mediation model. For example, a sense of connectedness between the mediator and their clients is experienced at the very moment of settlement. The clients' perceptions are seen as undergoing a transformation because of communication involving the mediator, which leads to a shift in consciousness to a higher or upper level.

However, certain claims made by those mediators using the terms spiritual or spirituality are clearly different from the transformative mediation model. Firstly, mediators who use those terms refer to the importance of the inner self and well-being of a mediator as directly influencing their relationship with their clients and the relationship between the clients. The mediator's inner relationship with the self has an impact on the quality of his or her external relationships, including with the clients. Secondly, those mediators acknowledge the influence of their internal perceptions towards their clients' cases. These points have been discussed and shared not only by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) but also by other mediators, as seen in Chapter 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup>Please see Walker (2001) and Jurevic (2000) for an example of where spirituality of mediation and the transformative mediation are compared and contrasted, although their arguments did not focus on the Japanese mediation context.

At the same time, mediators who refer to spirituality show no intention of forming a new model of mediation and cannot be categorised as a group of mediators because each mediator has their own opinions and values even though they may refer to the same terms. As a result, many models can be spiritual, and mediation described as such can be inclusive of many models (Roche, 2017). Jones (2009) even claims that mediation which is spiritual in nature is always appropriate in solving a dispute.

While spirituality was identified in indigenous mediation as one element in their practice (Huber, 1993; Shook and Kwan, 1987; Walker, 2001), some have integrated indigenous mediation's spirituality into a practice method so that to use in non-indigenous mediation (Barnes, 1994; Huber, 1993; Wolf, 2017). As seen in the recent application of ho'oponopono in the non-indigenous mediation (Goldberg and Blancke, 2011 and 2012), the application of each spirituality is not limited to a specific mediation context. The meaning of spirituality used in the context of mediation develops rather flexibly without referring to the previous articles published in the context (for example, Matthews-Giba, 2000 and Bobrowski, Timor, and Ronel, 2017). This seems to accelerate the inconsistent meanings of those terms used in the context of mediation. Simply acknowledging transformation as important in dispute settlements does not unconditionally make the transformative model spiritual in nature or vice versa.

Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that some mediators have described similar phenomenon to some of the precepts of spirituality in the context of mediation but without using those terms. The most obvious one is Umbreit himself, whose lecture makes no reference to the spiritual or to spirituality (Ishihara, 2017b). This means that his views not only exist independently from those terms but that the component expressed by using those terms can be decodified and embedded into other parts of his whole of argument. In his case, his humanistic mediation model or approach is the whole, which is certainly a different, separate model from the transformative mediation model. This illustrates that the component expressed by the terms spiritual and spirituality in Umbreit's humanistic mediation model is not the significant element to distinguish the two models. Not only that, the component, spirituality, is not even a main point to form the humanistic model since the model can be described without using the term.

The next example is Cobb (2001) who published an article in a special edition of the *Fordham Urban Law Journal* on law and spiritual value. In this issue, the editors stated that their focus was on the relationship between religion or moral values and legal methods of solving issues. In her contribution, Cobb (2001: 1017) shared what she calls a 'sacred' dimension to mediation:

[t]here have been times, during the course of a mediation, [...] when I have had the impression that something happens in the room, something that is more important than the agreement that is emerging, that the conflict is itself just a vehicle for the creation of something sacred, something whole, something holy.

Cobb struggles to find words to describe this ineffable aspect of her experience in the mediation session yet does not apply the terms spiritual and spirituality to describe the similar experience as Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) who show no hesitation to select these terms to do so. Cobb (2001) goes on to describe the place in which such a shift takes place as a 'sacred space'. Both Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997, 2001 and 2005) also associate the notion of the 'sacred space' with spirituality in their mediation practice. In other words, as seen in what Cobb (2001) described, what described as spirituality in mediation by Gold (1993 and 2002) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) can be expressed without using the terms spiritual or spirituality.

Cobb's description also highlights some differences between her mediation experience and the transformative mediation model. While a sense of sacredness or holiness is acknowledged by other mediators who use the terms spiritual and spirituality (Zumeta, 1993; Menkel-Meadow, 2001; Jones and Georgakopoulos, 2009; and Jones, 2009), they also make a distinction between the idea of sacredness or holiness providing a 'safe' space and the simple creation of such a space. Thus, while creating a safe space is recognised as important in transformative mediation (Barsky, 2016: 318), that recognition does not mean that mediators are being encouraged to acknowledge any sense of holiness or sacredness. By contrast, for Gold (1993 and 2003), awareness of the sacred, or of other terms associated with the spiritual, is an important factor in her healing paradigm. In other words, Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) refer to the spiritual or spirituality to emphasise this sense of sacredness or holiness in their mediation sessions which are a 'safe' space as a result.

Cobb (2001) also refers to the different levels in mediation. The first level involves working with the moral frameworks of disputing clients; the second level is to advance the morality which is the party's way of dealing with other people. The task of the mediator is then to reframe the disputing clients' moral frameworks (Cobb, 2001: 1033). A shift in the disputing clients' perceptions occurs and that shift leads to a successful outcome, that is a settlement (Cobb, 2001: 1032). Davis (1989) describes a successful outcome in mediation as 'magical'. By using the term 'magic', Cobb (2001: 1018) argues "what we take as "magic" is, in fact, a set of technical practices that yields shifts in interactional patterns". Although she does not make explicit reference to 'spirituality', which nonetheless is not the same as 'magic', her descriptions of the shifts in consciousness of the clients and the mediator's influence in bringing about that shift through their interaction with the clients, are similar to mediators who do refer to spirituality.

Nonetheless, the descriptions also appear to be different from the transformative model because of her use of words such as sacred and holy. The clients may reach an agreement to settle their issues because of the shift in consciousness or in their moral framework, yet reaching an agreement in mediation does not necessarily require a shift in the quality of her clients' relationship (Cobb, 2001: 1017). Such shifts are due to the constructed "nature of the reality" which "is dependent upon the nature of the descriptions that "observers" make of the system", and, thus, mediators as the "observers" can influence the context of the issues which are brought to their mediation sessions (Cobb, 2001: 1029).

Because settlements in mediation are possible without such a shift, not all mediation need to acknowledge described sacredness or holiness, to be spiritual, or to apply transformative model or any other models making the shifts as a result. Cobb's account of her experience as a mediator shows that the precepts discussed in the previous chapter can be expressed without reference to the terms spiritual or spirituality.

Another example is Moore (2014: 38):

[t]he mediator may focus on his or her energies on changing the psychological barriers to reaching understandings or agreements, or the interactions and relationships shared by multiple disputants, the negotiation process or the procedure being used by one or more people to resolve the dispute, or substantive barriers to

settlement – lack of informations  $^{108}$  different interpretations of date, limited acceptable options and so forth.

This extract comes not from a personal account of mediation but from the 4<sup>th</sup> edition of the classic mediation textbook originally published in 1986 (Moore, 2014). Although Moore does not explain further what he means by 'energies', there is an acknowledgement, based on his 'knowledge' as a mediator that such invisible, yet definite influences are present in mediation.

What emerges from those examples of Cobb and Moore is that the phenomenon described by those eight precepts in the previous chapter is partially different from the transformative model, can be a part of any mediation including the transformative model, and can also be expressed without using those terms. In other words, there are no clear-cut differences between mediators who used those terms and those who do not. As demonstrated in Cobb (2001) and Moore (2014), mediation which are described by the terms spiritual or spirituality may have already been illustrated by other authors without using such terms, although identifying such publications seems a huge, if possible at all, task, due to the breadth of the field of mediation.

Although some authors, including Huber (1993), Barnes (1994) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001), have attempted to create their own mediation models such as medicine wheel, pacific or humanistic models, based on their definitions of spirituality, those new models do not prevent other mediators from using those terms outside of their mediation models. This component labelled as spirituality is a symbolic tool for them to convey their understanding of the mediation process. Even then, that does not promise its user an exclusive right to use the label.

When it does not form that most important part of the argument a mediator is making, then the component might not be mentioned at all, as seen in Umbreit (Ishihara, 2017b) who in fact, at a later stage, removed the framework of a practice model from his humanistic model and, instead, called the same as a 'humanistic approach' (Lewis and Umbreit, 2015), Cobb (2001) or Moore (2014) as discussed above. Such a codification or symbolisation using the terms spiritual and spirituality is important at least for Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit. An

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> The spelling as in original.

application of transformative model using the shifts to settle the dispute is always being so labelled because the shift is its main argument and cannot be omitted from the model. Hence, it is, and will always be, an established practice model proposed by Bush and Folger (1994).

As discussed at the beginning of this chapter, Japanese scholars of mediation value the work of Umbreit (2001) and have introduced his mediation model and theory, together with Gold's (1993) work into the Japanese-speaking mediation context by translation. The terms spiritual and spirituality are thus included as only a part of the theories presented by these mediators. In addition, by arguing the similarities and differences between the transformative model and what are described by the terms spiritual and spirituality in the mediation context, this section has reiterated that spirituality can only be a component of mediation practice regardless of the model, approach or argument.

These points may not be reflected accurately by using transliterated spirituality which is also used for commodified spirituality such as 'spiritual' counselling in Japan. Similar references to cause a shift in order to settle by using the terms spiritual or spirituality also resemble the shift acknowledged in the transformative model and confuse the Japanese-speaking audience as though the terms create a new mediation model because of the existing bias given by commodified spirituality. It is, thus, hard to deny that the translation did not pay much attention on these terminologies such as the consequences of using the selected translation in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

The next section discusses the differences or similarities between spirituality and mysticism to ensure that the eight precepts do not appear to contradict of rationality (Waaijman, 2002: 357) and also to discover whether the term spirituality used in the context of mediation is a modern usage or traditional one (Jespers, 2011).

#### 4.3 Spirituality in the context of mediation and mysticism

Spirituality has been described by Nun (2011) as something independent from existing concepts such as mystical, peak or religious experiences. One participant she interviewed in her research states:

When someone asks me my religion my answer is usually, I'm a Jewish Christian Native-American Buddhist with undertones of Sufism. So I have studied in all of those arenas, I have practiced in all of those arenas, I have had what some would call mystical experiences in all of those arenas through all of those languages, you could call them languages or cultures, and they are all basically the same regardless of the differences in their outer forms, the essential teaching is the same: we are one, God is love, it's about relationships, it's about unity, it's about interdependence, it's about mutual responsibility... you could translate it into very concise ethical, moral, behavioral norms. (Nun, 2011: 54)

Because psychologised spirituality and mysticism have been seen as part of an emerging 'New Age' spirituality market, as well as one example of the silent take over by religion (Carrette and King, 2005), it is important to analyse whether spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit in the context of mediation is an indication of mysticism.

William James (1902) is often cited by Japanese authors articulating mysticism in modern Japan. This is because when mystical consciousness is discussed, the analyses of Western and Japanese philosophers are made based solely on their arguments rather than based on their cultural origins such as comparing cultural backgrounds (Roy, 2013; Ueda, 2008). When mystical consciousness is discussed, the writers' arguments are made based on certain philosophical or religious doctrines rather than the views that are dominant in the place or country in which they are geographically based (Roy, 2013). 109

This explains the reason Numata (1998) cites James to discuss mysticism in the Japanese academic context when concerning the function of religion in the society. Since the notion using spirituality in mediation has already been in the Japanese-speaking mediation context and the audience acknowledges mysticism described by citing James (1902), to begin with the analyses of this section firstly based on Western philosophers should justify the situation in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

James (1902: 329-330) defined mystical experiences as having four elements, which are ineffability, noetic quality, transiency and passivity. In further explanations of those terms, he (1902: 330) states that mystical experiences are such that the feeling or situation must

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> In Roy (2013), the comparisons were made between the views of Plotinus, Eckhart, Bohme, Schelling, and Heidegger in addition to Nishitani Keiji's interpretations of those regarding nothingness. However, those comparisons were not made based on where they were from but how they viewed nothingness. Roy (2003: 158) disagrees with Nishitani's opinions on Plotinus simply because his views were different from Nishitani's but not because Nishitani was a Japanese thinker; Roy (2003) certainly acknowledged the influence of Zen wisdom on Japanese scholars such as Nishitani, Hisamatsu Shin'ichi, and Daisetz Suzuki.

be personally experienced to understand, as it cannot be transferred to other people unless they directly experience it. Once one experiences it, it remains with the individual as knowledge, although the experience itself is transient.

If his definition stopped with the first three points, spirituality in the context of mediation as generated in Chapter 3 might well overlap with his definition of mystical experiences. However, the last element he identified describes what might happen to the individual during the mystical experience. James (1902:331) wrote, "when the characteristic sort of consciousness once has set in, the mystic feels as if his own will were in abeyance, and indeed sometimes as if he were grasped and held by a superior power. This latter peculiarity connects mystical states with certain definite phenomena of secondary or alternative personality, such as prophetic speech, automatic writing, or the mediumistic trance". During mediation sessions, mediators stay in charge. No mediator in Chapter 3 has described any of the "mystical states" that James mentions occurred to them.

Evelyn Underhill (2009/1911), whose work may now be described as a classic yet still remains relevant (Sheldrake, 2011: 32), offers her definition of mysticism as, "[a]II those so called "hallucinations of the senses" which appear in the history of mysticism must, then, be considered soberly, frankly, and without prejudice in the course of our inquiry into the psychology of man's quest of the Real" (Underhill, 2009/1911: page 200). Mysticism is, "the expression of the innate tendency of the human spirit towards complete harmony with the transcendental order; whether be the theological formula under which that order is understood. This tendency, in great mystics, gradually captures the whole field of consciousness" (Underhill, 2009/1911: location 196). In her view, mysticism is different from psychology, metaphysics, occult philosophy or psychic phenomena (Underhill, 2009/1911: location 172).

Underhill's definition of mysticism also appears different from what mediators describe as spirituality based on their experiences. Some of those mediators whose articles were analysed in Chapter 3 only claimed that they felt a shift to a higher level in consciousness. Although their feelings of relating to their clients through their consciousness may indeed be concerned with the field of consciousness, moments of feeling connected with their clients do not appear to be 'hallucinations'. Their account of 'feeling' connected to their

clients at the moment of settling the issues is their dialogue of the past experiences labelled as spirituality.

However, are their experiences described by the terms spiritual or spirituality also something akin to more contemporary mysticism which are outlined as follows? In a survey conducted in the USA to observe what people's 'mystical' experiences were like, Greeley and McCready (1975) found that for 55% of respondents it was a feeling of deep and profound peace; 48% described the certainty that all things would work out for the good; 43% defined it as a sense of a personal need to contribute to others, a conviction that love is at the centre of everything, and as a sense of joy and laughter; 39% described it as an experience of great emotional intensity; and 32% spoke of a mystical experience as a great increase in their understanding and knowledge (Greeley and McCready, 1975: 25).

What amounts to mystical experiences have also been discussed in studies that attempt to identify it with symptoms of psychopathology. <sup>110</sup> Those who report experiencing the paranormal, including mystical experiences such as being bathed in light (Greeley, 1987a, 1987b, and 1991), "are, for the most part, ordinary Americans, somewhat above the norm in education and intelligence and somewhat less than average in religious involvement" (Greeley, 1987a: 8). Greeley (1987b) also conducted a psychological test on people who had had mystical experiences using the Affect Balance Scale of psychological well-being to find that they achieved top scores. Mediators may well fall in these groups of people.

However, the 1975 survey by Greeley and McCready (1975) asked the participants who claimed to have had mystical experiences to check the closest descriptions given in the survey for their self-declared mystical experiences. Greeley and McCready (1975: 15) were interested in what population of the USA had experienced mystical experiences in addition to what the experiences were like; this remained the same for the 1987 poll. In other words, the surveys asked leading questions to its participants who possess a certain level of knowledge and intellectual abilities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> See for instance, Caird (1987), Castro, Burrows, and Wooffitt (2014), Greeley (1975), Greeley and McCready (1975), and Leslie, et al. (2015).

Then, one may start wondering whether and how the source used to generate those questions managed to eliminate the researcher's reflexivity. Because of such difficulties in formulating questions to define contemporary mysticism for the survey or interviews, which Greeley and McCready (1975) bluntly admitted in forming their survey questions, it is still wise to yield defining modern mysticism to contemporary philosophers since their arguments together with above discussed those traditional ones contribute to the modern understanding of what mystical experiences are like.

Similar to Underhill (2009/1911), Kakar (1991: 23-24) also supported a clear division between mysticism and hallucinations and suggested that the religious term 'vision' should be used to describe mystical experiences, although the central common feature of mysticism and religious vision was noted as "the intense affect they generate, an affect that endows them with their characteristic sense of noesis" (Kakar, 1991: 24). Simply put, the mediators cited in Chapter 3 express how they felt as mediator during a mediation session and one can easily imagine their feeling of being connected is, in a literal sense, feeling united with their clients through looking at the issue together and having a shared goal which is to settle the dispute.

More recently, Jones (2016) has discussed more current interpretations of mysticism, drawing on Otto (1932) and Stace (1960). Mystical experiences can be defined as something that people whose views are restricted to the material world have not experienced before and can be viewed as consisting of two dimensions: extrovertive and introvertive. The former is a sense of unity with the One perceived in an external world of oneself while the latter feels it as an inner subjectivity in all things including oneself (Jones, 2016: 6). Some commonalities of both types of mystical experiences are illustrated such as to reduce the ego-self; not to feel time; to focus on one's own consciousness; not to be able to express what is happening or has happened; to feel peace; to have positive feelings and no negative ones; to cognitively have touched definite reality and reached the fundamental nature of oneself (Jones, 2016: 6 by referring to Hood, 2002 and 2005).

Comparing these definitions of mysticism, one can see some connection with the experiences described by mediators themselves. The ineffability of what they have experienced, the reduction in if not total loss of own ego-self, and an insight of fundamental

reality, may have some resemblance to what mediators describe when using the terms spiritual or spirituality. However, mystical experiences are shaped by the experiencer's experiences, not the observers. What is described as spiritual or spirituality in Chapter 3 is based on accounts by mediators including Lois Gold and Mark S Umbreit in their roles as mediators, witnessing the settlement of disputes as a result of shifts in consciousness. In order to conclude that these are therefore mystical experiences, their clients who attended the sessions would need to claim the same phenomena independently. Such views were not apparent in the publications by not only Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) but also any other authors referred the terms spiritual and spirituality in their mediation articles.

In addition, Jones (2016) describes how the purpose of being mystical is, "to correct the way we live by overcoming our basic misconception of what is in fact real and thereby experiencing reality as it truly is, as best humanly possible" (Jones, 2016: 7 emphasis in the original). This point further differentiates mysticism and spirituality in mediation. In mysticism, the purpose is to pursue a mystical way of living. The majority of the authors analysed in Chapter 3 describe their mediation experiences as spiritual in nature yet the focus in the mediation session is solely on the clients trying to settle their issues, not the mediators pursuing a spiritual way of living through their work. It is the clients who may need to change or shift their consciousness so that to transform the way they see their issues by discussing with the other parties in the dispute to reach a settlement. Although Jones (2016) described mystical experiences as involving a shift to another level to transform the state of the person for a long-lasting effect, no clients' accounts of what happened are cited by any authors who use the term spiritual or spirituality in their mediation publication. In using those terms, they refer only to their perception of the client's process as a mediator; their wordings published do not come from their clients.

Although Gold's (1993: 64; 2003: 204) subjective account regarding the 'almost trancelike' state of her clients during her mediation sessions may resemble mystical, such a state of trance cannot be defined as a mystical experience (Jones, 2016). When struggling with issues in one's life such as disputes, clients in mediation may have minor mystical experiences, which can occur in one's personal life, not necessarily as ecstatic rapture but as a feeling of being at one with 'God' at a deep level of faith (Kakar, 2007). Even so, such

account still needs to be from the clients not their mediators because, again, those who experience such life struggles and issues are the clients, not their mediators.

Finally, if their description using the terms spiritual or spirituality does not fall the definition of mysticism, then would it be a 'psi' experience? According to Radin (2009: 314), directly experiencing such an interconnectedness described by Gold (2003 and 1993) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) can be either a mystical experience or a 'psi' experience. 'Psi' experiences are defined as like the attention paid by mothers to their babies, "even when her conscious mind is asleep [...] regardless of where the people or events happen to be. If something important happens to those people, especially life-threatening events, the interconnected part of us "recognizes" that this is useful information and brings it to our awareness" (Radin, 2009: 314).

The mediation experiences described in Chapter 3 seem not to match this description of 'psi', either. Mediation relationships between mediators and their clients clearly do not involve life-threatening events, even if a mediator develops a deep emotionally connected relationship with their clients. What they state is simply how they as mediators have felt when reaching a settlement, by using a metaphoric description of a shift in consciousness to a higher level (Gold, 1993 and 2003; Umbreit, 1997 and 2001). To put it more simply, these are descriptions of how they felt and not an empirical claim of an actual phenomenon that occurred in their clients. Those mediators' descriptions using the terms spiritual or spirituality thus do not fall either of Radin's binary category of being mystical or psi experience; hence, their references to those terms are clarified as no indication of mysticism at all.

The question as to whether Gold's and Umbreit's accounts of their experiences as mediators can be seen as mystical experiences had to be addressed because an author's philosophical or religious doctrine will have considerable influence on their mystical consciousness (Roy, 2003). If the mystical consciousness embedded in those mediators' voices needed to be discussed in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, the influence of Zen cannot be ignored, especially where mysticism is equated with the 'emptied' mind' (Jones, 2016; Kakar, 1991; Roy, 2003). In Zen, such an emptied mind is described as a switch from a

conceptualising mind to a non- conceptualising mind (Jones, 2016), which has very different implications when applied to the mediation context.

However, even though there is a degree of overlap between the experience the two authors describe and experiences referred to as mystical, the spirituality they refer to cannot be equated with the mystical because their accounts do not represent the experience of their clients. As Jones (2016) has argued, non-mystical experiences can also bring about transformative and the long-lasting effects in individuals, and the phenomena witnessed by these two authors fall into this category. Therefore, the discussion in this section concludes the terms spiritual and spirituality used by mediators, especially by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit, are a rather contemporary usage which is distanced from mysticism of the world's religions (Jespers, 2011).

#### 4.4 Conclusion

This chapter has discussed two issues. The first is the differences between the generated eight precepts and the transformative mediation model. The second is to consider whether the eight precepts generated from Gold's and Umbreit's descriptions of their mediation practices can be seen as mystical experiences. Although similar wordings are used, these experiences which are described by using the terms spiritual and spirituality, are different both from transformative mediation and from what are defined as mystical experiences.

More precisely, the transformative model does not claim that the inner wellbeing of a mediator influences the mediation outcomes through non-semantic communication during the mediation sessions. On the other hand, the transformative model does recognise the importance of a safe space and of the mediator helping their clients to transform during the sessions. However, mediators who explicitly make reference to spirituality tend to describe the safe space as sacred or holy. At the same time, based on the comparison, the analysis also found that mediators who did not use those terms, nonetheless had similar recollections and inputs.

This finding leads to the conclusion that the selection of those terms to describe their mediation practice is rooted in each mediator's professional or personal preferences.

References to the spiritual or spirituality should be considered as a symbolisation of their claims, symbolisation that allows the mediators to emphasise the important aspects of their argument. However, due to the ineffable, fluid nature of those terms, each argument varies, even though they may use the same terms and conversely, it is possible to express similar experiences without using those terms.

Furthermore, the similarities in the use of words such as 'being' 'oneness' or 'connectedness' are evident between references to spirituality in Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) described by the terms spiritual and definitions of mystical experiences as described in the literature. This chapter has emphasised that what Gold and Umbreit describe in their articles are their own experiences of mediation and not those of their clients. Although the mediators themselves may see these similarities, mystical experiences need to be described by the experiencer of the transformation as a result of the indicated shift. In the context of the present thesis, the experiencer is not the mediator but the clients who are attempting to reach a settlement. What the two authors describe as a mediator by using the terms spiritual and spirituality does not appear to be an indication of mysticism and therefore, can be seen as rational. Finally, their usages of the terms should be considered as modern and distanced from the mysticism of the world's religions.

With regards to whether spirituality means a contribution to the mediation practice held in the Japanese language or merely creates controversy to the context, it cannot be assumed at this point of arguments which the notion has only been considered in the English-speaking mediation context. This is especially so, as shown in this chapter, what labelled as 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' in the English-mediation context can be described without being codified by these terms. What these terms describe do not form one independent mediation model or group mediators into one despite the impact and complication these terms bear in the context. This has been discussed in Chapter 2.

In order to understand the consequences of introducing the notion expressed by those terms to the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, the subsequent chapters closely analyse the Japanese-speaking mediation context. More specifically, Chapter 5 will articulate the development of mediation in Japan as well as the expectations the Japanese-speaking mediation users bring to mediation. Such an overview will allow Chapter 6 to

analyse the impact of the introduction of the notion to the context and the suitability of the currently applied translations In other words, transliterated spirituality, one of the applied translations for the English terms spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation, cannot be understood without an understanding of the historical and social context in which it is used (Hirano, 2015; Horie, 2015).

## 5 Has Japan's mediation ever been 'spiritual'?

### 5.1 Introduction

By reviewing the development of mediation up to and including the consequences of the recent enforcement of the Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution 2004 (the 'ADR Act 2004') and discussing the users' expectations when seeking mediation in Japan, this chapter addresses whether Japan's mediation has ever been 'spiritual'. This is the fourth objective identified in Chapter 1. This chapter also expects to uncover whether no evident increase in the numbers of people using mediation posited by the Japan ADR Association (2018: 3) has anything to do with introducing the notion of using spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

Forms of mediation have been used in Japan since early as A.D. 894 (Callister and Wall, 1997: 313; Kakiuchi, 2015; Yanase, 2013: 40-44). However, the notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation was first introduced to Japan's mediation context in 2007 by translating the English term spirituality either with *seishin* or transliterated spirituality (Fujioka, 2007; Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012). Chapter 2 already discussed the issues concerning these applied translations.

Both are possibly unsuitable or at least problematic as translated equivalents of the English term spirituality if the term has intersected with Japan's mediation development earlier than 2007. Although in a public lecture, Ishihara used transliterated spirituality (Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012), her reasons for choosing this translation were not clarified. Likewise, Fujioka (2007) in her translation on mediation published five years before Ishihara's public lecture, does not give any explanation why she chose either *seishin* or transliterated spirituality to translate spirituality in the mediation context. As a result, their translations have caused confusion in the Japanese-speaking mediation context and hindered its development; yet one may recall the discussions in Chapter 3 and 4 that the same or similar phenomena can be described without using the terms spiritual or spirituality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Haley (1994: 17) reiterated the importance of the review because "[o]ne cannot understand the present without an appreciation of the past and the role of present perceptions of that past. To appreciate the historical dynamics of [the issue] is vital both to comprehend more fully the present as well as to predict more accurately the future".

Bearing those points, the first section in this chapter examines whether mediation in Japan has been discussed with reference to the precepts presented in Chapter 3. It aims to establish whether mediation practice has ever been spiritual in the sense that Gold and Umbreit use the term in their work. If the same or a similar notion has developed and been used in Japan's mediation context, the following section discusses the consequences of such an introduction by using the transliterated term, which would generate more controversies than contributions to the development of mediation practice in Japan. If there is no intersection with those precepts, then the expectations in Japan's mediation should be in place so as to identify whether or how those precepts fulfil those expectations.

The findings presented in this thesis so far have laid the foundations that make it possible to examine the suitability of the currently applied translations for the terms spiritual or spirituality. This chapter's findings together with the foundations will enable the latter chapters to identify and discuss the contributions and controversies brought about by applying spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

# 5.2 Development of mediation in Japan up to the ADR Act 2004

Mediation has long been used in Japan even before the country established the foundation of the judicial system that is currently in place. The service has not been referred to using the same terminology. Using transliterated mediation to identify the private mediation available in Japan's ADR is only a recent development. In reviewing the development of mediation in Japan, Callister and Wall (1997) use two categories: formal or informal dispute resolution.

However, the complexity of the development of mediation development in Japan is better illustrated by using Baum's (2013) approach, which is to divide its development into several historical periods. <sup>112</sup> By paying more attention to the mediation practices that have developed in contemporary Japan, this section aims to observe whether similar notions to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> As Yamamoto (HoC, 2004b) pointed out, Japan and the USA's mediation development and social circumstances are significantly different and thus, Japan's ADR development cannot and should not be discussed by using the same three-tier framework which are formal, informal and semi-formal justice systems as suggested for the USA's mediation practice by Menkel-Meadow (2013).

the eight precepts have ever been part of its development and, if discovered no such an evidence, also establishes the background for the next section which discusses people's expectations when using a mediation service.

### 5.2.1 From 604 AD up to and including the *Edo* period 113

The promulgation of the Seventeen-Article Constitution by Prince Shōtoku in 604, emphasised by Article 1 of the constitution, states that wa, <sup>114</sup> harmony, must be valued and respected (Prince Toneri, 720; Okano, 2003). <sup>115</sup> Mediation has been used in Japan on an *ad hoc* basis and was used before its court system was established, serving and preserving the value of *extrajudicial* justice rather than being an alternative to adjudication (Callister and Wall, 1997: 313). Between 1336 to 1603, the *Muromachi* and *Azuchimomoyama* periods, <sup>116</sup> priests appeared to act as intermediaries (Callister and Wall, 1997: 313). However, there is no evidence after this period that third-party mediators have always been religious leaders; especially in the *Edo* period, the government soon started using a system called *naisai*. <sup>117</sup>

In the *Edo* period, from 1603-1868, people's movements were restricted socially and geographically. The *Tokugawa* shogunate, which is described as having, "fostered the antilitigious<sup>118</sup> sentiments [...] through the widespread adoption of Confucianism and the doctrine of *wa*" (Hahn, 1983: 517; Uchtmann, Blessen, and Maloney, 1987: 351), <sup>119</sup> village elders or respected individuals within local communities acted to settle disputes between community members. This practice is *naisai* which means the equivalent of 'trials' in modern Japan (Baum, 2013: 1015; Tanaka, 2000: 106-107).

Naisai were held without using codified legislation but involved the government intervening in the dispute to harmonise the situation (Tanaka, 2000: 107). Their 'justice' was delivered flexibly by weighing up the involved individuals' benefits and community advantages (Tanaka, 2000: 107). The overall aim of *naisai* was to settle and re-establish harmonious relationships between all of those involved. This took place in a rather flexible society that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> The Japanese translation of *Edo* is  $\Xi \overline{P}$ . The *Edo* period was from 1603 to 1868.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> The Japanese translation is 和.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> This constitution influenced people throughout the *Edo* period until the *Meiji* era began in 1868, which was soon after Japan opened its trade markets to other countries by ending the policy of seclusion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> The *Muromashi* (室町) period was from 1336 to 1573, and *Azuchimomoyama* (安土桃山) from 1573 to 1603.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup>The Japanese translation of *Naisai* is 內済.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> As appears in the original text.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> However, this notion of respecting *wa* had already been in the country since 604 when Prince Shōtoku promulgated the Seventeen-Article Constitution. This will be further discussed in the subsequent section.

did not have a set of rules equivalent to legislation. In place of legislation, there existed unspoken rules of respecting emotional stability and harmony; this was its social foundation (Tanaka, 2000: 107).

From the end of the *Edo* to the beginning of the *Meiji* period<sup>120</sup> was a transitionary period. Alongside continued and strong respect for social harmony in the courts of shogunate, a judicial system began to be developed in Japan (Baume, 2013:1013-2015; Callister and Wall: 312-313; Uchtmann, Blessen, and Maloney, 1987: 351). Its legal systems, including its Diet, municipalities, counties and prefectures, its laws, including the Constitution and its legal system were all developed during this time (Sumioka, 1992: 4).

During this period, Japan's court systems continued to develop yet still accommodated a traditional approach which is to respect *wa* in society by enacting *Kankai Ryakusoku* in 1884.<sup>121</sup> Under this 'legislation'-like order (Hahn, 1983: 519), judges were granted the role of conciliator in dispute proceedings brought before the courts. *Kankai* had its roots in and took over from the system set up under *naisai* (Eto, 1993). Even then, people who insisted on their entitlements and fairness in their communities, were considered as violating and threatening community harmony even though they did not bring what is called litigation in modern Japan (Tanaka, 2000: 107). They were as a consequence oppressed by using various social pressures, including *murahachibu*, <sup>122</sup> 'community ostracism' (Lebra, 1976: 36).

#### 5.2.2 From Meiji up to the Enactment of the ADR Act in 2004

In the *Meiji* period, Japan established a legal system that was heavily reliant on European law such as French and German law (Hahn, 1983: 519-521; Ishikawa, 1995: 122; Suami, 2013: 251; Tanaka, 2000: 109-110). <sup>123</sup> As Japan's legal system began to function, the central government simultaneously established more concrete roles for its self. At the same time, extrajudicial mediation practices became increasingly voluntary and more informal in nature. When people brought their issues to a third party, the third party might still be a community

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> The *Meiji* (明治) period from 1868 to 1912.

<sup>121</sup> The Japanese translation of Kankai Ryakusoku is 勧解略則

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> The Japanese translation is 村八分.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Although this is still important to acknowledge, further discussions on the influences played by other judicial systems would be outside of the scope of the present thesis. Even though there were some influences from other countries when setting up Japan's legal system including codification of law, such would not change much or give points to the core argument of the present thesis, which seeks any intersection between spirituality and the development of mediation. In addition, establishing which countries most influenced Japan's legal development can be a subject for another thesis.

member who was in a position of trust. They did not intervene for money but acted simply out of good will for fellow friends, colleagues or their community.

Kankai Ryakusoku was eventually abolished in 1891 by an enactment of Minji Soshōho (Act No. 109 of 1996 as amended), <sup>124</sup> the Code of Civil Procedure. Despite this enactment, *chōtei*, <sup>125</sup> a court-connected mediation being considered to have integrated *kankai*, was continued to be in use. Although the justice system was fully developed, the system of *naisai*, which was founded in the *Edo* period and was succeeded by *kankai* in the *Meiji* period, was commonly used even after changing its name to *chōtei* (Tanaka, 2000: 105-106 and 2006). Due to the strong respect and intention to maintain *wa*, which had been appreciated the most throughout those periods, *chōtei* remained an important alternative to litigation alongside the established legal system of the country (Callister and Wall, 1997; Tanaka, 2000: 110).

As a consequence, people privately and voluntarily settled their disputes instead of asking judges to make decisions on them (Baum, 2013; Tanaka, 2000: 105-106). Even in courts, judges were and still are, authorised to suggest conciliation before or during the litigation process under Article 89 of the Code of Civil Procedure (Act No. 109 of 1996); the court itself still undertakes mediatory roles (Goodman, 2001: 786-787; Tanaka, 2000: 140-141). As Japan's litigation works as 'a forum for negotiation' (Goodman, 2001), <sup>126</sup> arbitration and other ADR methods are frequently used in place of litigation and this is described as a residue of the non-litigious tendencies evident during or before the *Meiji* period when *naisai* and *kankai* were preferred to litigation (Oda,1999: 80).

Since 1947, when Family Courts were first established, *chōtei* has been a mandatory procedure prior to starting a litigation process in relation to family issues, according to Art 257 of the Domestic Relations Case Procedure Act (Act No. 52 of 2011). When such compulsory *chōtei* fails, they can proceed with litigation. *Chōtei* in civil matters is not a

<sup>124</sup> The Japanese translation of *Minji Soshōho* is 民事訴訟法. *Minji Soshōho* is still binding legislation in Japan today, with several amendments made since, and does not include a pre-claim conciliation procedure for civil litigation.

<sup>125</sup> The Japanese translation is 調停.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> See the use of 'litigotiation' in the USA (Galanter, 1984). Litigotiation is, "the stratergic pursuit of a settlement through mobilizing the court process" by placing the courts, which give the disputing parties bargaining chips or counters, in the central (Galanter, 1984: 268-269). Such may be rare in the adjudication systems in the UK or Germany (Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 315).

prerequisite under the Code of Civil Procedure (Act No. 109 of 1996) to starting a litigation process, although it has been used since 1922 (Kakiuchi, 2015: 370; Irie, 2010: 79).

For both family and civil litigation procedures, *chōtei* personnel are selected and auto-assigned by courts under the Rules for Civil *Chōtei* and Family Affairs *Chōtei* Personnel, established and enforced by the Supreme Court of Japan (Graham, 1993, 1112; Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 315-316). <sup>127</sup> In this sense, both conciliations suggested by courts and *chōtei* may be considered as a pre-step of litigation. However, the important point is that in *chōtei*, the 'mediators' are not selected by the disputants. The disputants may be randomly assigned any mediators, regardless of their practice ethos; the introduction of the notion of spirituality to mediation practice can and may have two extreme effects, both positive and negative, in such a scheme. <sup>128</sup>

In the period from *Meiji* to the present, Japan began dealing with one of its societal issues: organised crime groups also known as *Bōryokudan* or *Yakuza*. <sup>129</sup>The restriction was imposed by the system to confine *Yakuza*'s activities due to the fact that their intervening activities in dispute resolution were not always carried out conscientiously and often involved violence or threats, in order to maintain income (Hill, 2003: 94; Sumioka: 1992). Despite the legal restriction on the involvement of organised crime groups in disputes, such groups still exist and try to engage in prohibited, mediatory interventions by using borderline illegal methods, including threats of violence and repeated visits and numerous phone calls to cause a nuisance (Sumioka, 1992: 8-12; Tanaka, 2000: 107). Their now illegal mediatory interventions have most commonly been used for traffic accidents, which involve two or more vehicles driven by ordinary citizens, debt collection, including corporate and personal bankruptcy, and the land-sharking business, *jiage* (Sumioka, 1992: 12-14; Hill, 2003: 92-136). <sup>130</sup>

To prevent the involvement of such groups, which have significantly increased since the 1970s, the time of the 'Japanese economic miracle' (Sumioka, 1992), the Diet enacted the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Such 'mediation' may be, "not only inefficacy, it is a contradiction in terms" (Meyer, 1960: 161) in addition to losing "its defining characteristics" as mediation (Ingleby, 1993: 443, 445-449).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> This point must be discussed in the section 5.3 in which people's expectations for mediation are analysed.

 $<sup>^{129}</sup>$  The Japanese translation of Bōryokudan is 暴力団, yakuza is ヤクザ. Both are categorised as organised crime groups.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> The Japanese translation of *Jiage* is 地上げ.

Act to Prevent Unjust Acts by Organized Crime Group Members (Act No. 77 of 1991). <sup>131</sup> By Articles 7 and 19 of this Act, interventions by members of organised crime groups are explicitly prohibited. Around the same time, from the 1970s to the 1990s, administrative bodies and professional authorised organisations officially and legally started offering mediation services. Such mediation services are categorised as administrative ADR (Hayashi, 2011: 4; HoC, 2004b: 7-8, 11-12, 26; HoR, 2004a: 7). <sup>132</sup>

Although Japanese people are described as avoiding litigation (Rokumoto, 1986: 207-231; Kawashima, 1967), their infrequent use of litigation does not mean that they ignore their sense of justice and avoid disputes (Murayama, 2017). They simply have more means of resolving disputes prior to becoming involved in litigation. In fact, going though litigation has and still entails financial, time-consuming burdens (Hearn, 2005/1904; Miyatake, 2017). So, what was intended as the contribution of the ADR Act 2004, which came into force in 2007?

#### 5.2.3 Enactment of the ADR Act 2004

It was the legal scholars' grass-root activities, drawing on other countries, that led to the government drafting the bill (Ishihara, 2017a). However, the legislature did not consider foreign countries' situation and drafted entirely to fulfil Japan's needs for ADR methods to be regulated (HoR, 2004b: 3, 7, and 30). The enactment of the ADR Act 2004 thus was not intended to introduce or replicate any mediation schemes used in other countries. It was promulgated by considering the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law Model Law to provide ADR in the private sector in Japan.

The ADR Act has supplementary legislation, the Order for Enforcement of the Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution (Cabinet Order No. 186 of 2006) and the Ordinance for Enforcement of the Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> The Japanese translation is 暴力団員による不当な行為の防止等に関する法律.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Mediation in such administrative ADR started to deal mainly with consumer complaints, labour and housing and health issues, including nuclear damage compensation (Hayashi, 2011: 4; Ministry of Education, Cultural, Sports, Science and Technology, 2018; Ochi, 2005: 2) and also offered ombudsman services (Minami, 2006: 194-227). Private authorised ADR organisations, which offer mediation to deal with issues related to intellectual properties, traffic accidents, financial products, insurance and manufactured products (Hayashi, 2011: 4; Ochi, 2005: 2), work together with the Japanese Federation of Bar Associations, or those who are professionally qualified in their area. For instance, automobile vehicle insurance companies offer financial aid to the Japanese Centre for Settlement of Traffic Accident Disputes, which undertakes mediation for traffic accident issues, and the Centre itself is staffed by attorneys and professors in law (Japan Centre for Settlement of Traffic Accident Disputes, 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> For example, Japan's earliest founders of restorative justice visited the USA to take part in Mark Umbreit's mediation training sessions from around 2001 (Ishihara, 2017a).

(Ministry of Justice Ordinance No. 52 of 2006). Article 1 of the Act sets out its purpose: to offer a basic ADR provision for its citizens and establish the responsibilities of the government and other relevant entities, at the same time as enforcing a certification system of ADR providers under its special rules. The Minister of Justice announced that the Act would enable its users to choose an 'appropriate' method from alternative dispute resolution including litigation (HoR, 2004d: 4). The overall aim of mediators being certified under the Act was to provide reliable information on mediation providers to its users and prevent 'malicious' organisations, such as members of the organised crime groups, from applying to become certified mediators, so that a user can choose the best mediator for them (HoR, 2004d: 4).

The Act defines 'dispute resolution providers', which include mediators, as "persons who arrange settlement through private dispute resolution procedures" under Article 2(iii). 'Private dispute resolution procedures' is defined under Article 2(i) as "alternative dispute resolution procedures by which a private business, at the request of both parties to a civil dispute for which settlement is sought, arranges settlement under a contract with the parties to the dispute, excluding alternative dispute resolution carried out by persons designated by law as dispute resolution services under the law, in accordance with a Cabinet Order". In that narrow field of the mediator profession, which had predominantly been 'monopolised' by lawyers albeit unintentionally yet perhaps desirably, the ADR Act 2004 certainly broadened the entry for non-lawyers to mediate in disputes in Japan and at the same time, safeguarded the users.

The ADR Act 2004 states that private mediation organisations must satisfy the conditions of its certification schemes under Article 5. Article 7 of the Act excludes certain categories of people from becoming certified mediators because of the recommendations published by the Justice System Reform Council (Justice System Reform Council, 2001). The Japanese

<sup>134</sup> The Japanese translation for the former is 裁判外紛争解決手続の利用の促進に関する法律施行令, and the latter is 裁判外紛争解決手続の利用の促進に関する法律施行規則. The contents decided under the ADR Act 2004 remain untouched by both supplementary legislations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> This concurs with what has been proposed in the ADR movements in other countries, however (Fuller, 1971; Goldberg et al., 2003: 6; Menkel-Meadow, 2013: 423; Moscati, 2015: 5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Chapter II, Part 1-8 of the Recommendation states that, with some exception of some organisations offering ADR services, the mechanisms offering such services, including mediation, are not yet fully functioning. In order to offer more user-friendly services, the reinforcement and vitalisation of mediation services is necessary. Such improvements of mediation services include enacting legislation which both promotes the use of mediation and strengthens coordination with adjudication procedures. In particular, it states that "[i]n order to utilize non-legal professional experts, such as those

legislature admits that this disqualification or certification system is a rare scheme compared to other countries (HoC, 2004b: 20; HoR, 2004a: 11; HoR, 2004b: 7).

The trainings and resources, including mediation models available to trainee mediators in Japan, do not display significant differences from those used, for example, in the USA, where such certification schemes through federal legislation are still not imposed (see for instance, Doshisha Law School, 2016; Hashimoto and Matsuura, 2007:399; Irie, 2010; Japan Mediation Centre, 2007; Wada, Ando, and Tanaka, 2015; Ishihara, 2017a). When debating the then draft of the ADR Act 2004, Japan's legislature showed how the development of mediation in its justice system recognised the importance of maintaining access to justice by providing alternative dispute resolution methods including mediation, without government intervention in the private autonomy (HoC, 2004b; 2004c; 2004d; HoR, 2004b; 2004d).

As mentioned earlier, Article 7 of the Act imposes restrictions on who can be ADR service providers through a national certification system. Japan has taken a cautious approach towards providing mediation service in the private sector because of its recognition of the private autonomy of its citizens. However, it also knows that there has been a significant involvement of *Yakuza*. The government has as a result shown great reluctance to remove prerequisites for certified mediators to possess 'legal and professional knowledge' in certain areas of dispute. Mediation in Japan's justice system is one of "legal procedures for settling disputes [...] while respecting the voluntary efforts of the parties [...] achieving prompt dispute resolution based on specialized expertise and in accordance with the actual facts of the dispute" (Article 3, ADR Act 2004).<sup>138</sup>

On the basis that Japan has introduced the certification system as a legislative requirement for mediators, a mediator is viewed as someone who attends the negotiation between

from fields adjoining law (so-called quasi-legal professionals), in ADR, study must be given to each such profession individually, taking into account each profession's actual situation, and the status of such non-legal professionals should be legally defined as part of the revision of Article 72 of the [Attorney Act (Act No. 205 of 1949)]. That article should at least clarify the contents of restrictions in an appropriate way, including the relationship with persons engaged in corporate legal work, from the standpoint of responding to changes in the contents of services provided by professionals in fields adjoining law and the diversification of company forms, in order to ensure the predictability of the scope and modes of activities that are subject to restrictions" (Justice System Reform Council, 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> A similar case in Massachusetts, USA, was mentioned in Chapter 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> In fact, Article 6(i) and (v) of the ADR Act 2004 respectively state that such a service provider "defines with his or her specialised expertise the scope of disputes for which settlement will be arranged" and, if such a person is not a qualified lawyer, "an attorney is available for consultation when specialised knowledge on the interpretation and application of laws and regulations required in the process of providing private dispute resolution".

disputing parties, although only upon a disputant's request. When the mediation, which is viewed as such, is chosen by disputing parties prior to or during litigation, the mediation market unquestionably expects, or may also be expected by the disputants themselves, to standardise its service 'quality'. The Minister of Justice announced that the certification would guarantee the mediators' quality standards to a certain degree without government intervention (HoR, 2004d, 2).<sup>139</sup>

However, the ADR Act 2004 and its supplementary laws provide no reasons why those who are listed under Article 7 should be disqualified from obtaining the certification, other than to safeguard its users (HoC, 2004b: 27; HoR, 2004a: 9; HoR, 2004b: 2 and 8; HoR, 2004d: 4, Ministry of Justice, 2013: 6-7, 14-15). The Ministry of Justice only provides an oversimplified explanation on its disqualification under Article 7 on its website (Ministry of Justice, 2017a): "those who falls under Article 7 cannot be dispute resolution providers. For instance, those private organisations whose practice are traced to organised crime groups such as *Boryokudan*." One of its intended aims was clearly to prevent members of organised crime groups from undertaking a mediator role. In the same year that the ADR Act 2004 came into force, local governments of each municipality also began to implement local laws of the Organized Crime Exclusion Ordinances and all prefectures had the law in place by 2011. 140

While the government seems to have successfully excluded members of organised crime groups, allowing the disputants to maximise their autonomy, and maintained access to legal advice, thereby preventing unfair outcomes by using private mediation under the ADR Act 2004, the realisation of who mediates matters in Japan has nothing to do with any of the eight precepts generated in Chapter 3.

#### 5.2.4 Current situation of mediation available in Japan

There are no signs of any terms equivalent to the English terms spiritual or spirituality being used in the development of mediation in Japan to date, except on two occasions: one in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Mareschal (2005) may partially justify why the ADR Act 2004 does not contain any directions on how to conduct mediation sessions and Article 7 of the Act only excludes certain categories of people from becoming mediators. While relationship hostility negatively correlates to the effectiveness of mediation, mediators' tactics are not a relevant factor (Mareschal, 2005). Mediators' skills, characteristics, and both personal and professional qualities, and disputant clients' collaborative orientations, which can effectively be maintained by the mediator with those professional and personal traits, were found to be more influential on the effectiveness (Mareschal, 2005). In this test, a member of the organised crime group may cultivate a 'hostile' relationship with either or both parties participating in mediation which negatively influences resolution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> The Japanese translation of this Ordinances is 暴力団排除条**例**.

2007, when Fujioka's (2007) translation of Umbreit (2001) was published and the other, in 2012 when Ishihara held her public lecture (as cited in Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012).<sup>141</sup> This section articulates whether any of those precepts have been referred to in Japan's mediation context by analysing the status quo of mediation in Japan.

There are currently three types of mediators in Japan: those who undertake judicial, administrative and private mediation. Judicial and administrative mediation do not have anything to do with religions or religious groups because of the nature of their work. Those registered with the Ministry of Justice under Article 1 and listed on its website as certified mediation providers undertake private mediation. According to the website (Ministry of Justice, 2019), 143 166 organisations have been certified, of which six of them have now stopped offering the service and one has been dissolved. Among 159 bodies, only two are working as individual mediators without belonging to any organisations. None of those 159 organisations is a religious or religion-related group.

Other people can also privately mediate without being legally authorised to do so. When involved in disputes which could become litigious at a later stage, Japanese people seek legal help from someone other than lawyers, those who Rokumoto (1986:41) calls 'non-lawyer specialists.' The characteristics of the non-lawyer specialists are that they tend to be individuals with whom the disputant already has a personal relationship, such as family members, friends, acquaintances, colleagues, and so on, and who possesses professional knowledge and experience in the disputed area and is not necessarily qualified as a lawyer. The non-lawyer specialists need to be capable negotiators rather than authoritative decision makers in relation to the nature of disputes brought to them (Rokumoto, 1986:251).

If Rokumoto's views alone are applied, members of *Yakuza*, who may use actual violence, threats, or fear, could be viewed as capable of handling dispute situations in Japan. Indeed, members of *Yakuza* appear to continue to intervene in disputes (Hill, 2003: 92-136), although their ways of settling issues does not favour any disputants except for those willing to settle their issues unfairly in their favour by using the members as mediators, albeit unprofessional ones. This is one of the reasons why the Civil Code contains Article 96, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> These were already discussed in Chapter 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> The certified private mediators are those who fall under Article 1 of the ADR Act 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> The website is available at <a href="http://www.moj.go.jp/KANBOU/ADR/jigyousya/ninsyou-index.html">http://www.moj.go.jp/KANBOU/ADR/jigyousya/ninsyou-index.html</a>

explicitly overturns any legal agreements reached as a result of duress and fraud. Furthermore, those informally selected uncertified mediators cannot receive any monetary awards or compensation under Article 72 of the Attorney Act (Act No. 205 of 1949). The exceptions to this are where they are lawyers or certified mediators working in their professional capacity or the mediators being paid to mediate as an employee by hospitals or schools (Science Council of Japan, 2008: 14; Ikejima, 2010: 39-42).

Article 72 of the Attorney Act, which came into force soon after Japan established the current adjudication system in the 1940s, prohibits 'legal services' by non-attorneys unless the contrary was enforced by other laws. The wording of the Article is as follow [emphasises added by the author of the present thesis]:

Article 72 No person other than an attorney or a Legal Professional Corporation may, for the purpose of obtaining compensation, engage in the business of providing legal advice or representation, handling arbitration matters, aiding in conciliation, or providing other legal services in connection with any lawsuits, non-contentious cases, or objections, requesting for re-examination, appeals and other petitions against administrative agencies, etc., or other general legal services, or acting as an intermediary in such matters; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply if otherwise specified in this Act or other laws.<sup>144</sup>

Through this Article, Japan has long prohibited 'an intermediary', including mediators, from receiving money or monetary reward, in return for providing disputants with a mediation service as their business. Those disputes can be resolved by court. Mediation held outside of the judiciary does not fall into this 'mediation' category if the interveners do not receive money or monetary reward, and their role as a mediator is voluntary and not a business activity.<sup>145</sup>

The Supreme Court of Japan further explains its understanding of Article 72 in a judgment made on 14<sup>th</sup> July 1972,<sup>146</sup> stating that the court was concerned by people not being subject to any disciplinary rules and intervening in other people's legal issues for their own material benefit. Such interventions could not be left outside legislation because of their potential to undermine the interests of those involved and other relevant parties, interrupt fair and harmonious legal affairs, and so impair law and order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> The translation is made available by the Ministry of Justice (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Mediatory or intervening activities to resolve disputes by the organised crime groups including *Yakuza* are hence prohibited by this Article because their actions have often and traditionally been in exchange for money or monetary value (National Police Agency, 2005: Chapter 2, section2-2-2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> The matter number: 昭和 44(あ)1124.

What Article 72 intended to achieve was, as interpreted by the Supreme Court, to exclude any parties other than legal professionals from intervening in litigious matters. Violation of this Article is subject to criminal liability under Article 77(iii) of the Attorney Act. In private mediation, which functions independently of a national authority, many cooperate with the Japan Federation of Bar Associations (HoR, 2004b: 20-21) due to Article 72, although certified mediators under the ADR Act 2004 are exempt and allowed to work independently.<sup>147</sup>

Demand for mediation in the country was motivated by a need to decrease costs at a time of existing litigation procedure and increasing access to justice (Hearn, 2005/1904; Miyatake, 2017). He Because the process of resolving conflict has been an alternative to court procedure (HoR, 2004d: 4), many disputing parties wish to choose their mediator from a pool of trained and skilled mediators who are certified accordingly, while others prefer choosing their mediators more informally and distinguish intentionally the process from certified mediation by paying no monetary compensation to the 'mediator'.

Article 696 of the Civil Code (Act No. 9 of 1896 as amended Act No. 78 of 2006),<sup>149</sup> Effects of Settlements, states that agreed resolution of disputes, regardless of the resolution methods used and whether or not a mediator is involved, cannot be overturned once agreed, in view of legal enforceability, except where such resolution is reached by mistake, fraud or duress. Article 95 of the Civil Code states that, "[m]anifestation of intention has no effect when there is a mistake in any element of the juristic act in question; provided, however, that the person who made the manifestation of intention may not assert such nullity by himself/herself if he/she was grossly negligent"; Article 96(1) reads as, "[m]anifestation of intention which is induced by any fraud or duress may be rescind" (Ministry of Justice, 2009).

Due to these Articles, dispute resolution practice, including private mediation under the ADR Act 2004, is expected to be within the practice of law and the ADR Act 2004 does not grant enforceability to settlements reached through mediation, even though it is safeguarded by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> The ADR Act also inserted Article 6(v) which ensures access to legal advice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> This is in a similar way to the Anglo-American world (see further, Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 315-331).

<sup>149</sup> The Japanese translation is 民法. The actual wording of the article reads as "In cases where it is admitted at settlement that one of the parties has the rights that are the subject of the dispute, or that the other party did not have the rights, if conclusive evidence is obtained to the effect that the first party did not have the rights in the past, or that the other party did have the rights, the rights are regarded as either transferred to the first party or extinguished at settlement" (Ministry of Justice, 2009).

Article 96 of the Code. The ADR Act protects mediation users from 'unfair' settlements from a legal point of view, which any mediation process may face and risk, due to its voluntary nature. While mediation is recognised as a means of alternative dispute resolution to litigation, the ADR Act 2004 appears to take indeed a rare approach to certify and disqualify certain categories of people, as discussed in the previous subsection.

Safeguarding its users from potential unprofessional mediators seems to have been prioritised in Japan due to its unique social situation, as discussed in the previous subsections. <sup>150</sup> By enforcing the ADR Act 2004, the Japanese government seems to have carried out a balancing exercise between maintaining the autonomy of disputants and safeguarding those disputants from potential harm when pursuing their settlements through private mediation. As stated earlier, even judges in Japan take a flexible approach on a case by case basis when deciding what would achieve justice for those involved. The ADR Act 2004 seems only to have reiterated the pre-existing rules.

Thus, the reason why the notion of who mediates matters is clearly highlighted by the ADR Act 2004, is not because people consider it as 'spiritual' but because of Japan's long-standing social problems. However, the status quo created in Japan regarding its mediation practice does indicate some recognition of mediation needing to be a safe place. By introducing the notion of using spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context, such recognition might have been more concrete provided those translations convey the meaning intended.

In addition, the development of mediation in the country has had very minor or almost no intersection with religions and this remains the case today. Because mediation practice has not been traditionally conducted by religious leaders or used within religious communities, introducing the notion of spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context seems to generate more controversy than benefits, despite some mediators such as Wolf (2017) associating the notion of spirituality in mediation with that of maintaining harmony in the relationship. The importance of *wa* could link to his idea if and when it has been introduced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Any members of the organised crime groups now must not intervene any disputes under Articles 7 to 19 of the Act to Prevent Unjust Acts by Organized Crime Group Members (Act No. 77 of 1991). Even in mediation held extrajudicially, the users of uncertified mediation without awarding their mediators with compensation are also safeguarded from members of such organised crime groups.

to Japan by translation. However, in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, spirituality has thus far not linked to *wa* so explicitly.

Mediators are defined in English as a third party who can facilitate "transition, conciliation, and abandonment of absolute contrast" (Simmel, 1950: 145), <sup>151</sup> and there are certain conditions for mediators to exist (Gulliver, 1979). The three conditions for any context are; "[f]irst, does the relevant community, through its leaders or otherwise, insist that disputants are not entirely free agents and therefore impose mediation?; [s]econd, do the disputants want third-party intervention because of its expected advantages to them?; and [t]hird, are the disputant willing to recognize and entertain the legitimate interests of a third party in their dispute and its outcome?" (Gulliver, 1979: 231). If all three questions are answered with "no", mediators are most unlikely to appear (Gulliver, 1979: 231). The review in this section has discovered that the latter two conditions are easily met by the Japanese-speaking mediation, and the first one is also satisfied where judicial and administrative mediations are used.

Even with the restriction imposed by Article 72 of the Attorney Act, Gulliver's three conditions are fulfilled. Mediators in Japan hence do not exhibit any uniqueness with respect of their appearance to English-speaking mediators. If so, then why would the notion expressed by the terms spiritual or spirituality have not appeared until 2007 when it was translated from English recourses?

The development of mediation practice in Japan has thus shown no indication of using the various terms that exist in Japanese that evoke the English terms spiritual or spirituality. As there are no apparent differences between mediators in English and Japanese-speaking societies, the introduction of the notion of spirituality in the context of mediation as well as through the training lectures delivered by Mark S. Umbreit were intended to improve Japan's mediation practice and contribute to its development. As has been argued in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Such a third party was once said that he or she needed to maintain non-partisanship toward disputant parties and their issues by setting their subjective interests in a "purely objective mechanism" (Simmel, 1950: 150 and see mainly Chapter 4). However, a notion of non-partisanship or impartiality is now certainly subject to both academic and professional debates as difficult to assure due to mediators' own set of ideas (Gulliver, 1979: 217; Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 154)

previous section, the only one of the eight precepts described in Chapter 3 that is referred to in the Japanese-speaking mediation context is the importance of mediation being conducted in a safe space. Because of their unfamiliarity with the notion yet recognition of the importance of Umbreit's (2001) work, Fujioka (2007) and Ishihara (Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012) decided to transliterate those terms to introduce the notion described by the terms spiritual or spirituality to the context of mediation in Japan.

Transliterated spirituality, which were written in *katakana* letters, conveys something positive, advanced, fashionable and 'foreign' by eradicating the links to the supernatural (Horie, 2009 and 2019).<sup>152</sup> However, Japan ADR Association's recommendation submitted in 2018 includes that there has been no significant increase in the use of private mediation since the ADR Act 2004 came into force (Japan ADR Association, 2018). What are the underlying attitudes of such an unpopularity of mediation in Japan?

The next section, thus, analyses the expectations of those who turn to mediation in Japan, in order to understand the reasons behind this lack of growth followed by a case study.

### 5.3 What is expected in Japan's mediation?

Mediation is often described as meeting Japan's cultural expectations and preferences for non-litigious resolutions (Haley, 1979). However, considerable time has passed since the promulgation of the Seventeen-Article Constitution in 604, although the strong intention of preserving harmony in the community has been maintained through the development of alternative methods to litigation from the establishment of *naisai* to the recent enforcement of the ADR Act 2004. Japanese people have been described as preferring to use a *naisai* style justice system, which can be mediation in today's Japan because the Japanese are familiar with a Buddhism peaceful ideology, which influenced Prince Shōtoku's constitution, as well as Shintoism, which was the main religion in Japan by that time (Tanaka, 2000: 105). 153

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Fujioka (2007) also applied *seishin*. The detailed analysis over the suitability of the applied translations will be presented in the next chapter, after the examination of the notion of spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> As mentioned in the earlier section, the Japanese people have long valued the concept of *wa* since 604 (Baum, 2013: 1014; Callister and Wall, 1997:312; Uchtmann, Blessen, and Maloney, 1987: 351; Tanaka, 2000, 105 and 107; Upham, 1976: 594, and 616-617; Yoshida, 2003). The value still exists in modern Japan (Tanaka, 2000; Tanaka, 2006).

Considering the fact that something similar to mediation regardless of the name of the method has always been available in Japan since at least 604, when there was no litigation available yet, have they still been under such religious influences for preferring mediatory measures to litigation? However, the fat that the increase of the use of private mediation under the ADR Act 2004 has been very subtle, should not be ignored (Japan ADR Association, 2018). The following sections thus discuss what people who turn to mediation expect apart from the known advantages of using ADR rather than litigation, which are that ADR is cheaper and less time-consuming. <sup>154</sup> The discussion in this section concludes by assessing whether or not these expectations include mediation being 'spiritual' in the ways that are expressed by the eight precepts identified in Chapter 3.

The first traditional view is one that is discussed very frequently by scholars whereas the second perspective is proposed by more contemporary researchers since the enforcement of the ADR Act 2004.

#### 5.3.1 Traditional view: to keep a harmonious relationship

Upham (1976: 586 and 589) analysed the Japanese approach to litigation mechanisms and techniques and their implications by revealing the so-called 'Big Four' pollution injury cases in the 1970s. According to Upham (1976), the victims resisted or were reluctant to use litigation, and some of those victims thus settled for significantly less compensation because they chose to use mediation, which Upham suggests is more like arbitration.

This sense of *wa* is strongly observed in the unique Japanese concepts of *giri* and *sekentei* (Yoshida, 2003; Tanaka, 2000: 107). <sup>156</sup> *Giri* is described as an underlying concept for the *Tokugawa* shogunate's societal rules (Uchtmann, Blessen, and Maloney, 1987: 350). While *giri* is said to have no English equivalent word (Benedict, 1946: 133; Yoshida, 2003), it refers to 'social obligation', which correlates to gratitude or appreciation of kindness (Lebra, 1976: 46, 91-95). Examples of *giri* include, "obstinacy, consideration for others, moral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> The demand for mediation in contemporary Japan has been driven by the need to decrease costs and to avoid the lengthy litigation procedure, thereby increasing access to justice as discussed in 5.2 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> "These cases are commonly known as the Toyama *Itai Itai* Case (Toyama District Court, decided June 20, 1971; appeal decided by the Kanazawa Branch of the Nagoya High Court, August 9, 1972)[...]; the Niigata Minamata Disease Case (Niigata District Court, Sept. 29, 1971)[...]; the Yokkaichi Case (Tsu District Court, Yokkaichi Branch, July 24, 1972)[...]; and the Kumamoto Minamata Disease Case (Kumamoto District Court, March 10, 1973)[...]. All but *Yokkaichi*, an air pollution case, concerned the pollution of natural water systems by chemical effluence from the defendant companies. The *Toyama* case concerned poisoning by cadmium; the other two involved mercury poisoning." (Upham, 1976: 479).

indebtedness, or community obligation, and so on" (Yoshida, 2003). Normally, *giri* is understood to appear as an obstruction to litigation (Rokumoto, 1986: 228-229). However, as seen in Upham's (1976) analysis, the concept of *giri* may also help in facilitating a group litigation.

In a similar way, the Japanese are said to retain a strong sense of *sekentei*, which Yoshida (2003) translates as 'social awareness'. In the context of a close-knit community, *sekentei* requires, if not demands, people to be excessively conscious about how they appear, compared to other people in the community. Differing from the rest of the community is an individual embarrassment, and this has been identified as a 'shame culture' (Benedict, 1946: see mainly, 222-227). The Japanese feel shame when undermining or denigrating their status on two conditions (Lebra, 1976: 79-80). The first is one's status being recognised by others, and the second is the unsuitable behaviour of one's status being exposed to other people. Taking care of one's *sekentei* protects the individual from embarrassment in both these situations. Describing a whole nation composed of various cultural minorities as a 'shame culture' is debatable since Benedict (1946) only carried out her fieldwork among Japanese immigrants in the USA (Lewis, 1997: 68). However, other scholars also echo that the tendency for people in Japan to be influenced by either guilt or shame, or both of these, in their daily lives (Lewis, 2018: 207).

Where such a strong sense of harmony, or perhaps uniformity, exists in a community, becoming a litigant in a lawsuit means that the litigant does not appreciate other people's indebtedness in the community and that they are different from others in the community. The litigant has only two options, to be seen as a complainer or to be seen as in harmony with the community. Hence, people decide to join the litigation or not to, in order to be in harmony with the rest of their community members, regardless of their own wishes.

The idea that Japanese people may be traditionally 'reluctant to sue' has been around since Kawashima proposed this argument in 1963. The tendency has been discussed by a number of scholars who have identified political, institutional, cultural, economic or circumstantial reasons in such attitudes towards litigation. However, Murayama (2014: 203) has argued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup>For example, Ginsburg and Hoetker (2006), Haley (1979), Kawashima (1963), Murayama (2014), Ramseyer (1988), and Tanase (1990)

that this attitude toward litigation has changed since the 1960s and that now, people do not hesitate to initiate lawsuits, as long as the immediate circumstances of the prospective litigant permit such an action.

Haley (1979) has argued that it is Japan's legal system itself that prevents its citizens from bringing legal actions before the courts. However, this may not be a dominant reason and is a little too narrow, although aforementioned Kawashima's (1963) view does not entirely reflect the Japanese litigation culture, either (Murayama, 2017). What Murayama (2017) discovered based on his empirical research was that, "there is a cheaper and sometimes compulsory *chōtei* system in parallel to its litigation system, and also there is very narrow access to appointing lawyers" (Murayama, 2017: 304-305). Public legal advice bureaus, which are run by either the public authority or non-profit making organisations, offer good access to legal advice for the Japanese (Murayama, 2017: 306-207). Access to courts or involvements in lawsuits, both fewer or lesser in numbers, do not influence or change their legal consciousness, especially their awareness of their legal rights and responsibilities (Muramatsu, 2010).

As Haley (1979) himself has acknowledged, Japan's social organisations and values are more supportive of informal settlements through methods such as mediation and the Japanese may not necessarily pursue litigation when they can achieve the same result using alternative methods. Furthermore, when no agreement is reached through alternative methods such as *chōtei* and mediation, they can always pursue their claims in court.

The underlying cultural factors that have been discussed so far such as weighing *wa*, *giri*, or *sekentei* within the community, exist in the, "immediate circumstances that a person faces at the time of experiencing a problem" in Japan where shame is heavily emphasized (Benedict, 1946: 286-289; Murayama, 2014: 196-200, and 203) as is guilt (Lewis, 2018; 2013: 205-208). Murayama's (2017: 294) empirical data suggests that the more considerate the prospective litigants are towards the influence on the relationship with the opponent because of bringing a legal action, the less the litigation will be. The data also shows that those who have lived in the same area longer and earn more, and those who consider harmony with others more important than insisting on individual rights, are less likely to face legal disputes (Murayama, 2017: 284 and 287).

Another advantage of mediation is that it has maintained *wa* in the Japanese community where disputes occur and because it is confidential, the involved disputants do not lose face and their social status is not undermined by exposing their issues in public (Callister and Wall, 1997: 314). There will be a solution for disputes, "when there is congruence between individuals and their community, with shared commitment to common values" (Auerbach, 1983: 16). That is because, "the Japanese 'group ethic' means that greater emphasis is placed on honouring obligations to others within one's own group than on helping those who are outside one's group" (Lewis, 2013: 210-211).

If individuals in the same community were to appear congruent to their community, there would be fewer conflicts that require either legal or alternative solutions such as mediation. When conflicts do arise within communities, how the conflict is resolved reveals the 'most basic values' of that community (Auerbach, 1983: 3), and the method or willingness of preserving the community reflects on how to solve the conflicts that occur within it (Auerbach, 1983: 4). Furthermore, the mediator is often a communication initiator between the disputants who is motivated to "do good for both parties" (Lebra, 1976: 122). In this way, the mediator cannot undertake their task unless the disputants agree that they become mediator. Otherwise, it would be considered as "osekkai ("meddlesomeness")" (Lebra, 1976: 41). <sup>158</sup> Mediation is situated on a fine line between empathy, or the ability and willingness to help other people by understanding others' feelings in the situation, and being seen as meddlesome, which is "the antithesis of empathetic understanding" (Lebra, 1976: 39 and 41).

By selecting a mediator in this manner, if the involvement of 'mediation' was exposed to other members of the community or the mediation failed, neither disputant involved in the mediation loses face because the communication was initiated by the 'mediator' whose communication skills are then considered not appropriate or good enough to solve the issue. However, the mediator is not embarrassed by having failed to mediate because they are seen as having acted from his *giri* for those disputants and "attaining harmony is a noble one" (Callister and Wall, 1997: 314). The community's other residents may also recommend that disputing parties use such a 'mediator', who does not necessarily require systematic training or certification and can be chosen based on the religious, political, moral or any

<sup>158</sup> The Japanese translation is お節介.

other personal preferences of those who require mediation if they are acting privately outside of the legal system, on an *ad hoc* basis.

The community would rather honour this type of half-voluntary but half-active involvement of a 'mediator' as this preserves wa in that community. In one view, the more close-knit the community, the less litigatory demands exist within the community (Auerbach, 1983: 19); on the other hand, they can be more litigious *because* of community ties (Tanaka, 2000: 112 and 132-133). For example, Upham (1976) reported that some of the victims of the Big Four Pollution civil litigation cases in Japan decided whether to join the litigation based on their desire to preserve a sense of community. If others join, they join as well; if others do not, they then do not join. Being in a unison with other members of the community allows to preserve the community harmony.

In reporting his private survey conducted in Japan, Lewis (2018: 300-304) analysed that the Japanese seem to have feelings of shame and guilt concurrently yet independently. In other words, the Japanese feel a sense of shame and guilt even when others did not know about the actions that caused these feelings (Lewis, 2018: 301 and 303). There seems to be a 'new' morality among the Japanese people, but it is deeply embedded in their daily life practice as, "the personal, inmost element of man, that element which makes him conscious of sin" (Lewis, 2018: 303-304 by citing Babase, 1967: 73). Based on the analysis in this section, the Japanese seem to prefer following what other people do in their community.

In the context of this unique value, what manifests one's justice may depend on the circumstances, including the cultural context (MacIntyre, 2007/1981 and 2001; Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 10-17). It may be more appropriate to refer to a plurality of justices because there is more than one rationality (MacIntyre, 2001/1988: 9). Even in contemporary Japan, the complex nature of what is moral or not because of the emphasis on shame and guilt, based on *wa*, *giri*, and *sekentei*, still influence social attitudes. However, the resources used to layout such attitudes of Japanese people are admittedly outdated. Whether this traditional view still suffices in modern Japan will be discussed in the case study at 5.3.3 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> McKay (2001: 59 as cited in Lewis, 2018: 303) also confirmed Lewis's (2018) results.

 $<sup>^{160}</sup>$  According to Jones (2016: 289), morality is concerned with how we deal with other people.

Settling disputes within horizontal interpersonal relationships such as within a relatively close group or local community may be preferred to using mediation or *chōtei* because involving authoritative figures such as certified mediators or *chōtei* personnel through registration means that their issues would be recorded semi-permanently (Rokumoto, 1986: 209; Tanaka, 2000: 133). In addition, individuals may feel that as informal third-party interveners offer their time and efforts freely, they may resolve issues more quickly, as well there being no financial loss because informal mediators cannot receive any monetary compensation for their services under Article 72 of the Attorney Act. While community spirit in Japan appears to be humanistic and beautiful, although slightly over-dependent on 'others', there seem to be no clear resemblances to the eight precepts of spirituality in their desires and decisions, except for a strong urge to make mediation safe.

#### 5.3.2 Contemporary view: avoiding unfair decisions

Since the enforcement of the ADR Act 2004, there have been many articles published in the field, some of which have raised concerns about the quality of mediation, especially in the private sector, now made widely available by the Act. According to Yamada's (2009) analysis, Japan's judicial and administrative ADR methods, including their mediation and *chōtei*, are trusted by the users because of the professionalism that the intervening third party brings to the table. By contrast, the quality of private mediation under the ADR Act 2004 is seen as inferior to the other two types of mediation, mainly due to a perceived lack of training. The analysis concludes that, although a preference for mediation over litigation is stronger due to the desire of preserving harmony and the enforced certification by the ADR Act 2004 is now available, only the procedural fairness such as access to mediation is guaranteed under the Act but not the practice quality of private, certified mediators due to a lack of training. <sup>161</sup>

This situation is not dissimilar to the certification scheme in place in Massachusetts which did not consider the training process as a vital part. <sup>162</sup> In modern Japan, people's strong demands of seeking standardised service quality developed through training and practical experience, rather than mere certification (Miyatake, 2017, Yamada, 2009), are due to the fact that its third-party dispute intervention has been predominantly offered by law professionals. Yamada (2009) suggests that access to the necessary legal advice appears to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Hence, the Article 6(v) of the ADR Act 2004 as discussed in 5.2.3 above.

 $<sup>^{162}</sup>$  As discussed in Chapter 3.

be vital for prospective mediation users in that country, which is another reason why they may still prefer using litigation.

Both Yamada (2009) and Miyatake (2017) point out that there is not enough emphasis on a mediator's duty of confidentiality in both the private sector and judiciary. Miyatake (2017) argues that in *chōtei*, this is due to having to balance the disputants' confidentiality against public interest, and that private mediation under the ADR Act 2004 inherited this tendency. Both authors criticise the certified, private mediation under the ADR Act 2004 for failing to gain enough trust from the public due to those reasons. The users of mediation predominantly prefer to be a part of a legal practice which is regulated for the professional standards.

There are also historical reasons why the mediation under the ADR Act 2004 has attracted so few users, according to Miyatake (2017). In her extensive research into the history of using *naisai*, *kankai* and *chōtei* in pre-World War II Japan, she found that throughout history up to the World War II, all three had been used by the government as a tool of authority to suppress people and abuse their human rights. Although this was only up to the period before the War, Miyatake (2017) argues that this has severely scarred the people of Japan, including legal scholars and practitioners. This is why, she suggests, there is a reluctance to use *chōtei* or any other ADR methods, including private mediation, viewing these as inferior to litigation (Miyatake, 2017). In other words, in the eyes of the Japanese people, the ADR and litigation are somewhat considered to be in the same category of *receiving* resolution although the purpose of mediation differs from litigation as for *achieving* settlements. Based on these findings, providing mediation training as part of certification is recommended to assure the service quality (Miyatake, 2017). <sup>163</sup>

The traditional view of the people of Japan being generally non-litigiousness has long been accepted in academic discussions. <sup>164</sup> The perspectives of Yamada (2009) and Miyatake (2017) are relatively new. However, so far, they do not appear to contradict this accepted wisdom. What is controversial is Miyatake's (2017) description of the nature of *chōtei* as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Miyatake's (2017) research was approved and valued by the research committee of Hitotsubashi University, Tokyo, Japan, for raising an extremely new and convincing point which had not been made by any scholars in the *chōtei* research field before (Hitotsubashi University, 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> As shown in the previous subsection.

heteronomous. In her analysis, the Japanese do not have enough self-autonomy when they are involved in disputes. In other words, they use litigation to seek someone who will settle their disputes.

Her unique analysis of Japan's mediation history, including *chōtei*, provides the background to what the present thesis has categorised as the traditional view in the previous subsection. Despite societal expectations and socially embedded, unspoken rules to respect *wa*, *giri*, and *sekentei*, their non-litigious attitudes are as a result of their accumulated fear of being treated unfairly in mediation based on such a history (Miyatake, 2017). This vicious cycle of third-party dispute intervention being heteronomous and its users lacking self-autonomy, negatively influences the development of mediation, both *chōtei* and private mediation, as well as the frequencies of using the service in Japan.

What this section has discussed so far is the theoretical expectations of people in Japan who seek mediation. To better illustrate these two perspectives, the next section presents a case study of neighbour dispute in modern Japan.

#### **5.3.3** Case study to illustrate those two views

In order to further illustrate the current mediation provision in Japan in the context of the two views discussed in the previous two sections, this section focuses on a neighbour dispute in the country as a case study: the neighbourhood association and the communities' garbage collection points.

In Japan, there are neighbourhood associations, community-based voluntary organisations which are often called 'chōnaikai' or 'jichikai' (the 'Associations'). This community-based organisation is not a branch or part of any municipal bodies such as local government or council offices and has nothing to do with administrative bodies of the country's government, either. Under legislation called *Chihōjichi Hō* (Act No. 67 of 1947), 166 the associations are not defined, although their rights and duties are under Article 206(2). An association in a community is normally run by the residents of the area, and each household pays a membership fee. While there are no national rules in place, local rules are likely to include

<sup>165</sup> The Japanese translations of 'chōnaikai' and 'jichikai' are respectively 町内会 and 自治会.

<sup>166</sup> This legislation is not translated officially into English language, and its English translation can be the 'Local Autonomy Act'. The Japanese translation of the Act, *Chihōjichi Hō*, is 地方自治法.

assigning each member resident to an unpaid chore such as cleaning the communal collection points of house-hold waste. Waste collections are arranged by the local government or council using tax money (Article 6 (2) i of the Waste Management and Public Cleansing Act (Act No.137 of 1970)). The Association tends to oversee the collection points which may be set up in a plot of land owned by the Association. In 2005, the Supreme Court held that the Associations in Japan were established without rights, and thus cannot force local residents to join and must not stop the residents' right to resign at any time of the membership year unless the Association clearly states that such resignation is not permitted in its rule book.<sup>167</sup>

By this decision, together with the fact that the household waste collection services are organised by local government, any residents without unpaid levies are entitled to use the services, regardless of whether they are a member of their local Association. However, mass media including NHK, Japan Broadcasting Corporation, and Sankei Shimbun, one of major national newspapers, have respectively reported incidents of residents in Osaka (Japan Broadcasting Corporation, 2018) and in Tokyo (Sankei Shimbun, 2017) who, at the time of reporting, were banned from using the communal collection points and forced not to use the services because they had not joined their local Association. They both refused to join due to the sheer volume of the auto-assigned unpaid duties and chores that the Association demanded from its members.

The case, discussed on the resident's twitter feed leading eventually to being reported by NHK, was settled immediately after the broadcast: the local council initiated a tripartite discussion with the Association and the residents. Before the broadcast, the local council had responded to the resident that they, the Association and the resident, should discuss the matter directly, stating that the council can provide no solution since it offers no individual waste collection service to its residents. When the resident contacted the Association with some alternative proposals regarding the assigned duties and chores, she was turned down on the basis that accepting her offer would make an exception, which would be unfair to the rest of the community. Instead, the Association insisted on her joining the Association and undertaking all the chores and duties as other members, if she wished to use the collection point (Japan Broadcasting Corporation, 2018).

-

<sup>167</sup> The matter number: 平成 16(ネ)946 listed in Shumin, vol.216 at 639.

Both cases reported were the similar but separate incidents occurred after the enforcement of the ADR Act 2004 in 2007. The reports also warned that similar neighbour dispute cases were on the increase across the country and that increasing numbers of people are now seeking legal advice to find solutions. Mediation was not used or even considered in either case, according to the reports, nor was there any encouragement to use mediation. Those reports also illustrated as that no 'community leaders', who offer mediation free of charge and out of their goodwill, were available in the areas where the incidents occurred.

In those mass media reports, the 'community leaders' of their local Associations seem certainly not in the position of undertaking mediation as they themselves were in dispute with the local residents. Both reports urged the administrative bodies, including local councils, to review the current system, including its ordinances and relationships with the local Associations, to ensure fair treatment for local residents. As Sankei Shimbun (2017) has pointed out, the Associations were founded during World War II and people's lifestyles and needs have significantly changed since then. The law and rules binding its local residents and Associations need to change to reflect this.

However, these suggested changes and general restructuring that would address issues such as above discussed neighbour disputes, cannot be put on hold for years until such desired reforms are implemented. In order to address the issues promptly, for example so to use the waste collection points, the residents in this case study chose either to go court or leak their situation anonymously to the public, including mass media, rather than using mediation. This case study illustrates that the reason why people in Japan now do not use mediation is not so much because of a desire to preserve community harmony but because they do not tolerate someone who fails to act from a desire to keep harmony in the community. There is no need to discuss with such an 'intruder' to the community harmony. This supports the first traditional view above.

This does not mean that people do not use litigation. They know to use courts to argue and seek for judgments. Japanese people traditionally consider litigation as public decision-making and fight (Rokumoto, 1986: 247-248); they bring their issues before the courts to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> A similar point is made in an article published by Kenmochi (2016), a researcher at the Legal Department of Japan Centre for Cities. Although Kenmochi (2016) did not mention using mediation to achieve autonomy in their own communities, she did suggest that administrative changes were urgently needed.

receive a judgement yet doing so means dispute. There has been a cultural tendency to observe legal frameworks or legislative measures as a 'last resort' and consider it as 'decorative' or systematic policies rather than practical tools to control society (Kawashima, 1967:47-48; Tanaka, 2000 and 2006). Thus, when they decide to act on solving their disputes, they do so by taking their opponents to places where they are exposed to a bigger, larger community such as online forum using twitter, mass media which broadcasts nationally, or the courts. Nonetheless, the courts take longer to decide and more money while SNS feeds and mass media take much shorter, if not immediate, to act and free of charge.

Miyatake (2017) has suggested that their heteronomous attitudes may be described as being a result of the Japanese losing or failing to develop enough autonomy over justice and their abilities to discuss and negotiate so as to be able to settle their own disputes. She further claimed that the Japanese will insist on their rights and entitlements despite lacking such autonomous techniques to settle own disputes without seeking a decision maker. As a result, when all parties are in conflict and are unable to yield to the other with the aim of finding a reasonable compromise, there will be no solution but to seek a third party to decide for them.

Mediation can be used effectively when all parties involved start to talk to each other about their issues, not at the point when one of the parties has decided to disclose to a third-party, whether social media or the courts. This case study illustrates the point made by Miyatake (2017) and Yamada (2009) that the Japanese appear not to trust the ADR, including mediation and would rather stay dependent on and wait for, their decision-making bodies to make the required changes to their everyday lives, than become autonomous. Such decision-making bodies are judges, administrative bodies such as the legislature, or any rule making bodies, and now also include the general public.

Communities seem not only to have lost their leaders, who, according to the traditional view, provided mediation, but also the people do not use, or perhaps distrust, mediation and *chōtei*. They expect courts, if not the wider public accessible through mass media such as national newspaper or TV programmes, to make decisions for them. When they do decide to argue and fight for justice, thereby breaking the harmony, which is still seen as a last resort, they prefer the dispute process to be disclosed and recorded semi-permanently and

officially. They do not hesitate to use mass media or courts then because their motive is to ask the wider society to be on their side for justice. They do not lose their face by speaking up for themselves treated unreasonably, either; their action also protects someone who may be in the similar position as theirs. In this way, they cannot be victimised for unfair decisions which may be the case in using mediation. Mediation and *chōtei* available in Japan do not meet this need to air grievances publicly because the process takes place behind closed doors.<sup>169</sup>

In such circumstances, introducing the notion of spirituality in mediation by using transliterated spirituality may not impress the public or be appreciated by its prospective users and service providers. In answering those two questions posed in the end of the previous section,<sup>170</sup> this section concludes as that mediation in Japan has been expected to be a part of judiciary where law is a central force. Although the ADR Act 2004 contains 'alternative dispute resolution' in its title and came into force in 2007, the people of Japan seem not to consider mediation as alternative to litigation. Because of the heteronomous attitudes together with the strong desires for obtaining resolution from a fair, authoritative body which includes the wider society as an entity rather than achieving settlements on their own, mediation in Japan did not have to develop the notion of using spirituality in settling disputes.

The notion expressed by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit must have been observed by Japanese scholars as, again to reiterate, new, advanced and foreign (Horie, 2009), which should thus be expressed by transliteration. The consequences of using transliterated spirituality to introduce and apply the notion to such a small, unpopular mediation market will be analysed in more detail in the next chapter. In order to do so, the next section revisits the eight precepts as a notion in the context of the issues that have been explored in this chapter.

# 5.4 Would the notion of using spirituality in mediation be understood in Japan?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> However, Miyatake (2017) claimed that the degree of confidentiality in private mediation is insufficient. See also, Yamada (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> These questions are the reason the terms spiritual or spirituality did not appear in the Japanese-speaking mediation context prior to 2007 and why mediation has not increased in its use since 2007.

Based on the case study presented in the previous section, together with the issues explored in this chapter so far, this section poses the question whether it is realistic for the notion of spirituality to be used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

As discussed in Chapter 1, there are cultural minorities in Japan. The first precept identified in Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997; 2001) was that spirituality is applicable to and does not discriminate against anyone due to their culture. This wide, equal application of spirituality, regardless of cultural background, appears to be supportive in a multi-cultural society like Japan. It can remove cultural barriers that may exist between people. In the case study, the issue was over the auto-assigned duties so to use the shared waste-collection point. Likewise, the second precept, which removes barriers between religions by using the inclusive terms spiritual or spirituality, could have the same effect in the case study. Although the cultural and religious backgrounds of those involved were not revealed, the first and second precepts would fail immediately in a situation which involved disputing parties of different cultural and religious backgrounds if its application was limited to certain cultures including customs or religions.

In Japan where the ADR Act 2004 and other previous legislation widely recognise the risks of intersecting with members of organised crime, the third and fourth precepts may be better understood. As already discussed in Chapter 3, there are research conducted by Japanese researchers on power of language. Furthermore, according to Horie (2019: 17-16), transliterated spirituality used in the fields of psychology and sociology of religions contains people's interests and beliefs in such spirits of deceased. His research hints the possibility of Japanese speaking people to understand and accept spirituality used by Umbreit (1997 and 2001), which contain this aspect of indigenous mediation's spirituality. Although the third precept includes elements that cannot be tested or proved empirically, society acknowledges the risks of the intervention of a third party that uses threats and violence in dispute resolutions. This social awareness also extends to the part of the sixth precept that emphasises the need for mediation to be held somewhere safe.

With regards to the fifth precept, which is about shifting consciousness to a higher level, mediation in Japan has already introduced the transformative mediation model which uses similar terminology (Wada, Ando, and Tanaka, 2015; Wada and Nakanishi, 2016; Wada and

Otsuka, 2014; Science Council of Japan, 2008; Yoshida, 2009). When choosing a mediator rather than social or mass media to seek justice, this precept can be resembled and introduced as if being a part of the transformative mediation model. Those who are already familiar with transformative model including mediators and prospective clients will be capable of understanding the idea of a shift in consciousness. The issue discovered in this chapter, however, illustrates that the real problem is not about whether people in Japan would understand the idea; it is with their heteronomous attitudes and also with the unpopular mediation which does not *resolve* the issue for the disputants like courts do (Miyatake, 2017).

Considering how to encourage and promote third-party alternative dispute intervention in Japan is beyond the scope of the present thesis and needs to be taken up in future research. The focus of the present thesis is the introduction of the terms spiritual or spirituality by way of translation to Japan's mediation provision, a currently unpopular alternative to resolving disputes, without unpacking their meanings. While the importance of the fifth precept might be recognised by people in Japan, their attitudes as identified by the extensive research conducted by Miyatake (2017), remain unchanged. As a result, this fifth precept will be misunderstood. People, who have not established their own self-autonomy over justice and view mediation as an inferior process to litigation for resolving their issues (Miyatake, 2017), are less likely to understand the idea. They may understand the fifth precept as though a mediator resolves the issues brought to the mediation session for the clients by being connected.

Even so, there are further precepts. The differences between the shift described with reference to spirituality and the shift as described in the context of the transformative mediation model, have already been discussed in Chapter 4, in particular, the sixth precept, reference to feelings of holiness or sacredness. As shown in the seventh precept, such feelings of holiness or sacredness do not necessarily have religious connotations or are associated with organised religions. However, as discussed in Chapter 1, the binary classification as being either religious or non-religious exists in Japan (Lewis, 2018).

As seen in Chapter 3, faith-based mediation was described as accommodating spirituality, whereas mediation described by using the terms spiritual or spirituality is not necessarily

always to become faith-based mediation. In a similar manner, some practitioners in non-indigenous mediation do not specify their practice model when using the terms spiritual or spirituality to describe their mediation practice. Under the seventh and eighth precepts, a mediator may explain that this sense of holiness or sacredness does not imply any religious doctrine or faith and may emphasise the differences between their mediation and faith-based mediation; however, other mediators and prospective clients in Japan will draw on the two opposing categories of the binary classification, religious or non-religious, to understand these precepts.

This section concludes that, although the notion of using spirituality may be understood and recognised as important, it raises a number of issues. However, given the realities of the Japanese-speaking mediation context, transliterating the English term spirituality may appear to be a reasonable choice. As discussed in Chapter 2, the relationship between transliterated spirituality and religion, which relates to the second precept, can be categorised in four ways (Ando, 2006): transliterated spirituality includes religion; they overlap although are partially different; religion contains spirituality; or both are different (for similar arguments see Kasai, 2003: 124). These four categorisations reflect and acknowledge the second precept well. The notion thus has been introduced by using transliteration to emphasise the idea is advanced, stylish and not originally developed in the Japanese-speaking mediation context (Horie, 2009; 2019).

Transliterated spirituality also succeeded to lose the meaning of the supernatural or otherworldliness by replacing the term *reisei* which contains the letter *rei* (霊). Although the application of transliteration may be preferred by the Japanese-speaking audience who seemingly only depend on the binary classification as being religious or non-religious, Umbreit's (2001) spirituality contains both spiritualities used in the indigenous and non-indigenous mediation. The latter spirituality is ironically better described by using the term *reisei*, due to the letter *rei* (霊) which connotes the concept of the supernatural or otherworldliness. Therefore, the next chapter articulates suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

To establish whether the notion of spirituality generated in Chapter 3 has ever been a part of mediation in Japan, this chapter has discussed how mediation has developed in the country and what users expect from mediation. The people of Japan recognise the need to preserve the mediation session as a safe space due to their societal problems with organised crime groups. However, there is no clear evidence that mediation in Japan has ever been associated with the spirituality that Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit refer to. On the other hand, the desire to make mediation practices safer could make Japanese speaking mediators and prospective clients receptive to the notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation.

In addition, it has been suggested that litigation processes which ultimately make decisions about who is right and who is wrong undermine the value Japanese people place on maintaining harmonious relationships. Because maintaining 'harmony' tends to be the priority, it has once been argued, disputants would come to settlement to save the mediator's face, who is often a member of their close-knit community such as a family member or community leader (Wada, Ando and Tanaka, 2015: 4).

In the past two decades, Japan has taken the rather radical, progressive approach in both certifying its mediators and excluding some groups from becoming mediators by way of the ADR Act 2004. The enactment of the Act was as a result of recognising that who mediates matters; however, unsurprisingly, this was not due to any recognition of mediation having a spiritual dimension. Rather, Japan needed the legislation to safeguard its mediation users from anti-social groups such as organised crime groups, including *Yakuza*.

Although mediation has long been used in Japan, the Japanese equivalences to the English word 'spirituality' has only been used in the context of mediation for the past two decades or less since the translation of Gold and Umbreit's work by Fujioka (2007) using transliteration and the term *seishin*. Because transliterated spirituality associates the notion with being 'advanced', 'new', 'foreign' and 'stylish' (Horie, 2009), Fujioka (2007) and Ishihara (Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012) perhaps both chose to use the transliteration in their work.

In such circumstances, describing mediation practice using the transliterated term spirituality seems rather abrupt. While Japan has historically put significant weight on keeping harmonious relationships regardless of its legal development, ADR, including certified private mediation, has not been used much and there has been no increase in its use since the enactment (Japan ADR Association, 2018). Miyatake (2017) and Yamada (2009) have proposed a number of reasons for this unpopularity and these have been discussed through a case study of a recent neighbour dispute that was reported by the national media. The community mediators who, used to be available in these situations to intervene informally, are no longer available. Instead, disputants prefer to look to the wider community or turn to courts to seek 'justice'.

This attitude has been described as heteronomous by Miyatake (2017); however, the people of Japan solve disputes by drawing on *giri*, *sekentei* and respect for *wa* in their community. The larger the community, the more shame they will face. Thus, Japanese risk loss of faces when using such heteronomous methods because they need to defend and win their claims. When they do so, they do not use alternatives to litigation because they want a definitive judgment; however, this does not need to be the court process, which takes longer and costs more. If the matter is urgent, they will use the media to seek that judgement.

Finally, mediation available either as a form of *chōtei* or private mediation made available under the ADR Act 2004 require users to have access to legal advice; the former is attended by a judge together with *chōtei* personnel and the latter requires mediators to be legal experts depending on the issue that is being disputed; alternatively, if the mediator does not have the requisite expertise, they need to ensure that their clients have access to the necessary legal advice. For Japanese-speaking disputants, mediation is inseparable from legal advice and they therefore expect its outcome to be consistent with the rule of law. In such expectations, using litigation and attending mediation are in the same category of fight to seek justice (Rokumoto, 1986: 247-248).

Given these factors, using transliteration to introduce a notion like spirituality, whose meaning is context dependent, without first defining its meaning in the specific context, is bound to result in ambiguity. Certainly, the introduction of the term in 2007 does not appear to have contributed to increasing the popularity of mediation in Japan. This does not mean

that people in Japan do not recognise or understand each precept. However, people's binary classification as being either religious or non-religious also influences the extent to which some of the precepts can be conveyed accurately. While transliteration may contribute to reducing some of the identified issues, it is also problematic in other ways, as discussed in this chapter as well as Chapter 2. Thus, the suitability of introducing the notion using current translations will be discussed in the following chapter.

# 6 Suitability of the currently applied translations in the Japanese-speaking mediation context

#### **6.1 Introduction**

While mediation is unpopular in Japan, expected to be a part of legal profession and still in the process of gaining public trust, the introduction of the notion described by the English terms spiritual and spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context in 2007 itself might have been rather abrupt. This is especially so considering the fact that most of the precepts regarding the notion of using spirituality has never been discussed in regard to mediation in Japan before that year, although there are enough insights where those precepts are understood and accepted by both mediators and clients. Based on such present circumstances, this chapter articulates the suitability of the translations applied for these English terms in the context of mediation in Japan.

This chapter first discusses the suitability of the currently applied Japanese translations, that are *seishin* and transliterated spirituality, for the English terms spiritual and spirituality used in the context of mediation. The applied term *seishin* often relates to mental, psychological aspects, and whether this term meets the eight precepts generated in the textual analyses is discussed. The following discussion in this section is to revisit the relationship between the transliterated spiritualities used in peacebuilding and mediation in Japan.<sup>171</sup> Provided the meaning of transliterated spirituality are the same in both peacebuilding and mediation, the mediators who use the terms in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation may be categorised and recognised the same as peacebuilders. If their meanings are different, it poses the question on the suitability of the translation. The third discussion is on the relationship between transliterated spirituality and religion in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

As already mentioned in Chapter 2, transliterated spirituality, which has currently been applied as its translation, has only been used since the late 1970s (Shimazono, 2012). On the other hand, Japan's mediation practice had already been used long before then although it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> To reiterate, the same transliterated spirituality has been used in both peacebuilding and mediation which are not the same professions. By using the same term, the border between the two professions has become ambiguous.

only admits some of the generated precepts of spirituality as discussed in the previous chapter. Should the present thesis find the transliteration, a relatively new word, as more suitable for the English terms spiritual or spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, the findings mean that spirituality has nothing to do with mediation conducted before the 1970s.

However, such finding appears rather odd already for two reasons. First, there has been no significant change then as observed in Chapter 5. Secondly, the question was already evident in that chapter as to whether the term *reisei* can be better suited as a translation for the English terms 'spiritual' and 'spirituality' used by Lois Gold (1993 and 2003) and Mark S. Umbreit (1997 and 2001) due to the letter *rei* (ﷺ). Thus, the subsequent sections articulate what *reisei* is and whether this other term, *reisei*, should be used as a Japanese translation of the English term spirituality in the mediation context.

### 6.2 Revisiting the currently applied translations with the eight precepts

Based on the findings so far, do the currently applied Japanese translations used in its mediation context for the English terms spiritual or spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit convey what the two authors mean by these terms in the Japanese-speaking mediation context?

#### 6.2.1 Does the term seishin convey the eight precepts?

The meanings of the term *seishin* were discussed in Chapter 1. All of the eight precepts may be able to replace the English term spirituality with the term *seishin*, except for the second precept. Without doubt, *seishin*, which is equivalent to 'mentality', 'wills' or 'mind' in the English language, applies to anyone because all human beings have it. One's mentality may affect other people around the one both negatively and positively, and others can sense the one's psychological being or state without oral communication. Highly motivated people can influence others through direct communication to achieve their purposes, and such influences can be responded to better in safe spaces than by using threats and violence. Such safe spaces need not be religious and will be non-judgemental. However, the second precept causes difficulties if *seishin* were to translate the English term spirituality. The

arguments as to whether *seishin*, which can be mentality, wills or mind, either includes, is equivalent to, different from or interchangeable with, religions do not make much literal sense.

The term *seishin* indicates psychological or mental conditions or states of human beings. In the research on spirituality in the field of mental health welfare by Hashimoto (2014), the terms *seishin* and the transliterated spirituality were clearly distinguished. While the former referred to mental states of human beings, the latter was used to translate the English term spirituality used in the English resources published in the field. Nonetheless, the meaning of 'spirituality' in this context is not the same as the eight precepts identified in this research. However, the important point here is that, in Japanese research using both English and Japanese resources, those two Japanese terms are not used as synonym (see Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane, 2001 and 2002).

The English terms spiritual or spirituality concerned in the present thesis are those used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) do not refer to any psychological or mental conditions of their clients during the mediation sessions they experienced because of their clear distinction between mediation and psychotherapy. In Gold's (1993) view, the psychological pain and mental state exist separately and independently from her discussion of spirituality in the context of mediation. Gold (2003: 210) described the language of the spiritual reaches the deeper part of the psyche of her clients; she is trying to indicate the process of accessing something more than *seishin* or the mind of her clients. Similarly, Umbreit (2001) stressed, while admitting there was a positive implication from client-centred psychotherapy of Carl Rogers toward mediation in general, the humanistic mediation model does not require mediators to work on the clients' emotional reasons for disputing with others, which are often caused by or originated from their past events or experiences. Such work is left for therapists (Umbreit, 2001: 7).

When the Japanese terms *seishinteki* or *seishin* translate the English terms spiritual or spirituality, those Japanese terms, despite having been used as translations for those English terms, risk distorting those authors' arguments as whole. This is setting aside the point that the term *seishin* fails to make any literal sense should it be used in the second precept. Although the references to those English terms by either Gold (1993 and 2003) or Umbreit

(1997 and 2001) were only a component and do not form the whole framework of their published opinions, that part is an important element in contributing to shaping their arguments. In a similar manner for healthcare professionals (Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane: 2001 and 2002), the term *seishin* does not reflect what those two authors tried to convey in their English publications, either. In order to translate the English terms spiritual and spirituality used by those two authors, the present thesis found the term *seishin* as inadequate.

In discussing the meaning of *seishin*, which was a relatively new word at that time, Suzuki (1944/1972) describes it as thus having come to contain various meanings. Although this was written over 70 years ago, his subsequent paragraph discussing what *seishin* meant reads as:

So, without stopping to consider whether seishin meant kokoro or tamashii, the Japanese have combined characters and coined new words indiscriminately, under pre-text that the old forms were euphonically uninteresting, etc. Indiscriminate new word combinations have been and still are being manufactured, consciously and unconsciously, in all cultural quarters. Once they are coined-even though they might have been intended for just a short period of use-vested interests form around them which become highly difficult to remove. Though they might be inconvenient or even inappropriate, their power to live on becomes more and more tenacious as time passes (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 13, emphasis in the original, but in italic letters).

What Suzuki (1944/1972) described about *seishin* in 1944 seems still applicable to the shown situation in the present thesis. However, in modern Japan, the word *seishin* is used as a translation of the English term spirituality in addition to the multiple meanings it already had in 1944. As a result, despite Suzuki's clear distinction between *seishin* and *reisei*, both *seishin* and the transliterated spirituality ironically became the synonyms of *reisei* which was translated as 'spirituality' in English in Suzuki's 1972 book.

The transliterated spirituality together with *seishin* used in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation might be simply another example of such 'manufactured' words in Suzuki's words bearing the vested interests which are to accommodate the English term spirituality used by foreign mediators in the Japanese-speaking mediation contexts. Whether Daisetz Suzuki might agree or might not, with such a view is outside of the research focus of the present thesis, yet the current situation of the Japanese language in relation to what is expressed by the English terms spiritual and spirituality is mystifying.

The next subsection discusses the suitability of transliterated spirituality even though it has already been used to translate the English term spirituality in both fields of peacebuilding and mediation.

#### 6.2.2 Transliterated spirituality shared with peacebuilding

Unlike the term *seishin*, the suitability of transliterated spirituality as a translation for the English term spirituality cannot be analysed simply by arguing the meanings of transliterated spirituality in the mediation context. Transliteration enables the Japanese language to transplant the original foreign word by making the word as a Japanese word. Thus, transliterated spirituality should not be questioned as to whether it can be used as a replacement of the English term. According to Japanese scholars as discussed in Chapter 2, transliterated spirituality changes its meaning depending on the context in which it is used. Similarly, as articulated in Chapter 3, the meanings of the English term spirituality are also context-bound in nature, if not user-dependent. According to Hayashi (2007), the reason why each transliterated spirituality bears different meanings and it is not possible to find any commonality across such diverse applications, is the original term did not and still does not establish its independent meaning. The textual analyses discovered each user used these terminologies to convey their opinions, albeit different.

Therefore, or perhaps because of that, the issues with transliterated spirituality in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation are not in the term itself or with the diverse fields or contexts in which the term is originally used, but the variances in available translations in the Japanese language. The same transliterated spirituality has been used in different fields without fixing their meanings in each field. Mediation as a profession particularly concerns with peacebuilding and religious studies. Spirituality in peacebuilding in Japan falls in the second category of the New Spiritual Movements and Culture suggested by Shimazono (2007b and 2012). Spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit does not attempt any commercialisation or commodification of their services and does not fall in the first sector suggested by Shimazono (2007b and 2012). It is arguable, though, as to whether those mediators' spirituality meets the second sector identified by Shimazono (2007b and 2012) in the same way as spirituality used in peacebuilding. The expectations of using mediation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> This was in Chapter2. As for a reminder, the first category of the New Spiritual Movements and Culture includes sectors where transliterated spirituality is used to achieve more privatised healing and enlightenment in commercialised forms or commodities; the second is in more secular sectors where caring professionals actively use it to achieve pacifism in people's internal self (Shimazono, 2012; see also, Shimazono, 2007a).

in Japanese society revealed in the previous chapter included maintaining harmony in the community which consist of the complex nature of what is moral or not based on the senses of *wa, giri,* and *sekentei*. These senses can be summarised as pacifism as they are to pursue a sense of harmony.

However, as seen in Chapter 3, the textual analyses did not reveal any proposals put forward by those two authors to use spirituality to achieve peace and reconciliation. What those authors discussed in their publications was to describe their mediation experience by retrospectively selecting the term spiritual or spirituality. Both Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) emphasised the importance of spirituality based on their past experiences yet did not propose to use spirituality as a mediator to *achieve* the settlements in mediation. What they proposed were respectively to use healing and humanistic mediation model in mediation sessions. In either of their arguments, spirituality appeared as a component of their main arguments, which are on how to conduct mediation.

Although eight precepts were generated to understand the meaning of the terms spiritual and spirituality, the presence of those precepts in the mediation sessions do not promise the mediator would use the terms spiritual or spirituality to describe his or her mediation, either. When using spirituality to describe mediation, regardless of whether it is indigenous or non-indigenous mediation, mediators did not argue to enforce pacifism during their mediation sessions. To state the obvious here, although mediators use numerous techniques such as listening, summarising, questioning, reality testing, reframing, mutualising, normalising, or even gestures, moods, and other forms of rituals (Brigg, 2003:292-298; Fisher, 2000; McGuigan and Popp: 2012; O'Leary, 2014:27; Simmel, 1950: 149; Wada and Nakanishi, 2016; Wada and Nakanishi, 2010; Whatling, 2012), they do not force their opinions onto their clients.

Instead, mediators apply 'symbols' which include, but are not limited to, rituals, visual arts, metaphors, stories or verbal and body language communication (Jones, 2009: 153-155; Fisher, 2000: 88; Nudler, 1993: 4) and unique seating arrangements (Roberts and Palmer, 2005: 173-174). By using those techniques and strategies, mediators bring disputing parties to the common arena to recognise their issues and find solutions by themselves. The importance of a mediator's interpreting role to bridge the differences which caused the

dispute between the clients attending the mediation sessions (Nudler, 1993: 5). Again, Umbreit (2001) cautioned mediators not to initiate the importance of spirituality in the mediation sessions based on their own perceptions.

Mediation would not allow pacifism to be used in combination with, or as an indication of, spirituality. A mediators' professional intention to engage in dispute settlements through mediation is purely to attend the negotiation between the disputants to settle their issues. Their role is not to judge their clients based on the mediator's own opinions, including those of pacifism, and they do not need to share with their prospective clients their personal views on what peace is. To this end, there is no need for them to express the ethos of their entire practice by sharing the view of pacifism nor using the terms spiritual or spirituality unless they are asked to do so by their prospective clients.

In other words, pacifism in mediation not only can exist independently without those terms but also is not required to conduct mediation. It is their clients' choice to have pacifism because that decision, including whether to initiate mediation sessions, is left to them. Despite the overlapping nature between peacebuilding and mediation, spirituality used in the context of mediation does not quite fall in either of Shimazono's two categories which were described as a walk-away path from salvation, often offered by religions (Shimazono, 2007b and 2012).

Furthermore, neither Umbreit (1997 and 2005), who suggested taking a humanistic approach in dispute resolution, nor Gold (1993 and 2003), whose spirituality focuses on the language of soul in healing paradigm, resembled their spirituality with love in the same way as Diamond (2000). Although Gold (1993 and 2003) referred to the word love as a uniting principle in her suggested healing paradigm, her spirituality remained independent. Because peacebuilding used transliterated spirituality to introduce the notion expressed by the English terms spiritual and spirituality earlier than 2007 (see for instance, Diamond, 2002), the transliteration used by peacebuilding scholars in Japan might have influenced Japan's mediation scholars when understanding the same English terms in the mediation context as shown in Ishihara's association between spirituality and love (as cited in Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012). Ishihara's parallel use of love and spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context may further confuse the public audience. Those audiences are already

bemused by the ever-changing meanings of the context bound transliterated spirituality (Kashio, 2012; Sakurai, 2012), regarding the differences between peacebuilders aiming at achieving reconciliation and mediators attending the negotiation between the disputants who try to settle their dispute.

The same transliterated spirituality used respectively in peacebuilding and mediation in Japan holds different meanings. At this point in the argument, further important points must be addressed by using the eight precepts of spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. Although the non-indigenous mediation's spirituality shows some attributions to spirituality used in peacebuilding, the meaning of transliterated spirituality used in peacebuilding, which was discussed in Chapter 2, does not match the spirituality used in indigenous mediation such as some selected elderly members possess the spiritual power to communicate with the ancestry's spirits. Umbreit (1997), whose usage of spirituality was introduced to the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, did not discriminate and included both indigenous and non-indigenous spirituality used in the mediation context by focusing on the commonalities rather than differences. The importance of not initiating any notion regarding spirituality during mediation sessions, cautioned by Umbreit (2001), means to be sensible toward any differences hidden in the term spirituality.

As observed in the field of peacebuilding, the localisations of the introduced notion are attempted by reflecting the idea into Japanese society, considering the issues existing in society, and using the familiar diagram applying the horizontal and vertical axes. The overlap of the similar two axes applied in peacebuilding and religious studies further mislead the audience in judging whether peacebuilding practices are religious practices or vice versa. As seen in the second precept discussed in Chapter 3, the relationship of spirituality with religions in mediation overlaps with Ando's (2006) four categories of the relationship. The concept of settling the issues by shifting consciousness to a higher level in a safer mediation space where people have a sense of sacredness as summarised as the fifth, sixth and seventh precepts may also appear to be overlapping with those two sets of axes of peacebuilding and religious studies. This is even though those two authors, Gold and Umbreit, display no religious impulse in their publications.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> To reiterate, the four categories are that the transliterated spirituality includes religion, both overlaps although partially different, religion contains spirituality, or both are different

Because of these overlaps, 'spirituality' used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, therefore, risks being compared with religions even though mediation based on religious faiths remains a faith-based mediation model and an application of spirituality is not necessarily fixed to that model. In fact, Umbreit's mediation trainings held in Kumamoto, Japan, in 2017 attracted participants with their own religious faiths (Ishihara, 2017a). Judging the application of transliterated spirituality in the context of mediation by the people of Japan can be solely based on the extended ideal of being 'religious' or 'non-religious' (Lewis, 2018: 304). Even though in Lewis's (2018: 304) words, they may have reached the point of understanding, "deeper than distinction between 'religious' and 'secular', or 'the sacred' and 'the profane'", their binary classification as being either religious or non-religious does not so easily fade away (Horie, 2018).

Spirituality used in the English-speaking mediation context is at risk of being replaced with religions or 'something religious' in the Japanese-speaking mediation context because of the existing transliterated spirituality in other fields, despite the clear distinction between faith-based mediation and what Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) claimed by using those terms. Indigenous spirituality would have been diminished if the transliterated term were understood as something religious. When translating the English terms spiritual and spirituality as used in the context of mediation into the Japanese language, more academic and professional attention might have been required on how those terminologies were used in the English-speaking mediation context. As rightly pointed out for health care professions by Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane (2001 and 2002), introducing the idea by randomly translating those terms may as well risk undermining the professional credibility of mediators in Japan.

Considering the discussions in this section thus far, the term *reisei*, although described in detail by Daisetz Suzuki (1944/1972), may be a better suited Japanese translation than the term *seishin* or the transliterated spirituality for the English term spirituality used in the context of mediation. In order to discuss the consequence of applying such a term in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, the following subsection articulates how vaguely the people in Japan recognise their own religion or faith (Lewis, 2018; Nakamura, 2012).

#### 6.2.3 Persisting issues about being religious or non-religious

One solution to clarify the identified overlaps thus far may be by using the term *reisei* as a translation of the English term spirituality and explaining the meanings in the context of mediation. However, Lewis (2018) points out that the people of Japan use the binary classification as being either religious or non-religious. "When we see an object we relate it to what we know and understand, for it is impossible to do otherwise. [... we] would attempt to explain it in terms of what [we] knew" (Jackson, 2011: 86). Flew (1975) also states that religious experience seems, "to depend on the interests, background and expectations of those who have them rather than on anything separate and autonomous" (Flew, 1975 as cited by Jackson, 2011: 85).

For example, the following passage may be understood differently depending on the readers' views on religion:

Law reflects but in no sense determines the moral worth of a society. The values of a reasonably just society will reflect themselves in a reasonably just law. The better the society, the less law there will be. In Heaven there will be no law, and the lion will lie down with the lamb. The values of an unjust society will reflect themselves in an unjust law. The worse the society, the more law there will be. In Hell, there will be nothing but law, and due process will be meticulously observed. (Holmes, 1881 being paraphrased by Gilmore, 1977/1917: 110)

This paragraph in Gilmore (1977/1917), a commercial lawyer then teaching at Yale Law School, on Heaven and Hell, came from his knowledge of religious doctrines. Restricting this paragraph to Religious Studies and not locating in Law as an academic discipline undermines the value of his experiences and knowledge as a lawyer. Likewise, limiting this paragraph to the understanding of socio-legal aspects also ignores the influences of religions and religiosity on people and their importance. Therefore, in order to further deepen the understanding of the issues caused by the binary classification of Japanese-speaking people when they face the notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation, this subsection discusses how the overlap, the transliterated spirituality and religions, in the mediation context impacts on Japanese-speaking mediation.

The discussion should start with the story shared by Nitobe (2004/1899) when he had to explain to his Christian friends in the USA how Japan educated its citizens without relying on religion. He said that *Bushido* was used in place of religion. <sup>174</sup> Nitobe (2004: 1899: 6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> The Japanese translation of *Bushido* is 武士道.

explained as "Military-Knight-Ways – the ways which fighting nobles should observe in their daily life as well as in their vocation; in a word, the "Precepts of Knighthood," the *noblesse oblige* of the warrior class". *Samurai* culture is no longer evident in modern Japan although its tradition may remain in the country. <sup>175</sup> As *Bushido* no longer exists, people attend compulsory school education between the ages of six and fifteen in today's Japan.

In order to achieve such an aim, some schools introduced Emoto's (2001/1999) water experiments as moral education class-room materials and the introductions caused sensational debates as to whether such should be used in a class-room setting to teach pupils and students morality and ethics (Kikuchi, 2016).<sup>176</sup> Why do they not introduce any religions to replace *Bushido* then?

Article 20(3) of the Constitution of Japan states, "[t]he State and its organs shall refrain from religious education or any other religious activity" but does not mean to undermine the importance of religious education or religions. Article 23 of the Constitution states that, "[a]cademic freedom is guaranteed", and the Basic Act on Education 2006 Article 15 under the heading of Religious Education has two subsections; (1) "[r]eligious tolerance, general knowledge about religion, and the position of religion in social life must be valued in education", and (2) "[t]he schools established by the national and local governments shall refrain from religious education in favour of any specific religion, and from other religious activities".

In private schools, religious education may be provided for pupils from Year 1 up to Year 6, between the ages of six and twelve, under Article 50 of the Regulation for Enforcement of the School Education Act (No. 11 of 1947). While privately funded schools can incorporate any religion of their choice into their education policies and philosophies and give their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> The Japanese translation of *Samurai* is 侍.

<sup>176</sup> In 2014, Oshitani (2014a: 6-7), a scholar of Religious Studies and Education in Japan, introduced a similar episode to Nitobe's. He was asked by an American journalist of *Boston Globe* how the Japanese people judge right from wrong. The journalist claimed that he uses Jewish doctrines to judge such due to his faith. Oshitani (2014a: 7) answered that most Japanese people would refer such judgement to *Ten* (天), the literal translation would be somewhere above, such as the sky or heaven, at the same time as reflecting on how other people in the community might think of *kiyoki-akaki-kokoro* (清明心), 'one's clean faithful heart'. The journalist further asked Oshitani on whether he agreed with the concept of what 'people in the community would think' is ambiguous and whether such a 'clean faithful heart' could become a cause of terrorist attacks, perhaps hinting *Kamikaze* in World War II. Oshitani (2014a: 7) explained that such ambiguous targets would contain various standards for one's judgements, thus the Japanese people emphasise moral education at schools without religion but relying on cultural tendencies of loving nature and respecting the law of nature. He also claimed that such 'clean faithful hearts' could have been the trigger for Kamikaze in World War II and urged the importance of educating the Japanese children and students to the moral standard of how a person with a 'clean and faithful heart' should be.

students moral education based on these chosen religious doctrines, public schools remain free of any religions and their influences.

However, all Japanese students who attend Years 6 to 9 of the nine-year compulsory school education, learn *about* religions in social studies classes by, in most cases, using textbooks published by recognised and authorised publishers by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (the 'MEXT') (Oshitani, 2014b:44; Oshitani, 2016b). According to the MEXT website, the market share of such social studies textbooks by those publishers is over 90% (MEXT, 2009b). The education guideline issued also on the MEXT website states that those social study textbooks contain sections of religions including Buddhism, Christianity, Confucianism, Muslim, Hinduism, Judaism, and Shinto, to introduce their origins, histories, current world populations of their believers and geographic areas, in addition to some of their basic religious practices and historical facts (MEXT, 2009b; Oshitani, 2014b; 2016b).<sup>177</sup>

On contrary, religious beliefs, which the Japanese people have acquired naturally through their everyday customs, are something based more on nature worship (Oshitani, 2014a: 4). Some, if not a majority of, people in Japan do not particularly rely on any doctrines yet recognise those beliefs and faiths as being more like rituals and practices which have been passed on from generation to generation (Oshitani, 2014a: 4). According to the public opinion survey conducted in 2013 by the Agency of Cultural Affairs, Government of Japan (2015: 54-63), 72% of 3170 Japanese participants, male and female aged between 20 and 80, answered that they do not believe in any religion or have religious faith. A different public opinion poll, Research No 960 conducted also in 2013 by Jiji Press Business Department, found that 50% of 1271 participants including both males and females of at least 20 years of age, did not believe in any religions and have no belief in any religious doctrines (the Cabinet Public Relations Office of the Japanese Government, 2014). Results from another poll in 2018, which has been conducted once every five years since 1973, using the same questions and same methods, shows that only 25.9% of 2751 participants including

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> For example, the basic practices and introductory facts include, but not limited to, the codification of the Seventeen-article constitution by Prince Shōtoku was largely affected by Buddhism belief and doctrines of Confucianism, celebrating Christmas and Easter originated in Christianity, Hindus believe that cows are a sacred animal, Jewish people living in Germany suffered because of the holocaust, Muslims do not eat pork and pray five times a day, Shinto has some links to animism and so on (Oshitani, 2014b; 2016b).

both male and female and being 16 years or older, answered that they do not believe in any religion or have religious faith (Japan Broadcasting Corporation, 2018: 15).

As highlighted by those different percentages, the religious tendencies, preferences, or practices of the people of Japan cannot be observed through surveys. The reason is better illustrated by Lewis (2018: 1 citing Lewis, 1993: 59 and Lewis, 2013: 39) who conducted his interview survey with a Japanese married couple. When Lewis asked one of his interviewees, a married man, whether he had a religion and if so which, he answered that he was a Shintoist because he had a *butsudan*.<sup>178</sup> When his wife heard his answer she said that this would make him a Buddhist not a Shintoist, and he corrected himself saying, "in that case, I'm a Buddhist and not a Shintoist after all" (Lewis, 2018: 1). This example does not seem to be a new trend in recent Japan. Daisetz Suzuki (1944/1972: 64) had already stated in 1944 that the Japanese people did not put much weight on their religions and claimed how uncertain they were about their own religions.

In fact, there are households that possess both the *kamidana* and *butsudan* (Lewis, 2018: 269). <sup>179</sup> In addition, many religious furniture shops in Japan sell both the *kamidana* and *butsudan* in the same premises (see for instance, Kondo Butsudanten, 2006). <sup>180</sup> Syncretism as seen in those multi-religious behaviours is not limited to Japan (Sasaki, 1996: 267-268) nor new as have been observed since the era of Prince Shōtoku (Tanaka, 2000). However, an interpretation of those different statistics' results in relation to their religiousness (Agency of Cultural Affairs, Government of Japan, 2015; Cabinet Public Relations Office of the Japanese Government, 2014; Japan Broadcasting Corporation, 2018), together with their uncertainties over different religions including their own religion could be that the Japanese people are becoming more 'secular' and atheist.

However, the Japanese people, who only learn about religions in school education, do not mean to be atheist when they refer themselves as non-religious (Ama, 1996/2005; Nakamura, 2012). Their religious consciousness or knowledge is deeply embedded in their everyday life as custom and thus not recognised as 'religious' (Lewis, 2018). Lewis (2018: 63-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> The Japanese translation of *butsudan* is 仏壇, meaning "Buddhist household altar" (Lewis, 2018: 337).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> The Japanese translation of *kamidana* is 神棚, meaning "Shinto god-shelf" (Lewis, 2018: 338) or Shinto altar.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Similar stories have also been found in Sugawara (2003: 83-86).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> As mentioned in Chapter 1.

64) cautions, based on his research findings, that the knowledge of the Japanese people about religions may not reflect what they do in their daily lives. When the Japanese people refer themselves as 'religious', they mean to maintain "an exclusive relationship with only one religion" (Lewis, 2018: 63). Those who self-declare as 'non-religious', still "visit Shinto shrines at New Year, buy safety charms, observe ancestral rites at times or participate in other kinds of 'religious' activities" (Lewis, 2018: 64 by citing Lewis, 1993: 270; 2013: 256). These attitudes and interests are behind the rapid transliterated spirituality trend identified by Gaitanidis (2012), Horie (2018), and Sakurai (2012).

The 'religious' activities of such 'non-religious' people in Japan are often expressed as their 'customs' without knowing that those activities originate from religious reasons (Lewis, 2018: 64). By looking into their 'customs' from birth to death, Lewis (2018: 334) concludes as:

A mixture of underlying motivations and deep-stated cultural 'key themes' appear in a variety of individual circumstances and contexts to form the 'kaleidoscope' of religious behaviour observable on the 'surface' in daily life. [...although there are individual and generational differences in such behaviour], all these social and individual patterns are like the waves that shift and turn the sand on the seashore but do not affect the mineralogical composition of the sand grains themselves.

These views may be better understood if taken with statistics reflecting the gaps between what people of Japan think and do in relation to religions. In Japan, there is no national religion due to Article 20(1) of the Constitution of Japan which promises freedom of religion. In a survey conducted by the Japanese government (Agency of Cultural Affairs, Government of Japan, 2015: 54-63), while 66% of 1591 participants said that they consider religious beliefs and faiths to be important, the number of people who answer so, steadily increased depending on their age; from 55% of the participants in their 20s to 77% in the 70s. In addition, 45% of 1579 participants answered that humans can be saved by combining scientific discoveries and religious faith (Agency of Cultural Affairs, Government of Japan, 2015: 54-63).

The aforementioned poll conducted by the Japan Broadcasting Corporation in 2018 further reported that 30.6% of 2751 participants answered that they do believe in 'gods'; 37.8% 'Buddha'; and 5.7% any religious faiths or doctrines (Japan Broadcasting Corporation, 2018:

15). 182 As mentioned earlier, those who did not believe anything related to religions or faiths at all was 31.8 %; however, only 11.5% of the participants answered they do not do anything religious. The differences in these percentages highlight that some people do something religious yet declare they are not religious. Among the total participants, 72% answered that they visit their family members' grave at least once or twice a year, 34.7% answered that they wear objects such as safety charms and talismans, and 28.7% answered that they went somewhere to pray for their own or other's safety, business success or exam success (Japan Broadcasting Corporation, 2018: 15).

Considering 72% of the participants answered yes to the question, some of the 31.8%, who considered themselves as non-believers of religions answered they visited their family members' grave at least once or twice a year, although that is a very small number. While Lewis (2018: 2) criticises that the questions used by Japan Broadcasting Corporation in 2013 on objects or fortune telling failed to categorise different types of deviation of the fortune telling such as astrology, palmistry, name-divination and various others, this 2018 survey results mean that some people do believe in their now deceased ancestry as spirits but declare as they do not believe anything religious.

Furthermore, Shimizu (2016: 154) discovered that, based on her cohort analyses of the survey done by the Corporation in 2013, an increased number of the younger generation aged between 16 and 35 believe in miracles and fortune-telling regardless of their devotion. There may be a new attitude among the population to respect something mystical or transcendental in nature instead of God or the Divine of institutionalised religions (Shimizu, 2016: 154). Such a new preference grew because organised religions are now "increasingly viewed with a critical eye" in a contemporary Japan (Nelson, 2008: 305).

Negative feelings of people in Japan towards institutionalised religions are also reported by Numano (1996). People in Japan might categorise themselves as 'non-believers' of particular religions but sensibly integrate religious, mystical, or spiritual ideas, practices, and related objects into their everyday lives as part of their customs without a clear awareness of the

183 The Corporation uses the same questions for the survey conducted once in every five years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Multiple answers were allowed.

origins of these ideas and practices (Lewis, 2018: 334; Manabe, 2008; Nishi, 2009: 73; Shimazono, 2007; Shimizu, 2016: 154-155).

The syncretism or polytheism discussed above may still not be recognised as their 'religious' tendencies by the people of Japan themselves, even though their seasonal events or activities and everyday greetings have originated from religious practices. At some point in the past, these became their customary seasonal activities (Lewis, 2018: 64). For example, people in Japan may well visit a shrine or temple on a new year's day, do *Setsubun*, <sup>184</sup> where people throw beans to get rid of evil spirits from their homes on 3 February, take part in St. Valentine's Day soon after that, visit graveyards in the middle of August which is called 'o-bon' to welcome deceased ancestors' souls coming back to 'this world' from 'the otherworld', celebrate the *Shichi-go-san* on 15 November to purify children who reached those ages of seven, five or three in that year, <sup>185</sup> decorate home with a Christmas tree and eat a cake on 25 December, and prepare for a new year's celebration by cleaning up the house and putting various New Year's decorations including safety charms such as paper streamers from Shrine on 31 December (Lewis, 2018; Sasaki, 1996; Sugawara, 2003).

Not only these seasonal activities, their daily greetings such as "tadaima", 186 "okaerinasai, otsukaresama-deshita", 187 "itadakimasu", 188 and "gochisousama-deshita" 189 also originated from Buddhism (Rambelli, 2010). These greetings are claimed to have the "sense of gratitude and contrition and related devotional practices purify the mind from afflictions" (Rambelli, 2010: 68 by citing Taniguchi, 2002: 8). For most people in Japan, these are simply everyday greetings which they use as a common courtesy, and those greetings are no longer attached to religious practice. By participating in those activities or simply following the everyday customs in Japan, the people of the country do not neglect and still respect religious or similar sacred doctrines as well as their charms and objects although they often declare they do not follow any religion.

<sup>184</sup> The Japanese translation of *setsubun* is 節分.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> The Japanese translation of the *Shichi-go-san* is  $\pm \Xi\Xi$ , each letter means seven, five and three.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> The Japanese translation is ただいま, meaning 'I am back'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> The Japanese translation is おかえりなさい, お疲れさまでした, meaning 'welcome back, you must be tired from the day'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> The Japanese translation is いただきます, meaning 'thank you for the meal'.

As discussed in Chapter 5, although some may welcome the application of spirituality, which is translated as the transliterated spirituality or otherwise, in their context of mediation, some of the population will be confused and mistake such an application of those terms for faith-based mediation due to their, albeit ambiguous for the majority, conscious or ambiguous recognition of religions or even unrecognition of them (Nakamura, 2012). This is especially problematic in a society like Japan where the context-bound meanings of the transliterated spiritual and spirituality have only vaguely been recognised by the population (Horie, 2018; Nakamura, 2012).

Tsuruwaka and Okayasu (2001), whose research analysed spiritual care offered by English speaking health professionals such as medical doctors, nurses, chaplains and social workers, discovered the English term spiritual is used interchangeably with 'religious' in that field and point out the danger of the Japanese professionals of the same field using the term by way of transliteration unless the Japanese meaning included religiosity in its definition. As reflected in those precepts generated in Chapter 3, those English terms can be used in conjunction with religiosity in the context of mediation. However, it is not always the case in the mediation context. In the Japanese-speaking mediation context in which the meanings of the transliterated spiritual or spirituality and religions are both equivocal, the status quo of applying the transliteration to describe the important elements of mediation practice risks undermining professional credibility due to the vague, context-bound meanings at the same time as confusing Japanese speaking mediators as well as clients.

The findings of the present thesis allow the mediators or scholars of the country to explain the meanings of the English terms spiritual and spirituality used by at least Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) in the mediation context. However, as discussed in this subsection, using the transliterated terms still persists as a risk of transforming all mediation described by those terms into a faith-based mediation model due to vagueness in their binary classification as being either religious or non-religious. The people of Japan seemingly have lost, or possibly have failed to develop, their means to judge what religions are. Nakamura (2012) describes the reason why their religious consciousness has been deeply embedded in their everyday customs without practising particular institutionalised religion

as that their origin of religiosity is in animism in the *Jōmon* period or worship of ancestors in the *Yavoi* period. 190

Even so, however, their equivocal religious awareness in the binary classification of whether it is religious or non-religious still remains in the present day. Such an historical research is important, yet the findings would not change the current situation which the Japanese-speaking mediation faces as a result of introducing transliterated spirituality. When the notion of using spirituality in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation is presented without clarifying the meanings of the transliterated spirituality, the majority of people, both mediators and clients, still rely on their own vague concepts of being religious or non-religious in addition to their also vague, context-bound meanings of transliterated spirituality.

While some transliterated spiritualities made the clear dissociation or kept distance from religions, both traditional and new religions as seen in Chapter 2, the close analyses in the present thesis revealed a strong association in the context of mediation between the term and institutionalised religions due to faith-based mediation model although on other occasions such an association is not always present.<sup>191</sup> Those variances in the relationship between religions and spirituality used in the mediation context were due to different understandings and needs arising in the mediation context where religions can create, or already is, the cause of the dispute.

However, based on the findings of the present thesis thus far, the relationship between the term and religions in the Japanese language negatively impacts on people's understandings and perceptions. More specifically, the currently applied translations for the English terms spiritual and spirituality used in the context of mediation confuse the audiences regarding the nature of the mediation practice. The term *seishin* may resemble mediation and therapies while the transliterated spirituality distorts the boundaries between Japan's peacebuilding, religious studies and mediation. These points are in addition to the already identified inadequacy of *seishin* as a translation for the English term spirituality.

<sup>190</sup> The Japanese translation of the *Jōmon* and *Yayoi* periods are respectively 縄文 and 弥生.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> To be precise, the analyses in Chapter 3 showed that some non-indigenous mediators distinguished spirituality from institutionalised religions, and indigenous mediation had not even incorporated such a word, religion, into their spirituality because they did not have such a word.

Transliterated spirituality is considered as a new, merging term of both *seishin* and *reisei* (Kashio, 2012). However, in fields such as education, psychiatry, psychology, psychotherapy and religious studies, transliterated spirituality has been used as a synonym of *reisei* (Horie, 2018; Matsumoto, 2016). In addition, the revitalisation of *reisei* by fading the frequent use of transliterated spirituality since the 2010s is also identified by Horie (2018). The term *reisei* may not promise the perfect translation, either. The present thesis thus requires undertaking some balancing exercises over the appropriateness of each candidate term because of the discovered controversies brought by the other two terms to the Japanese-speaking mediation practice. In order to do so, the next section discusses the suitability of *reisei*, the remaining of the three, as the translation for the English term spirituality used in the mediation contest.

### 6.3 Examining the suitability of reisei

By unfolding the term *reisei*, this section considers in light of the eight precepts whether the term can be the better suited Japanese translation for the English term of spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit in the mediation context.

The Japanese scholars of Spirituality argued the meanings of *reisei* taken over by the transliterated spirituality due to the letter *rei* (霊) (Horie, 2018; Kasai, 2003). <sup>192</sup> This letter is also used in Japanese words to mean such as soul and spirits, ghost or supernatural being, demon, apparition (Kasai, 2003), and those Japanese words have long been used in religions (Kirita, 2007). Because of this letter, the term *reisei* has also become something associated with 'the other-worldly' as a result (Ando, 2012; Horie, 2009; Ito, Kashio, and Yumiyama, 2004; and Kasai, 2003).

The incorporeal connotation of the letter *rei* (霊) has eventually become not preferred due to incidents such as those caused by the Aum Shinrikyo in 1995 (Horie, 2009). <sup>193</sup> Japanese scholars such as Horie (2007), Nakamura (2012), Sakurai (2009 and 2012) and Shimazono (2012) tend to refer to the incidents caused by those cult groups in Japan, yet there were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> To reiterate, the meaning of this letter is something incorporeal, the supernatural and otherworldliness associated with religions (Horie, 2018; Kasai, 2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> As discussed in Chapter 2.

incidents caused by religions overseas as well. All of those major incidents such as the Iranian Revolution of 1979, the Gulf War between 1990 to 1991, or the attack on the World Trade Centre on 11 September 2001 were broadcasted and reported through media in Japan. Around this period, the transliterated 'spiritual boom' occurred in the country. As discussed in Chapter 2, there were social icons which used transliterated spirituality. The invasion of transliterated spirituality in the areas which traditionally used those words containing the letter *rei* (霊) occurred simultaneously as those words were being avoided and replaced with transliterated spirituality (Ando, 2012; Horie, 2007 and 2019).

According to Horie (2018) and Kirita (2007), the term *reisei* has not been so frequently used in both the daily and academic Japanese languages until recently. Indeed, Chapter 1 illustrated some examples of translations which did not use the term *reisei* to mean the English spirituality (namely, as seen in Fujioka, 2007; Sakauchi, 1997; and Shimazono, 2010 and 2012b). This unfamiliarity with the term brings both advantage and disadvantage to the Japanese-speaking mediation context when it is used. As seen in Chapter 3, the meaning of spirituality used in the context of some indigenous mediation did include contacting the spirits of dead. In the Japanese-speaking mediation context, thus, the meanings of the letter *rei* (ﷺ) in *reisei* may more accurately reflect what those mediators mean by the English term spirituality.

Without doubt, the difficulty of putting what was described by the transliterated spirituality into one category of 'reisei' is stressed although the English term spirituality was admitted as being often translated as reisei (Nakamura, 2012; see for a similar argument, Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane, 2001 and 2002). As shown in Chapter 1 and 2, transliterated spirituality bears various meanings, and such an opinion reflects the nature of transliterated spirituality. However, the argument in this section is whether the term reisei can better translate the English term spirituality used in the context of mediation and not whether the term takes over the transliterated spirituality in all the areas in which transliterated spirituality is already used.

In order to further argue the suitability of the term *reisei* as a Japanese translation for the English term spirituality limiting to the context of mediation, the following sections discuss how Daisetz Suzuki understood and used the term *reisei*, the meaning of the term as

intended by Suzuki (1944/1975) and whether the term can be used in light of the eight precepts generated in Chapter 3.

#### 6.3.1 Daisetz Suzuki and reisei

Daisetz Suzuki used the term *reisei* in his book title, *Nihonteki Reisei*, which was published in 1944 and translated to *Japanese Spirituality* in the English language in 1972. This translation of *reisei* to spirituality is described as one of his contributions (Kasai, 2003), yet Daisetz Suzuki died in 1966 and did not translate his title to English by himself. Suzuki who translated Swedenborg's four books from English to Japanese used the term *reisei* to translate 'spirituality' in those translation (Takahashi, 2003), hence, he certainly knew the term spirituality can be *reisei* in Japanese. Nonetheless, an analysis of whether the Japanese term *reisei* can be used to translate the English spiritual or spirituality in the context of mediation, does not argue Suzuki (1944) already knew what was explained by the terms spiritual or spirituality in the context because Suzuki's own ideals and arguments even changed at different times as seen in his different publications (Yokota, 2018).<sup>194</sup>

Suzuki's arguments since his speech in London in 1912 (Yoshinaga, 2007) to his late work such as *Shukyo to Gendai Seikatsu* (Suzuki, 1958), 195 had not changed much: deep concerns over Japanese people losing faiths or identity (Okajima, 2009). However, his views towards the soul seem to have been changed over time between his first publication, *Shin Shukyoron* in 1896 to *Nihon no Reiseika* in 1948 (Takahashi, 2003). 196 One such influencer was Swedenborg (Okajima, 2009). Suzuki's arguments include his variances in identifying whether the soul exists. While Suzuki (1896) denied such an existence, he (1913: 42-44) translated Swedenborg's soul as *reisei*. In *Swedenborg* (Suzuki, 1913: 288), ruby characters of the transliterated soul in katakana letters were put by the Japanese characters of *reisei* (霊性). In Japanese, 'soul' is *reikon* (霊魂) or *tamashii* (魂).

Suzuki certainly knew these words and distinguished them from the term *reisei* in his publications (see, for example, Suzuki, 1944/1972: 13). Admittedly there were significant influences from Swedenborg on Suzuki, yet his published translation or opinions did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Yokota (2018) pointed out World War II might have pressurised Suzuki differently by making comparisons between his publications during and then in the post war periods.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> The Japanese translation is 宗教と現代生活.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> The Japanese translation respectively are 新宗教論 and 日本の霊性化.

make him lose his own arguments as seen in Suzuki's translation of one title of Swedenborg (*Divine Love and Wisdom*) to 'Divine Wisdom and Love' in Japanese. This mistranslation strongly reflected his opinions over the original publication. The aforementioned ruby characters thus highlighted his will to make his readers understand that the term *reisei* in his translation of *Swedenborg* can mean 'soul' in English language.

Takahashi (2003) and Nasu (2016) explain this intentional mistranslation of the English word 'soul' as Suzuki showing some consideration for other fellow Buddhists, who read in Japanese and do not recognise soul, so they do not misunderstand the contents of Swedenborg. For example, as seen in Dōgen's 'Bendōwa' in *Shōbōgenzō* (Nearman, translated: 2007), <sup>197</sup> Buddhism does not recognise such an eternal, spiritual existence. Suzuki's ruby characters of the transliterated soul by 霊性 (*reisei*) might, therefore, appear to be sensational. <sup>198</sup> It is noteworthy here that Suzuki (1955) published *Mysticism: Christian and Buddhist* originally in Japanese and translated in English in 1957, and thus the question arises whether Suzuki's *reisei* in his 1972 publication connotes mysticism.

Furthermore, another important point is the fact that his *reisei* has been translated as spirituality in English and also used both academically and professionally, although not generally. <sup>199</sup> There is another word, *dōshin*, which is used by Ohsui Arai and is also translated as spirituality in English (Nasu, 2016). <sup>200</sup> Nasu (2016) compared *reisei* by Suzuki and *dōshin* by Arai, who was also strongly influenced by Swedenborg's theology yet discussed his *dōshin* concept based on Christianity. She (2016: 42) concluded that both Suzuki and Arai share common, fundamental understandings of 'spirituality', which is the universal truth hidden in the core of inner quality of human beings.

Thus, both *reisei* and *dōshin* are the words which mean a universal truth as well as the realisation of the truth; both are embedded in the inner quality of human beings (Nasu, 2016: 30 and 42). Reaching spiritual evolution can be possible by awakening what is called either *reisei* or *dōshin* through the individual's self-improvement (Nasu, 2016: 31). Both

<sup>197</sup> The Japanese translation are respectively 道元, 辨道和, 正法眼蔵.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> As many other scholars, Suzuki does not remain free from academic criticisms (see for instance, Kamata, 2006; Sharf 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> As discussed in Chapter 1 and 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> The Japanese translation of *dōshin* is 道心.

Suzuki and Arai also consider such individual self-improvement to awaken *reisei* or *dōshin* contributes to the societal improvement as a result, and can be achieved through practising religions, although Arai's argument was Christianity and Suzuki's Zen Buddhism (Nasu, 2016: 30-31). Arai's *dōshin* has been actively researched academically only since 2000 when his books, written in the late 1890s, were finally collected and published (Nasu, 2016). Arai's *dōshin* is thus still a rather unfamiliar word. Suzuki's *reisei* should be the starting point for the analyses of the present thesis due to its familiarity among the academics and scholars, yet it is important to mention Arai's *dōshin* in this section to show the concept expressed and summarised by the term *reisei* is not something limited to Zen Buddhism.

Over 70 years since the original publication of *Japanese Spirituality*, the term, *reisei*, is now widely taken over by the transliterated spirituality, which appeared in the Japanese language in the late 1970s (Shimazono, 2012). Transliterated spirituality has been used in such a way to lose people's focus on what it means exactly owning the facts the term has born multiple meanings rather than a replacement of *reisei*, which still remains an unfamiliar word for the general public. As a result, the analyses and discussions in the present thesis so far revealed that mediation as a profession in Japan is at risk of becoming a faith-based mediation because of the perplexing transliteration applied as well as the people's simplistic or extreme judgements based on whether it is being religious or not. To this extent, Arai's *dōshin* falls outside of the scope of the present research and needs not to be considered in the present thesis.

Taking the discussions so far in this subsection, then the application of *reisei* as a translation for the English term spirituality in the context of mediation may not be desirable for three reasons. Firstly, as seen in Chapter 4, mysticism does not apply to the experiences expressed using the terms spiritual or spirituality by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) in the mediation context.<sup>201</sup> Secondly, in indigenous mediation, the notion of spirituality exists yet there was traditionally no word for 'religion' in their cultures (Shook and Kwan, 1987). Third and finally, the English terms spiritual or spirituality used in the context of mediation do not necessarily mean to be religious. This point was evident in both Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) whose mediation practices are not categorised as

\_

 $<sup>^{201}</sup>$  Please also see Abe (2015) for discussing mysticism in both Christianity and Buddhism.

faith-based mediation. However, by other authors, these terms mean religious, can be interchangeable with religions, and overlap with religions.<sup>202</sup>

Bearing in mind all those points, Suzuki's reisei needs to be unfolded by anchoring the following three concerns. Firstly, does reisei connote mysticism? Secondly, is the use restricted to religions? Thirdly, what is the relationship to religions?

#### 6.3.2 What is reisei?

In Japanese Spirituality, Suzuki (1944/1972) first clarifies the differences between seishin and reisei. In his own words (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 14-15): seishin does not contain something material because substance cannot contain seishin, while reisei does contain and harmonise both of seishin and material or substance. Seishin is considered as equivalent to psyche, spirit or mind; reisei is described as encompassing the elements not included in seishin and having a certain degree of universality although subject to the cultural advancements (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 12-14 and 17). When awakening reisei, the dualism caused by seishin disappears and seishin can function in a true sense such as to feel, think, will and act.

This moment of awakening reisei, which is as a result of ceasing the dualistic world's rivalries and conciliating and fraternising the seishin and material worlds, was described as an awakening of religious consciousness. This dissolution of dualism by awakening reisei was described as religion; without reisei, religion is thus not fully understood (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 16-17). Suzuki distinguishes and separates reisei and religion although reisei functions as a vital role to understanding and practising religion (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 15). "The intuitive power of reisei is based on a higher plane than that of seishin. Seishin's will power is not able to transcend the self unless it relies upon the support of reisei" (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 15). Without awakening reisei, one can still understand religion with one's seishin which would not transcend the self thus may remain only a mere formality of religion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Nakagawa (2012) reports religious education began using the term spirituality by considering that the two, holistic and religious education, both exist on a spectrum and are indispensable, even though spirituality in education is something different from religious education. Shimazono (2010) put forward the same account on the relationship between religion and spirituality in relation to arguing the 're-sacralisation' in modern Japan. However, Nakamura (2012), contrary to Shimazono (2012), pointed out that the difficulty of putting what was described by the transliterated spirituality into one category of 'reisei' although he admitted the English term spirituality was often translated as reisei (see for a similar argument, Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane, 2001 and 2002).

Awakening reisei is said to be the same for all humans yet the very process after awakening it differs depending on how each seishin functions regardless of their nationalities (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 16). Awakening reisei is an individual, private experience. Although Suzuki indeed recognises the influences from Zen and Buddhism which were imported from the continent as a framework in which people's reisei were awoken (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 18), separating the awakening of reisei and the external means to create such a framework for the awakening must be stressed. Reisei, which all people already have within themselves, and the means to express it, are dispensable.

Although Suzuki (1944/1972: 94) admits nothing much could be said about Japanese spirituality without Buddhism, awakening Japanese spirituality as a result of unexpectedly coming face-to-face with Buddhism was assimilated to the growth of plants on earth. Buddhism, a plant, grew in Japan because of its environmental factor, Japanese spirituality (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 94). Buddhism in Japan is a borrowed shape of Japanese spirituality. However, this shape is specifically formed in Japan by Japanese spirituality and must be distinguished from Buddhism available in China or India, where grow their own Buddhism (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 63-66). 203 Without the environmental factors, the plants will not survive; yet that fact does not make the factors create the plants. Both are separated and independently exist.

Suzuki (1944/1972: 19) describes this awakening process of reisei as "breaking out of the shell"; "the mother hen pecks from the outside of the shell at the same time as the chick pecks from within". Although it is evident that Suzuki had been under the strong influences of other intellects of religions and philosophies, including Emanuel Swedenborg (Sharf, 2005; Yoshinaga, 2002), that does not convert his arguments of Japanese Spirituality into religious or mystical ones, either. In Suzuki's own words, reisei and religious consciousness can be the same except that "misconceptions tend to arise when we speak of religion" because "Japanese do not seem to have a very profound understanding when it comes to religion" (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 15). Suzuki (1944/1972: 15) continues, "[t]hey think of it as another name for superstition, or that religious belief can support something, anything,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Please see Suzuki's (1972) helpful assimilation of Buddhism grown in Japan and other countries to planting foreign flowers overseas such as morning glory, tulips, or chrysanthemums, which originally came from China to Japan and then were exported to European countries to grow in their lands, from pages 59-61 of Japanese Spirituality.

which has nothing to do with religions." What reflected religious consciousness is their lifestyles (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 18-19), not a moment of sudden enlightenment.

Now, the three points led to this section regarding spirituality in the mediation context should be discussed based on the analyses of Suzuki's *reisei* made thus far. The first point, whether mysticism plays an important role in Suzuki's *reisei*, and the third on the relationship between religions and *reisei*, seem to have already been negated by Suzuki's own words as cited above. By awakening *reisei*, the cessation of dualism occurs. However, it is embedded in people's everyday lifestyles, not a moment of sudden enlightenment. When attending mediation, no participant including the mediator has physically or mentally 'gone off' anywhere in such a way as to lose consciousness by being bathed in light. In analysing mysticism and the eight precepts described by the terms spiritual or spirituality in the mediation context in Chapter 5, such mystic experiences are least likely, if ever at all, to occur during mediation sessions. What the eight precepts describe is based on Gold and Umbreit's past mediation experiences that their clients changed their ways of thinking and as a result settled their issues in the mediation sessions.

In other words, those expressions shared by the mediators using those terms spiritual or spirituality are not to pursue the claim of dualism but to indicate the exact moment of the contradiction between *seishin* and substance as illustrated by Suzuki (1944/1972: 15). The awakening of *reisei* is when "another world opens up on the far side of the world of *seishin* and substance, where the two of them must come to harmony, though still remaining mutually contradictory" (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 15). In mediation sessions, that moment seems to occur at the time of settlement. "Spirituality reveres concreteness highest of all" (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 68), and the awakening spirituality requires experiencing the weight of karma (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 75). This would be the reason who mediated matters.

The second point, whether *reisei* would apply in the communities where no religion exists or existed before, is even better clarified by Suzuki (1944/1972: 16) who claims that the awakening to *reisei* is subject to the advancements of each individual and not promised or limited to the citizens of developed countries. In fact, he (1944/1972: 27) wrote that, "[t]he ancient Japanese, a simple, natural, and child-like people, really had no religion. [When] religious impulses for the first time stirred their [*reisei*], and the awakening of Japanese

spirituality began faintly to appear". This of course does not mean that people without a word for religion are those who are described as 'simple, natural, and child-like' by Suzuki (1944/1972: 27). Spirituality, or *reisei*, of the ancient Japanese who did not have strong religious consciousness was not awoken (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 28).

As seen in Chapter 3, religions are not the only way to awaken human's *reisei*, or spirituality. When people have strong religious consciousness, their spirituality is awakened so long as their religious consciousness or religiosity is something to provide them with an opportunity of reaching their own *reisei* by dissolving the rivalry between one's *seishin* and substance. The difficulty is, in many cases, religion is concerned with formality, such as being institutionalised and systematised (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 17; Smith, 2010). Hence, people without a word religion can well experience the very moment of awakening *reisei* where the word religion itself only means something categorised as a mere formality. This has been evidenced by those indigenous mediators whose practices were described as spiritual (Barnes, 1994; Huber, 1993; Shook and Kwan, 1987).

Religious experiences can correspond to the awakening *reisei*; without reaching one's *reisei*, religion corrupts to a bare formality. As shown in Barnes (1994), Goldberg and Blancke (2012) and Huber (1993), spirituality used in indigenous mediations are now used in non-indigenous mediation sessions. As seen from this argument as well, the clarification to the third point has already been evident; Suzuki's *reisei* was clearly separated and distinguished from religions.

So far, this subsection showed Suzuki's (1944/1972) meaning of the term *reisei*. The next subsection articulates this term considering the eight core precepts generated in Chapter 3. The discussions of the next section also consider the term's usages in more contemporary Japan, which is out of reach of Suzuki himself who is now deceased.

#### 6.3.3 *Reisei* considered in light of the eight core precepts

Suzuki's *reisei* indicates something internal of all humans, although he described the flourishing of Japanese people's *reisei* was by meeting Buddhism. The distinction of each *reisei* can thus be possible by observing external factors such as the same Buddhism in different countries influencing each people's *reisei* differently. Regarding the relationship between religion and *reisei*, Suzuki (1944/1972: 19) metaphorically explained as "the mother

hen pecks from the outside of the shell at the same time the chick pecks from within". The first precept generated in Chapter 3 can be explained by using *reisei*. In the second precept, the complex relationships between the English term spirituality and religions in the context of mediation were revealed. The condition suggested by Suzuki (1944/1972) for those two to be in such a relationship was dependent on how people understand religions. This can also be applied to the revealed relationships in the context of mediation.

Reisei, once awakened, represents how people live (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 18-19); it influences one's external relationship with others. In the context of mediation in which spirituality is used to describe the practice, who mediates often matters. Suzuki (1944/1972) also argued Prince Shōtoku's harmony cannot be penetrated unless each achieved awakening own reisei which is free from the self or ego and can be transmitted semantically from one person to another (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 16). Reisei also fulfils the third precept of who mediates matters due to their internal relationship with themselves which influences their external one with others. Unless one experiences such a tough time of suffering in his or her life, one cannot realise one's own spirituality (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 75). Religious practices are a mere opportunity for such reisei to 'ignite' and the opportunity does not have to be religious practices (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 18). Hence, mediators are suggested to have experienced struggles, griefs, or disputes in their own lives to understand the importance of the connectedness (Gold, 1993 and 2003; Umbreit, 1997 and 2001).

The fourth precept referred to the influences given by the mediator's presence to their clients both semantically and non-semantically. In some indigenous mediation, such influences can be made by accessing their ancestry spirits through the elderly mediator's spiritual power. The letter *rei* (霊) connotes 'ghost' or 'supernatural being' (Ando, 2012; Horie, 2009 and 2018; Ito, Kashio, and Yumiyama, 2004; and Kasai, 2003), and thus, the concept may not be so unfamiliar and better expressed by the term *reisei* setting aside the point of whether people agree, understand or support such existence when it is explained.

Furthermore, people in Japan may not require much additional explanation as to how one's being may influence others without using direct communications. As discussed in Chapter 3, there were experiments conducted by Emoto and others on how language conveys our thoughts, either semantically, non-semantically such as in writing or even at a distance

(Emoto, 2001/1999; Radin, 2006 and 2008; Takao et al. 2006).<sup>204</sup> In other words, Japanese society can accept, even welcome, such claims, as something important and worth including in the textbooks to educate children of the country even if the research results have still have room for scientific debates. Even Suzuki (1944/1972: 197) claims that "[i]f one's spiritual insight is deep enough he cannot help but try to express that experience in words". Thus, the scientific trustworthiness of the claims made in the fourth precept would not make much difference to the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

The fifth precept of metaphorically referring the sense of shifting to a higher level, although it was only found in some of the non-indigenous mediators' claims, was also described by the awakening of *reisei*. As referred to above, the awakening of *reisei* is expressed by Suzuki as "based on a higher plane than that of *seishin*" (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 15). At the moment of wakening *reisei*, it requires a higher plane than what *seishin* has. Here, an emphasis must be made on the point of those mediators not describing the actual awakening of their spirituality during the mediation sessions; they used an expression of shifting to a higher level as a description of how they felt as having happened with their disputing clients at the moment of settlement in the sessions. Anyone who experienced such a 'higher plane' before could have used this expression to assimilate the mediation experience.

The issue with applying *reisei* as a translation of spirituality described by mediators is in the sixth, seventh, and eighth precepts because Suzuki (1944/1972) did not express how one would 'feel' when awakening his or her *reisei*. However, in discussing how *reisei* awakens and operates, Suzuki (1944/1972: 97-100) described that *reisei* is a name for an operation which people can feel, but has no existence anywhere, and is something other than one's senses, emotions, wills, and intellect that is a slave of the will,<sup>205</sup> but there is no precise delineation between *reisei* and those functions.

As seen in Chapter 3, spirituality in the mediation context was observed in the safe and sacred space and such a sense of sacredness or holiness can, but not necessarily, be religious ones. Speaking about the Japanese *reisei* in the Pure Land Shin sect context, Suzuki (1944/1972:102-103) continued that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> What is more significant is the fact that Emoto's experiments have been used in the textbooks of moral, not science, education for the compulsory school education years since the end of the 1990s (Kikuchi, 2016; see also, Kasai, 2004). <sup>205</sup> For the detailed discussions on the relationship between the will and intellect, please read Suzuki (1946 and 1948).

[Unlike the intelligentsia, those of the soil whose lives lived within reality were not concerned with the general feeling of uneasiness in society.] Their spirituality tried to grasp something fundamental outside the existing emotional life and insight and there to seek composure of mind. They were unable to sustain an interest in complicated argument, science, class structure, and the like. They were unceasing in their search for something capable of working much more directly and strongly on their daily lives. They might not have felt such a need consciously, but there seems little doubt they felt anxiety. A sensitive religious spirit could not help but notice this kind of uneasiness and anxiety rippling through the social consciousness. A heart spiritually pure and lucid and filled with love would have to be extremely sensitive to such a mood. [...] The possessor of a deep and keen spirituality will likewise grasp directly and immediately those occasional shifts in the heart and mind of man. [... A] great individual spirit may be said to be a mirror in which the universal spirit, the transcendent spirit, is reflected. We may say that by viewing the working of the superior individual spirit it is possible to see the working of the transcendent spirit. [...] Speculations and logic come afterwards, the first experience must be Absolute Love itself.

Experiencing this Absolute Love before learning speculations and logic hence denying intellectuality is the awakening of one's *reisei* (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 151), and this awakened state was described as shifts. Those who have their own *reisei* awakened by such a denial of intellectuality and also as a result of sustained vicissitudes in the process not only learn themselves but also others as well (Suzuki, 1944/1972: 152). In this sense, mediators and their clients can be in an equal position. Furthermore, as above, the transcendent or universal spirit reflected on the awakened person experienced Absolute Love and, as a result, can be sensible to other's feelings. Suzuki (1944/1972: 152) called those who have awakened their spirituality or *reisei*, saints. The saints' state of awakening *reisei* with almost no fear or anxiety due to experiencing Absolute Love indicates sacredness, if not safeness. Nonetheless, his *reisei* is independent from religions as discussed earlier in this subsection.

The analyses of the suitability of *reisei* in light of the eight precepts generated in Chapter 3 now revealed the term *reisei* conveys better as a translation of the English term spirituality to be used in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation. However, the notion described by the English terms spiritual and spirituality are brought to full bloom in the country's mediation context depending on the *reisei* of people in the country as Suzuki (1944/1972) described by saying Buddhism bloomed differently depending on each country. In other words, the very same notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation may grow to be

different in the Japanese-speaking mediation context from what has been originally described by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) in the English-speaking mediation context. This point will only be observed by the passing of more time.

Before concluding this chapter, the next section discusses the potential consequences should the term *reisei* be applied as a translation for the English term spirituality in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

## 6.4 Is *reisei* a better translation of 'spirituality' in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation?

The incorporeal connotation of the letter, *rei* (ﷺ), has already been repeated throughout the present thesis. This would work as an advantage when articulating the meanings of spirituality used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) who did not discriminate spiritualities between non-indigenous and indigenous mediation. However, such a connotation could cause some unnecessary reactions among Japanese-speaking mediators or clients because mediation as one of ADR methods in Japan has been a law dominant field which is not expected to be incorporeal or otherworldly.

The term *reisei* has not been used often as a daily Japanese word and the audience may not have a concrete idea about what this term means (Horie, 2018; Kirita, 2007). Unfamiliarity with the term *reisei* when used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context would benefit the audiences who then require further information to clarify what it means. As discussed in Chapter 1 and 2, the transliterated spirituality has invaded into so many areas and fields in and outside of academia. As a result, people in Japan have been exposed to the different meanings of the same transliterated spirituality and may have already developed their own definition of the term. As Chapter 3 showed, the English term spirituality also requires from the users their precise descriptions of what it means. The meanings of the English term spirituality when used in the context of mediation vary depending on the user because the term was used as a component to form each different argument and opinion by professional mediators.

There are also other fields using the term reisei together with the transliterated spirituality despite the unfamiliarity with reisei and the equivocal meanings of the transliterated spiritualty existing in the audience. As mentioned at the end of the section 6.2, those fields are, but not limited to, education, psychiatry, psychology, psychotherapy and religious studies (Horie, 2018; Matsumoto, 2016). Such an overlap with other fields causes a further issue. Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane (2001) criticises the application of reisei by citing one of their research participants who described this term as indicating a notion which is irrelevant to his or her daily life although its meaning may be guessed because it uses only Japanese *kanji* letters rather than *katakana* letters.<sup>206</sup> The participant felt that being questioned about his or her understanding and awareness toward reisei, seishin, or the transliterated spirituality itself, was troublesome and tiresome because such questions reminded him or her of the religious groups soliciting new followers nearby his or her university (Tazaki, Matsuda and Nakane, 2001). Despite their research was concerned with those terms in health care professions, the audience is reminded of something religious when applying the term reisei regardless of the fields (Kasai, 2003), and it is not hard to imagine those fields includes mediation.

The argument then leads to why the term *reisei* should be better used in the context of mediation. Although the undesirable overlaps with other fields, which already use both *reisei* and transliterated spirituality, were identified in analysing both transliterated spirituality and *reisei*, Japanese speaking mediators can have the opportunity to explain the meaning of *reisei* and its differences from those used in other fields if they need to speak what Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit meant by the English terms spiritual and spirituality in the context of mediation in the Japanese language using the term *reisei*.

Gold's (1993 and 2003) healing paradigm which was also applied in Umbreit's (1997 and 2001) humanistic mediation model may be better understood by the transliterated spirituality because transliterated spirituality overlapping areas include psychology and psychotherapy. The sense of strong healing or relevant effects are included when the transliterated spirituality is used. There are spiritual counsellors and therapists (Gaitanidis, 2011; Sakurai, 2012; Ueda, 2014), and anything can be described as the transliterated

-

 $<sup>^{206}</sup>$  Kanji letters such as rei (霊) conveys its relevant meanings in a similar manner as symbols while katakana only express its phonetical sounds. For example, the transliterated spirituality is written in katakana letters and cannot be done with kanji because transliteration represents the word has its origin in foreign languages. This point was discussed in Chapter 1.

spiritual from television programmes to motherhood (Gaitanidis, 2011). <sup>207</sup> However, because of those commodification of the transliterated spirituality as a result of the rapid trend of applying the term to anything, the application of the transliterated spirituality implies Japanese-speaking mediation practices are being commercialised and commodified should the transliterated spirituality keep being applied.

This connotation is inaccurate, if not misleading. While the mediators who decided to use those terms wished to stress the importance of spirituality in their mediation experiences, they did not intend to commodify their spirituality. This is also evident from the findings of the present thesis as that spirituality does not create a new mediation model or group some mediators into one category. As discussed in Chapter 3, the English terms spiritual or spirituality were used by mediators in their original publications to describe their arguments, but only as a part or component of them. Albeit the small component can and may indicate something significant and thus was used symbolically, as shown in Chapter 4, it is possible in the context of mediation to describe the similar point without using such a coding (for example, Cobb, 2001, Ishihara, 2017b and Moore, 2014).

By switching to the term *reisei* which is written in *kanji* letters from the transliterated spirituality in *katakana*, Japanese speaking mediators can also emphasise their awareness of social situations regarding the transliterated spirituality used in pop-culture. Furthermore, the term *reisei* also allows them to convey their sincerity towards spirituality used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. While the term *reisei* is used to translate 'spiritual education' in Japanese and thus can be seen as a product of service in the same way as the transliterated spirituality is, the areas in which the term *reisei* is commodified are much narrower than the transliterated spirituality market. In addition, the overlapping with spiritual education, *reisei kyōiku*, further stresses the use of *reisei* is possible as it can be educated. This explains why spiritual intelligence was discussed as important to improve mediation practice by some mediators such as Goldberg and Blancke (2012) and Hoffman and Wolman (2013) as seen in Chapter 3.

Lastly, in the previous section, the suitability of *seishin* was articulated enough to the level at which it should not be even considered as a candidate word for translating the English

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> As discussed in Chapters 1 and 2.

word spirituality. As Suzuki (1944/1972) discussed, *seishin* is at the surface of *reisei* and is ranked at somewhere lower than *reisei*. As Gold (1993 and 2003: 210) stated, what she refers to as spirituality is somewhere deeper in one's psyche. Similarly, Umbreit (1997 and 2001) described the core of his mediation model is to seek a deeper connection by using the language of soul. Their spirituality refers to something deeper than what *seishin* can describe in the Japanese language. More interestingly, their spirituality shifts upwards. It is, according to Suzuki (1944/1972), *reisei*.

Based on the above, the term *reisei* is better suited as a Japanese translation of the English term spirituality used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001).

#### 6.5 Conclusion

This chapter discovered that the term *seishin* does not convey the meaning of the English term spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit. The transliterated spirituality can be used for the translation; however, the other areas which use the same transliterated spirituality may distort the professional boundary. The consequences of overlapping with other fields include that spirituality used by these two authors may be perceived as an indication of something religious or non-religious in spite of the user's original intention and that their mediation may be categorised as the same as peacebuilding. By analysing closely what Suzuki (1944/1972) means by the term *reisei*, this term is better suited than transliterated spirituality for the translation of English term spirituality in the context of mediation.

The application of transliterated spirituality appeared in the late 1970s and emerged rapidly around the end of the 1990s but lost its popularity by the end of 2000s (Horie, 2018). The introduction of the English spiritual and spirituality used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit was made by Fujioka in 2007. This was the time when the transliterated spirituality was blooming fully in so many fields in Japan as though it was about to become an established Japanese word to translate the English term spirituality in the same way as transliterated 'identity' which is also written in *katakana* letters to translate the English term identity (Ando, 2007).

The variances in Fujioka's translation of the English terms spiritual and spirituality might have been due to her specialism which is in dispute resolution and psychology. Fujioka might not have digested the topic on spirituality thoroughly in the English mediation context at such a level to translate these terminologies. Similarly, it may also be easy to criticise Ishihara who did not expand further why she used transliterated spirituality in a parallel to the word love when discussing their importance in the context of Japanese mediation (Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012). However, issues with both the English term spirituality and the Japanese equivalent terms should not and cannot be argued so simplistically by blaming it on the Japanese users of the terms.

In fact, Ando (2007) attributes the equivocal, context-bound meanings of the term spirituality to the recent and more frequent, if not selfish (Webster, 2012), uses of the term. Due to their ineffability, those terms tend to be applied rather flexibly, randomly and irregularly, without even considering the term's meanings expressed in the source language. As the transliterated spirituality trend tailed off by failing to establish one meaning across different fields and contexts, more scholars in the late 2010s started using the term *reisei* by replacing the transliterated spirituality.<sup>208</sup> The findings in this chapter also follow this new movement, which Horie (2018) describes as the revitalisation of *kanji*, in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

Furthermore, by discussing the suitability of each translation, this chapter also had to deal with tremendous volumes of information and resources on Japan's societal complexities in relation to those three Japanese terms. As revealed in discussing religions and religiosity of people of Japan in this chapter, such a societal background also seems to influence making such multiple choices available to mean 'spirituality'. The Japanese-speaking people's binary classification as being either religious or non-religious may have prevented the development of the terms which contain both religious and non-religious aspects, such as *reisei*. Discussing this point has to yield to the future research for further discussions.

The Japanese-speaking society is sensibly responding to the rapid trend of transliterated spirituality described as a 'spiritual boom' in a rather timely manner (for instance, Gaitanidis, 2011; Horie, 2007 and 2018), probably because they are very much interested in something

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> As already discussed in Chapter 1.

spiritual despite the long persistent binary classification. Mediators who work with Japanese-speaking clients should simply describe what they mean by the term *reisei*. What is required more from the mediators working with Japanese-speaking clients is a precise description on how their mediation can be religious or non-religious whatever they try to do by using the term *reisei*. Nonetheless, such discussions are subject to the binary classification and no one can predict the outcome of the discussion. Some may end up conducting their mediation as faith-based despite their original intention was different; others may lose their prospective clients unintentionally as a result of the discussion being judged by the binary-classification. However, omitting such a description intentionally will result in miscommunication, which cause more serious issues to the paid, professional services of mediation.

If the notion of using spirituality in the mediation context brings such extra tasks to mediators working in the Japanese-speaking mediation context, what are the contributions of expressing the notion in Japanese? The next chapter articulates both contributions and controversies by vocalising the notion of using spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

# 7 Aftermath of introducing the notion to the Japanese-speaking mediation context

#### 7.1 Introduction

Based on the situation of Japan revealed in the present thesis, this chapter articulates the contributions and controversies brought about by the translated notion in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation. Through such discussions, this chapter aims at explicitly illustrating the consequences of expressing the notion by the terms 'spiritual' or 'spirituality' in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation.

#### 7.2 Controversies

#### 7.2.1 Distorted boundaries between mediation and other fields

The meanings of both transliterated spirituality and *reisei* are vaguely understood, if at all, by the general public of Japan (Horie, 2018; Kirita, 2007). The former is due to the term's frequent use regardless of the fields in which it is applied and fails to establish its meaning (Ando, 2007). The latter is because the term *reisei* has tended to be used only in fields such as education, psychology and psychotherapy and religious studies as a rather technical word.

The origin of the term *reisei* is from Suzuki (1944/1972) whose arguments had long been considered as fixed, or limited, to Buddhism. It was only during a recent academic movement wherein the term *reisei* started gaining recognition due to the sudden increase in the numbers of academic disciplines in which transliterated spirituality has been used and started being replaced with the term *reisei* (Kirita, 2007). Without this rapid trend of transliterated spirituality, the term *reisei* would not have gained much attention in the country, either.

As a result of choosing transliteration to translate those English terms, Japanese-speaking mediation is exposed to perhaps unnecessary issues and difficulties. The mediation practice, which applies transliterated spirituality, cannot consequently avoid overlapping with other fields such as the peacebuilding practice, psychotherapy and counselling. Without explaining the meanings of the idea expressed by transliterated spirituality used in the context of

mediation, the transliterated spirituality fails to distinguish mediation from other fields. Further to that confusion, Japanese-speaking people's binary classification also risks all mediation practice described by the transliterated term becoming a faith-based mediation, which is not accurate. However, by explaining what a mediator means by transliterated spirituality, or the term *reisei*, a mediator is sharing the idea with his or her clients. This makes mediation a faith-based mediation. Although such an initiation needs not to be from the mediator, once the notion has been shared and mediation is conducted on that notion, the mediation becomes faith-based (Goldberg, 2016).

Indeed, this research concluded in the previous chapter the term *reisei* would help the profession more appropriately than applying the transliterated spirituality and *seishin* when explaining what 'spirituality' means, as used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) in that context. The introduction of the notion by publishing their voices only leaves a very narrow leeway for mediators to avoid being categorised as faith-based mediators and cannot avoid being subject to the binary classification as being either religious or not. In such a situation, using the term *reisei* which was originally used by Daisetz Suzuki in Zen Buddhism may and will sometimes inaccurately lead the judgement of the mediation practice toward being religious.

Furthermore, the term *reisei* still comes with the letter *rei* (ﷺ) and the application of the term overlaps with other professional fields such as Education, Psychiatry, Psychotherapy, Psychology and Religious Studies, in which the term *reisei* has been used together with transliterated spirituality. Such an overlap may cause further confusion to mediation as a profession, to their prospective clients, and to the mediators themselves, albeit that the term *reisei* has a clear origin and definition in Suzuki (1944/1972) as discussed in Chapter 6. In Religious Studies, for example, both transliterated spirituality and *reisei* are used to discuss religiosity in Japanese society.

In such a context, what is implied by the letter *rei* (霊), which means something incorporeal, the supernatural and otherworldliness associated with religions (Horie, 2018; Kasai, 2003), would bring more advantages than disadvantages to its users due to the nature of the discussion. However, in the context of mediation, which is one of the ADR methods, the

application of the term reisei may distort the focus of the professional discussion unless the term reisei is clearly defined and explained to its audience.

To make things worse, Chapter 5 discovered mediation in Japan has been not only unpopular but also not even considered for use in solving disputes such as one occurring in a neighbourhood. Society may not even recognise the purpose and advantages of mediation, or differences between mediation and litigation due to its unique development in Japan.<sup>209</sup> With such a poor recognition of how mediation is conducted or even what mediation is, the introduction of the notion of using either transliterated spirituality or reisei altogether confuses people how mediation works as an independent field which seems already to resemble peacebuilding. Mediators in Japan are still expected being a predominantly legal profession and, thus, certified under the ADR Act 2004; the notion of using spirituality discovered in this research is perplexing and not pertaining to what mediation currently should be in Japan, either.

#### 7.2.2 Misleading as if offering commodified spirituality in mediation

Using the terms spiritual or spirituality in the field, or profession, of mediation, may mislead its audiences in the Japanese-speaking mediation context by giving them the impression as if the terms spiritual or spirituality create a certain type of mediation in a commodified form of service.

By using transliterated spirituality, or even replacing it with the term reisei in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation, mediation distorts the borderline between other professional fields which offer services labelled by those terms in Japan. As a result, those terms applied in the Japanese-speaking mediation context offer a wrong impression, as if mediation now offers a service tailored as mediation in a similar manner to 'spiritual' education developed in Education, or 'spiritual' counselling discussed in Psychology and Psychotherapy, or 'spiritual' care offered in Health Care. This particularly concerns because of the current situation of the Japanese-speaking mediation context illustrated by Miyatake (2017). She (2017) describes the attitude of the Japanese-speaking users as heteronomous and also argues they thus prefer an authoritative approach, which judges and courts display to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> This was already discussed in Chapter 5.

resolve the issue for them, in third-party dispute intervention including mediation. However, in mediation, the users should be able to settle their issues voluntarily.

However, such an inaccurate understanding or expectation of mediation are not caused by the terms spiritual and spirituality randomly used in the mediation context nor by the applied Japanese translations of those terms carelessly cited in various contexts. What requires more attention is on the societal circumstances of Japan. As discussed in Chapters 2 and 6, the people in the country are interested in something religious or supernatural including fortune-telling and would not lose their interests in something 'spiritual' despite their antipathy toward religious groups or institutionalised religion. Their embedded interests thus seemingly appear in different, flexible forms other than an established form of institutionalised religion. One of the examples is the rapid trend of spirituality of applying the transliterated spiritual or spirituality into almost anything (Gaitanidis, 2011). As a result of that 'spiritual boom', Japanese society was flooded with various commercial products which sold, and still sell, commodified spirituality in various forms (Arimoto, 2011). By using the same terms, mediation can be observed as being a part of such a commodified spirituality service sector, which may apply supernatural powers.

#### 7.2.3 The binary classification deters from freedom of expression

In the context of English-speaking mediation researched in this thesis, the terms spiritual or spirituality form only one component of the whole argument of each and change their meaning depending on each user. Understanding the meaning of this small component, or aspect, of a different argument requires understanding each argument as a whole. The component only bears its meaning depending on the whole argument.

Such an expression, however, may not be taken place freely where the argument is subject to a simple binary classification of whether it is religious or not. So long as this binary classification persists, mediation applying spirituality is judged whether being religious or not. In addition, the judgement is made based on ambiguous recognition of what religions are. This simple division deters both mediators and the users to use the terms spiritual and spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. As for an example to illustrate this, Umbreit's video lecture, which was used in his training sessions in Japan, does not refer to any of these terms (Ishihara, 2017b) despite his trainings attracted many participants with

their own faith. Ishihara's (2017a) article, which reports how Umbreit's trainings went in Kumamoto, Japan, does not refer any of these terms, either.

While the terms spiritual and spirituality can be omitted and embedded in the whole argument without intervening the contents, the importance of using these terms are nonetheless evident. Those authors discussed in Chapter 3 deliberately chose to use these terms in their published arguments. If these terms are to be subject to the binary classification, professional mediators would have been deterred from expressing their opinions and sharing their experiences freely in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. As the precepts showed, there are aspects in the component expressed by the terms spiritual and spirituality which cannot be so simply divided into either being religious or non-religious.

When the audiences keep applying such a binary classification, the presenters choose other ways to express the same without using these terms. In this way, both the users and their audiences can avoid misinterpretation. As a result, however, mediators only share a limited knowledge and information with the fellow mediators in the Japanese-speaking context by not vocalising what is important. In other words, the vital part expressed by the terms is not visible in the arguments so that the audience may not notice the part. Although this point may not be directly linked to the introduction of the notion using the terms spiritual and spirituality in mediation practice, it is certainly the controversial point resulted from the introduction.

Before moving on to its contributions, this section summarises the controversies brought by the English terms spiritual and spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context. Those terms pose as powerful enough to integrate different fields into one. As a result, the introduction of the idea of using spirituality in the Japanese mediation context causes a series of issues which interlink with one another. In addition, the application of these terms together with the existing binary classification in the people of Japan interferes Japanese-speaking mediation with developing as a professional field.

Expressing the idea without using the terms spiritual or spirituality is possible, and thus the notion does not need to be codified by such terms. The Japanese translation seems to allow

some flexibility in not translating the original English texts literally.<sup>210</sup> If this is the case, what contributions are brought by voicing the idea in the Japanese-speaking mediation context? This is discussed in the next section.

### 7.3 Contributions

The same points identified as controversies in the previous subsection seem to contribute to the mediation practice conducted in Japanese.

#### 7.3.1 Reinstallation of the distorted boundaries

Although the introduction by vocalising the idea with the terms spiritual or spirituality distorts the professional boundary, mediators who use those terms need to be responsible for their practice nature and also confident as a service provider in explaining their professional approaches toward their own practice goal: dispute settlement.

Umbreit (2001) suggested that an initiation regarding spirituality should not be made by a mediator. Such an initiation could become a cause of new dispute, if not worsening the dispute that already exists, in the context of mediation. The notion described by the terms spiritual or spirituality does not form a whole of the practical nature of mediation but describe as one component of the whole. When mediators do not share the notion, the component would not even be identified. When the notion was discussed retrospectively, as seen in Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001), the descriptions or meaning of the terms become more precise and clearer because those terms illustrate what had happened. Likewise, Ishihara's parallel reference to the importance of spirituality as well as love in her public lecture as reported in Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun (2012) would not be understood accurately unless Ishihara herself, not others, explained. Alternatively, her audiences may ask her to clarify the meaning. In other words, the users of the terms spiritual or spirituality can explain what they mean by the terms.

When the mediator wants to use the terms spiritual or spirituality as a part of his or her practice model, that needs to be shared with and agreed by the prospective clients prior to undertaking the instruction. This shared spirituality would make a faith-based mediation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> As discussed in Chapter 1.

although it is not necessarily based on one particular religious doctrine. Reinstallation of the distorted boundaries discussed in the previous section also becomes possible as a result of such an open discussion. By establishing one's own meaning by using the terms spiritual or spirituality, each mediator can reinstall the distorted boundaries between mediation and other professions. In doing so, mediators would be able to stress that they are not commodifying their spirituality. This enables mediation to appear different from other professions, which provide commodified spirituality as a form of service. By developing what they mean by the terminologies, they can each tailor their mediation practice in a unique manner to attract clients. This of course requires a future field research to identify any market demands as Goldberg and Blancke (2011 and 2012) suggested.

#### 7.3.2 Mother hen pecks the eggs in contemporary Japan

While society recognises the importance of who mediates matters and tries to make mediation a safe space, spirituality used by Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) was introduced to Japanese-speaking legal scholars and practitioners as well as other members of the general public without carefully considering the suitability of the chosen translation. What is more worth paying attention to is the very fact that Japanese mediation scholars felt it important to introduce the notion by literally translating the English terms spiritual or spirituality when they were allowed to freely do so. The question asks why those terms needed to be translated in the Japanese mediation context in the first place when the notion itself can be expressed without being codified by the terms spiritual and spirituality.

As revealed in Chapter 5, mediation practice, regardless of whether it is called by that name or not, has long been used in Japanese-speaking society and the recent enforcement of the ADR Act 2004 has shown their recognition of who mediates matters. Indeed, mediation in Japan has been, and still is, predominantly a practice of law as an alternative dispute resolution to the courts, and thus private mediation is heavily subject to legal restrictions under the 2004 Act such as the certification scheme. It is not hard to imagine the introduction of the notion of using spirituality to the Japanese mediation context might have opened the Japanese-speaking practitioners' eyes to see one new aspect of mediation which has not been addressed before.

The introduction of spirituality into mediation has certainly caused a stir in such a field predominantly considered and expected to be a part of the legal profession which requires

the certification scheme as a desirable measure due to the existence of organised crime groups. Ishihara (2017a) declared that, in the mediation training by Mark S. Umbreit in Kumamoto, she had felt the private dialogues of each participant were spoken out of their souls. By comparing Kumamoto's sessions to the one held in Kyoto in which many religious participants attended, she (2017a) further argued that religions or religious faiths alone are not enough to reach the dialogues spoken in such a manner. In her view (Ishihara, 2017a), this process of mediation is a journey of the soul travelled by those who are involved in the mediation and, in order to complete such a journey, prayers are essential to aid the travel process.

As seen in Chapter 6, people in Japan have not lost their interest in something invisible, otherworldly and supernatural. Although transliterated spirituality now implies something commercialised and commodified (Horie, 2018), the population, especially the younger generations, show an unchanged interest towards something supernatural including superstitious charms, talismans and spiritual places including shrines, and confess to praying. Some even admit that they engage in activities which are described as religious while declaring they are not religious. Some of these people may not even realise that their acts, which are often referred as a part of their customs, are considered as 'religious practice'.

These diffused religious interests and practices could lead to the introduction of the notion of using spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context by literally transliterating the terms spiritual and spirituality. The introduction of the notion expressed by the terms spiritual and spirituality has initiated the recognition of something which was not a part of mediation in the country before: the *importance* of spirituality. Nonetheless, mediation in Japan has not been under any influence of religion or religious practices, as seen in Chapter 5.

Suzuki (1944/1972: 13) described how foreign cultures, such as Chinese, American and European, came to Japan before it fully developed its language as "rushed on in waves" and proclaimed that, as a result, "there were not enough days in which to make up, helter-skelter, all the new words for all the many things people had crammed into their heads. Such is the condition that has continued to prevail to the present." In modern Japan, the idea of using the terms spiritual or spirituality in the mediation context can be described as 'rushed on in

waves' to the country as well. As seen in Chapter 3, many mediators described their practice experiences using those terms, but each argument is different. Although textual analyses of Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit generated the eight precepts, and other publications on mediation also supported those precepts, such precepts nonetheless do not generalise the meanings of those terms used in English publications on mediation. Thus, the binary classification used by the people of Japan may not accurately judge each of such a whole argument containing spiritual or spirituality as a component.

Although this binary classification was anticipated as being eliminated and diminished by transliterated spirituality in the 1990s (Morioka, 1996), twenty years on since such an academic view was published, and the situation has not much changed as seen in Lewis (2018). While the binary classification remains with people of Japan and the terms used to express something spiritual change depending on the era, their interests in something spiritual remain unchanged. As if to emphasise their unchanged interests in something supernatural or in other-worldly matters, reviving the term *reisei* written in *kanji* letters has begun among academic scholars since the 2010s as the transliterated spirituality trend has gradually tailed off (Horie, 2018).<sup>211</sup>

In the Japanese-speaking mediation context, the introduction of the idea itself can be considered as what Suzuki (1944/1972: 19) described as "the mother hen pecks from the outside of the shell at the same time as the chick pecks from within". In Suzuki's argument, such a breaking shell exercise would have been completed by now. However, religions, including Buddhism, have become something not clearly understood by the people of Japan although they still attempt to judge whether it is religion or not. As religions have not succeeded in being a mother hen for all the eggs thus far in the society, some of those unhatched eggs in which chicks peck from inside might have hatched as a result of encountering the notion expressed by the English terms spiritual or spirituality. The unchanged interest of Japanese people in spirituality could have been the motive for initiating the idea of literally translating and explicitly using the notion originally described

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> It would not difficult to link this revitalisation of *reisei* to the fact that over 20 years have now passed since the late 1990s when many cult-related incidents occurred, including the sarin gas attack by Aum Shinrikyo at Kasumigaseki, Tokyo, and that those who committed the crimes were executed in 2018. The memories of the incidents, as well as negative impressions of religious groups, are now fading.

by the English terms spiritual and spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context as well.

Because their interests remain the same but the term *reisei* have not been well recognised due to Japan's societal background from the 1970s to date, the notion coming from foreign countries has been translated by using transliterated spirituality or the term *seishin* in the Japanese-speaking mediation context. In a reverse view, such translation, which avoid the direct connection to religions, allowed the audiences of Japan to express their long-hidden interests in something spiritual without being subject to the binary classification. By replacing those translations with the term *reisei*, which is clearly defined its relationship with religions by Daisetz Suzuki (1944/1972) in his book, the situation even improves because the meaning of 'spirituality' in the context of Japanese mediation has a reference and exists outside of a particular religious doctrine.

This introduction of the notion of using spirituality which was suggested by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit in English to the Japanese mediation context by way of translation can, may, and should appear as though bringing coals to Newcastle. However, for those academics who have lived in modern Japan and studied overseas, such as Fujioka and Ishihara, the ideas they came across in the foreign languages might appear as being something important, new and advanced (Horie, 2009), which was worth being translated by using the transliteration written in *katakana* letters to introduce to other fellow mediators in Japan. As a result, this introduction itself works as pecks by a mother hen so that the chicks inside the eggs can hatch easily.

The controversies brought by introducing the English terms spiritual or spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context can thus also be the contributions to the Japanese-speaking mediation profession. These contributions and controversies are opposite sides of the same coin of spirituality in the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

## 7.4 Conclusion

Introducing the notion expressed by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit using the English terms spiritual and spirituality to the Japanese-speaking mediation context carry both

controversies and contributions. By discussing each of them, this chapter concludes as that the contributions may outweigh the controversies. By replacing the currently used translations, the term *reisei* resolves both the distorted boundaries between different fields caused by using the same translations and the misleading impressions as though mediators offering commodified spirituality as a part of their service.

While the effects from introducing the notion to the Japanese-speaking mediation context remain unclear at this point of academic development, it is evident from the recent progress in the field that the notion has been accepted by Japanese speaking mediators (Ishihara, 2017a; Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun, 2012). If considering this fact without understanding the societal issues in its background, the introduction by transliteration itself could give an impression as if it is a new idea from foreign countries. What the present thesis must emphasise here is that the introduced notion is not a new concept. In fact, the idea itself seems to have been in Japan as *reisei* long before the notion came to the country in 2007. However, using spirituality in the context of mediation was and still relatively is new to the Japanese speaking mediation context.

The introduction in 2007 was as a result of the notion successfully hatching the eggs of Japanese scholars who went overseas and studied the English language. The notion worked as a mother hen's pecks, yet the chicks had already been inside of the eggs long before then. This describes the reason why those scholars who studied overseas immediately recognised the importance of introducing the notion by Lois Gold and Marks S. Umbreit to the Japanese-speaking mediation context.

The real issue identified by this research is that Japan seems to have failed to develop its own 'mother hen' to hatch the eggs which chicks peck from inside. Although people have interests in something supernatural and other-worldly, they somehow became sceptical of something 'spiritual' which can be expressed by the letter *rei* (霊) and developed the binary classification of whether it is religious or non-religious. As a result, transliterated spirituality and *seishin* were selected in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation even though the term *reisei* would have functioned better.

The notion expressed by transliterated spirituality or the English term spirituality *had to* become the mother hen in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation. Mark S. Umbreit's 2017 trainings in Japan attracted many participants with their own faith (Ishihara, 2017a). The progress and development are favourable for those who try to integrate something other than law in mediation in Japan. However, the question remains unanswered for the reason that Japan has not developed, or perhaps more accurately has failed to develop, its own mother hens, despite Suzuki (1944) confidently discussed the contrary in *Japanese Spirituality*. This is especially perplexing considering the fact that the people of Japan still maintain their interests in something supernatural and otherworldly and use the binary classification as being either being religious or non-religious. What is the implication of them applying such a classification? This question needs to be considered by future research.

Had the country steadily developed or preserved its own mother hens, using transliteration might have been superfluous to introduce the notion of using spirituality in the context of mediation. However, in the status quo of Japan, the notion was and still is considered as new, foreign and advanced enough to be transliterated in *katakana* letters. Because the introduction brings contributions at the same time as controversies, replacing the translation with the term *reisei* as a revitalisation of *kanji* letters may gradually lead to developing Japan's own mother hen to hatch the eggs containing chicks which are still alive.

The subsequent final chapter summarises and concludes this thesis by briefly discussing its final remarks and future recommendations.

## 8 Final remarks and future recommendations

## 8.1 Discoveries through this research

The purpose of the present thesis was to argue the suitability of the Japanese translations used in the Japanese-speaking mediation context for the English terms 'spiritual' and 'spirituality'. Focusing on the context and limiting the resource where the term originates as narrowly as possible enabled this research to confine its arguments, which are to examine three terms, that is, transliterated spirituality, *seishin* and *reisei*, in light of the publications by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit. This research concluded *seishin* is not appropriate while transliterated spirituality may be used yet causing some issues to the Japanese-speaking mediation as a profession. The term *reisei* is better suited to reflect the meanings of those English terms used by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit.

This research findings illustrate how complex the notion is when the English term spirituality is translated in the Japanese-speaking context (Tazaki, Matsuda, and Nakane, 2001 and 2002). However, the textual analyses conducted in the present thesis revealed the similar situation of the English-speaking mediation context concerning the terms spiritual and spirituality. What makes the English-speaking mediation context even more difficult are the broader geographic areas which the language covers in the modern era. As this research discovered, there are more than 32 articles and books published in the English language to discuss mediation and spirituality. They were published in countries located in various places all over the globe. Nailing down the origin of the idea of using those terms in the context of mediation within a specific culture, as a result, was not possible.

Furthermore, as discussed in Chapter 2, such a culture-based division separates people of the same nation rather discriminatory into two or more in the mediation context. While Ito's (2004) 'global spirituality' and Shimazono's (2012) *New Religious Movements and Culture* explain borderless spirituality mainly based on perspectives from Religious Studies and Sociology of Religion, what this research revealed was how user-dependently the English terms spiritual and spirituality are used even in the one context, which is mediation. The potential scenes when the term *reisei*, or spirituality in English, is used in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation are as follows: in a faith-based mediation or in the lectures or

publications on the topic. In each situation, the mediator or the speaker can, should and will describe not only the meaning of the term *reisei* but also what roles *reisei*, or spirituality in English, plays in their mediation practice.

As discussed in Chapter 6, the term *reisei* was defined by Suzuki (1975/1944). The meaning of the term *reisei* can and will remain the same in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation even though the term intersecting other fields. Any other unique thoughts and ideas added by each mediator to the notion expressed the term *reisei* remain independent because '*reisei*' remains only one component of the whole. By explaining what the term *reisei* means and what each mediator's argument is about, the term would not mislead the audience as if offering some commodified service.

The revitalisation of *kanji* letter, which means the transition from transliterated spirituality to the term *reisei* (Horie, 2018), has been evident in Japanese academia since the beginning of the 2010s when the transliterated spirituality trend, a 'spiritual boom', has gradually tailed off. The application of the term *reisei* raises awareness of the people involved in the Japanese-speaking mediation, regardless of whether they are a mediator or clients, toward the fact something expressed by the English term spirituality already existed in Japan. Although the term *reisei* still remains with the issue caused by the overlapping usages in other fields such as education, psychotherapy, psychology and religious studies, by having the concrete origin of the term in Suzuki (1944/1972), at least its meaning becomes clearer than transliterated spirituality mushrooming in so many areas with succinct, nuanced and context-bound meanings.

What the present thesis discovered as more alarming in the Japanese-speaking mediation context is the fact that Japanese-speaking people, either as a mediator or client, may not immediately recognise or understand the meaning of 'spirituality', even as either the term *reisei* or the form of transliteration, in the context. They may only extend their binary classification, which is formed on their vague, ambiguous understandings of religions and religiosity, to judge the notion presented as being either religious or non-religious. To this extent, it is vital for the mediator to be able to explain not only the meaning of 'spirituality' or *reisei* but also what it means to his or her practice.

Fortunately, the notion of using spirituality in mediation as a mother hen is already in the Japanese context to peck the eggshells from outside and, limiting to the mediation practice alone, the issue is with how to preserve the mother hen. By enlightenment in the revitalisation of *kanji*, people in Japan may start realising that, although the notion of applying spirituality in the mediation context was indeed a new idea hence worth being translated into Japanese, the 'spirituality' itself already exists in Japanese. They could and might start questioning why they had lost or stopped using the term *reisei*. Unfortunately, such a historical query together with its future implications need to be left for future research. This should be expanded in more detail as one of the recommendations for the future research below.

In such a status quo, the question may pose whether any similar research to the one conducted by Horie (2019) is indeed necessary at this point of mediation development. As discussed in chapter 2, Horie's (2019) purpose was to bridge the differences in the meanings between the Japanese term transliterated spirituality and the English term spirituality so that to be used in Japanese academic disciplines of psychology and sociology of religion. In mediation conducted in either Japanese or English language, the shared spirituality between a mediator and his or her clients becomes a basis of faith-based mediation model at an agreement of all attending parties. The narrow focus on the similarities between the arguments by Lois Gold and Mark S. Umbreit allowed this research to generate the eight precepts shown in Chapter 3.

However, spirituality referred to by both Gold (1993 and 2003) and Umbreit (1997 and 2001) was only one component of their different, whole arguments respectively. This research also discovered that spirituality as a component may be codified and labelled to acknowledge its importance to mediation practice yet, at the same time, can be omitted, unvoiced or embedded in a whole argument. Such a component may not require an integrated, universal meaning in the mediation context. The present thesis argued that this seemed to be something to do with the aim of mediation practice: dispute settlements by mediation users, not by mediators.

As for one example, the similar analyses made by focusing on the differences were found in Walker (1999, 2001 and 2007). The consequence of her approaches nonetheless was to

create a division between two spiritualities used in the same English-speaking mediation context, but in different cultures: indigenous and non-indigenous. The research approach taken by Walker can be interpreted as that there is no consensus over the meaning of these terms across the English-speaking mediation context alone. Explicit faith can be the very cause of the disputes. At this time of mediation development where there is no form of commodified spirituality as a 'product of service', each mediator may better explain his or her meaning of spirituality by sensitively accommodating each client's background, if so asked by the prospective clients.

Overall, this research contributes to the further development of the Japanese-speaking mediation by clarifying the meanings of spirituality introduced to the context and also putting forward the reasons why the term *reisei* appears to be a more appropriate translation of the English term in this context.

The next section discusses some future recommendations identified based on the findings of the present thesis.

#### 8.2 Future recommendations

The recommendations for future research topics may also be better understood by using Suzuki's (1944/1972: 19) metaphorical expressions of a hen, chick and egg.

#### 8.2.1 How to preserve the mother hen

Based on the analyses in this research, it became evident that Japanese mediation scholars seem not to realise the term *reisei* can or should be used to translate the idea expressed by the English term spirituality. This point raises further questions such as how Japanese speaking mediators will apply this notion in their actual practice which has been a profoundly law dominant field, and how their prospective Japanese-speaking clients will react to the introduction while their binary classification as being either religious or non-religious remains with people of Japan.

Even though the faith once shared in the context of mediation will be grouped as faith-based mediation, it is unknown how the idea expressed outside of actual mediation sessions, such as in publications or public lectures, are perceived by the audiences in Japan . Despite their

interests in something supernatural or otherworldly, people in Japan seem to have lost at some point their hens to peck their eggshells and help to hatch freely. By conducting research on historical queries as to why, when and how such happened, the current situation surrounding Japanese-speaking mediation practice may be better understood.

Furthermore, in order to improve the current situation of the Japanese-speaking mediation context which is subject to the binary classification as being either religious or not, a further question should be posed as to how the people of Japan have developed such a binary classification and what the implications of the classification have been in their society.

The above recommended research topics on investigating how to preserve the mother hen lead to below the discussions of future field studies to observe how the hatched chicks grow.

#### 8.2.2 Field studies

Because mediation involves both mediators and their clients, field research will contribute in identifying potential issues hidden in the market in relation to either applying spirituality in the practice or integrating it into the practice without sharing it with the other parties attending the mediation sessions.

The first topic for field research may be; when the chicks inside of the eggs have not yet died, what has been the mother hen? If the people of Japan have forgotten that they have chicks inside of them, a mother hen would not be needed and even sought in the first place. However, they did not forget about the chick; they just have forgotten the name of the chick. The chicks inside kept and still keep seeking the mother hen to help them out of the shells; one of the recent mother hens has been the transliterated spirituality but is now reviving to reisei. These 'chicks' which cannot be seen yet exists inside of the eggs could have been the motivator of the spirituality trend as well as the initiator of reviving reisei.

A second potential research topic is to investigate the attitudes of both mediators and members of general public toward *reisei*, or spirituality, used in the mediation context as suggested by Goldberg and Blancke (2011: 386 and 2012). Such a study will be able to identify whether the needs or interests for the notion exist only within a limited group of people, and, if so, to identify who they are. The identified group of people may be those with strong faiths, as Ishihara (2017a) described the attendees of Umbreit's training in Japan. If

that is the case, then the application of *reisei* may naturally lean toward a faith-based mediation and can eventually be limited to the faith-based mediation. It would be interesting then to further investigate what potential benefits the Japanese-speaking people receive by using the term *reisei* albeit limited to the mediation context. Their heteronomous attitudes together with the willingness of seeking authoritative figures in resolving their issues as argued by Miyatake (2017) may become more evident in such a study. Alternatively, the participation in the study may raise their awareness by describing how *reisei* functions in mediation and thus changing their heteronomous attitudes and becoming more independent to settle on their own.

In the context of mediation, the Japanese-speaking people's binary classification as being either religious or not, could influence on the understanding *reisei* which can be used to mean being either religious or non-religious or both at the time. Whether and how such a binary classification should be unfolded in the context of Japanese-speaking mediation can also be future research topics. In the same vein, Japanese-speaking mediators' attitudes also need to be investigated. As said in Chapter 5, the profession has been a part of the law dominant industry and never subject to such a binary classification.

Such studies allow to conduct case studies further discussing on how the application of spirituality contributes to or negatively impacts on actual mediation practice to settle the existing issues in Japan such as discrimination against, and disputes with, immigrants who have strong religious faiths, including, but not limited to, Christian Brazilian, Christian Korean or Muslim communities (see for instance, Hoshino, 2018; Lee, 2018; Numajiri and Miki, 2018). Such studies would generate a stream of knowledge in relation to people's attitudes which are profoundly based on the binary classification of being either religious or non-religious in the mediation context. The findings may also identify a contradiction of the currently identified binary classification and enable discussion as to whether the binary classification has worn out.

Finally, the field research on how to promote the currently unpopular mediation in Japan is necessary although such research requires a complex, interdisciplinary approach to the topic. By observing the whole picture based on empirical data, the research may be able to articulate whether the Japanese-speaking people, either as a mediator or client, are in fact

willing to use mediation which is not conducted in the same manner as the one currently available in the law dominant field. In other words, the study findings will enable the further discussion as to whether they are motivated to use mediation referring to *reisei* as a vital component rather than heavily weighing on the legal, materialistic perspectives by only appreciating their expected fair ratios or equal shares.

## **Bibliography**

#### [Books and Journal Articles]

- Abe, M. (2015) 'Christianity to Bukkyo: Shinpishugi to Zen ni Tsuite', the Waseda Journal of Social Sciences, vol.26, 75-82.
- Abel, R. L. (1982) *The Politics of Informal Justice, Volume I: The American Experience*, New York: Academic Press.
- Abernethy, A. D. et. (2006) 'Using Prayer in Psychotherapy: Applying Sue's Differential to Enhance Culturally Competent Care', *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, vol.12, 101–114.
- ACR Mediation Certification Task Force (2004) 'ACR Mediator Certification Task Force: Report and Recommendations', [Online] Available at <a href="http://www.mediate.com/articles/acrcert1.cfm">http://www.mediate.com/articles/acrcert1.cfm</a> (Last accessed in November 2018).
- Agency of Cultural Affairs, Government of Japan (2015) Resource Files of Survey in relation to Religions, available at <a href="https://www.bunka.go.jp/tokei-hakusho\_shuppan/tokeichosa/shumu-kanrentokei/pdf/h26\_chosa.pdf">www.bunka.go.jp/tokei-hakusho\_shuppan/tokeichosa/shumu-kanrentokei/pdf/h26\_chosa.pdf</a>, (Last accessed in May 2018).
- Ajjawi, R. and Higgs, J. (2007) 'Using Hermeneutic Phenomenology to Investigate How Experienced Practitioners Learn to Communicate Clinical Reasoning', the Qualitative Report, Vol.12, Number 4, December, pp612-638.
- Albert, R and Howard, D (1985) 'Informal Dispute Resolution through Mediation', Mediation Quarterly, vol.10, 99-108.
- Alexander, N. (2005) 'Beyond Neutrality: Confronting the Crisis in Conflict Resolution', *ADR Bulletin*, vol.7(6), 1-2. Available at <a href="http://epublications.bond.edu.au/adr/vol7/iss6/6">http://epublications.bond.edu.au/adr/vol7/iss6/6</a> (Last consulted in November 2017).
- Alexander, N. (2008) 'the Mediation Meta Model Understanding Practice Around the World', Conflict Resolution Quarterly, 26(1) Fall, 97-123.
- Allegretti, J. (2001) 'Dialogue and the Practice of Law and Spiritual Values: A Christian Perspective on Alternative Dispute Resolution', Fordham Urban Law Journal, vol.28, 997–1006.
- Allen, T. (2012) 'A matter of trust', NLJ Vol 162, Issue 7519
- Ama, T. (1996/2005) Why are the Japanese Non-Religious? Lanham, Maryland: University Press of America.
- American Bar Association (1983) *The Special Committee on Alternative Dispute Resolution:*Dispute Resolution Program Directory, The Committee: Washington, D.C.
- American Bar Association (2004) ABA Dispute Resolution Magazine, 10(3).
- Ando, O. (2007) 'Gendai no Spirichualitii', in Ando, O. and Yuasa, Y. (Ed.) *Spirituality no Shinrigaku*, Osaka: Seseragi Shuppan.
- Ando, Y. (2006) 'Ekkyo suru Spirituality Shoryouiki ni okeru sono rikaino akehe mukete', Religious Philosophy Research, vol.349, 73-92.
- Ando, Y. (2012) 'Gendai Iryo Bunka ni okeru Spirituality no Isou', in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Bunka to Reisei*, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Annells, M. (1996) 'Hermeneutic phenomenology: Philosophical perspectives and current use in nursing research', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol.23, 705-713.
- Aoki, S. (1903) Yomotsu Hirasaka, Tokyo University of the Arts, Tokyo.
- Arimoto, Y. (2011) Research of "Spirituality" Market, Tokyo: Toyo Keizai Shinpo Sha.
- Astin, J. A. (2006) 'The Efficacy of Distant Healing for Human Immunodeficiency Virus: Results of a Randomized Trial', *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vol.12(6), 36-41
- Aston, W. G. (1905) Shinto (the Way of the Gods), London: Longmans, Green and Co.

- Aten, J. D. and Leach, M.M. (2009) 'A Premier on Spirituality and Mental Health', in Aten, J. D. and Leach, M.M. (Ed.) *Spirituality and the Therapeutic Process: A Comprehensive Resource from Intake to Termination*, Washington: American Psychological Association.
- Auerbach, J. S. (1983) *Justice Without Law? Resolving Disputes Without Lawyers*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Austin, J.H. (2013) 'Zen and the Brain: Mutually Illuminating Topics', Frontiers in psychology, 4,784, 1-9.
- Austin, J. L. (1962) How to do Things with Words, London: OUP.
- Author unknown (approximately 17<sup>th</sup> century) *Kumano Kanshin Jukkai Zu*, Rokudo Chin-no Ji, Kyoto
- Author unknown (approximately 13<sup>th</sup>-14<sup>th</sup> century) *Amida Nijugo Bosatsu Raigeizu*, Chionin, Kyoto
- Aviles, J. M. et al. (2001) 'Intercessory Prayer and Cardiovascular Disease Progression in a Coronary Care Unit Population: A Randomized Controlled Trial', *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, vol.76(12), 1192-1198.
- Avruch, K. (2013) *Context and Pretext in Conflict Resolution: Culture, Identity, Power, and Practice*, New York: Routledge.
- Babase, F. M. (1967) *Japanese Youth Confronts Religion*, Tokyo: Sophia University in cooperation with Chalrles E. Tuttle Company, Tokyo and Rutland, VT.
- Bagshaw, D. (2001) 'the Three Ms-Mediation, Postmodernism, and the New Millennium', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol.18(3), 205-220.
- Bardy, A. H. (2002) 'Near-death Experiences', The Lancet, vol.359(9323), 2116.
- Barnes, B. E. (1994) 'Conflict Resolution across Cultures: A Hawaii Perspective and a Pacific Mediation Model', *Mediation Quarterly*, 12(2), 117–133.
- Becker, P. E. (1998) 'Congregational Models and Conflict: A Study of how Institutions Shape Organizational Process', in Demerath, N. J. (Ed.) Sacred Companies: Organizational Aspects of Religion and Religious Aspects of Organizations, New York: OUP.
- Barsky, A. E. (2016) Conflict Resolution for the Helping Professions: Negotiation, Mediation, Advocacy, Facilitation, and Restorative Justice, OUP: New York.
- Barrett, J. T. and Barrett, J. P. (2004) A History of Alternative Dispute Resolution: The Story of a Political, Cultural, and Social Movement, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bauer, M., Bicquelet, A., and Suerdem, A. K. (2014) 'Text Analysis an Introductory Manifesto' in Bauer, M., Bicquelet, A., and Suerdem, A. K. (Ed.) *Textual Analysis*, SAGE Benchmarks in Social Research Methods, 1. Sage: London.
- Baum, H. (2013) 'Mediation in Japan: Development, Forms, Regulation and Practice of Out-of-Court Dispute Resolution' in Hopt, J. and Steffek, F. (ed.) *Mediation: Principles and Regulation in Comparative Perspective*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Baumeister, R. F. and Leary, M. (1997) 'Writing Narrative Literature Reviews', *Review of General Psychology*, 11(3), 311-320.
- Baumsteiner, R. and Chenneville T (2013) 'the Role of Religiosity and Spirituality in Moral Reasoning', *Ethics and Behaviour*, vol.23(4), 266-277.
- Beldam, R. (1992) 'Report of the Committee on Alternative Dispute Resolution', *Arbitration* 58, No.3 178-186.
- Belief in Mediation and Arbitration (2016) 'Henry Brown', [online] available at <a href="http://www.bimagroup.org/">http://www.bimagroup.org/</a>, (last accessed in October 2018).
- Bellha, R. N. (1957) Tokugawa Religion, New York: Free Press.
- Bellah, R. N. (1964) 'Religious Evolution in American Sociological Review, Vol.29(3), 358-374.
- Bellah, R. N. (1967) 'Civil Religion in America', Religion in America, Winter, vol.96(1), 1-21.
- Bellah, R. N. et al. (1991) *Habits of the Heart: Individualism and Commitment in American Life*, Berkley: University of California Press.
- Benedict, R. (1946) *The Chrysanthemum and the Sword: Patterns of Japanese Culture*, Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.

- Benefiel, M., Fry, L. W., and Geigle, D. (2014) 'Spirituality and Religion in the Workplace: History, Theory, and Research', *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, vol.6(3), 175-187.
- Benson, H. et al. (2006) 'Study of the Therapeutic Effects of Intercessory Prayer (STEP) in Cardiac Bypass Patients: a Multicenter Randomized Trial of Uncertainty and Certainty of Receiving Intercessory Prayer', *American Heart Journal*, vol151(4), 934-942
- Berber, C. (2008) 'Spirituality and Religion: A Brief Definition', *British Journal of Healthcare Assistants*, vol.6(8), 378-381.
- Bercovitch, J. and Kadayifci-Orellana, A. S. (2009) 'Religion and Mediation: The Role of Faith-Based Actors in International Conflict Resolution', *International Negotiation*, 14 (1), 175–204
- Bevan, G. et al. (2000) Monitoring Publicly Funded Family Mediation: Summary Report to the Legal Services Commission, Legal Services Commission.
- Bingham, L. B. (2012) 'Transformative Mediation at the United States Postal Service', Negotiation and Conflict Management, vol.5(4), 354–366.
- Biringen, Z., Emde, E. M., and Pipps-Siegel, S. (1997) 'Dyssynchrony, conflict, and resolution: Positive contributions to infant development', *American Journal of Orthopsychology*, vol. 67, 4-19.
- Bishop, G., et al. (1996) *Divorce Reform: A Guide for Lawyers and Mediators*, London: FT Law &Tax.
- Blackmore, S. J. (1996) 'Near-Death Experiences', *Journal of the RS of Medicine*, vol.89, 73-76. Blaikie, N. (2007) *Designing Social Research, the Logic of Anticipation*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., Cambridge:
- Polity Press.
- Bokkon, I. and Salari, V. (2012) 'Hypothesis about brilliant lights by bioluminescent photons in near death experiences', *Medical Hypothesis*, vol.79, 47-49.
- Bond, T. and Mitchels, B. (2008) *Confidentiality and Record Keeping in Counselling and Psychotherapy*, SAGE Publications, London.
- Bobrowski, N., Timor, U., and Ronel, N. (2017) 'Shmaglena: Ethnic Framework for Problem Mediating', *Journal of Ethnicity in Criminal Justice*, 15(3), 285–306.
- Boss, E. M. et al. (2016) 'Out-of-Body Experience during awake craniotomy', World Neurosurgery, vol.92, 586.e9–586.e13
- Botticelli, S. (1485) the Map of Hell, the Vatican Library, Italy.
- Botticini, F. G. (1475-1476) Assumption of the Virgin, the National Gallery, London.
- Bourdieu, P and Wacquant, L. (1992) *An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology*, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Bouyer, L. (1963) Spirituality of the New Testament and the Fathers, London: Burns and Oates.
- Bowling, D. and Hoffman, D. A. (2003) 'Bringing Peace into the Room: The Personal Qualities of the Mediator and Their Impact on the Mediation' in Bowling and Hoffman (ed.) *Bringing Peace into the Room: How the Personal Qualities of the Mediator Impact the Process of Conflict Resolution*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Brigg, M. (2003) 'Mediation, Power, and Cultural difference', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol.20(3), 287-306.
- Brown, M. (2016) 'Legislation: Where the Uniform Mediation Act Stands in the States' [Online], available at <a href="http://www.cpradr.org/">http://www.cpradr.org/</a> (last accessed in October 2018).
- Broughton, R. S. and Alexander, C. H. (1997) 'Autoganzfeld II: An Attempted Replication of the PRL Ganzfeld Research', *Journal of Parapsychology*, vol.61, 208-226.
- Bryant, T. L. (1995) 'Family Models, Family Dispute Resolution and Family Law in Japan', *Pacific Basin Law Journal*, vol.14(1), 1-27.
- Bryman, A. (2012) Social Research Methods, 4th Ed. London: OUP.
- Burton, J. W. (1993) 'Conflict Resolution as a Political Philosophy' in Sandole, D. J. D. and Merwe, H. (Ed.) *Conflict Resolution Theory and Practice: Integration and Application*, Manchester: MU.

- Bush, R. A. and Folger, J. P. (1994) *The Promise of Mediation: Responding to Conflict through Empowerment and Recognition*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Bush, R. A. and Folger, J. P. (2012) 'Mediation and Social Justice: Risks and opportunities', *Ohio St. Journal on Dispute Resolution*, vol27, 1-52.
- Bush, R. A., and Pope, S. G. (2002) 'Changing the quality of conflict interaction: The principles and practice of transformative mediation', *Pepperdine Dispute Resolution Law Journal*, 3(1), 67-96.
- Butler, J. et al (2011) *The Power of Religion in the Public Sphere*, New York: Columbia University Press.
- Buonarroti, M. (1536-1541) the Last Judgement, the Sistine Chapel, Vatican City.
- Byrne, M. (2001) 'Hermeneutics as a Methodology for Textual Analysis', *Research Corner*, vol.73(5), 968-970.
- Byrd, R. C. (1988) 'Positive Therapeutic Effects of Intercessory Prayer in a Coronary Care Unit Population', *Southern Medical Journal*, vol81(7), 826-829.
- Cabinet Public Relations Office of the Japanese Government (2014) 2013 Version of Public Opinion Poll between April, 2012 to March 2013, available at <a href="https://survey.gov-online.go.jp/genkyou/h26/h25-genkyou/index.html">https://survey.gov-online.go.jp/genkyou/h26/h25-genkyou/index.html</a> (last consulted in May 2018).
- Caird, D. (1987). 'Religiosity and personality: are mystics introverted, neurotic, or psychotic?', *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 26, 345–346.
- Callister, R. B. and Wall, J. A. (1997) 'Japanese Community and Organizational Mediation', *The Journal of Conflict Resolution*, vol.41(2), 311-328.
- Camina, E. and Porteiro, N. (2007) 'The Role of Mediation in Peacemaking and Peacekeeping Negotiations', *European Economic Review*, 53, 73-92.
- CAMP Mediation (2018) 'Camp Team' available at <a href="http://www.campmediation.in/camp-team/">http://www.campmediation.in/camp-team/</a> (Last consulted in December 2018).
- Cant, R. et al. (2012) 'The Divided Self: NDEs of Resuscitated patients a review of literature', International Emergency Nursing, vol.20, 88-93.
- Carlson, T. and Erickson, M. (2002) *Spirituality and Family Therapy*, New York: The Haworth Press.
- Cappelletti, M. (1979) Access to Justice, Alphen aan den Rijn: SIJTHOFF.
- Cappelletti, M. (1981) 'Access to Justice and the Welfare State: An Introduction' in *Access to Justice and the Welfare State*, European University Institute.
- Cappelletti, M & Garth, B. (1977-1978) 'Access to Justice: The Newest Wave in the Worldwide Movement to Make Rights Effective', *Buffalo Law Review*, Vol.27, pp.181-292.
- Carrette, J. and King, R. (2005) *Selling Spirituality: The Silent Takeover of Religion,* Abingdon: Routledge.
- Casanova, J. (1994) Public Religion in the Modern World, Chicago: The University Chicago Press.
- Castro, M, Burrows, R., and Wooffitt, R. (2014) 'The Paranomal is (still) normal: The Sociological Implications of a Survey of Paranormal Experiences in Great Britain', *Sociological Research Online*, vol.19(3), 1-15.
- CEDRA (2017) 'Mediation Training UK & International', available at <a href="https://www.cedr.com/skills/mediator/">https://www.cedr.com/skills/mediator/</a>, (Last consulted in November 2017).
- Centre for Dispute Resolution (2016) 'About Us', [Online] available at <a href="https://www.cedr.com/">https://www.cedr.com/</a> (last accessed in October 2017).
- Cha, K. Y., Wirth, D. P., and Lobo, R. A. (2001) 'Does Prayer Influence the Success of In-Vitro Fertilization-Embryo Transfer? Report of a Masked, Randomized Trial', *Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, 46(9), 781-787.
- Chamberlain, D. B. (1988) Babies remember births, LA: The New Alexandra Library.
- Chamberlain, D. B. (2013) Windows to the Womb: Revealing the Conscious Baby from Conception to Birth, Berkley: North Atlantic Books.
- Chamberlain, D. B. (2014) 'the Prenatal Psyche: Evidence for a New Perspective', *Journal of Prenatal and Perinatal Psychology and Health*, vol.28(4), 288-294.

- Chamberlain, D.B. and Arms, S. (1999) 'Obstetrics and the Prenatal Psyche', *Journal of Prenatal and Perinatal Psychology and Health*, vol.14(1-2), 97-118.
- Cheek, D. B. (1986) 'Prenatal and Perinatal Imprints: Apparent Prenatal Consciousness as Revealed by Hypnosis', *Pre and Perinatal Psychology Journal*, vol1(2), 97-110.
- Cheek, D. B. (1992) 'Are Telepathy, Clairvoyance and "Hearing" Possible in Utero? Suggestive Evidence as Revealed During Hypnotic Age-Regression Studies of Prenatal Memory', *Pre and Perinatal Psychology Journal*, vol7(2), 125-137.
- Chetkow-Yanoov, B. (2012/1997) 'Conflict Resolution Skills can be Taught' in Chetkow-Yanoov, B. (Ed.) *Social Work Approaches to Conflict Resolution: Making Fighting Obsolete*, New York: Routledge. p129-145.
- Choi, B. C. K. and Pak, A. W. (2006) 'Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity and transdisciplinarity in health research, services, education and policy', *Clin. Invest. Med.*, 29(6), 351-364.
- Chornenki, G. (1997) 'Mediating Commercial Disputes: Exchanging "Power Over" for "Power With", Macfarlane, J. (Ed.) *Rethinking Disputes: The Mediation Alternative*, London: Cavendish Publishing.
- Chupp, M. (1993) 'Conflict Transformation: A Spiritual Process', MCS Conciliation Quarterly, Summer, 5-6 & 11.
- Clark, B. (2012) Lawyers and Mediation, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Clark, M. (1993) 'Symptoms of Cultural Pathologies' in Sandole, D. and Merwe, H. (ed.) *Conflict Resolution Theory and Practice: Integration and Application*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Cloke, K. (2001) *Mediating Dangerously: The Frontiers of Conflict Resolution*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Cloke, K. (2003) 'What are the Personal Qualities of the Mediator?' in Bowling, D. and Hoffman, D. (ed.) *Bringing Peace into the Room*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Cloke, K. (2005) 'Why Every Conflict Breaks Your Heart: Conflict as Spiritual Crisis', ACResolution 5(1), 16–21, [Online] available at <a href="http://moscowitzmediation.com/ConflictBreaksHeart.pdf">http://moscowitzmediation.com/ConflictBreaksHeart.pdf</a> (last accessed in May 2018).
- Cobb, S. (2001) 'Creating Sacred Space: Toward a Second-Generation Dispute Resolution Practice', Fordham Urban Law Journal, 28, 1017-1031.
- Cobb, S. and Rifkin, J. (1991) 'Practice and Pradox: Deconstructing Neutrality in Mediation', *Law and Social Inquiry*, vol16(1), 35-62.
- Coholic, D. (2003) 'Student and Educator Viewpoints on Incorporating Spirituality in Social Work Pedagogy An Overview and Discussion of Research Findings', *New Scholarship in the Human Services*, vol.2(2), available at ww.ucalgary.ca/currents/files/currents/v2n2\_coholic.pdf
- Coholic, D. (2005) 'Helpfulness of Spiritually Influenced Group Work in Developing Self-Awareness and Self Esteem: A Preliminary Investigation', *The Scientific World Journal*, vol. 5, 789–802, available at <a href="mailto:file:///c:/Users/M%20Ueda/Downloads/212189.pdf">file:///c:/Users/M%20Ueda/Downloads/212189.pdf</a> (Last consulted in November, 2017).
- Cole, R. (1990) The Spiritual Life of Children, Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Collipp, P.J. (1969) 'The Efficacy of Prayer: A Triple Blind Study', Medical Times, 97(5), 201-204.
- Community Boards (2010) 'Community Boards Building Community through Conflict Resolution' published at <a href="http://communityboards.org/">http://communityboards.org/</a> (last accessed in October 2017).
- Corbin, J. M. and Strauss, A. L. (2008) *Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ed. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Cremin, H. (2007) *Peer mediation: Citizenship and Social Inclusion Revisited*, Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Creswell, J.W. (2002) Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, N.J. (2013) *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Ed., London: SAGE Publications.

- Crotty, M. (1988) the Foundation of Social Research, London: SAGE Publication.
- Currie, C. (1998) 'Wanted: A Theoretical Construct for Mediation Practice', *Dispute Resolution Journal*, 53(3), p70-75.
- Currie, C. (2004) 'Mediating Off the Grid', Dispute Resolution Journal, 59(2), p9-15.
- Daft, R. (1983) 'Learning the Craft of Organizational Research', *Academy of Management Review*, vol.8(4), 539-546.
- Damaska, M. R. (1986) *The Faces of Justice and State Authority*, New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Danesh, H. B. and Danesh, R. (2002a) 'Consultative Conflict-Resolution Model Beyond Alternative Dispute Resolution', *International Journal of Peace Studies*, vol.7(2), 17-33.
- Danesh, H. B. and Danesh, R. (2002b) 'Has Conflict Resolution Grown Up? Toward a New Model of Decision Making and Conflict Resolution', *International Journal of Peace Studies*, Vol. 7, No. 1, 59–76.
- Davey, B. et al. (2011) *The Dispute Resolution Regulations Two Years on: the ACAS Experience*, London: ACAS, available at <a href="http://www.acas.org.uk/media/pdf/6/6/The-Dispute-Resolution-Regulations-two-years-on-the-Acas-experience-accessible-version-December-2011.pdf">http://www.acas.org.uk/media/pdf/6/6/The-Dispute-Resolution-Regulations-two-years-on-the-Acas-experience-accessible-version-December-2011.pdf</a> (Last accessed in October 2017).
- David Collection, the. (No date) *Islamic Art: Miniature Painting, Item No. 26 of 129*, available at <a href="https://www.davidmus.dk/en/collections/islamic/materials/miniatures/art/14-2014">https://www.davidmus.dk/en/collections/islamic/materials/miniatures/art/14-2014</a>, (Last accessed in June 2018).
- Davis, A. M. (1989) 'The Logic Behind the Magic of Mediation', *Negotiation Journal*, vol5(1), 17-24.
- de Girolamo, D. (2013) *The Fugitive Identity of Mediation: Negotiations, Shift Changes and Allusionary Action*, Oxon: Routledge.
- de Souza, M. (2009) 'Promoting Wholeness and Wellbeing in Education: Exploring Aspects of the Spiritual Dimension', in de Souza et al. (Ed.) *International Handbook of Education for Spirituality, Care and Wellbeing*, 677-692.
- de Souza, M. (2012) 'Connectedness and *Connectedness*: The Dark Side of Spirituality Implications for Education', *International Journal of Children's Spirituality*, vol17(4), 291-303.
- de Souza, M. (2016) 'The Spiritual Dimension of Education Addressing issues of Identity and Belonging', *Discourse and Communication for Sustainable Education*, vol.7(1), 125-138.
- de Souza, M., Bone, J., and Watson, J. (2016) *Spirituality across Disciplines: Research and Practice*, Switzerland: Springer.
- Diamond, L. (2000) *The Courage for Peace: Creating Harmony in Ourselves and the World,* Berkley: Conari Press.
- Diamond, L. (2002) *Heiwa heno Yuki: Katei kara Hajimaru Heiwa Kensetsu heno Michi,* translated by Takase, C. Kosmos Library: Tokyo.
- Dietrich, W. (2012) *Many Peaces: Interpretations of Peace in History and Culture*, New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Dilworth, D (1978) 'Review: Suzuki Daisetz as Regional Ontologist: Critical Remarks on Reading Suzuki's "Japanese Spirituality"', *Philosophy East and West*, vol.28(1), 99-110.
- Djuraskovic, I. and Narthur, N. (2010) 'Heuristic Inquiry: A Personal Journey of Acculturation and Identity Reconstruction', the Qualitative Report, vol15(6), 1569-1593
- Doshisha Law School (2018) 'Incentive Mediation Skill Training leaflet', available <a href="http://www.jcaa.or.jp/new/docs/2a65d72ea274353c789b16ca7cd7939695915254.pdf">http://www.jcaa.or.jp/new/docs/2a65d72ea274353c789b16ca7cd7939695915254.pdf</a>, see also https://www.doshisha.ac.jp/event/2018/1108/event-detail-3254.html (Last consulted in February 2019).
- Dōgen, E. (2007) *Shōbōgenzō*, translated by Nearman, H., Mt. Shasta, CA: Shasta Abbey. Dossey, L. (2015) 'Birthmarks and Reincarnation', *EXPLORE*, vol.11(1), 1-4.
- Downe-Wamboldt, B. (1992) 'Content Analysis: Method, Applications, and Issues', *Health Care for Women International*, 13, 313-321.

- Druckman, D. (1993) 'an Analytical Research Agenda for Conflict and Conflict Resolution' in Sandole, D. and Merwe, H. (ed.) *Conflict Resolution Theory and Practice: Integration and Application*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Duryea, M. L. and Potts, J. (1993) 'Story and Legend: Powerful Tools for Conflict Resolution', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol. 4, 387-395.
- Dyer, W. W. and Garnes, D. (2015) *Memories of Heaven*, London: Hay House.
- Easter, A. and Watt. C. (2011) 'It's Good to Know: How Treatment Knowledge and Belief Affect the Outcome of Distant Healing Intentionality of for Arthritis Sufferers', *Journal of Psychosomantic Research*, 71, 86-89.
- Eberle, E. J. (2011) 'the Methodology of Comparative Law', *Roger Williams University Law Review*, vol.16(1), 51-72.
- Egan, R. et al. (2011) 'What is Spirituality? Evidence from a New Zealand Hospice Study', *Morality*, vol16 (4), 307-324.
- Elkins, D. (1998) Beyond Religion, Wheaton: Quest Books.
- Elkins, D. et al. (1988) 'Toward a Humanistic-Phenomenological Spirituality: Definition, Description, and Measurement', *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, vol28(4), 5-18.
- Ellison, C. W. and Smith, J. (1991) 'Toward an Integrative Measure of Health and Well-being', Journal of Psychology and Theology, vol.19(1), 35-48.
- Elo, S., et al. (2014) 'Qualitative Content Analysis: A Focus on Trustworthiness', SAGE Open, Jan-Mar 1-10.
- Emden, C. (1998) 'Conducting a Narrative Analysis', Collegian, vol5(3), 34-37.
- Emoto, M. (2004) 'Healing with Water', the Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine, vol.10(1), 19-21.
- Emoto, M. (2001/1999) *The Message from Water: The Message from Water is Telling Us to Take a Look at Ourselves*, Tokyo: HADO Kyoikusha, Co. Ltd.
- Eriksson, M. and Kostic, R. (2013) *Mediation and Liberal Peacebuilding: Peace from the Ashes of War?*, Arbingdon: Routledge
- Eto, Y. (1993) 'Kankai' in Dictionary of Japanese History, Tokyo: Heibonsha.
- Family Mediation Council (2019) 'Becoming a family mediator', [online] available at <a href="https://www.familymediationcouncil.org.uk/becoming-a-family-mediator/">https://www.familymediationcouncil.org.uk/becoming-a-family-mediator/</a>
- Fairclough, N. (2004) *Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research*, London: Routledge.
- Faulkner, R., Spurin, C. H., and Thomas, G.R. (2006) 'Mediation Methods for Mediators and Party Sentatives: Chapter Four', in Faulkner, R., Spurin, C. H., and Thomas, G.R. (Ed.) *Mediation Methods for Mediator and Client Representatives*, Pontypridd: NADR UK Ltd, [online] Available at

  www.nadr.co.uk/articles/published/mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%20%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%20%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%20%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%20%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%207ero%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%207ero%20%20Mediation/000%20Chapter%207ero%20
  - <u>www.nadr.co.uk/articles/published/mediation/000%20Chapter%20Zero%20%20W20Mediation%20Cover.pdf</u>
- Feldman, E. (2014) 'No Alternative: Resolving Disputes Japanese Style'. Faculty Scholarship.

  Paper 1551 available at
  - scholarship.law.upenn.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2552&context=faculty\_scholarship (Last consulted in October 2017).
- Felstiner, W., Abel, R., and Sarat, A. (1980) 'The Emergence and Transformation of Disputes: Naming, Blaming, Claiming...', Law and Society Review, vol15, 631-654.
- Fenwick, P. and Fenwick, E. (2011) *The Truth in the Light: An Investigation of over 300 Near-Death Experiences*. Guildford: White Crow Books.
- Fiadjoe, A. (2006) *Alternative Dispute Resolution: A Developing World Perspective*, Oxon: Routledge-Cavendish.
- Finer Committee (1974) *Report of the Committee on One-Parent Families*, Cmnd 5629, London: HMSO.
- Fisher, J. (2000) 'Symbol in Mediation', Mediation Quarterly, Vol 18(1), 87-107
- Fisher, L. (2004) Weighing the Soul, London: The Orion Publishing Group Ltd.

- Fisher, L. (2005) Weighing the Soul, Tokyo: Shinchosha Publishing Ltd.
- Fisher, R. and Ury, W. (1981) *Getting to Yes: Agreement without Giving in*, Croydon: Random House Business Books.
- Fiss, O. M. (1979) 'Forms of Justice: Forward, the Supreme Court 1978 Term', *Harvard Law Review* vol.93(1), 1-58.
- Fiss, O. M. (1984) 'Against Settlement', 93 Yale L.J., 1073-1092.
- Fiss, O. M. (1985) 'Out of Eden', 94 Yale L. J. 1673.
- Flanagan, B. (2016) 'Christian Spirituality and Religious Mysticism: Adjunct, Parallel or Embedded Concept', in de Souza, M et al. (Ed) *Spirituality across Disciplines: Research and Practice*, Switzerland: Springer.
- Flew, A. (1975) God and Philosophy, London: Hutchinson.
- Folberg, J. (1983) 'A Mediation Overview: History and Dimensions of Practice', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol. 1, 3-13.
- Folberg, J. and Taylor, A. (1983) Mediation, London: Jossey-Bass, Inc.
- Folger, J. P. and Jones, T. S. (1994) New Directions in Mediation: Communication Research and Perspectives, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.
- Frazier, R. E., and Hansen, N. D. (2009) 'Religious/Spiritual Psychotherapy Behaviors: Do We Do What We Believe to Be Important?', *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, vol.40(1), 81–87.
- Frohlich, M. (2001) 'Spiritual Discipline, Discipline of Spirituality Revisiting Questions of Definition and Method', *Spiritus a Journal of Christian Spirituality*, 65-78.
- Fujimoto, M. and Hashimoto, T. (2008) 'Formation Process of "Ishin-Denshin-Like Communication" in Language-Game', *IPSJ SIG Technical Report*, vol.17, 101-104.
- Fujioka, J. (2005) *Higaisha to Kagaisha no Taiwa ni Your Kaifuku wo Motomete*, Tokyo: Seishin Shobo.
- Fujioka, J. (2007) Higaisha-Kagaisha Chotei Handbook, Tokyo: Seishinshobo.
- Fujita, S. (2002) 'Reisei no Shinjin Ketsujo' in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Spirituality wo Ikiru*, Tokyo: Serica Syobo, 209-225.
- Fukaya, J. (2011) "Yoko no Choetsu" to Jinkakusei', *Seinan Gakuin University Humanistic Science Journal*, vol.6(2), 1-20.
- Fuller, L. (1977) 'Law and Human Interaction', Sociological Inquiry, vol.47(3/4), 59-89.
- Fuller, L. (1971) 'Mediation Its Forms and Functions', *Southern California Law Review*, vol.44, 305-339.
- Fuller, R. (2001) Spiritual, but not Religious, New York: OUP.
- Funatsu, A. (2003) 'Meijiki Bushido ni Tsuiteno Ichi Kousatsu Nitobe Inazo "Bushido" wo Chuushinni (An Analysis on Bushido in the Meiji Period-Inazo Nitobe's "Bushido" as a Central Argument-)', Languages and Culture, vol4, 17-32.
- Furusawa, Y. (2009) 'On Mountain Spirituality: The Secularization and Resacralization of Mountains', *Annual Review of Religious Studies*, vol26, 45-61.
- Gabel, S. (2003) 'Mediation and Psychotherapy: Two Sides of the Same Coin?', *Negotiation Journal*, vol19(4), 315-328.
- Gadamer, H. G. (1975) Truth and Method, London: Sheed and Ward.
- Gaitanidis, I. (2010a) Spiritual Business? A Critical Analysis of the Spiritual Therapy Phenomenon in Contemporary Japan, PhD Thesis, University of Leeds, Leeds.
- Gaitanidis, I. (2010b) 'Socio-Economic Aspects of the 'Spiritual Business' in Japan: A Survey of Professional Spiritual Therapists', Association for the Study of Religion and Society, vol16, 143-160.
- Gaitanidis, I. (2011) 'At the Forefront of a 'Spiritual Business': Independent Professional Spiritual Therapists in Japan', *Japan Forum*, vol23(2), 185-206.
- Gaitanidis, I. (2012) 'Spiritual Therapies in Japan', *Japanese Journal of Religious Studies*, vol39(2), 353-385.

- Galanter, M. (1984) 'Worlds of Deals: Using Negotiation to Teach about Legal Process', *Journal of Legal Education*, vol. 34(2), 268-276.
- Galtung, J. (1996a) Peace by Peaceful Means: Peace and Conflict, Development and Civilisation, Oslo: PRIO.
- Galtung, J. (1969) 'Violence, Peace and Peace Research', *Journal of Peace Research*, vol6(3), 167-191.
- Galtung, J. and McQueen, G. (2008) *Globalizing God Religion, Spirituality and Peace*, Grenzach-Whylen: Transcend University Press.
- Georgakopoulos, A. (2017) *The Mediation Handbook: Research, Theory, and Practice,* New York: Routledge.
- Gibbons, M. (2007) Better Dispute Resolution: A Review of Employment Dispute Resolution in Great Britain, London: Department of Trade and Industry.
- Gilmore, G (1977/1917) *The Ages of American Law,* New Haven and London: Yale University Press.
- Ginsburd, T. and Hoetker, T. (2006) 'The Unreluctant Litigant? An Empirical Analysis of Japan's Turn to Litigation', *Journal of Legal Studies*, vol. 35, 31-59.
- Gold, L. (1993) 'Influencing Unconscious Influences: The Healing Dimension of Mediation', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol11(1), 55-66.
- Gold, L. (2003) 'Mediation and the Culture of Healing' in Bowling, D. and Hoffman, D. (ed.) *Bringing Peace into the Room*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Goldberg, R.M. (2009) 'How Our Worldviews Shape Our Practice', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol.26(4), 405-431.
- Goldberg, R.M. (2016) Faith and Practice in Conflict Resolution: toward a multidimensional approach, Boulder, Colorado: Kumarian Press.
- Goldberg, R. and Blancke, B. (2011) 'God in the Process: Is There a Place for Religion in Conflict Resolution?', *Conflict resolution Quarterly*, vol28(4), Summer, 377-398.
- Goldberg, R. and Blancke, B. (2012) 'Wisdom and Conflict Resolution: A Possible Framework for Integrated Practice', *Cardozo J of Conflict Resolution*, vol.13, 437-465.
- Goldberg, et al. (2003) *Dispute Resolution: negotiation, Mediation and Other Processes*, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed., New York: Aspen Publishers.
- Goodman, C. F. (2001) 'The Somewhat Less Reluctant Litigant: Japan's Changing View Towards Civil Litigation', Law and Policy in International Business, vol32(4), 769-810.
- Graham, L. E. (1993) 'Implementing Custody Mediation in Family Courts: Some Comments on the Jefferson County Family Court Experience', *Kentucky Law Journal* 1107-1131.
- Gopin, M. (1997) 'Religion, Violence, and Conflict Resolution', Peace & Change, vol.22(1), 1-31.
- Gopin, M. (2000) Between Eden and Armageddon: The Future of World Religions, Violence and Peacemaking, Oxford: OUP.
- Goulding, C. (1998) 'Grounded Theory: The Missing Methodology on the Interpretivist Agenda', *Qualitative Market Research*, vol.1(1), 50-57.
- Gray, D. E. (2009) *Doing Research in the Real World*, SAGE Publications, London.
- Greeley, A. (1987a) "the Impossible": It's happening, Noetic Sciences Review, No2.
- Greeley, A. (1987b) 'Mysticism goes Mainstream', American Health, vol.7, 47-49.
- Greeley, A. (1991) 'the Paranormal is Normal: A Sociologist looks at Parapsychology', *JASPR*, vol.85, 367-374.
- Greeley, A. M. and McCready, W. C. (1975) 'Are We a Nation of Mystics?', *New York Times Magazine*, 25 January, 12-25.
- Groen, G., Coholic, D., and Graham, J. (2012) *Spirituality in Social Work and Education: Theory, Practice, and Pedagogies*, Waterloo: Wilfrid Laurier University Press.
- Guba, E. G., and Lincoln, Y. S. (1994) 'Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research', in N. K. Denzin and Y. S. Lincoln (Eds) *Handbook of Qualitative Research*, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Gulliver, P. H. (1979) *Disputes and Negotiations: A Cross-Cultural Perspective*, New York: Academic Press.

- Haga, M. (2007) 'Bunyabetsu Kenkyu Doko (Shukyo) Koyuu Ryouiki Yukai heno Shotaiou', *Shakaigaku Hyoron*, vol.58(2), 205-220.
- Hahn, E. J. (1983) 'An Overview of the Japanese legal System', *Northwestern Journal of International Law and Business*, vol.5(3), 517-539.
- Haley, J. (1979) 'The Myth of the Reluctant Litigant', Journal of Japanese Studies, 4(2), 359-390.
- Haley, J. O. (1994) Authority without Power: Law and the Japanese Paradox, London: OUP.
- Hall, D. (2005) *Spiritual Revitalization of the Legal Profession: A Search for Sacred Rivers*, Lewiston, the Edwin Mellen Press.
- Hall, D. (2010) the Spiritual Revitalization of the Legal Profession, delivered as luncheon speech for Federal District Judges Conference on 19 January, 2010, available at <a href="https://www.uvi.edu/files/documents/President/Speeches/Hall Federal District Judges Conference 01.19.10.pdf">https://www.uvi.edu/files/documents/President/Speeches/Hall Federal District Judges Conference 01.19.10.pdf</a> (Last accessed in January 2018).
- Halliday, M.A.K. and Matthiessen, C. (2014) *Halliday's Introduction to Functional Grammar*, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed. London: Routledge.
- Haraldsson, E. (2003) 'Children who Speak of Past Experience: Is There a Psychological Explanation?', *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, vol.76, 55-67.
- Haraldsson, E. H. and Matlock, J. G. (2016) *I Saw a Light and Came Here*, Hove: White Crow Books.
- Harper, C. (2006) 'Mediator as Peacemaker: The Case for Activist Transformative-Narrative Mediation', *Journal of Dispute Resolution*, 2(10), 595-612.
- Harris, F. M., et al. (2008) 'Researching Experiences of terminal Cancer: A Systematic Review of methodological Issues and Approaches', *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 17, 377-386.
- Harris, W. S. (1999) 'a Randomized, Controlled Trial of the Effects of Remote, Intercessory Prayer on Outcomes in Patients Admitted to the Coronary Care Unit', *Archives of Internal Medicine*, vol159 (19), 2273-2278.
- Hashimoto, N. (2014) 'Seishin Hoken Fukushi ni okeru Supirichuaritii heno Apurohchi', *Human Welfare*, vol.6(1), 35-46.
- Hashimoto, S. and Matsuura, M. (2007) 'Institutional Framework and Use of Agricultural Mediation Program in the United States', *JSIDRE*, vol. 75(5), 399-404, available at <a href="https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jjsidre1965/75/5/75\_5\_399/">https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jjsidre1965/75/5/75\_5\_399/</a> pdf (Last consulted in November 2018).
- Hashisako, M. (2015) "Fortune-telling & charm goods" Breaking way from the Ideal Model of "Witch": Through the analysis of the magazine "My Birthday" in 90's', *Sociologos*, vol.39, 116-132.
- Hayashi, I. (2011) 'Chotei Chusai ni yoru Chizai Funsou Kaiketsu (Intellectual Property Dispute Resolution by Chotei and Chusai)', *Patent*, vol.64(1), 4-8, available at <a href="https://system.jpaa.or.jp/patents\_files\_old/201101/jpaapatent201101\_004-007.pdf">https://system.jpaa.or.jp/patents\_files\_old/201101/jpaapatent201101\_004-007.pdf</a> (last accessed in January 2018).
- Haynes, J. M. (1992) 'Mediation and Therapy: An Alternative View', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol.10(1), 21-34.
- Hays, H. M. (2012) The Organization of the Pyramid Texts vol.2, Leiden: Brill.
- Hazama, Y (2010) 'Kirishitan to Bushido: Junkyou Seishin no Kanyo to Kirisuto kyou no Rinri (Christian and Bushido: Fostering Martyrdom Spirits and Morality of Christianity)', Asia, Christianity, and Pluralism, vol8(3), 3-18.
- Hearn, L. (2005/1904) Japan: An Attempt at Interpretation, New York: Cosimo, Inc.
- Heidegger, M. (1982) *The Basic Problems of Phenomenology*, translated by Hofstadter, A. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Helminiak, D. A. (1986) 'Lonergan and Systematic Spiritual Theology', *New Blackfriars*, vol67, 78-92.
- Helminiak, D. A. (2008) 'Confounding the Divine and the Spiritual: Challenges to a Psychology of Spirituality', *Pastoral Psychology*, vol.57, 161-182.

- Hitotsubashi University (2017) 'Hitotsubashi University PhD Thesis Evaluation Report', Hitotsubashi University Repository, available <a href="https://hermes-ir.lib.hit-u.ac.jp/rs/bitstream/10086/28591/1/ics020201600202.pdf">https://hermes-ir.lib.hit-u.ac.jp/rs/bitstream/10086/28591/1/ics020201600202.pdf</a> (Last accessed in February, 2019).
- Hense, E. (2011) 'The quest for interdisciplinary theories on spirituality', in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) *Towards a Theory of Spirituality*, Leuven: Peeters.
- Hense, E and Maas, F. (2011) 'Introduction', in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) *Towards a Theory of Spirituality*, Leuven: Peeters.
- Hick, J. (2005) *The Myth of Christian Uniqueness: Toward a Pluralistic Theology of Religions*, Eugene: Wipf and Stock Publishers.
- Hill, P. B. E. (2003) The Japanese Mafia: Yakuza, Law, and the State, Oxford: OUP.
- Hirano, N. (2006) 'A Culture of "popularized spirituality" in current Japan' [in Japanese], Bulletin of the Graduate Division of Letters, Arts and Sciences of Waseda University. I, vol.52, 69-78.
- Hirano, N. (2015) 'Houkoku 1. 1920nendai 30nendai no Daitai Ryoho Bu-mu', *Religion and Society*, vol.21, 149-151.
- Hoffman, D. (2006) 'The Future of ADR Practice: Three Hopes, Three Fears, and Three Predictions', *Negotiation Journal*, 22(4), 467-473.
- Hoffman, D. A. (2011). 'Mediation, Multiple Minds and Managing the Negotiation Within', *Harvard Negotiation Law Review*, 16, 297-330.
- Hoffman, D. and Wolman, R. (2013) 'Psychology of Mediation', the Cardozo Journal of Conflict Resolution, 14, 759-806.
- Holmes, O (1881) The Common Law, Unknown: Unknown.
- Honeyman, C., Goh, B., and Kelly, L. (2004) 'Skill is Not Enough: Seeking Connectedness and Authority' in Mediation', *Negotiation Journal*, 20(4), 489-511.
- Hood, R. W. (2002) 'the Mystical Self: Lost and Found', the International Journal for the Psychology of Religion, 12(1), 1-14.
- Hood, R. W. (2005) 'Mystical, Spiritual, and Religious Experiences', in Raymond, F. P. and Crystal, L. P. (ed.) *Handbook of Religion and Spirituality*, 348-364.
- Horie, N. (2003) 'Reisei kara Supirichuaritii he', *International Institute of Study of Religion Newsletter*, vo.38, 14-22.
- Horie, N. (2007) 'Nihon no Supirichuaritii gensetsu no genjo', Ando, O. and Yuasa, Y. (Ed.) Supirichuaritii no Shinrigaku, Osaka: Seseragi Shuppan.
- Horie, N. (2009) 'Spirituality and the Spiritual in Japan: Translation and Transformation', Journal of Alternative Spiritualities and New Age Studies, vol.5.
- Horie, N. (2013) 'Datsu/Han Genpatsu no Spirichuaritii Anketo to interview kara ukabi agaru Seimeishugi', in Kokusai Shukyo Kenkyujo (Ed.) *Gendai Shukyo 2013*, Tokyo: Akiyama Shoten.
- Horie, N. (2015) 'Conclusive Comments', Religion and Society, vol.21, 156-158.
- Horie, N. (2018) Gendai Nihon no Shukyo Jijo I, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Horie, N. (2019) Pop-Supirichuariti: Media ka sareta Shukyosei, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Hoshino, S. (2018) 'Tainichi Brajirujin no Kyuzo to Shukyotekina Komyunitii no Tenkai' in Horie, N. (Ed.) *Gendai Nihon no Shukyo Jijo I*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Hoshino, Y (2001) 'Theology of Religions', Sendai Shirayuri University Journal, vol.5, 63-67.
- House of Councillors, HoC (2004a) *Meeting Minutes of House of Councillors Committee on Judicial Affairs Meeting*, No.161, vol.6 on 11 Nov 2004, available at <a href="http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0003/16111110003006.pdf">http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0003/16111110003006.pdf</a> (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Councillors (2004b) *Meeting Minutes of House of Councillors Committee on Judicial Affairs Meeting*, No.161, vol.7 on 16 Nov 2004, available at kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0003/16111160003007.pdf (Last accessed in January 2018).

- House of Councillors (2004c) *Meeting Minutes of House of Councillors Committee on Judicial Affairs Meeting*, No.161, vol.8 on 18 Nov 2004, available at <a href="http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0003/16111180003008.pdf">http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0003/16111180003008.pdf</a> (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Councillors (2004d) *Meeting Minutes of House of Councillors Meeting*, No.161, vol.5, on 10 November, 2004, available at <a href="http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0001/16111100001005.pdf">http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0001/16111100001005.pdf</a> (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Councillors (2004e) *Meeting Minutes of House of Councillors Meeting*, No.161, vol.8, on 19 November, 2004, available at <a href="http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0001/16111190001008.pdf">http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/sangiin/161/0001/16111190001008.pdf</a> (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Councillors (2012) Report on Cabinet Committee for House of Councillors, No.180 on 19 June 2012, vol.11, available at <a href="https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwih8OP8u\_fWAhXDlxoKHZ0VDtwQFgg7MAl&url=http%3A%2F%2Fkokkai.n\_dl.go.jp%2FSENTAKU%2Fsangiin%2F180%2F0058%2F18006190058011.pdf&usg=AOvVaw\_1Nr9RCsbeywTpebh6sM4vY" (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Representatives, HoR (2004a) *Meeting Minutes of House of Representatives Committee on Judicial Affairs Meeting*, No.161, vol.3 on 2 Nov 2004, available at http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/syugiin/161/0004/16111020004003.pdf (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Representatives (2004b) *Meeting Minutes of House of Representatives Committee on Judicial Affairs Meeting*, No.161, vol.4 on 3 Nov 2004, available at http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/syugiin/161/0004/16111050004004.pdf (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Representatives (2004c) *Meeting Minutes of House of Representatives Committee on Judicial Affairs Meeting*, No.161, vol.5 on 9 Nov 2004, available at http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/syugiin/161/0004/16111090004005.pdf (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Representatives (2004d) *Meeting Minutes of House of Representatives Meeting*, No.161, vol.7, on 2 November 2004, available at http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/syugiin/161/0001/16111020001007.pdf (Last accessed in January 2018).
- House of Representatives (2004e) *Meeting Minutes of House of Representatives Meeting*, No.161, vol.9, on 9 November 2004, available at http://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/SENTAKU/syugiin/161/0001/16111090001009.pdf (Last accessed in January 2018).
- Hsieh, H. and Shannon, S. E. (2005) 'Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis', *Qualitative Health Research*, vol.15(9), 1277-1288.
- Huber, M. (1993) 'Mediation around the medicine wheel', *Mediation Quarterly*,10(4), 355–365. Hume, L. and McPhillips, K. (2006) *Popular Spiritualities: The Politics of Contemporary Enchantment*, Hants: Ashgate.
- Ide, S. and Takahashi, M. (2002) 'Nichibei Hikakuni miru Spirituality to Shukyosei no Toraekata: Gutaitekini Shimesareru Jinutsuhyoukano Chigaikara (Perception on Spirituality and
- Religiosity in a Comparison between Japan and the USA: Actual Differences on their Person Evaluations)', Health Sciences University of Hokkaido Department of Nursing and Social Services Annual Journal, vol.9, 107-113.
- Ikegawa, A. (2004) Mama no onakawo erande kitayo (The Reason Why I was born from My Mom whom I Chose to be My Mother), Tokyo: Futami Publisihng.
- Ikegawa, A. (2006) *Kumono uede mamawo miteita tokino koto* (*When I was watching my mom from clouds*), Tokyo: Futami Publisihng.

- Ikegawa, A. (2008) *Tainaikioku Inochino Kigen ni Trauma ga Hisonde iru* (*Memories in Wombs: Trauma can be caused there*), Tokyo: Kadokawa SS Communications.
- Ikegawa, A. (2010) Mama no onakawo eranda wake ha... (The Reason Why I Chose my Mom's Tummy), Tokyo: Futami Shobo.
- Ikegawa, A. (2014) Zense wo Kiokusuru Nihon no Kodomotachi (Japanese Children Who Remember their Previous Lives), Tokyo: Soleil Publishing.
- Ikegawa, A. (2015) Kodomo ha Oya wo Erande Umaretekuru (Children are born from mothers whom they have chosen), Tokyo: Kadokawa Publishing.
- Ikejima, T. (2010) 'The basic study for the peer mediation strategies to make a peaceful class', Bulletin of Center for Educational Research and Development, vol. (19), 37-45.
- Inagaki, H. (2007) 'Supirichuaritii to Heiwa', Spirituality and Peace, vol.32, 33-35.
- Ingleby, R. (1993) 'Court Sponsored Mediation: The Case Against Mandatory Participation', *The Modem Law Review Limited*, vol.56(3), 441-451.
- Inoue, K. (1999) 'the Origin and the Development of the Concept *Jinkaku* an important concept in Japanese Morality', *Language Sciences*, vol.21, 265-281.
- Inoue, Y. et, al. (1990) Shinshukyojiten, Tokyo: Koubundo.
- International Centre of Dispute Resolution (2016) 'About the American Arbitration Association (AAA) and the International Centre for Dispute Resolution (ICDR)' [Online] available at <a href="https://www.icdr.org/">https://www.icdr.org/</a> [last accessed in October 2019].
- Introvigne, M. (2001) 'After the New age: Is There a Next Age?', in Rothstein, M. (Ed.) New Age Religion and Globalization, Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.
- Irie, H. (2010) 'Value Creation of Japanese Private Mediation Movements: An Empirical Study' [in Japanese], *Journal of Information Studies*, 78, 79-106.
- Ishihara, A. (2017a) 'A Commentary on Video Lecture "a Humanistic Approach to Mediation and Dialogue" by Mark S Umbreit', *The Japanese Journal of Transcend*, vol15(1), 37-49.
- Ishihara, A. (2017b) 'Translation: "a Humanistic Approach to Mediation and Dialogue" by Mark S Umbreit', *The Japanese Journal of Transcend*, vol15(1), 31-36.
- Ishii, K. (2008) Zouho-kaitei ban Gendai Nihonjin no Shukyo (Data Book: Religions for Modern Japanese, Rev. Ed.), Tokyo: Shinyosha.
- Ishikawa, A. (1995) 'Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) in Japan', in de Roo and Jagtenberg, R. W. (ed) *Yearbook Law and Legal Practice in East Asia 1995, vol I*, the Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- Ishikawa, Y. (2010) Shinriryoho to Supirichuaritii, Tokyo: Keiso Shobo.
- Ishikawa, Y. (2019) Supirichuaritii Kenkyu no Totatsuten to Tenkai, Tokyo: Kosmos Library.
- ISSP Research Group (2012) *International Social Survey Programme: Religion III ISSP 2008*. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA4950 Data file Version 2.2.0, available at https://dbk.gesis.org/dbksearch/sdesc2.asp?no=4950&db=e&doi=10.4232/1.11334
- Ito, M. (2003) *Gendai Shakai to Spirituality* (*Modern Society and Spirituality*), Hiroshima: Keisuisha.
- Ito, M. (2004) 'Atarashii Spiritulaity Bunka no Seisei to Hatten', in Ito, M. Kajiyama, N., and Yumiyama, T. (Ed.) *Spirituality no Shakaigaku*, Tokyo: Sekai Shisho sha.
- Ito, M. (2012) "Spiritual na Tankyu" toshiteno Gendaitaiso Yoga", in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Bunka to Reisei*, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Ito, M., Kashio, N., and Yumiyama, T. (2004) *Spirituality no Shakaigaku*, Tokyo: Sekai Shishosha. Izumi, C. (2010) 'Implicit Bias and the Illusion of Mediator Neutrality', *Washington University of Journal of Law and Policy*, vol.71, p71-155.
- Jackson, R. (2001) The God of Philosophy, 2nd Ed. Sutton: Bookcraft Limited.
- Jackson, R. (2011) The God of Philosophy, 2nd Ed. Durham: Acumen Publishing Ltd.
- James, W. (1904) 'Does 'Consciousness' Exist?', *The Journal of Philosophy, Psychology and Scientific Methods*, vol.1 no18, 477-491.
- James, W. (1902) *The Varieties of Religious Experience: A Study in Human Nature*, Kindle Ed. available from Amazon.co.uk.

- James, W. (1950) Principles of Psychology, New York: Dover.
- James, W. (1992) Writings 1878-1899, New York: Liberty of America.
- Japan ADR Association (2018) 'ADR-hosei no Kaizen ni Kansuru Tigen', [Online] available at <a href="https://japan-adr.or.jp/adrproposal20180425.pdf">https://japan-adr.or.jp/adrproposal20180425.pdf</a>, (last accessed in June 2019).
- Japan Broadcasting Corporation, NHK (2018) NHK Public Opinion Poll vol.10, available at <a href="https://www.nhk.or.jp/bunken/research/yoron/pdf/20190107\_1.pdf">https://www.nhk.or.jp/bunken/research/yoron/pdf/20190107\_1.pdf</a> (Last accessed in May 2019).
- Japan Centre for Settlement of Traffic Accident Disputes, the (2005) *History and Policies of the Centre*, available at http://www.jcstad.or.jp/about/enkaku.htm (Last accessed in January 2019).
- Japan Federation of *Chotei* Association, the (2017) 'Who are the Chotei Committee Members?' [Online] available at <a href="https://www.choutei.jp/about/chouteiin/index.html">https://www.choutei.jp/about/chouteiin/index.html</a> (last consulted in November 2018).
- Japan Mediation Centre (2007) 'Interview with Mediation Trainers of Japan mediation Centre', Legal Culture, vol. 269, p52-55, available at <a href="www.lec-jp.com/h-bunka/item/v268/52\_55.pdf">www.lec-jp.com/h-bunka/item/v268/52\_55.pdf</a> (Last consulted in November, 2019).
- Japan Times (2018) 'Cult attraction: Aum Shinrikyo's power of persuasion' [Online] available at <a href="https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2015/03/14/national/history/cult-attraction-aum-shinrikyos-power-persuasion/#.XeC3Zuj7TIV">https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2015/03/14/national/history/cult-attraction-aum-shinrikyos-power-persuasion/#.XeC3Zuj7TIV</a>, (last accessed in July 2019).
- Jegindo, E. E., et al (2013) 'Expectations Contribute to Reduced Pain Levels During Prayer in Highly Religious Participants', *Journal of Behavioural Medicine*, vol.36, 413-426.
- Jespers, F. (2011) 'Investigating Western Popular Spirituality' in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) Towards a Theory of Spirituality, Leuven: Peeters.
- Johnson, S. and Rasulova, S. (2016) 'Qualitative impact evaluation: incorporating authenticity into the assessment of rigour', *Bath Papers in International Development and Well-being*, no.45, 4-42, available at <a href="http://www.bath.ac.uk/cds/publications/bpd45.pdf">http://www.bath.ac.uk/cds/publications/bpd45.pdf</a> (Last consulted in December, 2019).
- Jones, D. A. (2009) 'The Role of Spirituality in the Mediation Process', *Conflict Resolution Qrtly*, vol.27(2), Winter, 145-165.
- Jones, D. and Georgakopoulos, A. (2009) 'The Promise of Spirituality in Mediation: The Significance of Spiritual-Based and Faith-Based Approaches in Mediation', *Peace and Conflict Studies*, vol.16(1), 9-25.
- Jones, R. H. (2016) Philosophy of Mysticism, New York: Sunny Press.
- Jones, W. and Hughes, S. H. (2003) 'Complexity, Conflict Resolution, and How the Mind Works', Conflict Resolution Quarterly, vol.20(4), Summer, 485-494.
- Joyce, C. R. and Welldon, R. M. (1965) 'The Objective Efficacy of Prayer: A Double Blind Clinical Trial', *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, vol.18(4), 367-377.
- Jung, C. G. (1951) 'On Synchronicity', *Collected Works*, vol. 8, the Structure and Dynamics of the *Psyche*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1977.
- Jung, C. G. (1955) Synchronicity: an Acausal Connecting Principle, London: Routledge.
- Jung, C. C. (1959) *The Basic Writing of C. G. Jung*, V.S. De Laszlo (Ed.), New York: Random House.
- Jurevic, L. (2000) What's Love Got to Do with It?: Addressing Spirituality within the Context of Transformative Mediation, Master's thesis submitted to University of Melbourne.
- Justice System Reform Council (2001) Recommendations of the Justice System Reform Council For a Justice System to Support Japan in the 21st Century, [Online] available at <a href="http://japan.kantei.go.jp/policy/sihou/singikai/990612\_e.html">http://japan.kantei.go.jp/policy/sihou/singikai/990612\_e.html</a> (last consulted in November 2019).
- Justice System Reform Council (2002) 1<sup>st</sup> ADR Review Committee Meeting Handout, [Online] available at <a href="http://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/sihou/kentoukai/adr/dai1/1siryou1\_1.html">http://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/sihou/kentoukai/adr/dai1/1siryou1\_1.html</a> (Last consulted in November 2019).

- Kaizuka, S. (2014) 'Shukyo ha Donoyou ni Oshierarete Kitaka', in Oshitani, Y. (Ed.) Research of Education in relation to Religions in Schools, Vol. 2, Tokyo: Chuo Institute for Educational Research.
- Kajihara, N. (2014) 'The Meaning of "Spiritual" a Paper on the Texts from the Bible", [in Japanese], Kawasaki Medical Welfare Committee, vol.24(1), 11-20.
- Kakar, S. (1978) *The Inner World: A Psychoanalytic Study of Childhood and society in India*, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed., OUP: New Delhi.
- Kakar, S. (1991) The Analyst and the Mystic, Haryana: Penguin Books India.
- Kakiuchi, S. (2014) 'Regulation of Dispute Resolution in Japan: Alternative Dispute Resolution and its Background' in Steffek, F. and Unberath, H. (Eds) *Regulating Dispute Resolution ADR and Access to Justice at the Crossroads*, Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Kakiuchi, S. (2015) 'Regulating Mediation in Japan: latest Development and Its Background' in Esplugues, C. and Marquis, L. (Eds.) *New Developments in Civil and Commercial Mediation*, New York: Springer International Publishing. 367-392.
- Kamata, T. (2006) 'Rethinking Japanese Spirituality', Journal on Public Affairs, vol.3(1), 56-78.
- Kandracki, N. L. and Wellman, N. S. (2002) 'Content Analysis: Review of Methods and their Applications in Nutrition Education', *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behaviour*, 34, 224-230.
- Kaneda, T. (2004) 'Introduction', in Japan Holistic Education Association (Ed.) *Peaceful na Kodomotachi: Senso, Boryoku, Ijime wo Koete*, Osaka: Seseragi Shuppan.
- Karcic, F. (2006) 'Textual Analysis in Islamic Studies: A Short Historical and Comparative Survey', *Islamic Studies*, vol. 45(2),191-220.
- Kasai, K (2002) 'Spirituality as Self-Help', in Tanabe, S. and Shimazono, S. (Ed) *Healing among Connectedness*, Tokyo: Senshu University Press, 61-101.
- Kasai, K (2003) 'Spirituality wo Tsukau Hitobito', in Yuasa, Y (Ed.) *Spirituality no Genzai: Shukyo, Rinri, Shinri no Kanten*, Kyoto: Jinbun Shoin.
- Kasai, K. (2004) 'Hijiri no Shohinka', in Ito, M, Kashio, N. and Yumisaki, T (Ed.) *Spirituality no Shakaigaku*, Tokyo: Sekai Shisho sha.
- Kashio, N and Motoyama, K. (2015) *Chikyu Shakai no Atarashii Vision*, Tokyo: Kokusho Kankokai.
- Kashio, N. (2002) Spirituality wo Ikiru, Tokyo: Serica Syobo.
- Kashio, N. (2004) 'Connectedness in Modern World', in Ikegami, et al. (Ed) *Iwanami Lecture Religion, vol.6, Kizuna*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten, 272-295.
- Kashio, N. (2012) Bunka to Reisei, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Kawashima, T. (1963) 'Dispute Resolution in Contemporary Japan' in A. von Mehren (ed.) *Law in Japan*, Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Kawashima, T. (1967) *Nihonjin no Ho-ishiki* (the Legal Consciousness of the Japanese), [in Japanese], Tokyo: Iwatani Shinsho.
- Kegan, R. (1994) In Over Our Heads, Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Kelly, A. (2014) 'Dialectic of sincerity: Lionel Trilling and David Foster Wallace', *Post45* available at <a href="https://post45.research.yale.edu/2014/10/dialectic-ofsincerity-lionel-trilling-and-david-foster-wallace/">www.http://post45.research.yale.edu/2014/10/dialectic-ofsincerity-lionel-trilling-and-david-foster-wallace/</a>
- Kelly, J. B. (1983) 'Mediation and Psychotherapy: Distinguishing the Differences', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol 1, 33-44, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Kenmochi, M. (2016) 'Jichikai Kanyu Sokushin Jorei no Houteki Kosatsu', *Community Governnance*, vol. 26, 136-147.
- Khachaturova, M. and Poimanova, D. M. (2015) 'the Role of Mediation Strategies in Solving Interpersonal Conflicts', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol.33(1), 35-55.
- Kikuchi, M. (2016) "Mizu kara no Dengon" tte Hontou?' in Kikuchi, M. (ed.) *Kodomo wo Mamoru Tame ni Shite Okitai Koto*, Tokyo: Metamor Publishing.
- King, A. S. (1996) 'Spirituality: Transformation and Metamorphosis', Religion, 26, 345-352.

- Kirita, K. (2007) 'Suzuki Daisetz no 'Reisei' kou', in Ando, O. and Yuasa, Y. (Ed.) *Spirituality no Shinrigaku*, Osaka: Seseragi Shuppan.
- Kobayashi, M. (2006a) 'Public Spirituality and Global Peace: for creating a new peace movement', *Journal on public affairs* 3(1), 9-55.
- Kobayashi, M. (2006b) 'Spiritual and Perceptual Revolution for Democracy: The Public Philosophy of Murayama Masao and His Mentor Nanbara Shigeru', *Conference "Aspects of Democracy"*, September, 80-90.
- Kobayashi, M. (2007) 'Philosophical Outline of Global Public Spirituality', *Spirituality and Peace*, vol. 32, 71-97.
- Kobayashi, M. (2015) 'Is Japanese folk religion a public philosophy?: Discussion on the ancestral worship and public religions', Journal on Public Affairs, vol11(1), 297-309.
- Koessel, K. C. (2011) 'The Relationship between Spirituality and Personality', PhD Dissertations, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, 430. available at <a href="http://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/430">http://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/430</a> (Last consulted in December 2019).
- Koike, Y. (2004) 'Seishin Sekai ni okeru Karuto ka', in Ito, M., Kashio, N. and Yumisaki, T (Ed.) Spirituality no Shakaigaku, Tokyo: Sekai Shisho sha.
- Koike, Y. (2012) 'Spirituality to Therapy Bunka', in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Bunka to Reisei*, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Komesaroff, P. A. (2008) 'Pathways to Reconciliation: Bringing Diverse Voices into Conversation' in Rothfield, P., Fleming, C., and Komesaroff, P. A. (Ed.) *Pathways to Reconciliation: Between Theory and Practice*, London: Ashgate.
- Kondo Butsudanten (2016) 'Kamidana no Ueni Haru 'Ten' ya 'Kumo' niwa Donnna imiga', Weblog available at <a href="https://kondou-butsudan.com/archives/43/">https://kondou-butsudan.com/archives/43/</a> (Last accessed in May, 2019).
- Kotani, Y. (2014) 'Kotaro Tanaka's theory on educational aim in history of educational thought in postwar Japan Consideration based on the "Theory of the Fundamental Law of Education", Japan Women's University Human Social Studies Departmental Bulletin Paper, vol20, 17-30.
- Kressel, K. and Pruitt, D. G. (1989) 'Conclusion: A Research Perspective on the Mediation of Social Conflict' in Kressel, K and Pruitt, D. G. (Eds) *Mediation Research: The Process and Effectiveness of Third-Party Intervention*, 394-435, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Krucoff, M. W. et al. (2005) 'Music, Imagery, Touch, and Prayer as Adjuncts to Interventional Cardiac Care: The Monitoring and Actualisation of Noetic Trainings (MANTRA) II Randomised Study', *The Lancet*, vol.366, 211-217.
- Kruk, E. (1997) 'Mediation and Conflict Resolution in Social Work and the Human Services: Issues, Debates, and Trends', in Kruk, E. (Eds) *Mediation and Conflict Resolution in Social Work and the Human Serivces*, 1-18, Chicago: Nelson-Hall Publishers.
- Kumamoto Jinzai Shinbun (2012) 'Sharing the ideas of Dispute Resolution Studies' printed and circulated by Kumamoto Jinzai Network on 20 September 2012, the article available at <a href="http://www.jinzai-">http://www.jinzai-</a>
  - brand.com/2012/07/%E7%B4%9B%E4%BA%89%E8%A7%A3%E6%B1%BA%E5%AD%A6%E 3%81%AE%E8%80%83%E3%81%88%E6%96%B9%E3%80%81%E5%88%86%E3%81%8B%E3 881%A1%E5%90%88%E3%81%86/ (Last accessed May 2019).
- Kuramochi, F. (2016) Ano Yo no Meiga, Tokyo: Jitsugyo no Nihon sha, Ltd.
- Lacity, M. C. and Janson, M. A. (1994) 'Understanding Qualitative Data A Framework of Text Analysis Methods', Journal of Management Information System, vol11(2), 137-150.
- La Cour, P., Ausker, N. H., and Hvidt, N.C. (2012) 'Six Understandings of the Word Spirituality in a Secular Country', *Archive for the Psychology of Religion* v34 n1, 63-81.
- Law Society (2016) 'Accreditation', at <a href="http://www.lawsociety.org.uk/support-services/accreditation/">http://www.lawsociety.org.uk/support-services/accreditation/</a> (Last consulted in November 2019).

- Lapin, D. (1993) 'the Spirituality of Conflict', *Religion and Liberty*, vol.3(3), available at <a href="https://acton.org/pub/religion-liberty/volume-3-number-3/spirituality-conflict">https://acton.org/pub/religion-liberty/volume-3-number-3/spirituality-conflict</a> (Last consulter in May 2019).
- Leach, V. (2005) 'Family Mediation the context:' at <a href="https://www.judiciary.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/JCO/Documents/FJC/Publications/Family-Mediation.pdf">https://www.judiciary.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/JCO/Documents/FJC/Publications/Family-Mediation.pdf</a> (last consulted in May 2019).
- Learmouth, A. and Trahair, S. (2011) 'Can you trust a mediator', 161 NLJ, 1288.
- Lebra, T. S. (1976) Japanese Patterns of Behaviour, Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.
- Ledbetter, M. F. et al. (1991) 'an Evaluation of the Research and Clinical Usefulness of the Spiritual Well-Being Scale', *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, vol.19(1), 49-55.
- Lederach, J. P. (1996) *Preparing for Peace: Conflict Transformation Across Cultures*, Syracuse: Syracuse University Press.
- Lederach, J. P. (1997) *Building Peace: Sustainable Reconciliation in divided Societies*, Washington D. C.: United States Institute of Peace Press.
- Lederach, J. P. (2005) The Moral Imagination: Art and Soul of Building Peace, New York: OUP.
- Lee, H. (2018) 'Kankokujin New Comer and Kirisuto Kyo no Henyo' in Horie, N. (Ed.) *Gendai Nihon no Shukyo Jijo I*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Lee, S. K. (2003) 'Exploring the Relationship between Language, Culture and Identity', GEMA Online Journal of Language Studies, vol.3(2).
- Lehti, M. and Lepomäki, M. (2017) 'The Era of Private Peacemakers: A New Dialogic Approach to Mediation A Case Study of Three Finnish Private Organizations', Tampere: Tampere Peace Research Institute, University of Tampere.
- Leibovici, L. (2001) 'Effects of Remote, Retroactive Intercessory Prayer on Outcomes in Patients with Bloodstream Infection: Randomised Controlled Trial', *BMJ*, vol 323, 1450-1451.
- Leslie, F. et al. (2015) 'Mystical Experience and Psychopathology: A Study among Secular, Christian, and Muslim Youth in Germany', Pastoral Psychology, vol.64, 369-379.
- Lesniak, K. T. (2006) 'the Effect of Intercessory Prayer on Wound Healing in Nonhuman Primates', *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vol.12(6), 42-48.
- Letherby, G, Scott, J., and Williams, M. (2013) *Objectivity and Subjectivity in Social Research*, Sage Publication: London.
- Levin, M. (2009) 'Continuities of Legal Consciousness: Professor John Haley's Writings on Twelve Hundred Years of Japanese Legal History', 8 Wash. U. Global Stud. L. Rev., 317-332. LeResche, D. (1993) 'Editor's Note', Mediation Quarterly, vol.10(4), 321–325.
- Lewis, D. C. (1993) The Unseen Face of Japan, Tunbridge Wels: Monarch Publications.
- Lewis, D. C. (1997) 'Moral Values and Social Characteristics of Japanese Christians', the Japan Christian Review, vol.63, 68-80.
- Lewis, D. C. (2013) The Unseen Face of Japan, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. Gloucester: Wide Margin Books.
- Lewis, D. C. (2015) 'Directions of Change in Japanese Religiosity', *Journal of Religion in Japan*, vol.4, 32-63.
- Lewis, D. C. (2018) Religion in Japanese Daily Life, London: Routledge.
- Lewis, T. and Umbreit, M (2015) 'A Humanistic Approach to Mediation and Dialogue: An Evolving Transformative Practice', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol. 33(1), 3-17.
- Lichtenstein, M. (2005) 'Creating Awareness of the Spiritual Dimensions of Conflict Resolution by Contemplating Organizational Culture', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol23(2), 225-236.
- Liebmann, M., et al. (2011) Mediation in Context, London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Liederbach, H. P. (2016) 'Watsuji's Reading of Hegel: Modernity as a Philosophical Problem in Watsuji's Rinrigaku' in Morisato, T. (ed.), *Critical Perspectives on Japanese Philosophy*. Nagoya: Chisokudo Publications & Nanzan Institute for Religion and Culture. 384-420.
- Lincoln, Y. S. and Guba, E. G. (1985) *Naturalistic Inquiry*, Newbury Park: Sage Publications. *Little Injustices: Laura Nader looks at the Law*, 1980 [film]. Directed by Laura Nader, Washington, D.C.: PBS Video.
- Lonergan, B. J. F. (1972) Method in Theology, New York: Herder & Herder.

- Lonergan, B. J. F. (1990) 'Understanding and being: The Halifax lectures on Insight', in Morelli, E. A. and Morelli, M. D. (Ed) *Collected works of Bernard Lonergan: Vol. 5*, Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Lopez, G. A. (2017) 'The Future of Mediation in a Changing World', in Georgakopoulos, A. (Ed.) The Mediation Handbook: Research, Theory, and Practice, New York: Routledge
- Lord Woolf (1995) Access to Justice: Interim Report to the Lord Chancellor on the Civil Justice System of England and Wales, HMSO: London. At <a href="http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.dca.gov.uk/civil/reportfr.htm">http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.dca.gov.uk/civil/reportfr.htm</a> (last consulted in May 2019).
- Lough, A. (1978) Theology and Spirituality, Oxford: SLG Press.
- Love, L. and Kovach, K. (2000) 'ADR: An Eclectic Array of Processes rather than one Eclectic Process', *Journal of Dispute Resolution*, vol.2, 295-307.
- Luckmann, T. (1967) *The Invisible Religion: The Problem of Religion in Modern Society,* New York: Macmillan.
- Mackie, K. (2000) *The ADR Practice Guide: Commercial Dispute Resolution*, London: Butterworths.
- MacIntyre, A. (2007/1981) *After Virtue: A Study in Moral Theory*, 3rd Ed., London: Gerald Duckworth & Co Ltd.
- MacIntyre, A. (2001/1988) Whose Justice? Which Rationality? London: Duckworth Publishers.
- Mackenzie, G. (2013) 'Dr Peter Fenwick Interview', available at Light After Light, weblog, 1 May 2017 [Online] available at <a href="https://lightafterlife.forumotion.com/t273-interview-with-neuropsychologist-dr-peter-fenwick">https://lightafterlife.forumotion.com/t273-interview-with-neuropsychologist-dr-peter-fenwick</a>. (Last accessed in May 2018).
- MacDougall, D. (1907) 'Hypothesis Concerning Soul Substance Together with Experimental Evidence of the Existence of Such Substance', *Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research*, vol.1(5), 237-275.
- MacFarlane, J. (2001) 'Why Do People Settle?', McGill Law Journal, 46, 663-711.
- Macquarrie, J. (1972) Paths in Spirituality, New York: Harper & Row, Publishers.
- Maekawa, M. (2004) 'Syncretism in Japanese New Religions: The Case of Aum Shinrikyo and Aleph', *Studies in Humanities*, vol.154, 145-158.
- Manabe, K. (2008) 'Nihonteki na "Shukyo Ishiki" no Kozo', *Kansei Gakuin University Sociology Department Repository*, vo.104, 45-70.
- Maher, M. F. and Hunt, T. K. (1993) 'Spirituality Reconsidered', *Counselling and Values*, vol.38, 21-28.
- Mareschal, P. M. (2005) 'What Makes Mediation Work? Mediators' Perspective on Resolving Disputes', *Industrial Relations*, vol.44(3), 509-517.
- Martial, C. et al. (2017) 'Intensity and memory characteristics of near-death experiences', *Consciousness and Cognition*, vol.56, 120-127.
- Martindale-Hubbell (1995) Dispute Resolution Directory, New York: Martindale-Hubbell.
- Mason, J. (1996) *Qualitative Researching*. SAGE Publication: London.
- Matthews, D. A., Marlowe, S. M., and MacNutt, F.S. (2000) 'Effects of Intercessory Prayer on Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis', *Southern Medical Journal*, vol93(12), 1177-1186.
- Matthews, W. J., Conti, J. M., and Sireci, S. G. (2001) 'the Effects of Intercessory Prayer, Positive Visualization, and Expectancy on the Well-Being of Kidney Dialysis Patients', *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vol7(5), 42-52.
- Matthews-Giba, F. (2000) 'Religious Dimensions of Mediation', Fordham Urban Law Journal, vol.27(5), 1695-1710.
- Matsumoto, M. (2016) 'a Proposal of the Concept of "Holistic Spiritual Peace", *Transpersonal Psychology/Psychiatric Medicine*, vol.15(1), 23-42.
- Matsuura, Y. (2009) 'Spirituality and 'Honto no Jiko': Internet Jidai no Shukyo to Shutai', *Media to Shakai*, vol.1, 83-95.
- Mayer, B. S. (2004) *Beyond Neutrality: Confronting the Crisis in Conflict Resolution*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Mayer, C. and Boness, C. (2011) 'Spiritual insights in cross-cultural conflicts and mediation in ecclesiastical organizations in Tanzania', *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, vol.6(2), 171–190.
- Mayers, C. and Johnston, D. (2008) 'Spirituality the Emergence of a Working Definition for Use within Healthcare Practice', *Implicit Religion*, vol. 11(3), 265-275.
- Mayring, P. (2014) *Qualitative content analysis: theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution*. Klagenfurt, [online] available at <a href="http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-395173">http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-395173</a>
- McBrien, B. (2006) 'A Concept Analysis of Spirituality', *British Journal of Nursing*, vol.15(1), 42-45.
- McCrory, J. P. (1981) 'Environmental Mediation Another Piece for the Puzzle', *Vermont Law Review*, 6(1), 49-84.
- McDougall, W. (1927) 'An Experiment for the Testing of the Hypothesis of Larmarck', *British Journal of Psychology*, vol.17, 267-304.
- McDougall, W. (1930) 'Second Report on a Lamarckian Experiment', *British Journal of Psychology*, vol.20, 201-218.
- McDougall, W. (1938) 'Fourth Report on a Lamarckian Experiment', *British Journal of Psychology*, vol.28, 321-345.
- McGrath, A. E. (1999) Christian Spirituality, London: Blackwell.
- McKee, A. (2003) Textual Analysis: A Beginner's Guide, London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- McKay, W. (2011) Japan: Changes in a Changing World, Princeton: The Gallup Organization.
- McGuigan, R. (2009) 'Shadows, Conflict, and the Mediator', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol.26(3), 349-364.
- McGuigan, R. and Popp, N. (2012) 'Consciousness and Conflict (Explained Better?)', Conflict Resolution Quarterly, vol.29(3), 227-260.
- McLeod, J. and Balamoutsou, S. (2000) 'A Method for Qualitative Narrative Analysis of Psychotherapy Transcripts' in Frommer, J. and Rennie, D. L. (Ed.) *Qualitative Psychotherapy Research: Methods and Methodology*, Pabst: Berlin.
- Mediation Center Osaka (2019) 'Mediators' [online] Available at <a href="https://minkanchotei.or.jp/list/en\_matching/">https://minkanchotei.or.jp/list/en\_matching/</a> (last accessed in November 2019).
- Mediation Standard Board (2015) the National Mediation Accreditation System, [online] at <a href="http://www.msb.org.au/sites/default/files/documents/NMAS%201%20July%202015.pdf">http://www.msb.org.au/sites/default/files/documents/NMAS%201%20July%202015.pdf</a> (last accessed in November 2019).
- Memling, H. (1467-71) Last Judgement, the National Museum, Gdansk, Poland.
- Menkel-Meadow, C. (2013) 'Regulation of Dispute resolution in the United States of America: From the Formal to the Informal to the 'Semi-formal' in Steffek, F., et al. (Ed.) Regulating Dispute Resolution: ADR and Access to Justice at Crossroads, Oxford, UK: Hart.
- Menkel-Meadow, C. (2001) 'And Now a Word about Secular Humanism, Spirituality, and the Practice of Justice and Conflict Resolution', Fordham Urban Law Journal, vol.28 April, 1073-1087, available on
  - http://scholarship.law.georgetown.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1540&context=facpu b (last accessed in October 2019).
- Meyer, A. S. (1960) 'Function of the Mediator in Collective Bargaining', *ILR Review*, vol.13(2), 159-165.
- Meyer, M. (1995) 'To Set Right Ho'oponopono a Native Hawaiian Way of Peacemaking', *The Compleat Lawyer*, Fall. 30-35.
- Miller, E. D. (2004) 'the Development and Validation of a New Measure of Spirituality', *North American Journal of Psychology*, vol6(3), 423-430.
- Minami, H. (2006) Kaitei Gyousei Ho, Tokyo: Yuhikaku.
- Minato, A. (2009) 'Nitobe Inazo no Jinkakuron/Personality no Konnichiteki Igi', *Annals of the Institute for Comparative Studies of Culture, Tokyo Woman's Christian University* 70, 49-63.

- Minejima, A. (1977) 'Taisho ki ni Okeru Rinri Shukyoushisou no Tenkai 5 -Jiro Abe no Jinkakushugi-', the Waseda Commercial Review, vol.265, 161-183.
- Ministry of Education, Cultural, Sports, Science and Technology (2009a) 'Trial Translations of both previous version of and as amended Basic Act on Education' available at <a href="http://www.mext.go.jp/b">http://www.mext.go.jp/b</a> menu/kihon/data/07080117.htm (last consulted in May 2018).
- Ministry of Education, Cultural, Sports, Science and Technology (2009b) 'Textbooks Q&A' available at <a href="http://www.mext.go.jp/a\_menu/shotou/kyoukasho/010301.htm#03">http://www.mext.go.jp/a\_menu/shotou/kyoukasho/010301.htm#03</a> (last consulted in May 2019).
- Ministry of Education, Cultural, Sports, Science and Technology (2018) 'the Centre for Nuclear Damage Compensation ADR' available at <a href="https://www.mext.go.jp/a\_menu/genshi\_baisho/jiko\_baisho/detail/adr-center.htm">www.mext.go.jp/a\_menu/genshi\_baisho/jiko\_baisho/detail/adr-center.htm</a> (last consulted in January 2019).
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2017) 'White Paper on Population of 2018', available at <a href="https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/jinkou/kakutei16/index.html">www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/jinkou/kakutei16/index.html</a> (last consulted in November 2019).
- Ministry of Justice (2009) 'Translation of Civil Code (Part I, Part II, and Part III), Act No. 89 of 1896 amended as Act No. 78 of 2006', available at <a href="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=&re="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail
- Ministry of Justice (2011) 'Translation of Basic Act on Education, Act no. 120 of 2006', available at <a href="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2442&vm=04&re=01">http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2442&vm=04&re=01</a> (last consulted in Many 2019).
- Ministry of Justice (2013) 'The Fist Board Review Committee Meeting Minutes', available at <a href="http://www.moj.go.jp/content/000108987.pdf">http://www.moj.go.jp/content/000108987.pdf</a> (Last consulted in February 2019).
- Ministry of Justice (2016) 'Find a civil mediation provider' available at <a href="http://civilmediation.justice.gov.uk/">http://civilmediation.justice.gov.uk/</a> (Last consulted in November 2019).
- Ministry of Justice (2017a) 'For those private organisations who consider to be qualified as mediators' available at <a href="http://www.moj.go.jp/KANBOU/ADR/jigyousha.html">http://www.moj.go.jp/KANBOU/ADR/jigyousha.html</a> (Last consulted in October 2019).
- Ministry of Justice (2018) Japanese Law Translation of Attorney Act, available at <a href="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=1878&vm=04&re=01&new=1">http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=1878&vm=04&re=01&new=1</a> (Last consulted in October 2019).
- Ministry of Justice (2019) 'List of Certified Private ADR Providers' available at <a href="http://www.moj.go.jp/KANBOU/ADR/jigyousya/ninsyou-index.html">http://www.moj.go.jp/KANBOU/ADR/jigyousya/ninsyou-index.html</a> (Last consulted in December 2019).
- Miyajima, S. (2006) 'Shukyo to Spirituality: Iryo Bunya wo Chushun ni Shite', *International Business Administration Journal*, vol.32., 133-150. [Online] available athttp://hdl.handle.net/10487/3931 (Last accessed in April 2017).
- Miyatake, M. (2017) 'Beikoku no Mediation oyobi Nihon no Chotei ni kansuru Hikakukousatsu narabini Nihon no Choteiseido no Kasseikani kansuru Teigen', *Hitotsubashi University Repository*.
- Miyazaki, H. (2012) 'About ThetaHealing Japan' available on <a href="http://thetajapan.com/%E3%83%95%E3%82%A7%E3%83%8B%E3%83%83%E3%82%AF%E3%82%B9/">http://thetajapan.com/%E3%83%95%E3%82%A7%E3%83%8B%E3%83%83%E3%82%AF%E3%82%B9/</a> (Last accessed in June 2018).
- Mobbs, D. and Watt, C. (2011) 'There is nothing paranormal about NDEs', *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, Vol. 15, No. 10, 447-449.
- Molzahn, A. and Sheilds, L. (2008) 'What Is it so hard to talk about Spiritualty?', *Canadian Nurse*, January, 25-29.
- Mommaers, P. and Van Bragt, I. (1995) *Mysticism: Buddhis and Christian Encounters with Jon van Ruusbroec*, New York: Crossroads.
- Moore, C. W. (2014) *The Mediation Process: Practical Strategies for Resolving Conflict*, New York: John Wiley and Sons.

- Moore, L. E. and Greyson, B. (2017) 'Characteristics of Memories for NDEs', *Consciousness and Cognition*, vol.51, 116-124.
- Morgan, G. and Smircich, L. (1980) 'The Case for Qualitative Research', *Academy of Management Review*, vol.5, 491-500.
- Moscati, M. F. (2015) *The Role of Transitional Justice and Access to Justice in Conflict Resolution and Democratic Advancement*, London: Democratic Progress Institute.
- Muramatsu, Y. (2010) 'Saibansho Image to Saibansho Keiken', in Muramatsu, Y. and Murayma, M. (Ed.) *Hoishiki to Funsou Koudou*, Tokyo: Tokyo University Publishing.
- Murayama, H. (2014a) 'Japan's Policies towards the Ainu Language and Culture with Special Reference to North Fennoscadian Sami Policies', Acta Borealia: A Nordic Journal of Circumpolar Societies, vol.31(2), p152-175.
- Murayama, M. (2014) 'Culture, Situation and Behaviour' in Vanoverbeke, D. et al. (Ed.) *The Changing Role of law in Japan: Empirical Studies in Culture, Society and Policy Making*, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Murayama, M (2017) 'Nihonjin no Funsoukoudou', *Houritsu Rongyo*, vol.89(4 and 5), 275-310. Nader, L. (2005) 'Civilization and its Negotiations' in Moore, S. F. (ed.) *Law and Anthropology: A Reader*, Malder: Blackwell, 332.
- Nader, L. (2002) *The Life of the Law: Anthropological projects*, Berkley: University of California Press.
- Nader, L. and Todd, H. (1978) *The Disputing Process: Law in Ten Societies*, Columbia: Columbia University Press.
- Nagoya University (1978) Department of Education, Education Administration and System Research Room, Research Reference No 2, Nagoya: N/A. Nagoya University Private Reference only.
- Nakagawa, Y. (2012) 'Kyoiku ni Okeru Spirituality', in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Bunka to Reisei*, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Nakamura, M. (2012) 'Spirituality heno Shinrigakuteki Approach' in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Bunka to Reisei*, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Nakatani, K., Shimada, J., and Ohigashi, S. (2013) The structure of the concept of spirituality: the conceptual analysis of "awakening of spirituality", *Shinshinkenkoukagaku*, vol.9(1), 37-47.
- Nan, S. A. (2011) 'Consciousness in culture-based conflict and conflict resolution', *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, vol28(3), 239-262.
- Nasu, R. (2016) 'Ohsui Arai's Concept of Spiritual Thoughts in his Original Theology: In Comparison with Disetz T. Suzuki's 'Spirituality'', *ICU Comparative Culture*, No.48, 1-42.
- National Family Mediation (2016) 'Why Choose National Family Mediation?' [Online] available at http://www.nfm.org.uk/ (Last accessed in October 2017].
- National Police Agency (2005) White Paper published https://www.npa.go.jp/hakusyo/h17/hakusho/h17/index.html (Last accessed in October 2017).
- Nikkei News Paper (2019) 'Ainu Shinpo ga Kakestu 'Senju minzoku' Meiki' [online] available at <a href="https://www.nikkei.com/article/DGXMZO43933310Z10C19A4EAF000/">https://www.nikkei.com/article/DGXMZO43933310Z10C19A4EAF000/</a> (last accessed in May 2019).
- Nelson, J. (2008) 'Household Altars in Contemporary Japan: Rectifying Buddhist "Ancestor Worship" with Home Décor and Consumer Choice', *Japanese Journal of Religious Studies*, vol.35(2), 305-330.
- Nilsson, A. (2014) 'Personality Psychology as the Integrative Study of Traits and Worldviews', New Ideas in Psychology, vol.32, 18-32.
- Nishi, K. (2009) "Shukyotekina Mono" ni Hikareru Nihonjin', *Broadcasting Research and Survey*, May, 66-81, available at <a href="https://www.nhk.or.jp/bunken/summary/research/report/2009\_05/090505.pdf">https://www.nhk.or.jp/bunken/summary/research/report/2009\_05/090505.pdf</a> (Last accessed in May 2018).

- Nishimura, A. (2018) 'Post-secularisation and the Japanese Society', in Nishimura, A. (Ed.) *Hidden Religions and Revealed Religions*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Nitobe, I. (2004/1899) *Bushido: Samurai Ethics and he Soul of Japan*, 10th Ed. New York: Dover Publications, Inc.
- Nitobe, I. (1970/1904) 'Being or Doing', in Nitobe, I. (Ed) Nitobe Inazo Zenshu, vol. 5.
- Nitobe, I. (2014/1908) *Friendship of Christ*, Kindle Ed. Availbale from Amazon.co.jp, Toyo: Aozora.
- Nitobe, I. (2017/1911) Shuyo, Kindle Ed. available from Amazon.co.jp, Tokyo: Kadokawa.
- Nitobe, I. (2015/1912) Yowatari no Michi, Tokyo: Bungei Shunju.
- Nitobe, I. (2002/1916) Jikeiroku, Kindle Ed. available from Amazon.co.jp, Tokyo: Aozora.
- Noce, D. J. D. (2012) 'Mediator Style and the Question of "Good" Mediation: A Call for Theoretical Development', *Negotiation and Conflict Management Research*, vol5(4), 396-402.
- Noce, D. J., Bush, R. A., and Folger, J. P. (2002) 'Clarifying the Theoretical Underpinnings of Mediation: Implications for Practice and Policy', *Pepperdine Dispute Resolution Law Journal*, 3(1), 39-65.
- Noll, E. (2001) 'Peace Making' published on <a href="http://www.nollassociates.com/Columns/Peace29.htm">http://www.nollassociates.com/Columns/Peace29.htm</a>, (Last consulted in November 2017).
- Norgrove, D. (2011) Family Justice Review Final Report, [Online] available at <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/217343">https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/217343</a> /family-justice-review-final-report.pdf (Last consulted in May 2019).
- Nudler, O. (1990) 'On Conflicts and Metaphors: Toward an Extended Rationality', in Burton, J. (Ed) *Conflict: Human Needs Theory*, Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Nudler, O. (1993) 'In Search of a Theory of Conflict Resolution: Taking a New Look at World Views Analysis', *Institute of Conflict Analysis and Resolution Newsletter*, vol.5(5), 1-5.
- Numajiri, M. and Miki, H. (2018) 'Tainichi Muslim to Nihon no Chiiki Shakai' in Horie, N. (Ed.) *Gendai Nihon no Shukyo Jijo I*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Numano, N. (1996) 'Spiritual Care no Imi', Terminal Care, vol.10, 199-204.
- Numata, K. (1998) 'A Consideration on the Relation about Dominance and Violence in Religious Group: With Special Reference to Aum Shinrikyo', *Momoyama Gakuin Daigaku Sociology Bulltein*, vol.31(2), 49-82.
- Nun, A. B. (2011) *The Spirit of Peace: Spirituality as a Motivator for Conflict Resolution Work*, [Online] Master's Thesis, American University, Washington D.C., available at <a href="http://www.american.edu/sis/ipcr/upload/anat-ben-nun-thesis-2011.pdf">http://www.american.edu/sis/ipcr/upload/anat-ben-nun-thesis-2011.pdf</a> (last accessed in September 2017).
- Oberman, S. (2008) 'Style vs. Model: Why Quibble', Pepp. Disp. Resol. L.J. vol.9 (1), 1-62.
- Oberman, S. (2005) 'Mediation Theory vs. Practice: What Are We Really Doing? Re-Solving a Professional Conundrum', *Ohio State J of Dispute Resolution*, vol20(3) 775-824.
- Ochi, M. (2005) 'ADR System', Diet Library Issue Brief, no.493, 1-10, available at <a href="http://www.ndl.go.jp/jp/diet/publication/issue/0493.pdf">http://www.ndl.go.jp/jp/diet/publication/issue/0493.pdf</a>. (Last consulted January 2018). Oda, H. (1999) *Japanese Law*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. Oxford: OUP.
- Ohkado, M. (2011) Spirituality no Kenkyu, Tokyo: Fubosha.
- Ohkado, M. (2012) 'Spirituality and the Level of Happiness', *Journal of International society of Life Information Science*, vol.30(1), 84-87.
- Ohkado, M. (2013) 'A Case of a Japanese Child with Past-Life Memories', *Journal of Scientific Exploration*, vol.27(4), 625-636.
- Ohkado, M. et al. (2009) 'A Study of a Case Supporting the 'Reincarnation Hypothesis' with Special Reference to Xenoglossy', *Journal of International society of Life Information Science*, vol.27, 183-185.
- Ohkado, M. and Ikegawa, A. (2014) 'Children with Life-Between-Life Memories', *Journal of Scientific Exploration*, vol.28(3), 474-490.

- Ohkado, M. and Greyson, B. (2014) 'A Comparative Analysis of Japanese and Western NDEs', *Journal of Near Deaths Studies*, vol.32(4), 187-198.
- Okajima, H. (2009) 'Suzuki Daisetsu and Emanuel Swedenborg', *The Journal of Aichi Gakuin University, Humanities & Sciences*, 57(1), 186-173.
- Okano, M. (2003) Understanding of the 17 Constitution by Prince Shotoku: Japanese Ideologies, Tokyo: Daihorinkaku.
- O'Laiore, S. (1997) 'an Experimental Study of the Effects of Distant, Intercessory Prayer on Self-Esteem, Anxiety, and Depression', *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vol.3(6), 38-53.
- O'Leary, J. (2014) Mediation in Family and Divorce Disputes, Siber Ink: Cape Town.
- Ollapally, L. T. (2011) 'Mediation and Spirituality', *PL September*, S-10. [online] available at <a href="http://www.supremecourtcases.com/index2.php?option=com\_content&itemid=54&do\_p\_df=1&id=21856">http://www.supremecourtcases.com/index2.php?option=com\_content&itemid=54&do\_p\_df=1&id=21856</a> (last consulted in January 2019).
- Oshiro, G. M. (1968) 'Internationalist in Prewar Japan: Nitobe Inazo, 1862-1933', a PhD Thesis for Department of Asian Studies at the University of British Columbia, Vancouver, available at
  - https://open.library.ubc.ca/handle/bitstream/86759/UBC 1985 A1%20073.pdf (last consulted in May 2018).
- Oshitani, Y. (2014a) 'Jo ni Kaete', in Oshitani, Y. (Ed.) *Research of Education in relation to Religions in Schools, Vol. 2*, Tokyo: Chuo Institute for Educational Research.
- Oshitani, Y. (2014b) 'Shogakko Shakaika ni okeru "Shukyo ga kakawaru Naiyo" ni Tsuiteno Bunseki' in Oshitani, Y. (Ed.) *Research of Education in relation to Religions in Schools, vol.* 2, Tokyo: Chuo Institute for Educational Research.
- Oshitani, Y. (2016a) 'Honkenkyu no Ito to Negai' in Oshitani, Y. (Ed.) *Research of Education in relation to Religions in Schools, Vol. 3*, Tokyo: Chuo Institute for Educational Research.
- Oshitani, Y. (2016b) 'Shogakko Shakaika ni okeru "Shukyo ni kakawaru Naiyo" no Kijutu Bunseki' in Oshitani, Y. (Ed.) *Research of Education in relation to Religions in Schools, Vol.* 3, Tokyo: Chuo Institute for Educational Research.
- Oshitani, Y and Miyagawa, Y. (2008) *Dotoku/Tokubetsu Katsudou Juyo Yougo 300 no Kisochishiki,* Tokyo: Meiji Tosho Publications.
- Otto, R. (1932) *Mysticism East and West*, translated by Bracey, B. and Payne, R. C., New York: Macmillan
- Ozaki, M. and Oku, T. (2007) 'Spirituality ni Kansuru Gakusaitekikenkyu no Igi' in Ozaki, M. and Oku, T. (Ed) *Spirituality toha Nanika*, Kyoto: Nakanishiya.
- Pagliaro, G. et al. (2016) 'a Randomized Controlled Trial of Tong Len Meditation Practice in Cancer Patients: Evaluation of a Distant Psychological Healing Effect', *Explore*, vol.12(1), 42-49.
- Palmer, J. (1979) 'a Community Mail Survey of Psychic Experiences', *Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research*, vol.73, 221-251.
- Palmer, R. F., Katerndahl, D. and Morgan-Kidd, J. (2004) 'a Randomized Trial of the Effects of Remote Intercessory Prayer: Interactions with Personal Beliefs on Problem-Specific Outcomes and Functional Status', *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, vol.10(3), 438-448.
- Payne, G. and Payne, J. (2004) *Key Concepts in Social Research*, SAGE Publication: London. Parkinson, L. (2014) *Family Mediation*, Bristol: Family Law.
- Parsons, T (1963) 'Christianity and Modern Industrial Society', Tiryakian, E. (Ed.) *Sociological Theory, Values, and Sociological Change*. New York: Free Press.
- Phillips, B. (2001) *The Mediation Field Guide: Transcending Litigation and Resolving Conflicts in Your Business or Organization*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Pinzon, L. A. (1996) 'the Production of power and Knowledge in Mediation', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol.14(1), 3-20.

- Plattig, M. (2011) 'Critical reflection of religions practice and religions *Erlebnis* as a task of theology', in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) *Towards a Theory of Spirituality*, Leuven: Peeters.
- Poitras, J. (2009) 'What Makes Parties Trust Mediators?', *Negotiation Journal*, vol.25(3), 307-325.
- Powell, A. (2007) 'Spirituality and psychiatry crossing the divide', in Coyte E, Gilbert P, and Nicholls V. (Ed.) Spirituality, Values and Mental Health, London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Powell, A. (2002) 'Putting the Soul into Psychiatry', given at the conference 'The Place of Spirituality in Psychiatry' held jointly by the Spirituality and Psychiatry Special Interest Group of the Royal College of Psychiatrists, UK and the Royal Society of Medicine Section of Psychiatry, on the 14th May 2002 at the Royal Society of Medicine. Available at <a href="http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/powell3.pdf">http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/powell3.pdf</a>. (Last consulted in November 2017).
- Priest, H., Roberts, P., and Woods, L. (2002) 'An Overview of Three Different Approaches to the Interpretation of Qualitative Data. Part 1: Theoretical Issues', *Nurse Researcher*, vol.10(1), 30-42.
- Prince Toneri (720) Nihon Shoki.
- Principe, W. (1977) 'Mysticism: Its Meaning and Varieties', Coward, H. and Penelhum, T. (Ed.) *Mystics and Scholars,* 1-15.
- Principe, W (1983) 'Toward defining Spirituality', Studies in Religion, 12(2), 127-141. Public Security Intelligence Agency (No Date) International Terrorism Yoran, available at <a href="http://www.moj.go.jp/psia/ITH/organizations/ES\_E-asia\_oce/aum.html">http://www.moj.go.jp/psia/ITH/organizations/ES\_E-asia\_oce/aum.html</a> (Last accessed in March 2018).
- Public Relation Department of Cabinet Office Government of Japan (2018) *Useful information for Everyday Live*, available at <a href="https://www.gov-online.go.jp/useful/article/201507/2.html">https://www.gov-online.go.jp/useful/article/201507/2.html</a> (Last consulted in February 2019).
- Radin, D. (2004) 'the feeling of being stared at an analysis and replication', Journal of the Society for Psychical Research, vol.68, 245-252.
- Radin, D. (2009) The Conscious Universe, New York: Harper Collins.
- Radin, D. et al. (2008) 'Effects of Distance Intention on Water Crystal Formation: A Triple-Blind Replication', *Journal of Scientific Exploration*, vol.22(4), 481-493.
- Radin, D. et. Al., (2006) 'Double-Blind Test of the Effects of Distant Intention on Water Crystal Formation', *Explore*, vol.2(5), 408-411.
- Rambelli, F. (2010) 'Home Buddhas: Historical Processes and Modes of Representation of the Sacred in the Japanese Buddhist Family Altar', *Japanese Religions*, vol.35(1-2), 63-86.
- Ramseyer, J. M. (1988) 'Reluctant Litigant Revisited: Rationality and Disputes in Japan', *Journal of Japanese Studies*, vol.14, 111-123.
- Ramseyer, J. M. and Rasmusen, E. B. (2010) 'Comparative Litigation Rates', the Harvard John M. Online Discussion Paper Series, No.681, 1-44, [Online] Available at <a href="http://www.law.harvard.edu/programs/olin\_center/papers/pdf/Ramseyer\_681.pdf">http://www.law.harvard.edu/programs/olin\_center/papers/pdf/Ramseyer\_681.pdf</a> (Last consulted in May 2019).
- Ray, L. (1985) 'the Multi-Door Courthouse Idea: Building the Courthouse of the Future...Today', Journal of Dispute Resolution, vol.1(1), 7-54.
- Recordon, E. G., Stratton, F. J. M. and Peters, R. (1968) 'Some Trials in a Case of Alleged Telepathy', *Journal of the Society for Psychical Research*, vol.44, 390-399.
- Reid, A. M. et al. (2017) 'How Willing are You? Willingness as a predictor of change during treatment of adults with OCD', *Depression and Anxiety*, vol.34, 1057-1064.
- Reinert, K. G. and Koenig, H. G. (2013) 'Re-Examining Definitions of Spirituality in Nursing Research', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, March, 2622-2634.
- Remen, R. N. (1998) 'On Defining Spirit', Noetic Science Review, vol.47, 64.
- Retzinger, S. and Scheff, T. (2000) 'Emotion, Alienation, and Narratives Resolving Interactable Conflict', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol.18(1), 71-85.

- Ribaudo, A. and Takahashi, M (2009) 'Temporal Trends in Spirituality Research: A Meta-Analysis of Journal Abstract between 1944 and 2003', in Ellor, J. (Ed.) *Methods in Religion, Spirituality, and Aging*, 13-25. Oxon, Oxford: Routledge.
- RIETI (2003) ADR Jinzaiyosei ni kakawaru Kaigaidoko ni Kansuru Chosakenkyu Houkokusho, Tokyo: RITEI. Available at <a href="http://www.adr.gr.jp/training2003/pdf/overseastrend\_text.pdf">http://www.adr.gr.jp/training2003/pdf/overseastrend\_text.pdf</a> (Last accessed in December 2017).
- Rifkin, J. (1994) 'The Practitioner's Dilemma' in Folger, J. P. and Jones, T.S. (eds) *New Directions in Mediation*, London: Sage Publications, 204-221.
- Riley, R. (1996) 'Revealing Socially Constructed Knowledge Through Quasi-Structured Interviews and Grounded Theory Analysis', *Jrnl of Travel and Tourism Marketing*, vol.15(2), 21-40.
- Riskin, L. (1994) 'Mediator Orientations, Strategies and Techniques', *Alternatives to High Cost Litigations*, vol.12(9), 111-114.
- Riskin, L (1996) 'Understanding Mediators' Orientations Strategies, and Techniques: A Grid for the Perplexed', *Harvard Negotiation Law review*, vol.1(7), 7-51.
- Riskin, L. (2003) 'Retiring and Replacing the Grid of Mediator Orientations', *Alternatives to the High Cost of Litigation*, vol.21(4), 69-76.
- Riskin, J. (2005) 'Replacing the Mediator Orientation Grids, Again: Proposing a 'New Grid System'', *Alternatives*, vol.23(8), 127-132.
- Ritchie, J. and Lewis, J. (2003) *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, 1<sup>st</sup> Ed., London: Sage Publication.
- Roberts, M. (1992) 'Systems or selves: some ethical issues in family mediation', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol.3, 4-10.
- Roberts, M. (2005) 'Family Mediation: Development of Regulatory Framework in the United Kingdom', Conflict Resolution Quarterly, vol.22(4), 509-526.
- Roberts, M. (2007) *Developing the Craft of Mediation: Reflections on Theory and Practice*, London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Roberts, M. (2010) 'Quality Standards for Family Mediation Practice', FLJ 40, June 2010, 661-
- Roberts, M. (2014) *Mediation in Family Disputes: Principles of Practice*, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed., Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Roberts, S. (2009) "Listing Concentrates the Mind: The English Civil Court as an Arena for Structured Negotiation, Oxford Journal of Legal Studies, 29.
- Roberts, S. (2013) *Order and Dispute: An Introduction to Legal Anthropology*, 2nd Ed. New York: Penguin Books.
- Roberts, S. and Palmer, M. (2005) *Dispute Processes: ADR and the Primary Forms of Decision-Making*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rock, A. J., Permezel, F. E., and Storm, L. (2012) 'Randomized Expectancy-Enhanced Placebo-Controlled Trial of the Impact of Quantum BioEnergetic Distant Healing and Paranormal Belief on Mood Disturbance: A Pilot Study', *Explore*, vol8(2), 107-117.
- Roche, H (2017) 'Peace and Spirituality: Self-Reflection as the Key to the Authentic Peaceworker', Master's Thesis, Hacettepe University, Ankara [online] available at <a href="http://www.openaccess.hacettepe.edu.tr:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11655/3518/10146415.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">http://www.openaccess.hacettepe.edu.tr:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11655/3518/10146415.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</a> (Last accessed in March, 2018).
- Rogers, C. R. (1966) 'Client-Centered Therapy' in Arieti, S. (Ed.) *American Handbook of Psychiatry*, vol.3, New York: Basic Books.
- Rohlen, T. P. (1973) "Spiritual Education" in a Japanese Bank', *American Anthropologist*, vol.75(5), 1542-1562.
- Rokumoto, K. (1986) *Ho-shakai-gaku* (Legal Sociology), [in Japanese] Tokyo: Yuhikaku. Ronald, R, and Alexy, A. (2011) *Home and Family in Japan*, Abingdon: Routledge.

- Rots, A. P. (2014) 'the Rediscovery of "Sacred Space" in Contemporary Japan Intrinsic Quality or Discursive Strategy?', *Rethinking "Japanese Studies" from Practices in the Nordic Region*, 31-49.
- Roy, L. (2003) *Mystical Consciousness: Western Perspectives and Dialogue with Japanese Thinkers*, Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Saiter, S. M. (2005) 'A General Introduction to Integral Theory and Comprehensive Mapmaking', *Journal of Consciousness Evolution*, vol.1, 1-34.
- Sakurai, H. (2009) Cult and Spirituality, Tokyo: Minerva Publishing.
- Sakurai, Y. (2012) 'Shinshukyo Undo to Spirituality Boom', in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Bunka to Reisei*, Tokyo: Keiogijuku Daigaku Shuppankai.
- Sakurauchi, A. (1997) Kodomotachi no Shinpi Seikatsu, Tokyo: Kōsakusha.
- Sander, F. E. A. (1979) 'Varieties of Dispute Processing' in Levin, A. L. and Wheeler, R. R. (Ed) The Pound Conference: Perspectives on Justice in the Future, p65-87.
- Saposnek, D. T. (1993) 'Editor's notes', Mediation Quarterly, 11(1), 1–3.
- Saposnek, D. T. (1993b) 'The Art of Family Mediation', Mediation Quarterly, vol.11(1), 5–12.
- Sartori, P. (2015) 'Near-Death Experience', PSI Encyclopedia, October, 2015, Weblog, [Online] available at <a href="https://psi-encyclopedia.spr.ac.uk/articles/near-death-experience">https://psi-encyclopedia.spr.ac.uk/articles/near-death-experience</a> (last accessed in May 2018).
- Sasaki, K. (1996) Kami to Hotoke to Nihonjin, Tokyo: Yoshikawa Kobunkan.
- Schwartz, S. A. (2013) 'Crossing the Threshold: Nonlocal Consciousness and the Burden of Proof', *Explore*, 9(2), 77–81.
- Schwartzs, S. A. and Dossey, L. (2010) 'Nonlocality, Intention, and Observer Effects in Healing Studies: Laying a Foundation for the Future', *Explore*, vol6(5), 295-307.
- Scientific and Medical Network (2018) 'Fenwick, Peter, Dr', The Scientific and Medical Network Home Page, [Online] available at <a href="https://explore.scimednet.org/index.php/peter-fenwick/">https://explore.scimednet.org/index.php/peter-fenwick/</a>, (Last consulted in May 2018).
- Science Council of Japan (2008) 'Iryo Jiko wo Meguru Tougouteki Funsoukaiketsu System no Seibi he Mukete' available at <a href="http://www.scj.go.jp/ja/info/kohyo/pdf/kohyo-20-t51-1.pdf">http://www.scj.go.jp/ja/info/kohyo/pdf/kohyo-20-t51-1.pdf</a> (Last accessed in October 2017).
- Scimecca, J. A. (1993) 'Theory and Alternative Dispute Resolution' in Sandole, D. and Merwe, H. (ed.) *Conflict Resolution Theory and Practice: Integration and Application*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Schneiders, S. M. (1989) 'Spirituality in the Academy', Theological Studies, vol.50, 676-697.
- Schneiders, S. M. (1986) 'Theology and Spirituality: Strangers, Rivals, or Partners?', *Horizons*, vol.13(2), 253-274.
- Schmidt, N. (1904) 'Reviewed Work: Bushido the soul of Japan by Inazo Nitobe', *International Journal of Ethics*, vol.14(4), 506-508.
- Searle, J. R. (2002) Consciousness and Language, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Searle, R. J. (1994) the Rediscovery of the Mind, Cambridge: the MIT Press.
- Searle, J. R. (1983) Intentionality: An Essay in the Philosophy of Mind, Cambridge: CUP.
- Seidman, I. (1998) Interviewing as Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in Education and the Social Science, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., Teachers College Press: New York.
- Selvam, S. G. (2013) 'Towards Religious-Spirituality: A Multidimensional Matrix of Religion and Spirituality', *Journal for the Study of Religions and Ideologies*, vo.12(36), Winter, 129-152.
- Semple, N. (2012) 'Mandatory Family Mediation and the Settlement Mission: A Feminist Critique', Canadian Journal of Women and the Law, 24(1), 207-239.
- Senreich, E. (2013) 'an Inclusive Definition of Spirituality for Social Work Education and Practice', *Journal of Social Work Education*, 49, 548-563.
- Seskevich, J. E. et al. (2004) 'Beneficial Effects of Noetic Therapies on Mood Before Percutaneous Intervention for Unstable Coronary Syndromes', *Nursing Research*, vol53(2), 116-121.

- Shaffer, T. L. and McThenia, A. W., (1985) 'For Reconciliation', Scholarly Works Paper, 179, 1660-1668.
- Shah-Kazemi, S. N. (2000) 'Cross-Cultural Meditation: A Critical View of the Dynamics of Culture in Family Disputes', *International Journal of Law, Policy, and Family*, vol.14(3), 302-325.
- Scharf, R. H. (1993) 'The Zen of Japanese Nationalism', History of Religions, vol.33(1), 1-43.
- Sharf, R. H. (1995) 'Buddhist Modernism and the Rhetoric of Meditative Experience', *Numen*, vol.42(3), 228-283.
- Sheldrake, P. (2011) 'Christian Spiritual Traditions', in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) *Towards a Theory of Spirituality*, Leuven: Peeters.
- Sheldrake, P. (1999) 'The Study of Spirituality', WAY-LONDON-SOCIETY OF JESUS THEN THE WAY PUBLICATIONS, vol.39, 162-172.
- Sheldrake, R. (1988) *The Presence of the Past*, London: Harper Collins Publishers.
- Sheldrake, R. (1999) Dogs that Know when their Owners are Coming Home, and Other Unexplained Powers of Animals, London: Fourth Estate.
- Sheldrake, R. (2003) The Sense of Being Stared At, London: Hutchingson.
- Sheldrake, R. (2009) A New Science of Life, London: Icon Books, Ltd.
- Sheldrake, R. (2013) The Science of Delusion, Croydon: Coronet.
- Sheldrake, R. (2017) Science and Spiritual Practices, London: Hodder and Stoughton Ltd.
- Shimada, Y. (2010) Sohiki wa Iranai, Tokyo: Gentosha.
- Shimazono, S. (1992) *Gendai Kyusai Shukyo Ron*, Tokyo: Seikyusha.
- Shimazono, S. (1996) Seishin Sekai no Yukue, Tokyo: Tokyodo Shuppan.
- Shimazono, S. (1999) "New Age Movement or 'New Spirituality Movements and Culture", *Social Compass*, vol.46(2), 121-133.
- Shimazono, S. (2003) 'Sousetsu Shukyo no Sengotaisei' in Komori, Y. et al. (Ed.) *Towareru Rekishito Shutai*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Shimazono, S. (2004) 'Shukyo no Shinka wo Ronjiuruka' in Tominaga, E. and Tokuan, A. (Ed) *An Invitation to Persons Renaissance*, Tokyo: Keiso Shoten.
- Shimazono, S. (2006) Shiso no Karada Akuno Maki, Tokyo: Shunju sha.
- Shimazono, S. (2007a) *Spirituality no Koryu Shinreiseibunka to sono Shuhen*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Shimazono, S. (2007b) Seishin Sekai no Yukue Shukyo, Kindai, Reisei, Tokyo: Akiyama Shoten.
- Shimazono, S. (2007c) 'Shinreiseibunka to Heiwa wo Shiko Suru Shakai/ Seiji Katsudo', *Peace Studies*, vol.32, p99-118.
- Shimazono, S. (2010) 'From Salvation to Spirituality: Contemporary Transformation of Religions Viewed from East Asia', *Journal of Religious Studies* 84(2), 331-358.
- Shimazono, S. (2011) 'Shukyo to Boryoku' in Okada, N. et al. (Ed.) *Hajimete Manabu Shukyo*, Tokyo: Yuikaku.
- Shimazono, S. (2012) *Gendaishukyo to Spirituality*, Tokyo: Koubundo.
- Shimazono, S. (2012b) 'From Salvation to Spirituality: Contemporary Transformation of Religions Viewed from East Asia' [in English], *Religious Studies in Japan*, vol.1, 3-23.
- Shimizu, K. (2016) 'A Quantitative Research on Changes of Religious Consciousness in Japan: Findings from "Japanese Consciousness Survey" based on Cohort Analysis', *Next Generation Humanities and Social Studies*, Vol.13(8), 139-159.
- Shook, E. V. (1985) *Ho'oponopono: Contemporary Uses of a Hawaiian Problem-Solving Process*, Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Shook, E. V. and Kwan, L. K. (1987) 'Straightening Relationships and Setting Disputes in Hawaii: Ho'oponopono and Mediation', *Matsunaga institute for Peace*, University of Hawai'i,1-56, available at
  - https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/6f3c/8aa4bf3d8e906ff46f041f2a5e15e9a5e941.pdf [last consulted in December 2017].

- Shumin (No Year) '平成 16(ネ)946', vol.216, 639.
- Shusterman, R. (2005) 'William James, Somatic Introspection, and Care of the Self', *The Philosophical Forum*, vol. XXXVI, no. 4, 419-440.
- Sicher, F. et al. (1998) 'a Randomized Double-Blind Study of the Effect of Distant Healing in a Population with advanced AIDS: report of a small scale study', *Western Journal of Medicine*, 168(6), 356-363.
- Sidy, R. (1996) 'Spiritual Dimensions of Conflict', The Fourth R, vol. 74 (13), 18-20.
- Silverman, S. (2002) 'Unusual Child-Mother Communication During Separation: a Psychoanalytic Study', *Journal of Applied Psychoanalytic Studies*, vol.4(2), 231-245.
- Simmel, G. (1950) the Sociology of Georg Simmel, Wolff, K. H. (Trans), Glencoe, Ilinois: Free Press.
- SIMC (2017) 'Laila Ollapally', available at <a href="http://simc.com.sg/v2/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Laila-Ollapally-CV.pdf">http://simc.com.sg/v2/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Laila-Ollapally-CV.pdf</a> [Last consulted in May 2019].
- Singleton, A. (2016) 'Contemporary Sociological Approaches to Spirituality', in de Souza, M., Bone, J., and Watson, J. (Ed.) *Spirituality across Disciplines: Research and Practice*, Switzerland: Springer.
- Slaikeu, K. A. (1991) When Push Comes to Shove: A Practical Guide to Mediating Disputes, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Smith, H. (1991/1958) The World's Religions, New York: Harper One.
- Smith, H. (1989) Beyond the Post-Modern Mind, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. New York: Quest Books.
- Smith, H. (1992) Forgotten Truth: The Common Vision of the World's Religions, San Francisco: HarperSanFransisco.
- Smith, H. (2009) Tales of Wonder, New York: Harper One.
- Smith, H. (2010) Huston Smith on the World's Religions interview, World Spirituality, (online video), published on <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=J6\_mjhyJD4c">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=J6\_mjhyJD4c</a> (Last consulted in May 2019).
- Smoker, B. & Groff, L. (1996) 'Creating global-local cultures of peace', *Peace and Conflict Studies*, 3(1), 1-31.
- Society of Professionals in Dispute Resolution (1995) *Ensuring Competence and Quality in Dispute Resolution Practice*, Washington, DC: Society of Professionals in Dispute Resolution.
- Speck, B. W. (2005) 'What is Spirituality?', *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, no.104, 3-13.
- Speelman, W. M. (2011) 'a Spiritual Method for Daily Life Practices' in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) *Towards a Theory of Spirituality*, Leuven: Peeters.
- Sperry, L. (2011) *Spirituality in Clinical Practice Theory and Practice of Spiritually Oriented Psychotherapy*, New York: Routledge.
- Stace, W. T. (1960) Mysticism and Philosophy, New York: Macmillan.
- Statholoulou, M. (2015) Cross-Language Mediation in Foreign Language Teaching and Testing, Bristol: Multilingual Matters.
- Stead, A. (1904) 'Bushido: The Japanese Ethical Code', the monthly review, vol.14(42), 52-62.
- Stevenson, I. (1961) *The Evidence for Survival from Claimed Memories of Former Incarnations,* Kingswood: M.C. PETO.
- Stevenson, I. (1966) *Twenty Cases Suggestive of Reincarnation*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.
- Stevenson, I. (1970) Telepathic Impressions, Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.
- Stevenson, I. (1997) Where Reincarnation and Biology Intersect, West Port, Connecticut: Praeger.
- Stevenson, I. (2001) *Children Who Remember Previous Lives: A Question of Reincarnation*, Revised Ed. Jefferson, North Carolina: McFarland & Company.

- Suami, A. (2014) 'Rule of Law and Human Rights in the Context of the EU-Japan relationship: are both the Eu and Japan really sharing the same values?', in Vanoverbeke, D. et al. (Ed.) *The Changing Role of law in Japan: Empirical Studies in Culture, Society and Policy Making,* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Sugawara, S. (2003) Nihonjin to Kamitachi Hotoketachi, Tokyo: Shunjusha.
- Sugihara, S. (2003) Kyouiku Kihonhou no Seiritsu, Tokyo: Bukashobou Hakubunsha.
- Sullivan, H. S. (1953). *The Interpersonal Theory of Psychiatry,* Perry and Gawel (Ed.) New York: Norton.
- Sumioka, K. (1992) 'The Economic-Social Structure of Japan and YAKUZA: the mobile parasite-organization to support industries', *The Economist vol.2000*, available at <a href="http://www2.ngu.ac.jp/~akimoto/zemi/ronbun2011/104.pdf">http://www2.ngu.ac.jp/~akimoto/zemi/ronbun2011/104.pdf</a> (Last accessed in October 2017).
- Sumitomo, T. (2006) 'Kotaro Tanaka's Philosophy of the Teaching Profession the post war years, from 1945 to 1950 ', Kyoto Seika University Repository, vol31, 77-92.
- Susskind, N. and Susskind, L. (2008) 'Connecting Theory and Practice' *Negotiation Journal*, vol.24(2), 201-209.
- Suzuki, D. (1913) Swedenborg, Tokyo: Heigo Shuppansha.
- Suzuki, D. (1944 reprinted in 2018) Nihonteki Reisei, Tokyo: Kadokawa.
- Suzuki, D. (1946 reprinted in 1968) Reiseiteki Nihon no Kensetsu, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Suzuki, D. (1948) Nihon no Reiseika, Kyoto: Hozokan.
- Suzuki, D. (1957) Mysticism: Christian and Buddhist, London: George Allen & Unwin.
- Suzuki, D. (1972) *Japanese Spirituality*, translated from the Japanese version printed in 1944 as below by Waddell, N. Tokyo: Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.
- Szocik, K. (2015) 'Research Approaches in the Study of Religion', *Studia Humana*, vol.4(1), 26-35.
- Takahashi, H. (2014) 'Towards an Understanding of the 'Japanese' Way of Dispute Resolution: How Is It Difference from the West?' in Vanoverbeke, D. et al. (Ed.) *The Changing Role of law in Japan: Empirical Studies in Culture, Society and Policy Making*, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Takahashi, K. (2003) 'A Study on the Concept of Spirituality in Daisetsu Suzuki's Thought', Society for Mind-Body Science, vol. 12(1), 17-23.
- Takahashi, M (2012) 'Spirituality Kenkyu no Doko 21seiki no Shinrigaku ni Okeru Kadaito Kanousei' (Development in Research of Spirituality: Assignments and Possibilities for 21st century Psychology), *Psychology World*, 59, 13-16.
- Takahashi, M (2011) 'Saiko: 3 sedai hikaku ni yoru Spirituality no Imi' (Revisited: The Meaning of Spirituality by Comparing Three Generations), *Senior Sociology*, 33(2), 221.
- Takahashi, S. (2001) Nihon bunka to Kansei Kyoiku, Tokyo: Moralogy Kyoiku.
- Takao, S. et al. (2006) 'Kotoba ga Mizu no Hyoketsu Jotai to Suichu Genso Noudo ni Oyobosu Eikyo', *Meeting Abstracts of the Physical Society of Japan* on 8 August 2006, 61(2-1), 23aSF-13.
- Tanaka, K. (1961) *Houtetsugaku Shizenhou, Tanakakoutaro Chosakushu, vo.6,* Tokyo: Shunjusha.
- Tanaka, S. (2000) Tenkanki no Nihonho, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Tanaka, S. (2006) Toward Turnabout of the Viewpoint on Law, Tokyo: Yuhikaku.
- Tanase, T. (2001) 'Sosho riyo to kindaika kasetsu' [Hypothesis of Modernisation and Use of Litigation], in *Minji sosho ho riron no aratana kochiku: Shindo Koji sensei Koki Shukuga vol 1* [New Construction of Civil Procedure Law Theory: for Professor Koji Koga's 70th Birthday vol.1], Tokyo: Yuhikaku, 287-322.
- Taniguchi, K. (2002) Butsudan no Hanashi, Kyoto: Hozokan.
- Tanyi, R. A. (2002) 'Towards Clarification of the Meaning of Spirituality', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol.39(5), 500-509.

- Taoka, M. (2016) 'Educational Meanings of Inazo Nitobe's Morality', *Hokkaido University Department of Education Depository*, vol.126, 155-168.
- Tart, C. (1972) Altered States of Consciousness, New York: Doublebay.
- Tart, C. (1975) States of Consciousness, New York: Dutton.
- Tazaki, M, Matsuda, M, and Nakane, Y. (2001) 'Spirituality ni Kansuru Shitsuteki Chosa no Kokoromi Kenko oyobi QOL Gainen no Karamino nakade', Japan Medical Journal, vol.4036, 24-32.
- Tazaki, M., Matuda, M, and Nakane, Y. (2002) 'Nihonjin ni totte "Spiritual" toha nanika WHO Shitsuteki Chosa kara kangaeru', Japanese Journal of Nursing, vol.66(2), 172-176.
- Tauscher, H. (2003) 'Spiritual practices for mediation challenges: Pragmatic mediation applications from five major world religious traditions', available at http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/dispute/spiritual\_tool.authcheckdam.pdf (Last consulted in February 2018).
- The Global Pound Conference Series 2016, accessed May 2019, <a href="http://globalpoundconference.org/about-the-series/1976-pound-conference#.Vufs01SLTIW">http://globalpoundconference.org/about-the-series/1976-pound-conference#.Vufs01SLTIW</a>.
- Theta Healing (2018) *Theta Healing: Spiritual, Physical, Emotional Well-being Official Website,* available at <a href="https://japan.thetahealing.com/">https://japan.thetahealing.com/</a> (Last accessed in June 2018).
- Thomas, D. R. (2006) 'a General Inductive Approach for Analyzing Qualitative Evaluation Data', American Journal of Evaluation, vol.27(2), 237-246.
- Thomas, D. R. (2002) Qualitative Research Methods DATA GATHERING & DATA ANALYSIS, available at
  - https://www.fmhs.auckland.ac.nz/assets/fmhs/soph/sch/hrmas/docs/qualit2002.pdf (Last consulted in March 2018).
- Tick, E. (1992) 'Attending the Soul', Voices, 28(2), 7-8.
- Tomlinson, J. (1999) Globalization and Culture, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Tracy, K. and Spradlin, A. (1994) 'Talking Like a Mediator: Conversational moves of Experiences Divorce Mediators', in Folger, J. and Jones, T. S. (Ed.) *New Directions in Mediation: Communication Research and Perspectives*, Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- Tsuruwaka, M and Okayasu, M. (2001) 'Supirichuaru Care ni kansuru OubeiBunken no Doko', *Seimei Rinri*, vol.11(1), 91-96.
- Tucker, J. B. (2005) Life Before Life, London: Piatkus.
- Tucker, J. B. (2013) Return to Life, New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Tucker, J. B. (2016) 'The Case of James Leininger: An American Case of the Reincarnation Type', the Journal of Science and Heling, vol.12(3), 200-207.
- Turay, T. M. (2000) 'Civil Society and Peacebuilding: The role of the Inter-Religious Council of Sierra Leone', *Accord Issue 9*, London: Conciliation Resources.
- Tyani, R. A. (2002) 'Towards Clarification of the Meaning of Spirituality', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol.39(5), 500-509.
- Uchtmann, D. L., Blessen, R. P., and Maloney, V. (1987) 'The Developing Japanese Legal System: Growth and Change in the Modern Era', *Gonzaga Law Review*, vol.23, p349-359.
- Uchimoto, K. (2009) 'Spirituality Gainen no Tayousei to Shukyosei', *Shinshukyoukenkyukai Kiyou*, vol.41, 1-30.
- Ueda, S. (2008) *Hishinpishugi*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Ueda, Y. (2014) 'A Study on the Spirituality in Contemporary Japan', *Kyoyou Design Kenkyu Ronshu*, vol.6, 57-76.
- UK College of Family Mediators, the (1997) *Directory and Hanbook 1997/98*, London: FT Law and Tax
- Umbreit, M. S. (1997) 'Humanistic Mediation: A Transformative Journey of Peacemaking', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol.14(3), 201-213.
- Umbreit, M. S. (2001) *The Handbook of Victim Offender Mediation: An Essential Guide to Practice and Research*, San Francisco: Jossei-Bass.

- Umbreit, M. S. (2012) 'Peacemaking and spirituality: Touching the soul within the energy of conflict and trauma', *Corrymeela Magazine*. Ballycastle, Northern Ireland: Corrymeela.
- Underhill, E. (2009/1911) Mysticism: A Study in Nature and Development of Spiritual Consciousness, Kindle Ed of 12<sup>th</sup> Ed. available from Amazon.co.uk, None: Digireads.com.
- UNDPA, United Nation Department of Political Affairs, (2014) Mediation Support Activities & Services, available at <a href="https://peacemaker.un.org/mediation-support/activities-and-services">https://peacemaker.un.org/mediation-support/activities-and-services</a> (Last consulted in November 2017).
- Uniform Law Commission, the (2016) 'Legislative Enactment Status Map: Mediation Act', [Online] available at <a href="http://www.uniformlaws.org/LegislativeMap.aspx?title=mediation%20Act">http://www.uniformlaws.org/LegislativeMap.aspx?title=mediation%20Act</a>, (Last accessed in Dec 2017).
- United Nation Development Programme (2012) *Informal Justice System: Charting a Course for Human Rights Engagement*, Oslo: UN Women, UNICEF and UNDP
- Upham, F. K. (1976) 'Litigation and Moral Consciousness in Japan: An Interpretive Analysis of Four Japanese Pollution Suits', Law & Society Review Vol. 10(4), 579-619.
- Ury, W. (2019) William Ury, [Online] Available at <a href="https://www.williamury.com/about/">https://www.williamury.com/about/</a> (Last consulted in March 2019).
- Van den Hoogen, T. (2014) 'Spirituality in the perspective of foundational theology', HTSTeologiese Studies/Theological Studies, 70(1), 1-6.
- Van den Hoogen, T. (2011) A Taste of God: on Spirituality and Reframing Foundational Theology, Berlin: LIT Verlag Fresnostr.
- Vecelli, T. (1516-1518) Assumption of the Virgin, the Basilica di Santa Maria Gloriosa dei Frari, Venice, Italy.
- Verny, T with Kelly, J. (1982) *The Secret Life of the Unborn Child*, London: Sphere Books Ltd.

  Vieten, C. et al. (2013) 'Spiritual and Religious Competencies for Psychologists', *Psychology of the Unborn Child*, London: Sphere Books Ltd.
- Vieten, C. et al. (2013) 'Spiritual and Religious Competencies for Psychologists', *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, vol.5(3), 129-144.
- Waaijman, K. (2002) Spirituality: Forms, Foundations, Methods, Leuven: Peeters.
- Waaijman, K. (2011) 'Theoretical approaches in spirituality', in Hense, E. and Maas, F. (Ed.) Towards a Theory of Spirituality, Leuven: Peeters.
- Wada, Y. and Nakanishi, T. (2010) Medical Conflict Management, Tokyo: Signe.
- Wada, Y. and Nakanishi, T. (2016) *Healthcare Mediation*, Tokyo: Signe.
- Wada, Y. and Otsuka, M. (2014) *Kajifunsoukaiketsu Proguramu no Gaiyo*, Tokyo: Legal Association.
- Wada, Y., Ando, N., and Tanaka, K. (2015) *Chotei ni Kakawaruhito nimo Yakudatsu Mediation Nyumon*, Tokyo: Kobundo.
- Waldron, et. al. (1984) 'A Therapeutic Mediation Model for Child Custody Dispute Resolution', Conflict Resolution Quarterly, vol.3, 5-20.
- Walker, L. O., & Avant, K. C. (2011) *Strategies for Theory Construction in Nursing*, Boston: Pearson.
- Walker, P. O. (1999) 'Concepts of the self: implications for cross-cultural conflict Resolution', *ADR Bulletin*, vol.2(2), 17-18 and 24.
- Walker, P. O. (2001) *Mending the Web: Conflict Transformation between Aboriginal and non-Indigenous Australians*, PhD thesis submitted to the University of Queensland, Brisbane.
- Walker, P. (2001b) 'Eldership and Wisdom in Native Conflict Processing', *ADR Bulletin*, vol.3(9), 105-109.
- Walker, P. O. (2007) 'Singing Up Worlds: Ceremony and Conflict Transformation between Indigenous and non-Indigenous Peoples in Australia and the United States', *Taiwan International Studies Quarterly*, vol.3(2), 23-45.
- Walker, S. R. at al. (1997) 'Intercessory Prayer in the Treatment of Alcohol Abuse and Dependence: A Pilot Investigation', *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, vo.3(6), 79-86.

- Wall, J. A. and Callister, R. R. (1995) 'Ho'oponopono: Some Lessons from Hawaiian Mediation', *Negotiation Journal*, January, 45-53.
- Wall, J. and Druckman, D. (2003) 'Mediation in Peacekeeping Missions', the Journal of Conflict Resolution, vol.47(5), 693-705.
- Walsh, F. (2009) Spiritual Resources in Family Therapy, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., New York: The Guildford Press.
- Walters, A. (1989) 'On the Idea of Worldview and its Relation to Philosophy', in Marshall, P. A., Griffioen, S., and Mouw, R. J. (ed.) *Stained Glass: Worldviews and Social Science*, Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Wang, Y.N. (2016) 'Balanced authenticity predicts optimal well-being: Theoretical conceptualization and empirical development of the authenticity in relationship scale', *Personality and Individual Differences*, 94, 316-323.
- Watson, J. (2003) 'Preparing Spirituality for Citizenship', *International Journal of Children's Spirituality*, vol.8(1), 9-24.
- Watson, J. (2016 'The Spiritual Care and Nurture of the Non-religious in the Caring Professions', in de Souza, M., Bone, J., and Watson, J. (Ed.) *Spirituality across Disciplines: Research and Practice*, Switzerland: Springer.
- Watsuji, T. (1938/1962) *Jinkaku to Jinruisei*, in Watsuji, T and Abe, Y (Ed) *Watsuji Testuro Zenshu*, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Watsuji, T. (1979) Fudo, Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Webb, E. (2009) Worldview and mind: Religious Thought and Psychological Development, Columbia: University of Missouri Press.
- Webster, D. (2012) Dispirited, Hants: Zero Books.
- Weinsheimer, J. C. (1985) *Gadamer's Hermeneutics: a reading truth and method*, New Heaven: Yale University Press.
- Weinstein International Foundation (2018) 'Laila T. Ollapally', available at <a href="https://weinsteininternational.org/india/laila-t-ollapally/">https://weinsteininternational.org/india/laila-t-ollapally/</a> (Last consulted in Dec. 2018).
- West, W. (2000) *Psychotherapy and Spirituality: Crossing the Line between Therapy and Religion*, London: SAGE Publications.
- West, W. (2004) *Spiritual Issues in Therapy: Relating Experience to Practice*, New York: Palgrave MacMillan.
- West, W. (2009) 'Situating the Researcher in Qualitative Psychotherapy Research around Spirituality', Counselling Psychology Quarterly, vol.22(2) 187-195.
- Whatling, T. (2012) Mediation Skills and Strategies: A Practical Guide, London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- White Paper (1995) Looking to the Future: Mediation and the Ground for Divorce, Cm 2799, London: HMSO. Available at <a href="http://www.official-documents.gov.uk/document/cm27/2799/2799.pdf">http://www.official-documents.gov.uk/document/cm27/2799/2799.pdf</a> (last consulted in May 2018).
- Wing, L. (2008) 'Wither Neutrality? Mediation in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century' in Trujillo, M.A, et al. (2008) Re-Centering Culture and Knowledge in Conflict Resolution Practice, New York: Syracause Uni Press
- Wirth, D. P. and Cram, J. R. (1994) 'The Psychophysiology of Nontraditional Prayer', *International Journal of Psychosomatics*, vol.41(1-4), 68-75.
- Wolf, A. T. (2017) The Spirit of Dialogue: Lessons from Faith Traditions in Transforming Conflict, Washington: IslandPress.
- Wolfteich, C. E. (2012) 'Spirituality' in Miller-McLemore, B. J. (Ed.) *the Wiley-Blackwell Companion to Practical Theology*, 1st Ed. New York: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Wolman, B. B. (1977) Handbook of Parapsychology, New York: Vam Nostrand Reinhold.
- Wolman, R. (2001) Thinking with Your Soul: Spiritual Intelligence and Why It Matters, New York: Harmony Books.
- Woolf, Lord. (1995) Access to Justice: Interim Report to the Lord Chancellor on the Civil Justice System in England and Wales, London: HMSO.

- Woolf, Lord. (1996) Access to Justice: Final Report to the Lord Chancellor on the Civil Justice System in England and Wales, London: HMSO.
- Yaguchi, K. (1993) Saiko Saibansho to Tomoni, Tokyo: Yuhikaku.
- Yamawaki, N. (2004) 'Kokyo Tetsugaku toha Nanika', Chiba University Journal of Public Affairs, vol.1(1), 29-46.
- Yanase, S. (2013) 'The Standards of Judgments for Dispute Resolution', *Columbia Journal of Asian Law*, vol.26., 29-104.
- Yasui, I. (2006) 'Mizu Kara no Dengon to Kagaku Rikkoku', *Chemistry and Chemical Industry*, vol.59(9), 963-964.
- Yasukawa, F. and Ishiahara, A. (2014) *Gendai Shakai to Funsou Kaiketsugaku*, Kyoto: Nakanishiya Shuppan.
- Yoshida, I. (2009) 'Nihonshakaini Taiwasokushingatachotei wo Teityakusaseru Futatsuno Kokoromi (1)', *Department Bulletin Paper, Kumamoto University Law Department*, vol.116, 171-246.
- Yoshida, M. (2003) *The Reluctant Japanese Litigant: a 'New' Assessment*, published at <a href="http://www.japanesestudies.org.uk/discussionpapers/Yoshida.html">http://www.japanesestudies.org.uk/discussionpapers/Yoshida.html</a> (Last accessed in September 2017).
- Yoshinaga, S. (2002) 'Nihon no Spiritual Shiso no Kako to Genzai' in Kashio, N. (Ed.) *Spirituality wo Ikiru*, Tokyo: Serica Syobo, 171-185.
- Young, C. and Koopsen, C. (2011) Spirituality, Health, and Healing: An Integrative Approach, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., Sudbury: Jones and Bartlett.
- Yuasa, Y (2003) Spirituality no Genzai: Shukyo, Rinri, Shinri no Kanten, Kyoto: Jinbun Shoin.
- Yumiyama, T. (2006) 'Spirituality and Qualification over Spiritual Care Worker Licenses in Japan', Asia Yugaku Looking for Special Edition Psychological Foundation of Spirituality in Asia, vol.84, 90-101.
- Zelizer, C. and Chiochetti, C. (2017) 'Mediation Career Trends Through Time', in Georgakopoulos, A. (Ed.) *The Mediation Handbook*, London: Taylor & Francis.
- Zelizer, C. (2013) *Integral Peacebuilding: Innovative Approaches to Transforming Conflict*, Boulder, CO: Westview.
- Zinnbauer, B. et al., (1997) 'Religion and Spirituality: Unfuzzying the Fuzzy', *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, vol.36, 549-564.
- Zumeta, Z. D. (1993) 'Spirituality and Mediation', *Mediation Quarterly*, vol. 11, no. 1, Fall, 25-38.
- Zumeta, Z. D. (2017) 'Mediation and Spirituality', in Georgakopoulos, A. (Ed.) *The Mediation Handbook: Research, Theory, and Practice*, New York: Routledge.

## [Legislation and other rules]

# <u>Japan</u>

- Act to Prevent Unjust Acts by Organized Crime Group Members (Act No. 77 of 1991) translated by the Ministry of Justice at
  - http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=1207&vm=&re=02
- Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution (Act No. 151 of 2004) translated by the Ministry of Justice at
  - http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=1958&vm=&re=
- The Attorney Act (Act No. 205 of 1949) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=1878&vm=04&re=01&new=1
- The Automobile Liability Security Act (Act No.97 of 1955) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2718&vm=04&re=01
- the Basic Act on Education (Act No. 25 of 1947 and Act No. 120 of 2006) translated by the Ministry of Justice at

http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2442&vm=04&re=01; by the MEXT at http://www.mext.go.jp/b\_menu/kihon/data/07080117.htm
Chihōjichi Hō (Act No. 67 of 1947)

Civil Code (Act No. 9 of 1896 as amended Act No. 78 of 2006) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2057&vm=04&re=02

Code of Civil Procedure (Act No. 109 of 1996) translated by the Ministry of Justice at <a href="http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?re=02&kn[]=%E3%81%BF&ky=%E7%99%BB%E8%A8%98&page=6">http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?re=02&kn[]=%E3%81%BF&ky=%E7%99%BB%E8%A8%98&page=6</a>

The Constitution of Japan (Constitution, 3 November 1946) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail\_main?id=174

Domestic Relations Case Procedure Act (Act No. 52 of 2011) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail/?id=2323&vm=04&re=01

Domestic Relations Trial Act (Act No. 152 of 1947) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail\_main?id=308&vm=4&re=

Order for Enforcement of the Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution (Cabinet Order No. 186 of 2006)

Ordinance for Enforcement of the Act on Promotion of Use of Alternative Dispute Resolution (Ministry of Justice Ordinance No. 52 of 2006) translated by the Ministry of Justice at http://www.japaneselawtranslation.go.jp/law/detail main?vm=02&id=2008

the Regulation for Enforcement of the School Education Act (No. 11 of 1947) available only in Japanese at <a href="http://elaws.e-">http://elaws.e-</a>

gov.go.jp/search/elawsSearch/elaws\_search/lsg0500/detail?lawId=322M40000080011&openerCode=1

The Seventeen-article constitution (604)

the Waste Management and Public Cleansing Act (Act No.137 of 1970)

#### **Local Ordinances**

**Organized Crime Exclusion Ordinances** 

### **International Rules and Instruments**

the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (A/RES/61/295)

## [Common Law]

<u>Japan</u>

Supreme Court Decision held on 14 July 1971 昭和 44(あ)1124

Supreme Court Decision held on 26 April 2005 平成 16(ネ)946

Tsu District Court Decision, Yokkaichi Branch, held on 24 July 1972